Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials

Volume 12

Series Editor

Amit Gefen, Ramat Aviv, Israel

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/8415



Cynthia A. Reinhart-King Editor

Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis



Editor Cynthia A. Reinhart-King Department of Biomedical Engineering Cornell Univesity Ithaca, NY USA

ISSN 1868-2006 ISSN 1868-2014 (electronic) ISBN 978-3-642-30855-0 ISBN 978-3-642-30856-7 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7 Springer Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2012942728

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)



Contents

Mechanical and Chemical Regulation of Arterial and Venous Specification	1
Mechanosensory Pathways in Angiocrine Mediated Tissue Regeneration Sina Y. Rabbany, Bi-Sen Ding, Clemence Larroche and Shahin Rafii	19
Microfluidic Devices for Quantifying the Role of Soluble Gradients in Early Angiogenesis Patrick Benitez and Sarah Heilshorn	47
Reactive Oxygen Species in Physiologic and Pathologic Angiogenesis Alisa Morss Clyne	71
Microfluidic Devices for Angiogenesis	93
Vascular Cell Physiology Under Shear Flow: Role of Cell Mechanics and Mechanotransduction Devon Scott, Wei Tan, Jerry S. H. Lee, Owen J. T. McCarty and Monica T. Hinds	121
Matrix Mechanics and Cell Contractility in Angiogenesis Joseph P. Califano and Cynthia A. Reinhart-King	143



Computational Modeling of Angiogenesis: Towards a Multi-Scale Understanding of Cell–Cell and Cell–Matrix Interactions Sonja E. M. Boas, Margriet M. Palm, Pieter Koolwijk and Roeland M. H. Merks	161
ECM Remodeling in Angiogenesis Stephanie J. Grainger and Andrew J. Putnam	185
Barrier Maintenance in Neovessels	211
Computational Models of Vascularization and Therapy in Tumor Growth Benjamin Ribba, Floriane Lignet and Luigi Preziosi	227
Biomaterials for Cell-Based Therapeutic Angiogenesis	247
Translation of Pro-Angiogenic and Anti-Angiogenic Therapiesinto Clinical UseSujata K. Bhatia	261
Erratum to: Reactive Oxygen Species in Physiologic and Pathologic Angiogenesis	E1
Author Index	279

المنسارات المستشارات

vi

Mechanical and Chemical Regulation of Arterial and Venous Specification

Thomas N. Sato

Abstract The fact that blood circulates through vessels was realized by William Harvey in the early seventeenth century. The blood flows away from the heart via arteries delivering oxygen and nutrients to peripheral organs and return to the heart via veins. Until late the 1990s, the distinction between artery and vein was recognized solely based on anatomical and function differences, basis, and it had been believed that arterial and venous specific characteristics are controlled by the respective hemodynamic forces that they are exposed to. However, in the past 15 years or so, it has become clear that they are also distinguished by the molecules that they express. Furthermore, their phenotypes are also regulated by genetic, hence, molecular (chemical), programs. In this chapter, I will summarize historical perspectives of the recognition of arteries and veins, and will review recent advance in our understating of mechanisms underlying arterial and venous specification mediated by mechanical and chemical signals. I conclude this chapter by proposing three models, morphogenetic, habituation, and integrative models, explaining how these two classes of signals become integrated to specify arteries and veins.

T. N. Sato (🖂)

Graduate School of Biological Sciences, Laboratory of Biodynamics and Integrative Biology, Nara Institute of Science and Technology, 8916-5 Takayama-cho, Ikoma, Nara 630—192, Japan e-mail: island1005@bs.naist.jp

T. N. Sato Centenary Institute, Sydney, Australia

T. N. Sato Department of Biomedical Engineerig, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_1, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

1 Introduction

Blood circulates throughout the body. This was first clearly shown by a series of simple, but ingenious, experiments performed by William Harvey in the early seventeenth century [1]. This finding has lead to the establishment of the modern concept of "artery and vein".

The presence of the vascular system and its relationship to a variety of organs had already been documented by careful and impressive histological analyses of developing embryos by Aristotle in 300s BC. He had already speculated interdependence of the vascular system and organs in their establishment. However, he believed that pulsations in the vascular system were due to respiration, and the heart simply moved as a result of the same breathing process.

In the Middle Ages and early Renaissance, the concept based on Galenic physiology that had begun in the second century remained prevalent. According to this "ancient" understanding of the arteries and veins, all veins emanate from the liver and deliver fluids (blood) that maintain and nourish the body, and all the arteries from the heart disseminated vitality in the form of spiritus throughout the body.

By the end of fifteenth century, the Italian physician Jacopo Berengario da Carpi proposed a putative cross-talk between arteries and veins. He stated that "no artery without its vein to accompany it. Thus the artery may keep the vein alive, and the vein may give blood to the artery in its needs, the blood by which the vital spirit is made and the artery itself is nourished." This notion was followed by Leonardo da Vinci who stated: "All the veins and arteries arise from the heart. The reason for this is that the maximum thickness found in the veins and the arteries occurs at the junction which they make with the heart. The more removed they are from the heart, the thinner they become and divide into smaller branches".

By early sixteenth century, many anatomists already knew that the walls of the arteries are thicker than those of veins, but they attributed this difference to the nature of the substances that passed through each of them. Therefore, arteries and veins were still treated as two separate systems.

However, in the early seventeenth century, William Harvey unambiguously showed that the blood is delivered to the organ and then return to the heart, thus the establishment of the concept that arteries and veins belong to the single circulatory system [1]. He defined artery as the "vessel" that delivers the blood from the heart to peripheral organs, and vein as the "channel" through which the blood returns from the periphery to the heart.

2 Mechanical Basis of Arterial and Venous Specification (Specification by Mechanical Signals)

Due to their locations relative to the heart, arterial and venous lumens are exposed to differential hemodynamic forces. Two classes of hemodynamic forces are known to modulate structure and function of blood vessels: shear stress and pressure.



These hemodynamic forces elicit significant impacts on vessel remodeling, vessel lumen size, morphology, orientation, cytoskeletal organization, ion channel activities and gene expression in endothelial cells that are under direct influences of blood flow [2–8].

The differences in the hemodynamic forces of arteries and veins play critical roles in their specification during vascular development and maintenance of their differential structure and function in adults.

2.1 Hemodynamic Differences among Different Vascular Beds

The hemodynamic forces include both shear stress and pressure. Various vascular beds are exposed to differential shear stress due to the differences in flow speeds and lumen sizes [9]. As examples, the shear stresses of ascending aorta, descending aorta, conduit arteries, arterioles, capillaries, venule, large veins and vena cava are approximately 11, 6, 11, 52, 44, 16, 7, 1 dyn/cm², respectively [9] (Fig. 1).

Arteries and veins are also under differential blood pressure. The blood pressures of large arteries, arterioles, venule and large veins are approximately 100, 30–40, 10–20, and 6–8 mmHg, respectively [9]. Although such large differences in blood pressure are present between arteries and veins in adult, significantly smaller differences (1–2 mmHg) are present among embryonic vessels.



Fig. 2 Distinctive anatomical structure of artery and vein. Each vessel consists of connective tissue (tunica externa), smooth muscle (tunica media), elastic tissue and endothelium (tunica interna) layers. Artery exhibits thicker smooth muscle layer (tunica media)

2.2 The Effects of Hemodynamic Forces on Anatomical Structure of Vasculature

Blood vessels are formed by layer(s) of endothelial cells with elastic tissues and perivascular smooth muscle cells (Fig. 2). Arteries are supported by thick elastic smooth muscle layers so that they can withstand higher pressure. In contrast, veins contain thinner elastic smooth muscle layers with semilunar valves that prevent blood backflow. Therefore, arteries and veins adapt to differential hemodynamic forces that they are respectively exposed to.

2.3 The Effects of Hemodynamic Forces on Vascular Development

It has been reported that blood flow cast major impacts on vascular network remodeling and vascular gene expression. However, its role in specification and/or maintenance of arteries and veins remains ill-defined.

In one study, no-flow mouse embryos were generated by snipping the inlets to the heart at both sides of the heart of 3- to 4-somite stage embryos [10]. In these no-flow embryos, as compared to normal embryos, no significant differences in the expression



of arterial markers such as Cx40, EphrinB2, and Dll4 were found. Furthermore, no differences in venous markers such as EphB4 and Nrp2 were detected.

In another study where embryonic explants and Rasip1^{-/-} embryos were assessed as no-flow models, it was found that the expression of an arterial marker, Cx40, is significantly downregulated [11]. However, the expression of another arterial marker, Dll4, was found to be unaffected in these no-flow embryo models. This study, therefore, suggested that the blood flow is required to maintain the expression of certain arterial markers such as Cx40, but not others such as Dll4.

These two independent studies appear to contradict each other with respect to the putative role of blood flow in maintaining the expression of an arterial marker, Cx40. However, it was also suggested that some pulsative pressure from the beating heart to the aortae persisted in the "no-flow" model in the first study and was sufficient to generate the flow necessary to maintain the normal level of Cx40 expression [11].

In a third study, using time-lapse video microscopy, it was shown that a posterior arterial and an anterior venous pole in the yolk sac of developing chick embryos connect to each other by *cis-cis* endothelial interactions [12]. In contrast, the paired and interlaced arterial-venous pattern of the mature yolk sac was found to form by initially pinching off of the arterial domain of small caliber vessels from the growing arterial tree and by subsequently reconnecting to the venous system. This observation implies that arterial endothelial cells contribute to the formation of venous vessels, thus indicating the presence of phenotypic plasticity of endothelial cells in developing yolk sac vascular system. In this study, it was further reported that arteriovenous differentiation in developing yolk sac is dependent on blood flow. A no-flow model was generated by either performing longitudinal incision through all germ layers on the left side of yolk sac of embryos from the head to the tail or by ligating the right vitelline artery. In both models, the expression of the arterial markers, Nrp1 and EphrinB2 are significantly downregulated which was accompanied by concurrent upregulation of venous markers such as Nrp2 and Tie2. These results indicated that flow-dependent plasticity of endothelial cell phenotype (i.e. arterial vs. venous) is necessary to fashion arteriovenous patterning of developing vessels.

A variety of evidence reported in these studies appears to be in support of the idea that hemodynamic force is critical for the specification and/or maintenance of arterial and/or venous phenotypes. However, generating the no-flow model where nothing else but only blood-flow (i.e., mechanical signal) itself is "completely" abrogated is extremely difficult to accomplish in vivo. Thus, further studies are necessary to determine the definitive role of hemodynamic forces in arteriovenous specification and/or patterning.

2.4 The Effects of Hemodynamic Forces in Adult

In contrast to the study of the flow-regulated arteriovenous specification in development, investigation on the role of hemodynamic forces in the arteriovenous plasticity in adult is lagging behind. In the adult vascular system, the identities of



endothelial cells as artery or vein have already been established. However, the hypothesis that these endothelial cells possess flow-dependent phenotypic plasticity has not been rigorously tested [13, 14]. Although it has been long known that venous grafts into the coronary artery (sometimes performed as a surgical procedure for heart diseases) induce changes in the graft morphology such as enlargement of grafted vessel diameter, the endothelial phenotypes are not thoroughly characterized at the molecular level.

3 Genetic Basis of Arterial and Venous Specification (Specification by Chemical Signals)

As discussed in the previous sections, it has been long believed that arteriovenous differentiation and maintenance of endothelial phenotypic identities are primarily determined by the differential hemodynamic forces that they are exposed to. However, more rigorous analyses are necessary to crystalize the hypothesis that blood flow modulates the arteriovenous phenotypes of endothelial cells. In contrast, the genetic basis of arteriovenous identity has been more rigorously studied, even though this idea emerged within less than 15 years ago.

It all began when a single serendipitous finding was made in 1998 by Wang et al [15]. They had been studying the role of the EphrinB2-EphB4 ligand-receptor system in nervous system development. They generated EphrinB2-deficient mice by introducing a lacZ reporter into the ephrinB2 gene locus (this mouse line is referred to as EphrinB2: lacZ). This genetic manipulation system was commonly used to disrupt a gene and at the same time it highlights the site(s) of expression of the disrupted gene in vivo.

By investigating this mouse line, they found that EphrinB2 is expressed only in a subset of the vascular system. Furthermore, the expression of a receptor for EphrinB2 ligand, EphB4, exhibited a perfect complimentary pattern to that of EphrinB2 in the developing vascular system. Surprisingly, this complimentary expression pattern of EphrinB2 and EphB4 was nearly the perfect mirror image of the arterial and venous vascular system, respectively, that can be found in all histology and embryology textbooks [15]. More surprisingly, it was discovered that the segregation of EphrinB2 and EphB4 expression to the arteries and veins, respectively, is established among nearly all vascular beds prior to the initiation of blood circulation. This finding casts doubt on the longstanding belief that blood circulation precedes the establishment of arteriovenous specification, and provided hard evidence for the possibility that the arteriovenous distinction is established prior to the onset of circulation. This single discovery resulted in a major shift in our understanding of how arteriovenous specification and patterning is established. This breakthrough finding was to be followed by numerous investigations which culminated in our current view of the genetic and molecular mechanisms underlying the differentiation and formation of arteries and veins as discussed in the following sections.

3.1 Notch Signaling in Arterial Vessel Specification

The first insight into the mechanism underlying arterial specification came from a study of a mutant zebrafish in which an arterial vessel is specifically missing [16, 17]. Zebrafish have served as a unique genetic model system in deciphering molecular mechanisms underlying a variety of processes in development and disease. This organism is a particularly powerful model system in studying the developing vascular system. In other higher vertebrate models such as mice, malformation or deficiency of the vascular system results in early embryonic lethality, thus they are unsuitable for identifying genes involved in the formation of the early vascular system. However, early development of zebrafish embryos is not dependent on the formation of the vascular system (i.e., early stage zebrafish embryos can survive without circulation), thus they provide a unique genetic system for identifying genes that are critically involved in the differentiation and formation of the vascular system.

Through the screening for a mutant that is defective in vascular development in zebrafish embryos, *Gridlock* (*grl*) was identified [18]. In this mutant embryo, the assembly of the first arterial vessel, the aorta, is specifically perturbed. A gene that is responsible for this specific mutant phenotype was subsequently identified to encode a basic-helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor belonging to the Hairy/Enhancer of the split family of bHLH proteins, Hey2 [17]. The *grl/Hey* gene is expressed in lateral plate mesoderm that is destined to become angioblast, precursor cells for vascular endothelial cells. Its expression subsequently becomes restricted to aorta (an artery) but undetectable in veins. Other studies by the same and another groups indicated that grl/Hey2 is a downstream target of Notch signaling by showing that the expression of grl/Hey2 can be induced by activating Notch signaling and can be inhibited by inhibitors of this signaling pathway [16].

The critical involvement of Notch signaling in arterial specification was further indicated by another zebrafish study where it was shown that the inhibition of Notch signaling by either the injection of a dominant negative Su (H) (suppressor of hairless) results in the failure of arterial marker, EphrinB2, expression and the concomitant ectopic expression of venous markers, EphB4 and Flt4, a phenotype that is also detected in a notch-deficient mutant, *mindbomb (mib)* [19]. Furthermore, the constitutive activation of Notch signaling by the forced expression of NICD (Notch intracellular domain) resulted in reduced venous marker expression.

Several studies with mice also indicate an importance of Notch signaling in arterial fate specification. The Notch1, Notch4, and the Notch ligands, Jag1, Jag2 and Dll4 are all expressed in arterial, but not in venous, endothelial cells [20–29]. Furthermore, Dll4 heterozygous mutant mice exhibit reduced expression of EphrinB2 and increased expression of EphB4, a phenotype that is also observed in Notch-deficient Rbpj (the recombination signal-binding protein for immunoglobulin- κ J region) and *Mib* mutant mice and *Hey1/Hey2* double mutants [30–33]. These results are also consistent with the notion that Notch signaling is critical for arterial differentiation.

3.2 VEGF Signaling in Arterial Vessel Specification

In 2002, discoveries by three independent studies unveiled a surprising mechanism underlying arterial specification. In studying a transgenic mouse line where VEGF-A was over expressed in the heart, it was found that nearly all cardiac endothelial cells become EphrinB2⁺, indicating that VEGF-A can transdifferentiate venous endothelial cells (EphB4⁺) to arterial type (EphrinB2⁺) [34]. Interestingly, this VEGF-mediated arterial transdifferentiation was found to be inhibited by angio-poietin-1 [34]. Another angiopoietin, angiopoietin-2, also inhibited this arterial transdifferentiation, but this inhibition caused the endothelial cells to assume EphrinB2⁻/EphB4⁻ phenotype indicating that they are neither arterial nor venous types [34].

In another study, cultured endothelial cells can be induced to express EphrinB2 upon treatment with VEGF-A164 [35]. In this study, it was further shown that arteries, but not veins, specifically align with peripheral sensory neurons, and VEGF-A164 is expressed by these neurons and Schwann cells [35]. In the mutant mice where peripheral neurons or Schwann cells are eliminated, arteriogenesis is disrupted. However, in the mutant with disorganized neurons, arteries remain aligned with misrouted neurons. Another report by the same group has shown that the deficiency of VEGF-A expression in sensory neurons, motor neurons or Schwann cells results in the elimination of arterial marker expression, while the alignment of the vessels with sensory neurons remained intact [36]. In this study, it was further reported that the arterial differentiation is mediated by endothelial expression of Nrp1 (an artery-specific VEGF co-receptor) which is induced by VEGF derived from peripheral sensory neurons and Schwann cells [36]. These results indicate that peripheral nerve derived VEGF induce arterial specification via Nrp1 mediated positive-feedback.

In a third study, it was reported that VEGF-A is expressed by somite of developing zebrafish embryo in notochords-derived Shh-dependent manner [37]. In this report, it was also shown that loss of VEGF or Shh results in failure of arterial specification [37]. Furthermore, it was shown that exogenous overexpression of VEGF or Shh causes ectopic expression of arterial markers. Expression of VEGF in the embryos lacking Shh signaling rescues the defects in arterial differentiation [37]. These results indicate that notochord-derived Shh promotes VEGF expression by somite, which induces arterial specification.

Based on these three independent studies, two major conclusions can be drawn. VEGF-A is a major inducer of arterial endothelial specification during development. Furthermore, these studies indicate an unexpected plasticity of an endothelial phenotype: Venous endothelial cells can be converted to arterial type by VEGF-A.

المستشارات

3.3 Functional Interaction of Notch and VEGF Signaling in Arterial Vessel Specification

As discussed in the previous sections, the VEGF-Notch axis is a central pathway in specifying arterial fate. However, it had not been clear how VEGF signaling is transduced into a Notch signal. This problem was addressed by a series of studies using zebrafish models. As described in a Sect. 3.1, grl is a zebrafish mutant where the aorta is perturbed due to a mutation in a gene encoding a Notch signal target transcription factor, Hey2. Thus, it is a suitable genetic mutation for studying arterial specification. In a suppressor chemical screening using the grl mutant zebrafish, two classes of small-molecule chemicals were identified [38]. One is GS4012, a chemical that was found to interfere with extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK). GS4012 was found to activate VEGFR by inhibiting ERK signaling. The other class is PI3K/Akt inhibitors such as G4898, LY294002 and wartmannin. GS4898 inhibits Akt, a downstream target of PI3K signaling. LY294002 and wartmannin are chemical inhibitors of PI3K. These chemicals were able to rescue grl phenotype by partial inhibition of PI3K which leads to activation of ERK [39]. Furthermore, it was shown that activated phosphorylated ERK is preferentially expressed in arterial endothelial cells [39]. Inhibition of mitogen-activated or extracellular signal-related protein kinase kinase (MEK), an upstream activator of ERK, by either SL327 or U0126, results in loss of arterial endothelial cells and improper aorta formation [39]. Inhibition of the VEGF signal pathway with a VEGFR inhibitor 676475 leads to an overall reduction in the ERK activation and defective arterial endothelial differentiation [39].

In another study, forward genetic screens have identified a zebrafish Plc- γ (phospholipase C- γ) mutant that exhibits defects in the formation of arteries, but not veins [40]. In this study, it was also shown that Plc- γ mutant zebrafish embryos failed to respond to exogenous VEGF expression. Injection of VEGF121 mRNA into wild type zebrafish embryos resulted in ectopic expression of EphrinB2 in veins, a Notch signal-dependent arterial marker. However, Plc- γ mutant zebrafish embryos injected with VEGF121 mRNA displayed either normal or reduced EphrinB2 expression. In an independent cell culture study, it was reported that PLC- γ pathway activates ERK in the VEGF/VEGFR signal transduction cascade [41]. These results indicate that VEGF/VEGFR induces arterial specification via PLC- γ /ERK signaling pathway which resides upstream of Notch signaling.

In contrast, the role of PI3K/Akt signaling in arterial fate determination requires some caution. As discussed above, the arterial defect in *grl* mutant can be rescued by the inhibition of PI3K signaling by small molecules [38, 39]. Arterial specification can be promoted by overexpression of dominant-negative Akt which results in the inhibition of Akt, a downstream mediator of PI3K signaling [39]. Furthermore, constitutively active Akt induces venous endothelial fate [39]. These results suggest that PI3K/Akt signaling inhibits arterial specification by interfering with ERK activation, thus leading to venous cell fate. However, it is also reported that PI3K signaling acts to induce Notch and DIl4 activation, the pathways for arterial

specification [42, 43]. Therefore, further studies are necessary to delineate the exact role of PI3K/Akt in arterial cell fate determination.

3.4 Forkhead Box (Fox) Transcription Factors in Arterial Specification

Two family members of the Foxc subclass of Fox transcription factors, Foxc1 and Foxc2, are indicated for their role in arterial specification [44, 45]. Targeted disruption of *Foxc1* and *Foxc2* in mice results in arteriovenous malformation which is accompanied by aberrant expression of several arterial markers such as Dll4 and Notch1. It is also reported that there are Foxc-binding sites in the upstream promoter region of the Dll4 gene, supporting the idea that Foxc transcription factors activate the Dll4 gene which induces Notch signaling, a primary signaling pathway that is required for arterial specification.

3.5 Venous Identity and Coup-TFII

It had been believed that venous identify of endothelial cells is a default state of these cells and arterial fate is an acquired state by the activation of Notch signaling [46]. However, it was later reported that the venous state of endothelial differentiation requires the suppression of Notch signaling by a transcription factor, COUP-TFII (chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter-transcription factor II) [47]. COUP-TFII is a member of the orphan nuclear receptor superfamily and is specifically expressed in venous, but not in arterial, endothelial cells [47, 48]. Conditional ablation of the COUP-TFII gene in endothelial cells in mice results in the acquisition of an arterial phenotype in veins manifested by the expression of arterial markers, such as EphrinB2, Npr1, and Notch-signaling molecules [47]. Furthermore, these mutant veins that acquired arterial marker expression are able to form haematopoietic cell clusters and recruit smooth-muscle cells, two functional features of normal arteries [47]. These results indicate that COUP-TFII deficient venous endothelial cells not only acquire arterial markers, but also function as arteries.

In addition, it was shown that ectopic expression of COUP-TFII in endothelial cells in mice results in an abnormal fusion of arteries and veins, a phenotype that is a mirror image of Npr1 or Notch1 mutant mice [47]. In this study, it was also shown that the ectopic expression of COUP-TFII leads to a loss of expression of arterial markers, including Nrp1 and the Notch signaling molecules. All of these results are in support of the idea that COUP-TFII expression in veins suppresses the Notch signaling, thus leading to the maintenance of the venous phenotype of endothelium.

3.6 Other Signaling Pathways Involved in Arterial Vessel Specification

In addition to the above discussed chemical factors that contribute to arteriovenous specification, there are several other chemical factors that are somewhat less characterized for their roles in this process.

The G protein-coupled receptor APJ is preferentially expressed in venous endothelial cells [49, 50]. Morpholino knockdown of APJ and its ligand, Apelin, in *Xenopus* results in defects in intersomitic vessel development [51]. However, no obvious vascular defects are detectable in APJ null mice [52].

Members of the Sry-related HMG box (Sox) family of transcription factors have also been indicated for their roles in arteriovenous differentiation [53–55]. It has been reported that Sox7 and Sox18 are both expressed in developing vasculature and their double knockdown results in arteriovenous malformation.

A member of the sucrose non fermenting kinase family (snrk-1) has been implicated to act downstream of or in parallel to Notch signaling and function upstream of *grl* [56]. Calcitonin receptor like receptor (crlr) expressed by developing somites is a receptor for adrenomedullin and suggested to be under the regulation of shh and to control arterial differentiation as an upstream regulator of VEGF [57]. However, the exact roles of these factors in controlling arteriovenous differentiation remains unknown.

4 Integrated Mechanisms Underlying Arteriovenous Specification by Chemical Signals

As discussed above, in less than the last 15 years, extraordinary advances have been made in our understanding of the detailed molecular basis of the arterial and venous specification (Fig. 3). It seems clear that activation of Notch signaling is the central pathway in arterial specification. This signaling is activated by multiple inputs such as those that lead to the activation of VEGF, Foxc1/2, and Plc- γ /PKC/MEK/ERK signals. Ectopic activation of any of these signals in venous endothelial cells can override the genetic program determining their phenotype, and they acquire the arterial phenotype. This plasticity of arterial-venous phenotypes persists even in adult endothelial cells.

In contrast, the mechanism underlying venous specification is less understood. Activation of a transcription factor, COUP-TFII, in venous endothelial cells is required for retaining their phenotype. It is also reported that the activation of PI3K/Akt signaling is involved in venous specification, even though its site of action remains unclear. Although COUP-TFII and PI3K/Akt signaling are involved in venous specification, their primary function appears to be the suppression of arterial phenotype, rather than the induction of an venous phenotype. Furthermore, rendering a venous phenotype in arterial endothelial cells by



Fig. 3 Signaling mechanisms underlying arterial and venous specification. See text for details

experimental manipulation has not been reported. Moreover, upstream regulators that induce the activation of COUP-TFII or PI3K/Akt signaling in endothelial cells are unknown. Therefore, it is not clear if there are any inductive processes involved in venous fate determination.

One hallmark of veins is the presence of valves. However, no molecular signals have been uncovered that are involved in the formation of venous valves. Furthermore, it remains unknown how the formation of valves is suppressed in arteries.

As early as the fifteenth century, it was already proposed that there may be cross-talk between arterial and venous vessels by Jacopo Berengario da Carpi based on his anatomical observation. However, there is currently no evidence for the existence of paracrine factors that mediate a putative cross-checking of the phenotypes by each other.

5 Speculative Remarks

Although significant advances have been made in understanding mechanical and chemical mechanisms underlying arterial and venous phenotype and function, it is far from a complete understanding how this regulatory system works. Thus, I end my chapter with "speculative remarks" instead of customary concluding remarks.

Based on what we currently know about this subject, I speculate on three hypothetical models (Fig. 4): Morphogenetic, habituation, and integrative models.



Fig. 4 Three speculative models explaining how mechanical and chemical signals become integrated in specifying artery and vein. Morphogenetic, Habituation, Integrative models are proposed

5.1 Morphogenetic Model

Based on this model, genetic regulatory mechanisms that determine arterial and venous phenotype provide information necessary for each endothelial cell type to lay themselves in specific spatial positions (Fig. 4a). Such mechanisms allow them to be positioned at the right place relative to each other and among arteries and veins, thus leading to the establishment of specific geometrical arrangements of the vascular system consisting of arterial and venous wiring.

According to this model, endothelial cells sense chemical and mechanical cues in their microenvironment. Upon sensing these signals, endothelial cells respond by expressing arterial and venous genes that code proteins necessary for establishing their spatial organization. Both arterial and venous endothelial cells are to be laid down correctly among themselves and also relative to each other. Their position in the body relative to the heart is also critical for their required physiological functions. Furthermore, their positions relative to body axis (left-right, anteroposterior, dorsoventral, etc.), as well as those within each organ, are also essential for the whole body and organ functions and development [58, 59].

In fact, it has been implicated that EphrinB2 and EphB4, respective arterial and venous markers, function as a ligand-receptor system that mediates *cis*- and *trans*-interactions necessary for establishing normal arteriovenous architecture of the vascular system [60].



5.2 Habituation Model

This model explains arterial and venous specific phenotypes as seeds and states that are required for them to correctly respond to mechanical forces generated by fluid dynamics in arteries and veins, respectively (Fig. 4b). According to this model, chemical cues in the microenvironment in each endothelial cell induce genetic and morphogenic changes that "habituate" them for the mechanical signals, to which they are to be exposed. Therefore, one consequence of this model is that endothelial cells fail to adapt and/or respond to specific mechanical forces generated by circulation unless they are specified either to arterial or venous types by chemical and genetic programs. Furthermore, endothelial cells of aberrant phenotypes with regard to arterial or venous types may be malfunctional or dysfunctional under the normal circulation.

It has been long known that venous grafts in arterial vessels for cardiac bypass surgery fail to adapt to arterial circulation. This may support the idea that arterial and venous specific endothelial cell phenotypes established by genetic programs are prerequisite for them to adapt and respond to their respective circulation.

5.3 Integrative Model

The third model is the one that integrates both morphogenetic and habituation models. Certain genetic programs and chemical cues in the microenvironment establish arterial and venous specific architecture of the vascular network. However, other genetic programs and chemical signals are to be used to build a chemical signaling network in arterial and venous endothelial cells that allows them to adapt and respond to specific mechanical forces generated by the respective circulation.

These three models are distinguishable and are experimentally testable. In the past 15 or so years, we gained increasing knowledge on genetic and chemical regulation of arterial and venous specification. With further identification of arterial and venous specific genetic codes and formulation of testable models such as those discussed in this section, it is anticipated that we are nearing towards the complete understanding of the mechanisms underlying arteriovenous specification.

Acknowledgments The writing of this book chapter was financially supported by JSPS (Kiban S), Takeda Science Foundation and The Uehara Memorial Foundation to T.N.S.

References

- 1. Harvey, W.: Exercitatio anatomica de motu cordis et sanguinis in animalibus (1628)
- Garcia-Cardena, G., Gimbrone, M.A., Jr.: Biomechanical modulation of endothelial phenotype: implications for health and disease. Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. 176(Pt 2) 79–95 (2006)
- 3. Gimbrone Jr, M.A.: Endothelial dysfunction, hemodynamic forces, and atherosclerosis. Thromb. Haemost. **82**, 722–726 (1999)



- Gimbrone Jr, M.A.: Vascular endothelium, hemodynamic forces, and atherogenesis. Am. J. Pathol. 155, 1–5 (1999)
- Gimbrone Jr, M.A., Nagel, T., Topper, J.N.: Biomechanical activation: an emerging paradigm in endothelial adhesion biology. J. Clin. Invest. 100, S61–S65 (1997)
- Gimbrone, M.A., Jr., Resnick, N., Nagel, T., Khachigian, L.M., Collins, T., and Topper, J.N.: Hemodynamics, endothelial gene expression, and atherogenesis. Ann. N Y. Acad. Sci. 811, 1–10; discussion 10–11 (1997)
- 7. Resnick, N., Gimbrone Jr, M.A.: Hemodynamic forces are complex regulators of endothelial gene expression. FASEB. J. 9, 874–882 (1995)
- 8. Topper, J.N., Gimbrone Jr, M.A.: Blood flow and vascular gene expression: fluid shear stress as a modulator of endothelial phenotype. Mol. Med. Today **5**, 40–46 (1999)
- Papaioannou, T.G., Stefanadis, C.: Vascular wall shear stress: basic principles and methods. Hellenic. J. Cardiol. 46, 9–15 (2005)
- Jones, E.A., Yuan, L., Breant, C., Watts, R.J., Eichmann, A.: Separating genetic and hemodynamic defects in neuropilin 1 knockout embryos. Development 135, 2479–2488 (2008)
- Chong, D.C., Koo, Y., Xu, K., Fu, S., Cleaver, O.: Stepwise arteriovenous fate acquisition during mammalian vasculogenesis. Dev. Dyn. 240, 2153–2165 (2011)
- le Noble, F., Moyon, D., Pardanaud, L., Yuan, L., Djonov, V., Matthijsen, R., Breant, C., Fleury, V., Eichmann, A.: Flow regulates arterial-venous differentiation in the chick embryo yolk sac. Development 131, 361–375 (2004)
- Cornhill, J.F., Roach, M.R.: A quantitative study of the localization of atherosclerotic lesions in the rabbit aorta. Atherosclerosis 23, 489–501 (1976)
- Wong, L.C., Langille, B.L.: Developmental remodeling of the internal elastic lamina of rabbit arteries: effect of blood flow. Circ. Res. 78, 799–805 (1996)
- Wang, H.U., Chen, Z.F., Anderson, D.J.: Molecular distinction and angiogenic interaction between embryonic arteries and veins revealed by ephrin-B2 and its receptor Eph-B4. Cell 93, 741–753 (1998)
- Zhong, T.P., Childs, S., Leu, J.P., Fishman, M.C.: Gridlock signalling pathway fashions the first embryonic artery. Nature 414, 216–220 (2001)
- 17. Zhong, T.P., Rosenberg, M., Mohideen, M.A., Weinstein, B., Fishman, M.C.: Gridlock, an HLH gene required for assembly of the aorta in zebrafish. Science **287**, 1820–1824 (2000)
- Weinstein, B.M., Stemple, D.L., Driever, W., Fishman, M.C.: Gridlock, a localized heritable vascular patterning defect in the zebrafish. Nat. Med. 1, 1143–1147 (1995)
- Lawson, N.D., Scheer, N., Pham, V.N., Kim, C.H., Chitnis, A.B., Campos-Ortega, J.A., Weinstein, B.M.: Notch signaling is required for arterial-venous differentiation during embryonic vascular development. Development **128**, 3675–3683 (2001)
- Villa, N., Walker, L., Lindsell, C.E., Gasson, J., Iruela-Arispe, M.L., Weinmaster, G.: Vascular expression of Notch pathway receptors and ligands is restricted to arterial vessels. Mech. Dev. **108**, 161–164 (2001)
- 21. Jones, E.A., Clement-Jones, M., Wilson, D.I.: JAGGED1 expression in human embryos: correlation with the Alagille syndrome phenotype. J. Med. Genet. **37**, 658–662 (2000)
- Loomes, K.M., Underkoffler, L.A., Morabito, J., Gottlieb, S., Piccoli, D.A., Spinner, N.B., Baldwin, H.S., Oakey, R.J.: The expression of Jagged1 in the developing mammalian heart correlates with cardiovascular disease in Alagille syndrome. Hum. Mol. Genet. 8, 2443–2449 (1999)
- Krebs, L.T., Xue, Y., Norton, C.R., Shutter, J.R., Maguire, M., Sundberg, J.P., Gallahan, D., Closson, V., Kitajewski, J., Callahan, R., et al.: Notch signaling is essential for vascular morphogenesis in mice. Genes Dev. 14, 1343–1352 (2000)
- 24. Lindner, V., Booth, C., Prudovsky, I., Small, D., Maciag, T., Liaw, L.: Members of the Jagged/Notch gene families are expressed in injured arteries and regulate cell phenotype via alterations in cell matrix and cell-cell interaction. Am. J. Pathol. 159, 875–883 (2001)
- Reaume, A.G., Conlon, R.A., Zirngibl, R., Yamaguchi, T.P., Rossant, J.: Expression analysis of a Notch homologue in the mouse embryo. Dev. Biol. 154, 377–387 (1992)

أ الم للاستشارات

- Del Amo, F.F., Smith, D.E., Swiatek, P.J., Gendron-Maguire, M., Greenspan, R.J., McMahon, A.P., Gridley, T.: Expression pattern of Motch, a mouse homolog of Drosophila Notch, suggests an important role in early postimplantation mouse development. Development 115, 737–744 (1992)
- Uyttendaele, H., Closson, V., Wu, G., Roux, F., Weinmaster, G., Kitajewski, J.: Notch4 and Jagged-1 induce microvessel differentiation of rat brain endothelial cells. Microvasc. Res. 60, 91–103 (2000)
- Shirayoshi, Y., Yuasa, Y., Suzuki, T., Sugaya, K., Kawase, E., Ikemura, T., Nakatsuji, N.: Proto-oncogene of int-3, a mouse Notch homologue, is expressed in endothelial cells during early embryogenesis. Genes Cells 2, 213–224 (1997)
- Shutter, J.R., Scully, S., Fan, W., Richards, W.G., Kitajewski, J., Deblandre, G.A., Kintner, C.R., Stark, K.L.: Dll4, a novel Notch ligand expressed in arterial endothelium. Genes Dev. 14, 1313–1318 (2000)
- Duarte, A., Hirashima, M., Benedito, R., Trindade, A., Diniz, P., Bekman, E., Costa, L., Henrique, D., Rossant, J.: Dosage-sensitive requirement for mouse Dll4 in artery development. Genes Dev. 18, 2474–2478 (2004)
- Fischer, A., Schumacher, N., Maier, M., Sendtner, M., Gessler, M.: The Notch target genes Hey1 and Hey2 are required for embryonic vascular development. Genes Dev. 18, 901–911 (2004)
- Kokubo, H., Miyagawa-Tomita, S., Tomimatsu, H., Nakashima, Y., Nakazawa, M., Saga, Y., Johnson, R.L.: Targeted disruption of hesr2 results in atrioventricular valve anomalies that lead to heart dysfunction. Circ. Res. 95, 540–547 (2004)
- Krebs, L.T., Shutter, J.R., Tanigaki, K., Honjo, T., Stark, K.L., Gridley, T.: Haploinsufficient lethality and formation of arteriovenous malformations in Notch pathway mutants. Genes Dev. 18, 2469–2473 (2004)
- Visconti, R.P., Richardson, C.D., Sato, T.N.: Orchestration of angiogenesis and arteriovenous contribution by angiopoietins and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 99, 8219–8224 (2002)
- Mukouyama, Y.S., Shin, D., Britsch, S., Taniguchi, M., Anderson, D.J.: Sensory nerves determine the pattern of arterial differentiation and blood vessel branching in the skin. Cell 109, 693–705 (2002)
- Mukouyama, Y.S., Gerber, H.P., Ferrara, N., Gu, C., Anderson, D.J.: Peripheral nervederived VEGF promotes arterial differentiation via neuropilin 1-mediated positive feedback. Development 132, 941–952 (2005)
- Lawson, N.D., Vogel, A.M., Weinstein, B.M.: Sonic hedgehog and vascular endothelial growth factor act upstream of the Notch pathway during arterial endothelial differentiation. Dev. Cell 3, 127–136 (2002)
- Peterson, R.T., Shaw, S.Y., Peterson, T.A., Milan, D.J., Zhong, T.P., Schreiber, S.L., MacRae, C.A., Fishman, M.C.: Chemical suppression of a genetic mutation in a zebrafish model of aortic coarctation. Nat. Biotechnol. 22, 595–599 (2004)
- Hong, C.C., Peterson, Q.P., Hong, J.Y., Peterson, R.T.: Artery/vein specification is governed by opposing phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase and MAP kinase/ERK signaling. Curr. Biol. 16, 1366–1372 (2006)
- Lawson, N.D., Mugford, J.W., Diamond, B.A., Weinstein, B.M.: phospholipase C gamma-1 is required downstream of vascular endothelial growth factor during arterial development. Genes Dev. 17, 1346–1351 (2003)
- Takahashi, T., Shibuya, M.: The 230 kDa mature form of KDR/Flk-1 (VEGF receptor-2) activates the PLC-gamma pathway and partially induces mitotic signals in NIH3T3 fibroblasts. Oncogene 14, 2079–2089 (1997)
- 42. Liu, Z.J., Shirakawa, T., Li, Y., Soma, A., Oka, M., Dotto, G.P., Fairman, R.M., Velazquez, O.C., Herlyn, M.: Regulation of Notch1 and Dll4 by vascular endothelial growth factor in arterial endothelial cells: implications for modulating arteriogenesis and angiogenesis. Mol. Cell. Biol. 23, 14–25 (2003)

المستشارات

- Liu, Z.J., Xiao, M., Balint, K., Soma, A., Pinnix, C.C., Capobianco, A.J., Velazquez, O.C., Herlyn, M.: Inhibition of endothelial cell proliferation by Notch1 signaling is mediated by repressing MAPK and PI3K/Akt pathways and requires MAML1. FASEB. J. 20, 1009–1011 (2006)
- 44. Seo, S., Fujita, H., Nakano, A., Kang, M., Duarte, A., Kume, T.: The forkhead transcription factors, Foxc1 and Foxc2, are required for arterial specification and lymphatic sprouting during vascular development. Dev. Biol. **294**, 458–470 (2006)
- 45. Kume, T., Jiang, H., Topczewska, J.M., Hogan, B.L.: The murine winged helix transcription factors, Foxc1 and Foxc2, are both required for cardiovascular development and somitogenesis. Genes Dev. **15**, 2470–2482 (2001)
- 46. Thurston, G., Yancopoulos, G.D.: Gridlock in the blood. Nature 414, 163-164 (2001)
- You, L.R., Lin, F.J., Lee, C.T., DeMayo, F.J., Tsai, M.J., Tsai, S.Y.: Suppression of Notch signalling by the COUP-TFII transcription factor regulates vein identity. Nature 435, 98–104 (2005)
- Krishnan, V., Elberg, G., Tsai, M.J., Tsai, S.Y.: Identification of a novel sonic hedgehog response element in the chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter-transcription factor II promoter. Mol. Endocrinol. 11, 1458–1466 (1997)
- Devic, E., Rizzoti, K., Bodin, S., Knibiehler, B., Audigier, Y.: Amino acid sequence and embryonic expression of msr/apj, the mouse homolog of Xenopus X-msr and human APJ. Mech. Dev. 84, 199–203 (1999)
- 50. Saint-Geniez, M., Argence, C.B., Knibiehler, B., Audigier, Y.: The msr/apj gene encoding the apelin receptor is an early and specific marker of the venous phenotype in the retinal vasculature. Gene Expr. Patterns **3**, 467–472 (2003)
- Cox, C.M., D'Agostino, S.L., Miller, M.K., Heimark, R.L., Krieg, P.A.: Apelin, the ligand for the endothelial G-protein-coupled receptor, APJ, is a potent angiogenic factor required for normal vascular development of the frog embryo. Dev. Biol. 296, 177–189 (2006)
- 52. Ishida, J., Hashimoto, T., Hashimoto, Y., Nishiwaki, S., Iguchi, T., Harada, S., Sugaya, T., Matsuzaki, H., Yamamoto, R., Shiota, N., et al.: Regulatory roles for APJ, a seventransmembrane receptor related to angiotensin-type 1 receptor in blood pressure in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. **279**, 26274–26279 (2004)
- Cermenati, S., Moleri, S., Cimbro, S., Corti, P., Del Giacco, L., Amodeo, R., Dejana, E., Koopman, P., Cotelli, F., Beltrame, M.: Sox18 and Sox7 play redundant roles in vascular development. Blood 111, 2657–2666 (2008)
- 54. Herpers, R., van de Kamp, E., Duckers, H.J., Schulte-Merker, S.: Redundant roles for sox7 and sox18 in arteriovenous specification in zebrafish. Circ. Res. 102, 12–15 (2008)
- Pendeville, H., Winandy, M., Manfroid, I., Nivelles, O., Motte, P., Pasque, V., Peers, B., Struman, I., Martial, J.A., Voz, M.L.: Zebrafish Sox7 and Sox18 function together to control arterial-venous identity. Dev. Biol. **317**, 405–416 (2008)
- 56. Chun, C.Z., Kaur, S., Samant, G.V., Wang, L., Pramanik, K., Garnaas, M.K., Li, K., Field, L., Mukhopadhyay, D., Ramchandran, R.: Snrk-1 is involved in multiple steps of angioblast development and acts via notch signaling pathway in artery-vein specification in vertebrates. Blood **113**, 1192–1199 (2009)
- 57. Nicoli, S., Tobia, C., Gualandi, L., De Sena, G., Presta, M.: Calcitonin receptor-like receptor guides arterial differentiation in zebrafish. Blood **111**, 4965–4972 (2008)
- Loughna, S., Sato, T.N.: A combinatorial role of angiopoietin-1 and orphan receptor TIE1 pathways in establishing vascular polarity during angiogenesis. Mol. Cell 7, 233–239 (2001)
- Sato, T.N., Loughna, S., Davis, E.C., Visconti, R.P., Richardson, C.D.: Selective functions of angiopoietins and vascular endothelial growth factor on blood vessels: the concept of "vascular domain". Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 67, 171–180 (2002)
- 60. Yancopoulos, G.D., Klagsbrun, M., Folkman, J.: Vasculogenesis, angiogenesis, and growth factors: ephrins enter the fray at the border. Cell **93**, 661–664 (1998)

المنسارات

Mechanosensory Pathways in Angiocrine Mediated Tissue Regeneration

Sina Y. Rabbany, Bi-Sen Ding, Clemence Larroche and Shahin Rafii

Abstract Endothelial cells not only form the vascular networks that deliver nutrients and oxygen throughout the body, they also establish instructive niches that stimulate organ regeneration through elaboration of paracrine trophogens. Priming of the vascular niche promotes repair and regeneration of damaged tissues by establishing an inductive vascular network that temporally precedes new tissue formation. This induction of endothelial cells provides a platform for essential instructive cues. Tissue regeneration in certain organs such as the liver, involves cell mitosis and expansion, which is orchestrated by a dynamic interplay between cytokines, growth factors, and metabolic pathways. Although the intrinsic events of cell mitosis have been thoroughly studied, the extrinsic triggers for initiation and termination of liver regeneration, especially the set points rendered by the original liver size, are unknown. Furthermore, the gatekeepers that control organ size remain unidentified. The prevailing dogma states that liver regeneration involves the proliferation of parenchymal hepatocytes and nonparenchymal cells such as biliary epithelial cells. However, recent findings also implicate hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells (SECs) as drivers of this process. In the classic liver regeneration model, in which 70 % partial hepatectomy induces regeneration, the abrupt increase in blood flow into the sinusoidal vasculature of the liver's remaining lobes correlates with initiation of the regeneration cascade. As such, the shear stress and mechanical stretch exerted on the endothelial cells may activate mechanosensory mediated molecular programs, and may be involved in the elaboration of endothelial cell-derived angiocrine growth cues that support

S. Y. Rabbany Bioengineering Program, Hofstra University, Hempstead, NY 11549, USA

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_2, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 19

S. Y. Rabbany $(\boxtimes) \cdot B.-S.$ Ding $\cdot C.$ Larroche $\cdot S.$ Rafii

Department of Genetic Medicine, Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, NY 10065, USA e-mail: sir2007@med.cornell.edu

hepatocyte proliferation. Physiological liver regeneration would therefore depend on the proper inductive and proliferative functioning of liver SECs. Thus, uncovering the cellular mechanisms by which organisms recognize and respond to tissue damage remains an important step towards developing therapeutic strategies to promote organ regeneration. In this chapter, we demonstrate the mechanism by which tissue-specific subsets of endothelial cells promote organ regeneration, and further discuss the roles of physical forces and molecular signals in initiating and terminating angiocrine-mediated tissue regeneration.

1 Introduction

Mammalian cells are able to sense, decode, and respond to physical stimuli in a manner specific to their type. Physical stimuli play a role in virtually all stages of cell differentiation, as early as embryogenesis—where stiffness and contractility provide mechanosensory cues to dictate cell proliferation and differentiation (reviewed in [1])—to post-natal cranial development [2]. They also play an integral role in tissue engineering [3, 4] and regeneration [5, 6]. For instance, frogs (*Xenopus laevis*) during development can only undergo gastrulation, convergence and extension movements if the mesoderm and notochord maintain their stiffness and avoid buckling [7, 8]. Throughout this rearrangement, the marginal zone becomes stiffer in order to avoid tissue deformation and collapse during gastrulation [9]. This increased stiffness further provides the mechanical strength that initiates the following developmental events. Whether these changes also serve as cues within the mechanosensory pathway to trigger other related cellular processes is unknown.

Cell contractility is another significant source of mechanical cues. Contraction of the actomyosin cytoskeleton triggers cellular responses in the contracting cell as well as external forces on the surrounding cells. The embryogenesis of *Xenopus laevis* also appropriately illustrates cellular responses to cell-generated contractile forces. It has been shown that during gastrulation, cultured explants of the dorsal involuting and non-involuting marginal zones of frog embryo, neither of which are subjected to external forces, converge and expand. This study suggests that tissue movement related to gastrulation is dictated by the tissue itself, rather than by surrounding external forces [10].

Mechanotransduction plays an important role in the signaling of endothelial cells because of their unique position in the blood vessel lumen. Endothelial cells have direct contact with blood and so can first sense changes in shear stress caused by alterations in flow rate. It is well known that endothelial cells perceive and respond to blood flow by undergoing a series of molecular changes, including expression of various transcription factors. These molecular alterations guide cell differentiation and may drive tissue regeneration. Nevertheless, the role of biomechanical forces in orchestration of tissue regeneration and subsequent

restoration of the function of damaged or diseased organs remains to be elucidated. This chapter focuses on the role of paracrine (angiocrine) factors derived from sinusoidal endothelial cells (SECs) on initiating hepatic regeneration, and the impending role of biomechanical forces in triggering this angiocrine-mediated regeneration process.

2 Organ Regeneration

Restoration of tissue upon injury or physical loss occurs through the processes of repair, remodeling, and regeneration. While repair and remodeling generally restore tissue continuity by synthesizing extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins and forming scar tissue, regeneration resolves the same issue by recovering the missing organ mass at the original anatomical site.

Three different strategies potentially lead to organ regeneration. Non-dividing cells from the injured organ begin to multiply and grow to resynthesize the lost tissue. Specialized cells dedifferentiate into multipotent cells that replicate, respecialize and replace the missing tissue. Lastly, pools of stem cells can divide and regenerate the lost tissue. The molecular and cellular pathways that regulate regeneration of adult organs remain largely unknown.

2.1 Liver Regeneration

The liver has a remarkable regenerative capacity and is able to rapidly restore its original weight and size after surgical resection. Liver regeneration is orchestrated by a complex interplay of cytokines, growth factors, and metabolic pathways (reviewed by [11, 12]). The "blood flow" theory, proposed over 50 years ago, suggested increased mechanosensory cues caused by increased blood flow to the liver post-partial hepatectomy (PH) triggered liver regeneration [13].

Another theory suggests that following liver damage factors such as Lipopolysaccharides (LPSs) are produced by the gut and delivered to the liver via the portal vein. LPS then activates the Complement system, leading to the production of anaphylatoxins, complement component 3 (C3a), and complement component 5 (C5a). Both C3a and C5a play a central role in the activation of the Complement system, a part of the innate immune system, which aids antibodies and phagocytic cells in clearing pathogens. LPS, C3a, and C5a all participate in the activation of Kupffer cells, mononuclear phagocytic cells found on the hepatic sinusoids, through Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), C3a receptor (C3aR), and C5a receptor (C5aR). The activation of Kupffer cells is indispensable in directing liver regeneration, namely through the production of TNF- α and IL-6, both of which are involved in priming the hepatocytes from the quiescent G0 to the G1 phase [14]. The transition of hepatocytes from G1 to M phases of the cell cycle is promoted by

other factors, such as insulin, growth hormone (GH), bile acids, vasopressin (AVP), platelet-derived serotonin, and endothelial growth factor (EGF) from the blood. These factors cooperate with prostaglandins, heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor, hepatic growth factor, as well as insulin-like growth factor-1. Tumor growth factor and amphiregulin from different hepatic cells block the G1 to M transition of the cell cycle.

Hepatic Stem Cells (HSCs) have the ability to inhibit G1 to S transition [15, 16]. TGF-beta signaling is thus blocked during cell proliferation. Pro-Nerve Growth Factor (Pro-NGF) and NGF, produced by regenerating hepatocytes, are able to trigger apoptosis in activated TGF-producing HSCs. Once the liver has reached its original mass, several factors (including activin A) are responsible for triggering the end of liver regeneration.

The liver sinusoidal vasculature is lined with endothelial cells (SECs) that distribute hepatic blood flow into each lobe. It is well known that occlusion of one particular branch of the portal vein system results in an atrophy of its corresponding lobes and a compensatory hypertrophy of the remaining liver tissue [17]. Given that hepatocytes make up most of the liver volume, this observed atrophy and loss of volume is mainly caused by apoptosis and necrosis of hepatocytes [18]. The exact mechanism of hypertrophy unique to liver regeneration is not completely known. However, considering the speed of regeneration, a very early trigger—possibly an abrupt change in a physiological parameter—may be responsible.

Similar to blood flow changes upon portal vein occlusion, one of the most obvious events in liver regeneration following partial hepatectomy is the subsequent increase in portal blood flow to the remaining lobes. Shear stress resulting from such increased blood flow on vascular lining could represent a first-line trigger for liver regeneration after PH. Cell location dictates the specific cells involved in mechanotransduction of hemodynamic forces in liver vasculature.

2.2 Sensing and Regulation of Blood Flow by the Vasculature

The endothelium is the innermost layer of blood vessels, made up of cells that had largely been assumed to function primarily as a delivery conduit for oxygen and nutrients. It has been increasingly appreciated that endothelial cells not only form vascular networks that deliver nutrients and oxygen throughout the body, but also establish instructive niches that stimulate organ regeneration through elaboration of paracrine trophogens. Endothelial cells distributed in different organs exhibit various morphological and functional attributes. Arteries and veins have distinct structures, with arteries comprised of three layers (tunica intima, tunica media and tunica adventitia), while veins consist of only two. The tunica intima is a single layer of simple squamous endothelium attached to a sub-endothelial connective tissue layer; the tunica media, mostly present in arteries, contains circularly arranged elastic fiber, connective tissue, and polysaccharides; the tunica adventitia is made of connective tissue and nerves. In the case of arteries, the tunica media

layer is rich in vascular smooth muscle, which serves to control the caliber of the vessel. Taken together, these cells experience cyclic stretch when they serve to modulate vasodilation and vasoconstriction as well as control blood rheology [19].

By virtue of its location, the endothelium has an important role as the primary interface between circulating blood and the vascular wall. Endothelial cells in particular sense blood flow and shear stress. The role of biomechanical forces in the ability to regenerate tissues and thus restore the function of damaged or diseased organs requires clarification.

3 Biomechanical Forces

Traditionally, it has been thought that biochemical signals serve as the main method in which signaling pathways are activated in endothelial cells. However, new research has determined that mechanical forces experienced by endothelial cells have a significant impact on cell phenotype and function. Biomechanical forces play essential roles in tissue and organ development [20]. Recent studies have demonstrated that mechanical forces can regulate endothelial cell proliferation, survival, migration [21], and ECM remodeling, and hence influence angiogenesis [22]. Mechanosensitivity describes the ability of cells to perceive mechanical stimuli and interpret them into biological signals at the molecular level [23]. As such, mechanotransduction is a set of fundamental physiological mechanisms that allow cells to react to physical forces. Mechanical stretch resulting from pulsatile blood flow can modulate differentiation, proliferation and production of paracrine (angiocrine) factors of vascular cell. In this mechanotransduction-based response of the arterial system, numerous endothelial cellular components such as proteoglycans have a crucial role [24, 25].

3.1 Effect of Mechanical Stress on Endothelial Cells

Cells in the vascular system are subjected to mechanical forces due to the pulsatile nature of blood flow. Endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells in the vessel wall experience these mechanical forces the most. Mechanical stretch, resulting from changes in blood pressure, can modulate several different cellular functions in vascular smooth muscle cells. Our data provides a new framework in which to consider how physical forces and molecular signals synchronize during the program of liver regeneration (Fig. 1).

The effect of shear stress on vascular endothelial cells has been extensively analyzed. There is a large body of evidence showing that it directly influences the expression of many adhesive molecules like VCAM-1 [30] and ICAM-1 [31] and mediator systems such as TGF- β [32] and nitric oxide synthase [33]. Several groups of molecules have been shown to play a role in the detection of flow shear



Fig. 1 Early molecular response of endothelial cells to shear stress. Endothelial phenotype is constantly modulated by both biomechanical and biochemical stimuli. Biochemical stimuli include hormones, growth factors, cytokines, etc. that are delivered to the cell via autocrine or paracrine mechanisms. Hemodynamic forces result in hydrostatic pressure, cyclic strain, and shear stress. Different mechanosensors play specialized roles in interpreting this stress in endothelial cells. These sensors include ion channels (TRP, P2X4, K^+ , Cl^- channels) [26], integrins, platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1), VE-cadherin, caveolae, G proteins, glycocalyx, and the endothelial cytoskeleton [27]. The activity of ion channels leads to an influx in Ca²⁺, which results in vasodilator production (namely nitric oxide), prostacyclin, and Endothelium-Derived Hyperpolarizing Factor (EDHF). Shear stress travels through the cytoskeleton to the endothelial surface, where either integrins or PECAM-1 and VE-cadherin are activated sequentially. Activated integrins bind to adaptor protein Shc as well as numerous kinases, including focal adhesion kinase (FAK). Shear stress also triggers tyrosine phosphorylation of PECAM-1 and localization of SHP-2 and Gab1 near the cell junction. This will subsequently results in ERK phosphorylation. Shear activation of (VEGF)-A receptor-2 (VEGFR2) at the luminal surface leads to the recruitment of phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase (PI3 K), which itself leads to the activation of Akt and eNOS. The activation of ERK and the phosphorylation of serine 1179 of eNOS at caveolae by shear have also been documented. Shear stress is rapidly followed by G protein activation and results in the activation of Ras and extracellular signal-regulated kinases-1/2 (ERK1/2). Deformation of the luminal surface will result in direct shear stress-induced signaling through the glycocalyx (via NO production) (adapted from [28, 29])

force sensation, namely ion channels, cell-matrix and cell-cell junction molecules, Tyrosine Kinase Receptors [(VEGF)-A receptor-2 (VEGFR2)], caveolae, G-protein coupled receptors/G-proteins, glycocalyx, and the endothelial cytoskeleton (reviewed in [20, 27]). Mechanotransduction of hemodynamic forces plays a central role in regulation of arterial diameter. This process is orchestrated

by the production and release of autacoids by the endothelial cells affected. Nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclin (PGI2), and endothelin-1 (ET-1) are the best-characterized endothelium-derived autacoids, the first two being vasodilators, and the last being a vasoconstrictor. Two other factors have been suggested to play a significant role in vasodilation: endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) [27, 34].

3.2 Integrin-Mediated Mechanotransduction

Integrins, as the main receptors that mediate the connection of the cytoskeleton to the ECM, have been implicated in sensing mechanical forces [35]. When the apical surface of an endothelial cell experiences shear stress due to blood flow, the tension experienced by the cell is transferred to transmembrane integrins, which undergo conformational changes and alter the phenotype of the cell. In order to maximize adhesion, the cell needs to increase its surface area in contact with the ECM so it flattens in a manner consistent with the blood flow. Tension at the upstream end of the cell with then be greater than the tension at the downstream end [35]. In integrin-mediated cell binding to the ECM, proteins in the ECM bind to integrins attached to the cell's cytoskeleton. This linkage bears much of the mechanical force inflicted on the cells, and as such may serve as a candidate mechanotransducer.

Glycoproteins within the extracellular matrix can be displaced by both cyclic stretching and shear stress. These interact with integrins that transmit the mechanical signal intracellularly. Shear stress can cause endothelial cell integrins to form clusters [36], associate with adaptor proteins such as Shc [37], and bind to WOW-1, an antibody that specifically binds to a particular activated integrin [38].

The cytoplasmic domains of integrins are often linked to intracellular proteins that constitute the cytoskeleton as well as kinases, including focal adhesion kinase (FAK), a key regulator of biochemical cascades triggered by mechanical forces. Therefore, integrins serve as a signal transmitter between the cell and the ECM [27].

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a homodimeric glycoprotein and a sub-family of the cysteine-knot growth factor superfamily, a platelet-derived growth factor family [39, 40]. They have profound involvement in signaling for both vasculogenesis (the de novo formation of blood vessels) and angiogenesis (the growth of blood vessels from pre-existing vasculature). VEGF promotes vasculogenesis during embryonic development, angiogenesis after injury and within muscles following exercise, as well as new vessels that serve to bypass older, blocked vessels.

Overexpression of VEGF can contribute to disease. Solid tumors require sufficient blood supply after they reach a certain size. Tumor cells that have the ability to express VEGF can therefore further expand and metastasize. VEGF overexpression may also cause vascular diseases of the retina. Anti-VEGF therapies are used to control or slow down the progression of diseases facilitated by VEGF

Tuble I vuseului endollenui Stowin nucloi function				
Receptor	Ligand	Function		
VEGFR1 (Flt-1)	VEGF-A, VEGF-B	Decoy receptor of VEGF-R2, unknown		
VEGFR2 (KDR/Flk-1)	VEGF-A,VEGF-C, VEGF-E, VEGF-D	Varied		
VEGFR3	VEGF-C, VEGF-D	Lymphangiogenesis		

Table 1 Vascular endothelial growth factor function

overexpression. An outline of VEGF isomers and receptors they interact with is outlined in Table 1.

VEGF-A binds to VEGFR1 (Flt-1) and VEGFR2 (KDR/Flk-1). VEGFR2 seems to mediate most of the known cellular responses to VEGF [41]. The function of VEGFR1 is less well-defined; it is thought to modulate VEGFR2 signaling. VEGFR1 may also act as a decoy receptor, sequestering VEGF from VEGFR2 binding (particularly during embryonic vasculogenesis). VEGF-C and VEGF-D are ligands for VEGFR3, which plays a role in lymphangiogenesis.

3.3 Parallel-Plate Flow System

To understand how shear stress is measured in vivo in small vessels, it is first necessary to have an understanding of how shear stress can be measured in vitro. The parallel-plate flow chamber is a commonly used platform for subjecting monolayers of anchorage-dependent cells, such as endothelial cells, to relatively uniform laminar shear stress. This approach has allowed scientists to recreate the in vivo environment in which endothelial cells are exposed to shear stresses due to blood flow.

A cell monolayer attached to one internal plate surface is subjected to fluid flow by creating a pressure gradient across the chamber. In order to calculate the shear stress on the cells, a Newtonian fluid is assumed. For steady flow between infinitely wide parallel plates, shear stress is determined according to fluid flow, viscosity of the media, and the depth of the chamber.

There are many advantages to using parallel-plate flow chambers. They promote uniform shear stress in a controlled environment. They can also simulate a wide variety of flow rates, which associatively varies shear stress levels. This enables simulation of blood vessels of many different sizes.

A parallel-plate flow chamber with a channel height of 1 mm was used to subject Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) to shear stress (Stovall Life Sciences, Inc). This chamber is optically transparent, allowing for direct visualization of the cell behavior under flow on a microscope stage and real-time monitoring. A high-precision peristaltic pump (Ismatec IPC, Model #ISM931C) is connected with tygon tubing (1/16 in ID) to the flow cell. The pump can impart a range of fluid shear stress by varying the flow rate. Cells are plated

into the flow cell 24 h before the experiment to allow the cells to grow to confluence. The experiment is performed at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. The peristaltic pump is placed inside the incubator to minimize the tubing length and as a result the flow path is considerably reduced. At the completion of the experiment, the flow cell can be disassembled by stopping the pump and fixing the cells for visualization or lysing for assaying.

As fluid flows through the parallel-plate flow chamber there are several variables that are used to calculate the shear stress imparted on the cell monolayer on the internal plate of the chamber. The magnitude of shear stress (τ) can be determined by quantifying the following variables: fluid viscosity (μ), chamber width (b), distance between plates (h), and volumetric flow rate (Q). The shear stress acting on the cell monolayer adhering to the plate is expressed in the following mathematical form:

$$\tau_w = \frac{6\mu Q}{bh^2} \tag{1}$$

In order to derive the shear stress model, the Navier–Stokes equations can be used. In the following Navier–Stokes equation for a fluid, ρ is density, u is fluid velocity, μ is viscosity, P is pressure, and t is time.

$$\rho\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + u \bullet \nabla u\right) = -\nabla P + \mu \nabla^2 u \tag{2}$$

Since it is assumed that the flow is fully developed, there is no change in flow velocity with respect to time, and as a result, the entire left side of the equation is neglected.

$$0 = -\nabla P + \mu \nabla^2 u \tag{3}$$

Rearranging and simplifying the terms, the equation shows the relation between the pressure gradient in the flow direction and the change in shear stress in the direction normal to the plate:

$$\frac{d^2u}{dy^2} = \frac{1}{\mu}\frac{dP}{dx} \tag{4}$$

Since it is assumed that the no-slip boundary condition applies, the following boundary conditions exist for this second order differential equation, where h = the height of flow chamber.

(1) $\frac{du}{dy} = 0$ at y = 0 due to the shear rate being zero at the axis of symmetry (2) u = 0 at $y = \pm \frac{h}{2}$ due to the no-slip condition at the top and bottom

integrating Eq. (4) once gives:

$$\frac{du}{dy} = \left(\frac{1}{\mu}\frac{dP}{dx}\right)y + c_1 \tag{5}$$



Apply the first boundary condition to eliminate c, and then integrate again, when the second boundary condition is used, the result is:

$$u = \frac{1}{2\mu} \left(\frac{-dP}{dx}\right) \left[\left(\frac{h}{2}\right)^2 - y^2 \right]$$
(6)

By integrating Eq. (6) over the height, the volumetric flow rate per unit width can be solved.

$$q = \frac{1}{2\mu} \left(\frac{-dP}{dx}\right) \left(\frac{h^3}{6}\right) = \frac{-h^3}{12\mu} \frac{dP}{dx}$$
(7)

Assuming two-dimensional flow (since the side walls are much further apart than the parallel plates, or $b \gg h$):

$$Q = -\frac{h^3 b}{12\mu} \left(\frac{dP}{dx}\right) \tag{8}$$

An expression for shear stress can be obtained by using Eq. (5) with $c_1 = 0$, noting that $\tau = [\mu du/dy]_{v=-h/2}$, and substituting for dP/dx from Eq. (8)

$$\tau = -\frac{dPh}{dx^2} = \frac{6\mu Q}{bh^2} \tag{9}$$

It is assumed that flow is laminar, which is true for the low Reynolds number flow being investigated. This laminar flow is also steady state, which helps to simplify the modeling of the shear stress. Another assumption is that the fluid is Newtonian and incompressible, which for the case of blood flow is acceptable (Fig. 2).

3.4 VEGFR2 and Mechanotransduction

VEGFR2 is important for normal endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and angiogenesis. VEGFR2 was established as having a role in the mechanosensory steps preceding integrin activation in integrin-mediated mechanotransduction [42].

VEGFR2 is part of a mechanosensory complex, comprised of Platelet Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule 1 (PECAM-1) (which transmits mechanical force), vascular endothelial cell cadherin (VE-cad), beta-catenin (which acts as an adaptor), and VEGFR2 (which activates phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase) [42]. This complex is sufficient to confer responsiveness to shear stress induced by flow in heterologous cells. Mechanical activation of VEGFR2 enables it to recruit PI3-kinase, and therefore mediates the activation of Akt and endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS). Blocking the receptor activity in these complexes leads to a significantly diminished response to mechanical stress in endothelial cells. Therefore, a correctly assembled complex is indispensable to form a sensing mechanotransduction mechanism.

3.5 Regulation of MicroRNA's by Biomechanical Forces

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are small noncoding RNA molecules (21–25 nucleotides) that function as post-transcriptional regulators by binding to complementary sequences on target mRNA transcripts [43, 44]. This usually results in translational repression, target degradation, or gene silencing [45]. Approximately 30 % of human protein coding genes are estimated to be regulated by miRNAs. The role of miRNAs in various biological processes, in both health and disease, is becoming more evident. These processes include cell proliferation and differentiation, angiogenesis [46-48], and cardiovascular homeostasis [49, 50]. The role of miRNA in endothelial cell (EC) biology was shown by studying the various knockdowns of key molecules in miRNA biogenesis (such as Dicer, and Drosha). EC Dicer knockouts studied in vitro showed changes in the expression of genes involved in EC biology, as well as reduced EC proliferation and angiogenesis [51]. ECs with knockdown of both Dicer and Drosha had significant reduction in capillary sprouting and tube forming activity [52]. Therefore, an overall reduction of miRNAs (via knockdown of Dicer and/or Drosha) significantly affects EC functions in vitro and in vivo, which indicates miRNAs might have an important role in regulating angiogenesis and vascular function [43, 44, 52, 53]. EC gene expression in response to pulsatile shear flow indicated that miRNAs (specifically miR-12b) play an important regulatory role in the inhibition of EC proliferation by pulsatile shear stress [54]. Additionally, when the influence of shear stress on aortic arch vessels was investigated, it was found that a flow-induced genetic pathway was necessary for angiogenic sprouting. This pathway requires the production of mechanosensitive zinc finger transcription factor (klf2a) that induces an EC-specific miRNA (mir-126) to activate VEGFR signaling [55]. This is yet another example of miRNAs facilitating integration of a physiological stimulus using growth factor signaling in ECs to guide angiogenesis.

4 Hemodynamics and the Liver

4.1 Blood Flow in the Liver

The liver is the body's most important metabolic organ and plays a central role in detoxifying blood-transported components. The liver has a unique dual circulation system, receiving 75 % of its oxygenated blood from the hepatic portal vein and 25 % from the hepatic artery. Each of these two vessels provides about half of the liver's oxygen requirement. The hepatic artery provides arterial blood, whereas the hepatic portal vein is responsible for transporting the venous blood from the spleen and the gastrointestinal tract, and its associated organs. In humans, both hepatic lobes are composed of about a million small lobules that are a maximum of 1-2 mm in size. Blood entering the liver flows through morphologically sinusoidal microvessels surrounded by hepatocytes and drains into a centrally located vein. This exceptional architecture ensures that the blood is brought into best possible contact with the hepatocytes when it flows through the organ. These veins then merge into the hepatic vein, which drains the blood out of the liver.

Blood flow subjects the endothelial cells to two major complex hemodynamic forces. The cyclic strain that results from mechanical distortion and tension of a vessel's wall, caused by the pumping action of the heart, affects the vascular cells. The shear stress, due to the frictional force that results from viscous blood flow over the vessel lumen, is imparted onto the endothelial cells lining the vessel's lumen. Blood pressure is the major determinant of cyclic stretch, while shear stress is determined by the blood flow, viscosity, and the diameter of the blood vessel. The liver's capacity to withstand vascular stress is illustrated through its management of blood flow following PH. Following a 2/3 PH, all blood provided by the hepatic portal vein is shunted to the remaining one-third of the liver, effectively tripling the incoming blood flow rate and volume, causing acute portal hypertension. This increase in blood flow is achieved by circumferential vessel wall expansion resulting in the stretching of endothelial cells and other cell types in the vessel wall. The liver lacks the ability to control the volume of portal blood flow despite it comprising up to 75 % of total liver intake. It is reasonable to postulate that the increase in blood volume entering the liver following partial hepatectomy may play a role in triggering the rapid regeneration of the liver. The cellular response to this stress may be mediated through mechanotransduction. Interestingly, when portal blood flow is experimentally deprived, a compensatory increase of arterial blood supply, known as the hepatic arterial buffer response (HABR), occurs. This phenomenon implicates that the abrupt shift in blood flow distribution after partial hepatectomy is a first-line trigger to provoke the regeneration process, while regeneration is halted following the gradually normalized blood flow.



4.2 Liver Regeneration

Liver regeneration has also been linked to the proliferation of hepatocytes post partial hepatectomy, which coincides with the secretion of a variety of growth factors and cytokines, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), and tumor necrosis factor (TNF). It has previously been shown that growth factors and cytokines produced by hepatocytes play an important role in orchestrating the process of liver regeneration. In fact, it seems both parenchymal cells (particularly hepatocytes) and nonparenchymal cells (Kupffer cells, SECs, hepatic stellate cells, and billiary epithelial cells) are involved in producing cytokines for liver regeneration [56]. Hepatic SECs are the second most common liver cells after hepatocytes [57]. They compose a functionally unique capillary network that vascularizes organs such as bone marrow and liver. Hepatic SECs play a vital role in providing nutrients and growth factors to proliferating hepatocytes via the formation of new vessels during regeneration. Bone marrow SECs in adult mice support hematopoietic regeneration through expression of specific angiocrine trophogens, such as Notch ligands [58, 59]. The hepatic circulation is also largely lined by LSECs [60, 61], with each hepatocyte dwelling in cellular proximity to ECs. However, the lack of a suitable definition of liver ECs and scarcity of relevant mouse angiogenic genetic models [14, 16] have hampered studies of the role of LSECs in regulation of hepatic regeneration [62–64].

As early as 1965, portal venous blood flow has been identified as an important factor in liver regeneration [13]. Liver mass is significantly reduced post-PH (due to liver resection), and the remaining hepatic segments are subjected to increased portal blood flow and pressure. The earliest and most notable change following PH is the drastic increase in liver blood flow, with an increase in liver blood flow of up to 10-fold. Considering that hepatic SECs respond to shear stress and radical increases in blood flow, hepatic SECs must play a role in the initiation of liver regeneration.

5 Partial Hepatectomy Model

Recently, we have used a PH model to examine the instructive role of LSECs in hepatic regeneration (Fig. 3) [65]. In this model, resection of 70 % of the liver mass without perturbing the integrity of the residual liver vasculature activates hepatocyte regeneration [11, 63, 66]. This method is in contrast to the administration of hepatotoxic chemicals, which impair the organization of LSECs and causes tissue hypoxia, cell death, and inflammation [16, 60, 67]. This approach offers an instructive model for examining the role of structurally and functionally intact LSECs in supporting liver regeneration.

Growth factors such as those in the VEGF family play a significant role in the regeneration of bone marrow SECs [68]. As such, we hypothesized that two VEGF



receptors, VEGFR2 or VEGFR3, also modulate liver SEC function. Using VEGFR2-GFP mice in which the expression of green fluorescent protein (GFP) is driven by the native promoter of VEGFR2, we have demonstrated that VEGFR2 and VEGFR3 are exclusively expressed in the liver endothelial cells but not in other liver cell types, including hepatocyte nuclear factor 4α (HNF4A)⁺ hepatocytes (Fig. 4a). As shown in Fig. 4b, the distribution of VEGFR3 expression is restricted to VEGFR2⁺ LSECs that branch out from CD34⁺VEGFR3⁻ large vessels.

5.1 Flow Cytometry Analysis

Flow cytometric analysis on non-parenchymal cells demonstrates the expression of endothelial-specific marker VE-cadherin on non-hematopoietic VEGFR3⁺ VEG-FR2⁺CD45⁻ LSECs, 97.6 % of which are non-lymphatic endothelial cells expressing coagulation factor VIII (Fig. 5a, b). We have designated a unique phenotypic and operational signature for LSECs and other cells of adult mice as shown in Table 2. Identification of LSECs as VEGFR3⁺CD34⁻ and non-sinusoidal endothelial cells such as VEGFR3⁻CD34⁺ is sufficient for quantification, purification, and molecular profiling of LSECs.

In order to determine the mechanism by which LSECs regulate hepatic proliferation, we examined the regenerative kinetics of hepatocytes and LSECs after partial hepatectomy. Two days after partial hepatectomy, staining with VE-cadherin, hepatocyte marker epithelial (E)-cadherin, and mitotic marker phosphorylated-histone-3 (P-H3) revealed that P-H3⁺E-cadherin⁺ mitotic hepatocytes were positioned in the proximity of non-proliferating LSECs (Fig. 5c).

Proliferation of LSECs starts at day 4 and plateaus by day 8 after PH (Fig. 6a). In comparison, quantification of P-H3⁺HNF4A⁺ hepatocytes showed that the rate of hepatocyte proliferation peaks during the first four days, leveling off by day 8 (Fig. 6b). The roles of the inductive signals in liver regeneration is schematized (Fig. 6c).


Fig. 4 Phenotypic signature and contribution of LSECs to physiological liver regeneration induced by 70 % partial hepatectomy. a Liver sections obtained from VEGFR2-GFP reporter mice. During liver regeneration VEGFR2 is exclusively expressed on the liver endothelial cells. **b** Restricted expression of VEGFR3 on LSECs, but not CD34⁺ large vessels or hepatocytes. Scale bars, 50 µm (Adapted from [65])

arrous cell types in adult liver lince
Markers
VEGFR3 ⁺ CD34 ⁻ VEGFR2 ⁺ VE-cadherin ⁺ FactorVIII ⁺ Prox-1 ⁻ CD45 ⁻
VEGFR3 ⁻ CD34 ⁺ VEGFR2 ⁺ VE-cadherin ⁺ CD45 ⁻
VEGFR3 ⁺ CD34 ⁺ Prox-1 ⁺ FactorVIII ⁻ CD45 ⁻

f various call turnes in adult liver miss

These results suggest a two-step contribution of LSECs in mediating hepatic reconstitution. At the early phases of PH (days 1–3 after partial hepatectomy), inductive angiogenesis in the non-proliferative LSECs stimulates hepatic regeneration, possibly by releasing angiocrine factors. In contrast, 4 days after partial hepatectomy, the increased demand of blood supply for the regenerating liver is met by proliferative angiogenesis of LSECs.

To investigate the significance of VEGF receptors during liver SEC driven hepatic regeneration, the VEGFR2 gene was conditionally deleted by crossing VEGFR2^{loxP/loxP} mice with ROSA-CreER^{T2} mice, generating inducible VEGFR2-





Fig. 5 a Flow cytometric analysis of the liver nonparenchymal cells. VEGFR2⁺ cells that are CD45⁻, express endothelial-specific VE-cadherin. **b** Specific expression of VEGFR3 on VEGFR2⁺VE-cadherin⁺CD45⁻ LSECs, with a predominant fraction being CD34⁻ Factor-VIII⁺Prox-1⁻. **c** Forty-eight hours after partial hepatectomy, E-cadherin⁺P-H3⁺ mitotic hepatocytes are localized adjacent to VE-cadherin⁺ and VEGFR2⁺ endothelial cells. Scale bars, 50 μ m (Adapted from [65])

deficient, VEGFR2^{flox/flox} (VEGFR2^{fl/fl}) mice [68]. Owing to the endothelial-cell specific expression of VEGFR2 in the liver, in VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice only liver ECs, but not non-endothelial cells, will manifest functional defects. As control, we used mice with heterozygous deletion of the VEGFR2 gene (VEGFR2^{fl/fl}). Forty-eight hours after partial hepatectomy, bromodeoxyuridine⁺ hepatocyte proliferation (BrdU⁺HNF4A⁺ cell number) was decreased by 67 % in VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice (Fig. 7a, b). Despite the patency of the VE-cadherin⁺isolectin⁺ perfused vessels at this early phase, the regeneration of liver mass was attenuated in VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice (Fig. 7c). The result demonstrates that in the early phases (PH days 1–3) of liver regeneration, targeting VEGFR2 primarily impairs the effect of endothelial-derived angiocrine factors to induce hepatocyte regeneration, but not vascular perfusion capacity.

However, in VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice at the later stages of liver regeneration (PH days 4–8), proliferative angiogenesis was also defective (Fig. 7c), interfering with the assembly of patent VE-cadherin⁺isolectin⁺ vasculature (Fig. 7d, e), thereby diminishing restoration of the liver mass for at least 28 days. Furthermore, in VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice, liver function after PH was abnormal, as manifested by elevated plasma bilirubin levels. To confirm the endothelial-specific VEGFR2 function in mediating liver regeneration, VEGFR2^{loxP/loxP} mice were also crossed with VE-cadherin-CreER^{T2} mice to induce endothelial-selective deletion of VEGFR2.

Both the liver mass and formation of perfused vessels in the VE-cadherin-CreER^{T2}VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice were decreased after PH, which emphasizes the significance of VEGFR2 in mediating liver regeneration. In fact, if the VEGF-A/ VEGFR2 pathway supports SEC-driven hepatic regeneration, then VEGF-A should enhance liver regeneration. We compared the effect of VEGF-A₁₆₄ with



Fig. 6 a Kinetics of liver SEC expansion and **b** hepatocyte mitosis during liver regeneration (n = 4). **c** Proposed schema describing the roles of SECs in liver regeneration. Upon partial hepatectomy (day 0), LSECs initiate the proliferation of proximal hepatocytes by exerting "inductive signals", possibly by releasing angiocrine factors. Day 4 post-PH, there is a significant liver SEC expansion (proliferative angiogenesis) to sustain hepatic reconstitution. Scale bars, 50 µm. Error bars, SEM



Fig. 7 Partial hepatectomy induced VEGFR2-Id1 activation in LSECs mediates liver regeneration. **a**, **b** Hepatocyte proliferation after partial hepatectomy is impaired in VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice (n = 5). **c**-**e** Inhibition of liver mass regeneration **c** and functional VE-cadherin⁺isolectin⁺ vessel formation **d**, **e** in VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice after partial hepatectomy (n = 4-6). **P < 0.001. Scale bar, 50 µm. Error bars, SEM (Adapted from [65])



Fig. 8 Injection of VEGF-A₁₆₄, but not VEGFR1-specific ligand PIGF, accelerates the regeneration of liver mass (**a**), associated with an incremental increase in VEGFR⁺CD34⁻ liver SEC number (**b**) (n = 4). **c** Regenerative liver section of Id1^{VenusYFP} mouse. Id1 is selectively upregulated by partial hepatectomy in VE-cadherin⁺ vessels. **d** VEGFR2 deletion diminishes Id1 upregulation in the regenerative liver **d** (n = 5).; *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01. Scale bars, 50 µm

placental growth factor (PIGF), as the latter selectively activates VEGFR1 [69]. After partial PH, VEGF₁₆₄, but not PIGF, accelerated the regeneration of both liver mass and the number of VEGFR3⁺CD34⁻ LSECs, which were sustained for at least 28 days (Fig. 8a, b). Therefore, after partial hepatectomy, the activation of VEGF-A/VEGFR2, but not PIGF/VEGFR1, is crucial for priming LSECs to initiate and maintain hepatic proliferation.

5.2 Microarray Analysis

To identify the angiocrine signals that stimulate liver regeneration, we used microarray analysis (Fig. 9). Among the endothelial-specific genes, the transcription factor Id1 was specifically upregulated in the endothelial cells activated by PH [70]. Using Id1^{venusYFP} reporter mice in which the venus YFP expression is



Fig. 9 Heatmap comparing transcriptional profiles. Tree view of the representative Affymetrix gene expression in the regenerative liver 48 h after partial hepatectomy (PH 48 h) compared to that of sham-operated mice (Sham 48 h). Note that the upregulation of angiogenic transcription factor Id1 is comparable to Ki67 and higher than E2F1, both of which are closely associated with hepatocyte proliferation



driven by the Id1 promoter [71], we found Id1 upregulation in LSECs 48 h after PH (Fig. 8c) which was significantly blunted in VEGFR2^{fl/fl} mice (Fig. 8d).

The liver mass recovery in Id1-deficient $(Id1^{-/-})$ mice after PH was impaired for 28 days and remained unchanged upon VEGF-A₁₆₄ administration (Fig. 10a). Furthermore, after partial hepatectomy, Id1^{-/-} mice exhibited significant decrease in mitotic BrdU⁺HNF4A⁺ hepatocyte number, disrupted formation of functional VE-cadherin⁺isolectin⁺ vessels, diminished proliferation of VEGFR3⁺CD34⁻ LSECs, and abnormal liver function, as evidenced by an increase in plasma bilirubin levels. Thus activation of the VEGF-A/VEGFR2 pathway through upregulation of Id1 drives liver regeneration [65].

The role of Id1 upregulation in mediating the angiocrine function of LSECs on hepatocyte proliferation was also examined by a liver SEC–hepatocyte co-culture system. Co-incubation of isolated hepatocytes with primary LSECs led to a ninefold increase in hepatocyte number, which was selectively inhibited by knockdown of Id1 in LSECs (Fig. 10b). Conditioned medium from LSECs failed to support hepatocyte growth, underlining the importance of cell–cell contact in liver SECderived angiocrine function. Therefore, lack of Id1 results in defective inductive function of LSECs, impairing hepatocyte regeneration.

To determine whether in vivo angiocrine effects of $Id1^{+/+}$ LSECs could initiate hepatocyte regeneration in $Id1^{-/-}$ mice, we used the intra-splenic transplantation approach on day 2 after PH to engraft LSECs into the $Id1^{-/-}$ liver vasculature [72].

GFP-marked Id1^{+/+} LSECs selectively incorporated into the VEGFR3⁺sinusoidal vascular lumen and restored the regeneration of liver mass and SEC expansion (Fig. 10c). In contrast, the transplanted Id1^{+/+} LSECs failed to restore the regeneration of the Id^{+/+} liver. Partial vascular chimaerism afforded by the incorporation of Id1-competent LSECs generates sufficient endothelial cellderived inductive signals to initiate hepatic proliferation in the Id1^{+/+} liver.



Fig. 10 Id1 upregulation in LSECs is essential for liver regeneration. **a** Compared with their wild-type (*WT*) littermates, $Id1^{-/-}$ mice manifest impaired regeneration in liver mass, which fails to be rescued by VEGF-A₁₆₄ administration (n = 5). **b** The liver SEC-dependent stimulation of hepatocyte proliferation was specifically inhibited by Id1 gene knockdown. Scr, scrambled liver SEC-conditioned medium (n = 4). **c** Transplantation of Id1^{+/+} LSECs restores the regeneration of mass in the Id^{-/-} liver (n = 4). Dashed line, level of Id1^{-/-} liver without endothelial cell transplantation. *P,0.05, versus Id1^{-/-} **a**; **P,0.01, versus Id1^{-/-} with VEGF₁₆₄ **a**. Scale bars, 50 mm **b** and 20 mm. Error bars, SEM

To identify endothelial-derived angiocrine factors that induce liver regeneration, we analyzed LSECs purified from the wild-type and Id1^{+/+} mice 48 h after partial hepatectomy. The expression of Wnt2 and HGF, but not other hepatic trophogens expressed by LSECs, such as Wnt9B and thrombomodulin, was drastically diminished in Id^{+/+} LSECs (Fig. 11a). These results suggest that Id1 upregulation in LSECs initiates hepatocyte proliferation through inducing Wnt2 and HGF expression. To test this hypothesis, on day 2 after partial hepatectomy, we engrafted Id1^{-/-} LSECs transduced with Wnt2, HGF or both into the Id1^{-/-}



Fig. 11 Id-1-mediated induction of Wnt2 and HGF in LSECs stimulates hepatic regeneration. **a** Upregulation of HGF and Wnt2 is impaired in $Id1^{-/-}$ LSECs after partial hepatectomy (n = 5). **b** Intrasplenic transplantation of GFP-marked $Id1^{-/-}$ LSECs carrying both Wnt2 and HGF ($Id1^{-/-}Wnt2^+HGF^+GFP^+$) rescues the regeneration of $Id1^{-/-}$ liver mass (n = 4). *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01. Error bars, SEM

liver vasculature by intra-splenic transplantation. Only $Id1^{-/-}$ LSECs carrying both Wnt2 and HGF ($Id1^{-/-}Wnt2^+HGF^+$) restored the regeneration of mass and liver SEC expansion in the $Id1^{-/-}$ liver (Fig. 11b), which suggests a collaborative effect between HGF and Wnt2. Therefore, Id1-activated LSECs through Wnt2 and HGF synthesis induce proliferation of juxtaposed hepatocytes (Fig. 12).

In the PH study, we have used conditional VEGFR2 knockout, $Id1^{-/-}$ mice, and an endothelial cell transplantation model to recognize the essential angiocrine role of a specialized organ-specific vascular niche cell in orchestrating physiological liver regeneration. Similar to upregulation of Id1 in the angiogenic tumor vessels, Id1 expression is minimal in normal LSECs, but after activation of VEGFR2 induces exclusive upregulation of Id1 in the angiogenic LSECs. In the first 3 days after partial hepatectomy, activation of the VEGFR2-Id1 pathway switches on an inductive angiogenesis program in non-proliferative VEGFR3⁺CD34⁻VEGFR2⁺Id1⁺LSECs. Through production of angiocrine factors Wnt2 and HGF, this program provokes hepatic proliferation. Subsequently, as the regenerating liver demands additional blood supply, VEGFR2-Id1-mediated proliferative angiogenesis of LSECs reconstitutes hepato-vascular mass. Therefore, we introduce the concept that SECs support liver regeneration through a biphasic mechanism: at the early phase immediately after partial hepatectomy, inductive angiogenic LSECs promote organogenesis through release of angiocrine factors, whereas proliferative angiogenic LSECs vascularize and sustain the expanding liver mass.

Our earlier work has shown that transplantation of the $Id1^{-/-}Wnt2^+HGF^+$ LSECs into $Id1^{-/-}$ mice initiates and restores liver regeneration. These findings, and the observation that hepatic proliferation is severely reduced in the VEGFR2





Fig. 12 Requirement for VEGFR2-Id1 pathway in liver SEC-mediated liver regeneration. Intrasplenic transplantation of $Id1^{+/+}$ LSECs into the $Id1^{-/-}$ liver sinusoids restores hepatic-vascular regeneration. Transplanted $Id1^{+/+}$ or $Id1^{-/-}Wnt2^+HGF^+GFP^+$ LSECs localize to the vicinity of hepatocytes, promoting inductive and proliferative angiogenesis thereby sustaining physiological liver regeneration

and Id1-deficient mice, suggest that LSECs are responsible for establishing an inductive vascular niche to initiate hepatic proliferation [65].

6 Discussion

Regenerative medicine promises to improve health by repairing or regenerating cells, tissues or organs under different sets of circumstances including acute chemical injury, inflammation, surgical resection, remodeling, and age-related organ degeneration. Developmental biologists have tried to identify extrinsic and intrinsic factors that may potentially act as master regulators of embryonic organ formation. The biomechanical microenvironment also induces ingrowth and differentiation of tissue. For instance, injectable polymer systems have been shown to control the spatiotemporal dynamics of morphogens and in situ programming of cells at sites of injury [73].

Regeneration is a natural process in which the body can restore and repair damage to an existing cell, tissue, or organ. Scientists are interested in organ regeneration due to the possible medical applications of further advances in this field. The liver is one organ that naturally exhibits this ability, which even enables it to regenerate itself after the majority of the organ has been removed. Given that the liver already receives approximately 25 % of an organism's cardiac output, one theory is that an increased blood flow to the liver recorded immediately after PH leads to increased shear stress. Mechanotransduction, the conversion of mechanical forces acting upon a cell into biochemical activity, activates the signaling pathways leading to organ regeneration [74]. Further study of this dynamic between liver blood flow and regeneration could lead to important advances in the field of organ regeneration.

Integrins are receptors that help mediate the connection between the cell and the surrounding matrix. One way in which mechanotransduction is thought to take place is through integrins, which are regarded as mechanosensors due to the conformational changes they adopt when affected by external forces. Two integrins that have been found to exhibit this behavior are the $\alpha 5\beta 1$ and the $\alpha L\beta 2$ integrins [75]. When the apical surface of an endothelial cell experiences shear stress due to the blood flow acting on it, the tension experienced by the cell is transferred to integrins. These integrins, now activated, increase adhesion to the ECM, which alters the phenotype of the cell. In order to maximize adhesion, the cell needs to increase the surface area in contact with the ECM so it flattens in a fashion consistent with the blood flow. This allows the side of the cell facing the oncoming blood flow to resist more tension, while the opposite end of the cell will experience less tension [35]. This would increase the endothelial cell's chance of survival when under the influence of high rates of blood flow and the consequent shear stress.

Human liver can regenerate its original functional mass after hepatectomy and stops this process once the structure of the organ is rebuilt and its normal size restored. The developmental signaling mechanism that serves as the basis for this phenomena requires understanding in order to apply similar regenerative capacity in other organs. Identifying inductive factors that guide stem cells to differentiate into various cell types within different organs can be used as part of a therapeutic strategy.

Interestingly, we have recently shown that after unilateral pneumonectomy (PNX), activation of capillary endothelial cells plays a critical role in initiating and sustaining the regeneration of the lung, another organ constantly subjected to both cell cyclic stretch and changing blood flow [76]. It is plausible that the altered blood flow inside pulmonary vasculature post PNX ignites the activation of VEGFR2, which in turn stimulates the expansion of epithelial progenitor cells. In addition, it is tempting to postulate that changing pulmonary mechanics also plays an essential role in activating epithelial progenitor cells inside alveoli.

Induction of (organ-specific) stem cell differentiation alone may not be sufficient to complete the regeneration process, and creation of the proper local environmental cues and architectural arrangements inherent to the dynamic in vivo setting has been shown to play an integral role. To this end, the physical interactions between cells, ECM, and blood flow, as well as the molecular cross-talk between these constituents play a significant role in tissue regeneration. For example, transplanting hepatocytes in patients with end-stage liver disease results in suboptimal outcomes. With the identified inductive function of LSECs in both initiating and supporting hepatocyte amplification, co-transplantation of properly primed LSECs or pre-conditioning of the host's vasculature would significantly enhance hepatocyte reconstitution, as well as facilitate the engraftment of injected functional hepatocytes via optimized cellular interactions.

The self-regenerative capacity of the liver is frequently hampered by detrimental factors such as extensive resection, hepatotoxins, aging, and tumor metastasis. Thus, end-stage liver disease often requires transplantation therapy. However, lack of available liver tissue consistently curbs successful liver



engraftment in many patients. Development of strategies to expand functional transplantable hepatocytes will significantly increase the success of liver regeneration. We have shown that durable hepatic reconstitution requires cellular interaction between hepatocytes and the liver vascular niche demarcated by specialized liver SECs [65]. Production of liver SECs-derived paracrine growth factors, which we define as "angiocrine factors", has been shown to initiate and maintain hepatocyte regeneration, underscoring the urgency to develop cell therapy approaches to rebuild not only hepatic but also vascular function for liver diseases.

References

- 1. Wozniak, M., Chen, C.S.: Mechanotransduction in development: a growing role for contractility. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. **10**(1), 34–43 (2009)
- 2. Hou, B.: The role of polycystic kidney disease 1 (Pkd1) in raniofacial skeletal development and response to mechanical stress. HARVARD UNIVERSITY (2008)
- 3. Morris, H., Haycock, J.W., Reilly, G.C., Donald, E.I.: The role of mechanotransduction in bone tissue engineering. Eur. Cells Materi. **16**(3), 84 (2008)
- Parker, K.K., Ingber, D.E.: Extracellular matrix, mechanotransduction and structural hierarchies in heart tissue engineering. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 362(1484), 1267–1279 (2007)
- 5. Huang, C., Ogawa, R.: Mechanotransduction in bone repair and regeneration. FASEB J. **24**(10), 3625–3632 (2010)
- Isaksson, H., Wilson, W., van Isaksson, C.C., Huiskes, R., Ito, K.: Comparison of biophysical stimuli for mechano-regulation of tissue differentiation during fracture healing. J. Biomech. 39(8), 1507–1516 (2006)
- 7. Adams, D.S., Keller, R., Koehl, M.A.: The mechanics of notochord elongation, straightening and stiffening in the embryo of *Xenopus laevis*. Development **110**, 115–130 (1990)
- Keller, R.J., Jansa, S.: Xenopus gastrulation without a blastocoel roof. Dev. Dyn. 195, 162–176 (1992)
- 9. Moore, S.W., Keller, R.E., Koehl, M.A.: The dorsal involuting marginal zone stiffens anisotropically during its convergent extension in the gastrula of Xenopus laevis. Development **121**, 3131–3140 (1995)
- 10. Keller, R.D., Danilchik, M.: Regional expression, pattern and timing of convergence and extension during gastrulation of Xenopus laevis. Development **103**, 193–209 (1988)
- Fausto, N., Campbell, J.S., Riehle, K.J.: Liver regeneration. Hepatology 43(2 Suppl 1), S45– S53 (2006)
- 12. Michalopoulos, G.: Liver regeneration. Mol. Pathol. Liver Dis. 5(2), 261-278 (2011)
- Thomson, R.Y., Clarke, A.M.: Role of portal blood supply in liver regeneration. Nature 208(5008), 392–393 (1965)
- Greene, A.K., Wiener, S., Puder, M., Yoshida, A., Shi, B., Perez-Atayde, A.R., Efstathiou, J.A., Holmgren, J., Adamis, A.P., Rupnick, M., Folkman, J., O'Reilly, M.S.: Endothelial-directed hepatic regeneration after partial hepatectomy. Ann. Surg. 237(4), 530–535 (2003)
- Van Buren, G., Yang, AD., Dallas, NA., Gray, MJ., Lim, SJ., Xia, L., Fan, F., Somcio, R., Wu, Y., Hicklin, DJ., Ellis, LM.: Effect of molecular therapeutics on liver regeneration in a murine model. J. Clin. Oncol. 26(11), 1836–1842 (2008)
- LeCouter, J., Moritz, D.R., Li, B., Phillips, G.L., Liang, X.H., Gerber, H.P., Hillan, K.J., Ferrara, N.: Angiogenesis-independent endothelial protection of liver: role of VEGFR-1. Science 299(5608), 890–893 (2003)

للاستشارات

- Rozga, J., Jeppsson, B., Bengmark, S.: Portal branch ligation in the rat—reevaluation of a model. Am. J. Path. 125, 30–38 (1986)
- Bilodeau, M., Aubry, M.C., Houle, R., Burnes, P.N., Ethier, C.: Evaluation of hepatocyte injury following partial ligation of the left portal vein. J. Hepatol. 30(1), 29–37 (1999)
- Li, C., Hu, Y., Mayr, M., Xu, Q.: Cyclic strain stress-induced mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) phosphatase 1 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells is regulated by Ras/Rac-MAPK pathways. J. Biol Chem. 274, 25273–25280 (1999)
- Mammoto, T., Ingber, D.E.: Mechanical control of tissue and organ development. Development 137(9), 1407–1420 (2010)
- Li, S., Huang, N.F., Hsu, S.: Mechanotransduction in endothelial cell migration. J. Cell. Biochem. 96(6), 1110–1126 (2005)
- Li, Y.S., Haga, H.J., Chien, S.: Molecular basis of the effects of shear stress on vascular endothelial cells. J. Biomech. 38(10), 1949–1971 (2005)
- Bershadsky, A.D., Balaban, N.Q., Geiger, B.: Adhesion-dependent cell mechanosensitivity. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 19, 677–695 (2003)
- 24. Baker, A.B.: Role of proteoglycans in vascular mechanotransduction. Mechanosensitivity Cells Tissues 4(3), 219–236 (2011)
- Milovanova, T., Chatterjee, S., Hawkins, B.J., Hong, N., Sorokina, E.M., Debolt, K., Moore, J.S., Madesh, M., Fisher, A.B.: Caveolae are an essential component of the pathway for endothelial cell signaling associated with abrupt reduction of shear stress. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1783(10), 1866–1875 (2008)
- Chatterjee, S., Chapman, K.E., Fisher, A.B.: Lung ischemia: a model for endothelial mechanotransduction. Cell Biochem. Biophys. 52(3), 125–138 (2008)
- Ngai, C., Yao, X.: Vascular responses to shear stress: the involvement of mechanosensors in endothelial cells. Open Circ. Vasc. J. 3, 85–94 (2010)
- 28. Shyu, K.-G.: Cellular and molecular effects of mechanical stretch on vascular cells and cardiac myocytes. Clin. Sci. **116**, 377–389 (2009)
- Hsiai, T.K.: Mechanosignal transduction coupling between endothelial and smooth muscle cells: role of hemodynamic forces. Am. J. Physiol.—Cell Physiol. 294(3), C659–C661 (2008)
- 30. Ando, J., Tsuboi, H., Korenaga, R., Takada, Y., Toyama, S.N., Miyasaka, M., Kamiya, A.: Shear stress inhibits adhesion of cultured mouse endothelial cells to lymphocytes by downregulating VCAM-1 expression. Am. J. Physiol. **267**(3 Pt 1), C679–C687 (1994)
- Selzner, N., Selzner, M., Odermatt, B., Tian, Y., Van Rooijen, N., Clavien, P.A.: ICAM-1 triggers liver regeneration through leukocyte recruitment and Kupffer cell-dependent release of TNF-alpha/IL-6 in mice. Gastroenterology **124**(3), 692–700 (2003)
- 32. Ohno, M., Cooke, J.P., Dzau, V.J., Gibbons, G.H.: Fluid shear stress induces endothelial transforming growth factor beta-1 transcription and production. modulation by potassium channel blockade. J. Clin. Invest. 95(3), 1363–1369 (1995)
- Marsden, P.A., Heng, H.H., Scherer, S.W., Stewart, R.J., Hall, A.V., Shi, X.M., Tsui, L.C., Schappert, K.T.: Structure and chromosomal localization of the human constitutive endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene. J. Biol. Chem. 268(23), 17478–17488 (1993)
- 34. Zhang, Q., Chatterjee, S., Wei, Z., Liu, W.D., Fisher, A.B.: Rac and PI3 kinase mediate endothelial cell-reactive oxygen species generation during normoxic lung ischemia. Antioxid. Redox Signal 10(4), 679–689 (2008)
- Katsumi, A., Wayne, O.A., Eleni, T., Martin, A.S.: Integrins in mechanotransduction. J. Biol. Chem. 279(13), 12001–12004 (2004)
- Wang, Y., Miao, H., Li, S., Chen, K., Li, Y., Yuan, S., Shyy, J., Chien, S.: Interplay between integrins and FLK-1 in shear stress-induced signaling. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 283, 1540–1547 (2002)
- Chen, K., Li, Y.S., Kim, M., Li, S., Yuan, S., Chen, S., Shyy, J.: Mechanotransduction in response to shear stress. Roles of receptor tyrosine kinases, integrins, and Shc. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 18393–18400 (1999)
- Tzima, E., del Pozo, M.A., Schwartz, M.: Activation of integrins in endothelial cells by fluid shear stress mediates Rho-dependent cytoskeletal alignment. EMBO J. 20, 4639–4647 (2001)

الم للاستشارات

- Joukov, V., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., Saksela, O., Alitalo, K., Olofsson, B., von Euler, G., Orpana, A., Pettersson, R.F., Eriksson, U.: Vascular endothelial growth factor B a novel growth factor for endothelial cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93(6), 2567–2581 (1996)
- Joukov, V., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., Chilov, D., Lahtinen, I., Kukk, E., Saksela, O., Kalkkinen, N., Alitalo, K.: A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J. 15(2), 290–298 (1996)
- 41. Stannard, A.K., Rohit, K., Evans, J.M., Sofra, V., Holmes, D.J., Zachary, I.: Vascular endothelial growth factor synergistically enhances induction of E-selectin by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27(3), 494–502 (2007)
- 42. Tzima, E., Mohamed, I.-T., Kiosses, W.B., Dejana, E., Schultz, D.A., Engelhardt, B., Cao, G., DeLisser, H., Schwartz, M.A.: A mechanosensory complex that mediates the endothelial cell response to fluid shear stress. Nature 437(7057), 426–431 (2005)
- 43. Hua, Z., Lv, Q., Ye, W., Wong, C.-K.A., Cai, G., Gu, D., Ji, Y., Zhao, C., Wang, J., Yang, B.B., Zhang, Y.: MiRNA-directed regulation of VEGF and other angiogenic factors under hypoxia. PLoS One 1, e116 (2006)
- Poliseno, L., et al.: MicroRNAs modulate the angiogenic properties of HUVECs. Blood 108, 3068–3071 (2006)
- Bartel, D.P.: MicroRNAs: Genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116, 281–297 (2004)
- 46. Lu, J., Getz, G., Miska, E.A., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Lamb, J., Peck, D., Sweet-Cordero, A., Ebert, B.L., Mak, R.H., Ferrando, A.A., Downing, J.R., Jacks, T., Horvitz, H.R., Golub, T.R.: MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. Nature 435, 834–838 (2005)
- 47. Urbich, C., Angelika, K., Angelika, S.: Role of microRNAs in vascular diseases, inflammation, and angiogenesis. Cardiovasc. Res. **79**, 581–588 (2008)
- Bonauer, A., Carmona, G., Iwasaki, M., Mione, M., Koyanagi, M., Fischer, A., Burchfield, J., Fox, H., Doebele, C., Ohtani, K., Chavakis, E., Potente, M., Tjwa, M., Zeiher, A., Dimmeler, S.: MicroRNA-92a controls angiogenesis and functional recovery of ischemic tissues in mice. Science 324, 1710–1713 (2009)
- Parmacek M.S.: MicroRNA-modulated targeting of vascular smooth muscle cells. J. Clin. Invest. 119, 2526–2528 (2009)
- Carè, A., Catalucci, D., Felicetti, F., Bonci, D., Addario, A., Gallo, P., Bang, M.L., Segnalini, P., Gu, Y., Dalton, N.D., Elia, L., Latronico, M.V., Høydal, M., Autore, C., Russo, M.A., Dorn, G.W. 2nd, Ellingsen, O., Ruiz-Lozano, P., Peterson, K.L., Croce, C.M., Peschle, C., Condorelli, G.: MicroRNA-133 controls cardiac hypertrophy. Nat. Med. 13, 613–618 (2007)
- Suárez, Y., Carlos, F.-H., Pober, J.S., Sessa, W.C.: Dicer dependent microRNAs regulate gene expression and functions in human endothelial cells. Circ. Res. 100, 1164–1173 (2007)
- Kuehbacher, A., Urbich, C., Dimmeler, S.: Targeting microRNA expression to regulate angiogenesis. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 29, 12–15 (2008)
- Shilo, S., Roy, S., Khanna, S., Sen, C.K.: Evidence for the involvement of miRNA in redox regulated angiogenic response of human microvascular endothelial cells. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 28, 471–477 (2008)
- Wang, K.-C., Lana, X.G., Angela, Y., Phu, N., Andrew, T., Shankar, S., Nanping, W., John, Y.J.S., Shuan, L., Shu, C.: Role of microRNA-23b in flow-regulation of Rb phosphorylation and endothelial cell growth. PNAS 107(7), 3234–3239 (2009)
- Nicoli, S., Clive, S., Paul, W., Adam, H., Kevin, E.F., Lawson, N.D.: MicroRNA-mediated integration of haemodynamics and Vegf signaling during angiogenesis. Nature 464(7292), 1196–1200 (2010)
- Malik, R., Selden, C., Hodgson, H.: The role of non parenchymal cells in liver growth. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 13, 425–431 (2002)
- 57. Blouin, A., Bolender, R., Weidel, E.R.: Distribution of organelles and membranes between hepatocytes and non-hepatocytes in the rat liver parenchyma. J. Cell Biol. **72**, 441–455 (1977)

المسارات

- 58. Butler, J., Nolan, D.J., Vertes, E., Varnum-Finney, B., Kobayashi, H., Hooper, A., Seandel, M., Shido, K., White, I., Kobayashi, M., Witte, L., May, C., Shawber, C., Kimura, Y., Kitajewski, J., Rosenwaks, Z., Bernstein, J., Rafi, S.: Endothelial cells are essential for the self-renewal and repopulation of notch-dependent hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 6, 1–14 (2010)
- Butler, J.M., Kobayashi, H., Rafii, S.: Instructive role of the vascular niche in promoting tumour growth and tissue repair by angiocrine factors. Nat. Rev. Cancer 10(2), 138–146 (2010)
- McDonald, B., McAvoy, E.F., Lam, F., Gill, V., de la Motte, C., Savani, R.C., Kubes, P.: Interaction of CD44 and hyaluronan is the dominant mechanism for neutrophil sequestration in inflamed liver sinusoids. J. Exp. Med. 205(4), 915–927 (2008)
- 61. Klein, D., Demory, A., Peyre, F., Kroll, J., Augustin, H.G., Helfrich, W., Kzhyshkowska, J., Schledzewski, K., Arnold, B., Goerdt, S.: Wnt2 acts as a cell type-specific, autocrine growth factor in rat hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells cross-stimulating the VEGF pathway. Hepatology 47(3), 1018–1031 (2008)
- Zaret, K.S., Grompe, M.: Generation and regeneration of cells of the liver and pancreas. Science 322(5907), 1490–1494 (2008)
- 63. Michalopoulos, G.K., DeFrances, M.C.: Liver regeneration. Science 276(5309), 60-66 (1997)
- 64. Huh, C.G., Factor, V.M., Sánchez, A., Uchida, K., Conner, E.A., Thorgeirsson, S.S.: Hepatocyte growth factor/c-met signaling pathway is required for efficient liver regeneration and repair. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 101(13), 4477–4482 (2004)
- 65. Ding, B.S., Nolan, D.J., Butler, J.M., James, D., Babazadeh, A.O., Rosenwaks, Z., Mittal, V., Kobayashi, H., Shido, K., Lyden, D., Sato, T.N., Rabbany, S.Y., Rafii, S.: Inductive angiocrine signals from sinusoidal endothelium are required for liver regeneration. Nature 468(7321), 310–315 (2010)
- 66. Greenbaum, L.E., Li, W., Cressman, D.E., Peng, Y., Ciliberto, G., Poli, V., Taub, R.: CCAAT enhancer- binding protein beta is required for normal hepatocyte proliferation in mice after partial hepatectomy. J. Clin. Invest. **102**(5), 996–1007 (1998)
- Friedman, S.L.: Hepatic stellate cells: protean, multifunctional, and enigmatic cells of the liver. Physiol. Rev. 88(1), 125–172 (2008)
- Hooper, A.T., Butler, J.M., Nolan, D.J., Kranz, A., Lida, K., Kobayashi, M., Kopp, H.G., Shido, K., Petit, I., Yanger, K., James, D., Witte, L., Zhu, Z., Wu, Y., Pytowski, B., Rosenwaks, Z., Mittal, V., Sato, T.N., Rafii, S.: Engraftment and reconstitution of hematopoiesis is dependent on VEGFR2-mediated regeneration of sinusoidal endothelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 4(3), 263–274 (2009)
- 69. Carmeliet, P., Jain, R.K.: Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. Nature 407(6801), 249–257 (2000)
- Lyden, D., Young, AZ., Zagzag, D., Yan, W., Gerald, W., O'Reilly, R., Bader, BL., Hynes, RO., Zhuang, Y., Manova, K., Benezra, R.: Id1 and Id3 are required for neurogenesis, angiogenesis and vascularization of tumour xenografts. Nature 401(6754), 670–677 (1999)
- Nam, H.S., Benezra, R.: High levels of Id1 expression define B1 type adult neural stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 5(5), 515–526 (2009)
- Follenzi, A., Benten, D., Novikoff, P., Faulkner, L., Raut, S., Gupta, S.: Transplanted endothelial cells repopulate the liver endothelium and correct the phenotype of hemophilia A mice. J. Clin. Invest.118(3), 935–945 (2008)
- Hill, E., Boontheekul, T., Mooney, D.J.: Regulating activation of transplanted cells controls tissue regeneration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 103(8), 2494–2499 (2006)
- 74. Eipel, C., Kerstin, A., Brigitte, V.: Regulation of hepatic blood flow: the hepatic arterial buffer response revisited. World J. Gastroenterol. 16(48), 2046–2057 (2010)
- Schwartz, M.A.: Integrins and extracellular matrix in mechanotransduction. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2(12), a005066 (2010)
- Ding, B.S., Nolan, D.J., Guo, P., Babazadeh, A.Q., Cao, Z., Rosenwaks, Z., Crystal, R.G., Simons, M., Sato, T.N., Worgall, S., Shido, K., Rabbany, S.Y., Rafii, S.: Endothelial-derived angiocrine signals induce and sustain regenerative lung alveolarization. Cell **147**(3), 539–553 (2011)

المسلكة للاستشارات

Microfluidic Devices for Quantifying the Role of Soluble Gradients in Early Angiogenesis

Patrick Benitez and Sarah Heilshorn

Abstract Early angiogenesis, as defined by endothelial polarization and directional sprouting, is regulated by gradients of soluble factors in addition to a multitude of other anisotropic cues including interstitial flow, insoluble gradients, and topography of the extracellular matrix (ECM). Adding to this complexity, other microenvironmental inputs, such as matrix density and rigidity, are known to modulate the extent to which vascular endothelial cells react to these anisotropic cues. Given this complexity, novel platforms are needed to decouple and systematically assess signals regulating early angiogenesis. To this end, we discuss a microfluidic device that achieves stable, matrix-independent soluble gradients via passive diffusion, which shields the culture chamber from shear-induced anisotropy. These devices enable direct time-lapse imaging of single cell and collective cell phenomena within both two-dimensional (2D) and three-dimensional (3D) cultures. These experimental platforms have been used to quantify the growth factor concentration requirements that induce endothelial cell chemotaxis, to identify previously unknown regulators of brain angiogenesis, to screen biomaterials for their angiogenic potential, and to investigate the navigational ability of nascent sprouts.

P. Benitez

S. Heilshorn (🖂)

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_3, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

Department of Bioengineering, Stanford University, 476 Lomita Mall, McCullough Room 246, Stanford, CA 94305-4045, USA

Department of Materials Science and Engineering, Stanford University, 476 Lomita Mall, McCullough Room 246, Stanford, CA 94305-4045, USA e-mail: heilshorn@stanford.edu

Fig. 1 Schematic of three physiological processes that can be modeled using microfluidic devices. When exposed to a soluble gradient for a period of days or weeks, vascular endothelial cells polarize, angiogenic sprouts pathfind, and pericytes home. Spatiotemporally consistent, quantitatively predictable gradients within 3D culture matrices are required to reproducibly recapitulate these processes in vitro



1 Motivation: Understanding Vascular Development

In the cellular microenvironment, a soluble gradient is a vector quantity whose direction and magnitude reflect the greatest spatial rate of change in a soluble factor's concentration. Vascular endothelial cells respond to three aspects of the concentration field: the gradient direction, the gradient steepness, and the magnitude of concentration. These multiple inputs play an essential role in regulating angiogenesis, enabling the development of functional microvasculature by polarizing endothelial cells [1], guiding sprouts [2], and recruiting perivascular cells [3] (Fig. 1). Strategies to engineer blood vessels, including controlled delivery of soluble factors [4] and use of micro-patterned [5] and multivariate biomaterials [6], demand a quantitative, multifactorial understanding of signaling by soluble gradients.

Microfluidic devices that support specified, substrate-independent, and stable soluble gradients meet this critical need. First, the user's ability to specify a given concentration profile enables quantitative screening of chemotactic factors and decoupling of concentration magnitude from gradient steepness, parameters that can elicit distinct cell behaviors (Fig. 2) [7, 8]. Second, the gradient's substrate independence allows for reductive studies on the role of matrix properties in chemotaxis. The extracellular matrix affects cellular morphology [9], proliferation [10], migration [11], and specialization [12], impacting a cell's capacity to



Fig. 2 Schematic showing that cellular response to a chemotactic gradient depends not only on gradient steepness but also on concentration magnitude, which is a function of the cellular position along the concentration profile. There is an optimal concentration (*center*) for chemotaxis at which signaling by motility factors (a function of concentration magnitude) and directional bias of receptor clustering (a function of the gradient steepness) are sufficient to induce chemotaxis. Clustered receptors (*triangles*) drive extensions from the cell membrane. At concentrations below the activation threshold (*left*), signaling from bound receptors is insufficient to induce migration. At concentrations above the saturation threshold (*right*), receptors are saturated on all sides of the cell, resulting in no sustained directional bias in receptor binding

integrate and act on soluble gradients. Substrate independence also allows for three-dimensional (3D) culture under controlled gradients, which is important because native vasculature is inherently 3D. Third, reductive experiments on the time scales, i.e., days or weeks, necessary to quantify the role of soluble gradients in collective behaviors such as path-finding [13], inosculation [14], and maturation [15] of nascent sprouts are only possible under stable concentration profiles. With microfluidic devices that apply specified, substrate-independent, stable gradients, we can quantitatively and multifactorially analyze how soluble gradients and other inputs contribute to angiogenesis.

2 Background: Gradient-Generator Devices for Cell Culture Studies

Previous devices to study soluble gradients, such as transwell (*aka* Dunn) assays [16] and Zigmond chambers [17], are ill-suited to developing a quantitative, reductive understanding of the microenvironmental regulation of angiogenesis. These devices expose cells to transient gradients by permitting diffusion from a factor-rich to a factor-empty chamber. The transwell assay, for example, separates the chambers with a porous membrane; the Zigmond chamber separates them with a narrow intermediate chamber. For these "no-flow devices" (Table 1), as concentrations in the chambers equalize, cells are exposed to an attenuating gradient that may be completely absent in only 2 h [18]. Chemotaxis is analyzed by determining the fraction of cells that transit to the source. Because the gradient is transient, sprouting morphogenesis, which takes several hours to days [13], cannot be assessed. Recent improvements upon Zigmond chamber technology, such as the microslide device for chemotaxis [19], can maintain a gradient for up to 2 days (Fig. 3a). Likewise, transwell assays have been modified to support 3D culture [20]. The time scale of the

	No-flow	Cell-chamber-flow	Restricted-flow
Steady-state gradient	No	Yes	Yes
Commercially available	Yes	Yes	By custom order
Minimal shear in culture chamber	Yes	No	Yes
Quantitative specification of a gradient	No	Yes	Yes
Fully substrate-independent	No	No	Yes
Compatible with 3D matrices	Yes	No	Yes
Representative examples	Refs. [16–20]	Refs. [23, 24]	Refs. [27-30]

 Table 1 Comparative advantages of published microfluidic devices for studying the role of soluble gradients in angiogenesis

transient gradient, though, is still insufficient for studying relevant processes in angiogenesis. The initial concentration in the source chamber also determines both the concentration magnitude and the gradient steepness as detected by cells at a given time during the evolution of the concentration profile. Growth factor decay, moreover, is a problem for static devices, i.e., those without input of fresh reagent; for example, vascular endothelial growth factor's (VEGF) active half-life is 50 min under standard culture conditions [21]. Due to these limitations, novel microfluidic devices are needed to create controlled gradients of active factors that operate at steady-state and, therefore, are suited to long-term culture.

Limitations of traditional assays have led to the development of several microfluidic devices that use continuous flow to generate stable gradients. By employing steady-state flows to maintain a gradient, these devices enable longterm culture and the study of emergent properties of angiogenic sprouts. These microfluidic devices can be separated into two broad categories based on whether the fluid stream flows directly over the cells, i.e., "cell-chamber-flow devices", or through channels adjacent to the cells, i.e., "restricted-flow devices", (Table 1). As a consequence of direct contact with fluid flow, cells in cell-chamber-flow devices experience significant shear stresses. For example, early microfluidic devices, such as the 'Y' chamber [22], create a gradient at steady-state by merging a source and sink flow over the cell culture chamber. Other devices, which use a serpentine network to merge flows [23, 24], have the additional advantage of being able to create arbitrary concentration profiles (Fig. 3b). These devices mimic key aspects of in vivo vasculature, where blood flow and interstitial flow are important anisotropic signals for sprouting angiogenesis [25]. However, in these devices, the direction of shear with respect to the gradient cannot be varied: they are always perpendicular. This coupling of shear and gradient limits these devices as platforms for developing a systematic understanding of the role of soluble gradients. Furthermore, studies have demonstrated that cell migration can be significantly altered by the presence of shear alone [26]. Reliance on flow through the chamber also precludes the use of 3D matrices as culture scaffolds, which greatly restricts their use in the evaluation of biomaterials and cell-extracellular matrix (ECM) interactions.



Fig. 3 Representative examples of the three different types of microfluidic devices for studying soluble gradients. **a** The commercially available microslide is a static device that can maintain a gradient for 2 days within a small channel for cell culture. **b** A serpentine network device can create an arbitrary concentration profile at steady-state. Cells are directly exposed to flow [24]. Reprinted with permission from [24]. Copyright 2001 American Chemical Society. **c** A restricted-flow device that uses an agarose hydrogel to shield a culture chamber from source and sink flows, between which a linear concentration profile forms [29], originally published in [29]. *Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/B618463D

To address these limitations, several research groups have reported the development of shear-minimized, or "restricted-flow" devices (Table 1, Fig. 3c) [27–29]. In one example, Heilshorn et al. have developed a shear-minimized microfluidic device that enables controlled, substrate-independent control of capillary-mediated soluble gradients for use in endothelial cell chemotaxis and sprouting morphogenesis assays [30]. In this device, stable gradients are formed by exposing a culture chamber to two flowing reagent channels; one channel is a source of fresh VEGF and the second a sink (Fig. 4). Micro-capillaries, which allow Fickian diffusion, inhibit convective fluid transport, thereby minimizing shear stress on cells and substrate. The gradient that arises at steady-state depends only on the concentration of VEGF in the source and the sink channels. The fabricated culture chamber is further able to accommodate either an adsorbed surface coating or an injectable 3D matrix. Therefore, dimensional context of the culture can be varied between 2D and 3D culturing platforms to match the



physiological environment of the cultured cells. This microfluidic device enables application of quantitatively specified linear gradients to study (1) sprouting over a period of days, (2) the contribution of matrix properties, and (3) interactions between concentration magnitude, gradient steepness, and other inputs.

3 Background: Soluble Gradients in Angiogenesis

Soluble gradients impart directional signals that are critical to the formation of functional blood vessels during wound healing and development. Soluble gradients enable specialization of tip cells, pathfinding of sprouts to hypoxic tissue, and vessel maturation via sprout inosculation and recruitment of pericytes. To elaborate on the importance of gradient-mediated anisotropy to sprouting angiogenesis, we briefly summarize the current knowledge about how gradients of VEGF and other soluble factors regulate sprouting angiogenesis.

Soluble gradients arise and impart directionality during angiogenesis through various biochemical and biophysical mechanisms. Upon hypoxic stress, cells down-regulate the degradation of hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs), transcription

factors that trigger expression of a portfolio of pro-survival and angiogenic cues. Under normoxia, cells hydroxylate HIFs, marking them for degradation [31]. While HIFs are active, modified gene expression leads to secretion of VEGF, a chemotactic agent of sub-nanomolar potency [32], and formation of a paracrine diffusion gradient. Moreover, interaction between protease secretion and interstitial flow intensifies the gradient [33]. VEGF stimulates human microvascular endothelial cells (hMVECs) to secrete proteases such as matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP9) [34] and urokinase plasminogen activator [35], which cleave the extracellular matrix and release sequestered VEGF [36], adding to the already present paracrine VEGF. Interstitial flow, which is increased during sprouting angiogenesis due to loosening of intercellular junctions in the sprouting vessel [37], adds directionality to protease-released VEGF, creating a gradient as it sweeps growth factor and protease away from the sprout's origin [38]. Cells sense these soluble gradients through the spatial mechanism of competitive receptor clustering (Fig. 1) [39]. As activated receptors cluster, the pool of potentially active receptors is depleted. Since clusters will form more quickly, on average, on the side of the cell facing the higher concentration, the distribution of receptor signaling complexes acquires a spatial bias in response to a gradient. Overall, hypoxic cells biophysically communicate their need for perfusion by establishing self-reinforcing soluble gradients of VEGF that impart directionality to targeted hMVECs.

Among the soluble factors involved in sprouting angiogenesis, VEGF is the most well-known for its capacity to elicit sprouts from existing blood vessels. Upon stimulation by a soluble VEGF gradient, quiescent hMVECs polarize and transition to a migratory phenotype, as marked by lamellipod extension [40] and cytoskeletal polarization [41]. In addition, soluble VEGF gradients induce asymmetry in the distribution of caveolin-1, partitioning it to the side of the cell facing the higher concentration [42]. Caveolin-1 anchors caveolae, protein- and cholesterol-rich invaginations in the plasma membrane, to the cytoskeleton. Organization of caveolae facilitates integrin turnover [43] and migration [44]. In addition to caveolae, actin-anchored filopodia segregate in the direction of the gradient in activated hMVECs. Filopodia enhance path-finding by presentation of receptors [45] and membrane-bound proteases [46]. Protease activity in response to a soluble gradient can amplify directional signaling by selectively degrading the basal lamina in addition to releasing sequestered VEGF. ECM components of the basal lamina signal for vascular quiescence [47], so their removal may facilitate proliferation and migration. The overall result is that soluble VEGF gradients polarize hMVECs and contribute to their phenotypic transition from quiescent to invasive during sprouting angiogenesis.

To resolve hypoxia, the VEGF gradient continues to impart directionality to hMVECs as they form sprouts, tubular structures that precede nascent vessels, and undergo columnar migration. After detecting a gradient and transitioning to a migratory phenotype, activated hMVECs, known as tip cells, suppress tip specialization and encourage stalk specialization in neighboring cells [48]. Tip cells remodel the ECM and chemotax, while the main activity of stalk cells is

proliferation [49, 50]. These identities are fluid and result from dynamic VEGF receptor-2 (VEGFR2) and Notch signaling [51]. VEGFR2, when potentiated by VEGF, signals for migration and matrix degradation. Delta-like ligand-4, which is up-regulated by VEGFR2 signaling, is a cell-displayed Notch ligand that triggers cell proliferation and expression of VEGF receptor-1 (VEGFR1) in neighboring cells, i.e., in the stalk [52]. These proliferating cells ignore the VEGF gradient as VEGFR1 sequesters VEGF from migration-inducing VEGFR2 [53]. Stalk cells eventually form a perfusible lumen by merging pinocytic vacuoles [54]. This division of labor, with the proliferating stalk cells and migratory tip cells, means that gradients not only regulate path-finding but also stalk morphology. Steeper VEGF gradients increase the velocity of the tip cell as it travels through the ECM by statistically increasing the directional bias of the cell's random walk. The stalk cells, meanwhile, proliferate along the path of least resistance, which is the trail blazed by the tip cells though the mechanically cell-restrictive ECM. It has been hypothesized that faster migration results in thinner sprouts; the proliferation of the stalk can only marginally keep up with the tip [55]. Slower migration, i.e., shallower gradients, results in thicker spouts, since cells must proliferate outward if there is insufficient space along the forward path. Through these mechanisms, VEGF gradients instruct sprouts to grow in the appropriate direction and with the appropriate morphology.

Although VEGF is the primary soluble factor that initiates sprouting angiogenesis, gradients of other factors play crucial roles in maturation of nascent sprouts. Tip cells secrete angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2) [56], destabilizing nearby mature vessels and potentially eliciting a sympathy sprout with which to anastomose. Ang-2 is sensed by the receptor "tyrosine kinase with immunoglobulin-like and EGF-like domains-2" (TIE-2) [57], which triggers directed release of proteases such as MMP-9 [58]. Digestion of the local ECM results in increased interstitial flow and a gradient of liberated VEGF, potentially leading to sympathetic sprouting. Merger of the initial sprout with a perfusable network is essential to flow, without which nascent vessels revert [59]. Meanwhile, up-regulated expression of autocrine angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1), a TIE-2 antagonist, protects the proliferating stalk cells from Ang-2-mediated destabilization [60]. As an example of another maturation process, pericytes, cells that reside in the perivascular niche surrounding the endothelial sprout, detect soluble gradients and chemotax to nascent blood vessels where they deposit basal lamina [61] and help to re-establish quiescence [62]. Gradients of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), which induce directionally-biased clustering of PDGF receptors, can induce chemotaxis of pericytes to nascent vessels [63]. Chemotactic PDGF gradients enable recruitment and proliferation of pericytes from distant tissues, including bone marrow [64]. In summary, while VEGF gradients are sufficient to induce the beginning stages of sprouting morphogenesis, soluble gradients of other factors are required for the maturation of nascent blood vessels.

4 Recent Results and Quantitative Studies

Our laboratory recently reported the development of microfluidic devices that enable the culture of cells in a low-shear, stable soluble gradient environment for mechanistic studies of sprouting morphogenesis. These devices allow decoupling of the role of soluble gradients from other environmental cues, such as signals from the ECM or biomechanical forces. To design such devices, we first simulated several configurations in silico [30]. For each simulation, the diffusion and flows were modeled using the Navier–Stokes equations, solved numerically by a finite element method (Fig. 4b, c). Depending on the diffusivity of the gradient molecules (which is related to the molecular weight of the diffusing solute and the medium present in the cell culture chamber), devices with either two or four inlets were selected (Fig. 4a). Soluble factors diffuse through micro-capillaries that connect the reagent channels to the cell culture chamber and inhibit convective transport into the culture chamber. In order for the gradient to remain stable, the characteristic diffusion time across the culture chamber must be less than the characteristic convection time through the source and sink channels. A flow rate of 8 nL/min was found to be suitable for a soluble gradient of VEGF diffusing through liquid culture medium. The distribution of a fluorescently labeled marker (e.g., 20 kDa FITC-dextran) can be quantified to validate the stability and linearity of the gradient (Fig. 4d, e) [30]. This model molecule formed a quantitatively predictable gradient at steady-state after 40 min. At this flow rate, convective forces in the culture chamber are predicted to generate a maximal shear stress on the cell-surface of 10^{-5} dyn/cm² (using a Stoke's drag approximation), which is orders of magnitude less than the amount of shear known to induce cellular alignment of ECs [65]. In contrast, devices that use flows within the cell culture chamber to generate steady-state gradients expose cells to shear on the order of 10^{-2} dyn/cm^2 [66].

Use of this microfluidic device has demonstrated that (1) the magnitude of the VEGF gradient must meet a minimum threshold to induce EC chemotaxis, and (2) chemotaxis is independent of concentration across the VEGF range of 18–32 ng/ mL [30]. Chemotaxis in response to identical gradient steepness but different average concentrations was quantified by counting net accumulation or depletion of cells after 6 h in each quadrant of a device, (Fig. 5a, b). By this measure, human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC) chemotaxis was induced by a VEGF gradient of magnitude 14 ng/mL/mm (Fig. 5c), whereas a magnitude of 2 ng/mL/ mm was insufficient to induce chemotaxis (Fig. 5d, e). This threshold is a consequence of stochasticity in factor diffusion and receptor binding. Although the probability that a gradient imparts its direction to a cell via spatially biased receptor potentiation increases linearly with the magnitude of the gradient, cells have intrinsic randomness in motility that must be overcome before chemotaxis can happen [67]. In addition to reductively assessing gradient magnitude, this experiment decoupled the effects of the average VEGF concentration from the VEGF gradient steepness. During analysis, the cell culture chamber was divided into four



Fig. 5 Chemotaxis of human umbilical vein endothelial cells. **a**, **b** Representative phase contrast images of devices at time = 0 and 6 h under a gradient of 14 ng/ml/mm and average concentration of 25 ng/mL. The chamber is divided into four equal regions of increasing VEGF concentration. The *arrow points* in the direction of the VEGF gradient. **c**-**e** The average net accumulation in the number of cells within each region under three linear concentration profiles, \pm standard deviation (n = 3–5 devices). ‡Statistically significant accumulation/depletion of cells, p < 0.05. Originally published in [30]. *Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/B719788H

regions that ranged in average concentration from 19 to 31 ng/mL and, had identical gradient steepness (Fig. 5a, b). Over this concentration range, similar numbers of cells were observed to chemotaxis in each region. In regions 2 and 3, accumulation of cells from the region of lower concentration is equal to depletion of cells to the region of higher concentration; therefore, there is no net change in cell number. Similarly, depletion of cells from region 1 (with the lowest VEGF concentration) was equal to accumulation in region 4 (with the greatest VEGF concentration). Greater average concentration has been theoretically predicted and experimentally shown to decrease chemotaxis, with sensitivity to the gradient scaling with one over the square root of concentration [67]. These results suggest that a higher average concentration to the VEGF concentration profile, the density or type of substrate is known to impact 2D migration [68]. While these experiments utilized a fibronectin-coated surface, future studies could evaluate chemotaxis on a variety of



Fig. 6 Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (*HUVECs*) extend filopodia with a directional bias if cultured under a gradient above a threshold magnitude. Representative fluorescent micrographs, nulclei = *blue*, actin cytoskeleton = *red*, of HUVECs in the **a** absence or **b** presence of a VEGF gradient of magnitude 14 ng/mL/mm and of direction indicated by the *thick white arrow*. We define filopodia, indicated by fine *white arrows*, as protrusions from the cell membrane of length > 3 µm and width < 1 µm. To assess possible directional bias in extensions, each cell is divided through its centroid into sections facing higher and lower concentration profiles of VEGF. Means are of n > 70 cells ±standard deviation. ‡Statistically significant, p < 0.001. Originally published in [30]. *Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/B719788H

substrates to enable a multifactorial study of VEGF gradients and cell-surface interactions.

The importance of analyzing gradient steepness and average concentration as separate inputs is further emphasized by studies of filopodia extension in 2D [30]. Cytoskeletal remodeling is a prerequisite for chemotaxis, so cytoskeletal asymmetry is expected under conditions that induce chemotaxis. Similar to the results discussed above, a gradient steepness of 14 ng/mL/mm was sufficient to induce asymmetry in

filopodia extensions (Fig. 6a), while shallower gradients of 2 ng/mL/mm were ineffective (Fig. 6b). As predicted, a higher number of filopodia were observed on the cell edge facing higher VEGF concentrations. While the filopodia distribution was found to depend on the gradient steepness, the total number of filopodia was found to be a function of average VEGF concentration (Fig. 6c). VEGF concentrations of 20 ng/mL and greater were observed to stimulate significant filopodia extension (Fig. 6). These data suggest a minimum VEGF activation threshold is required to induce a migratory phenotype (\sim 20 ng/mL) while a minimum VEGF gradient steepness is required to induce directionality (\sim 14 ng/mL/mm).

Although cell polarization and chemotaxis can be conveniently studied in 2D, other important angiogenic processes such as sprouting morphogenesis and lumen formation are inherently 3D. To reductively study how soluble concentration profiles affect these processes, microfluidic devices that produce stable, quantitatively determined gradients within 3D matrices are required. In addition, the ideal experimental platform would enable tuning of the soluble gradient independently from choice of 3D matrix in order to probe the effects of matrix properties, such as matrix biochemistry, density, or stiffness in a reductionist manner. Devices that impose transient gradients or rely on flow through the cell culture chamber do not meet this criterion, because choice of a transient gradient and/or the flow profile through the matrix, making comparisons across matrices impossible.

To achieve stable, matrix-independent gradients, the microfluidic device described previously can be slightly altered. To enable injection of matrix components, the height of the culture chamber can be increased. To decrease the time required to reach steady-state, the flow rates in the reagent channels is increased to 40 nL/min and the size of micro-capillaries is increased. In a 3D experimental study, these device changes are not observed to increase convective flow within the culture chamber because the matrix itself serves as a barrier to flow. To initiate 3D sprouting morphogenesis, endothelial cells are cultured as a 2D monolayer on collagen-coated beads. These cell-coated beads are then suspended within a fibronectin/collagen matrix. Sprouting morphogenesis was quantified in matrices of identical fibronectin concentration and varying collagen density from 0.3 to 2.7 mg/mL, resulting in materials with storage moduli of 7–700 Pa [69]. While increasing the matrix density increased the time required to reach a stable VEGF gradient, all matrices resulted in quantitatively consistent gradients of 50 ng/mL/mm VEGF within 2 h, a time scale that is much shorter than the experimental time scale of sprouting morphogenesis (1-4 days). As matrix density increased, cellular behavior changed from being mainly migratory to mainly proliferative (Fig. 7). At a low density of 0.3 mg/mL, isolated cells migrated into the matrix and underwent single cell chemotaxis. In intermediate densities, cells coordinated their chemotaxis; cells migrated as multiples at 0.7 mg/mL and as stable sprouts at 1.2 and 1.9 mg/mL. At a high density of 2.7 mg/mL, cell proliferated on the bead surface to form stumps that did not migrate into the surrounding matrix. Together, these data demonstrate that matrix density influences cell migration and proliferation, and stable sprouting morphogenesis occurs only when these two cellular behaviors are in balance.



Collagen density: 0.3 mg/mL 0 Storage modulus: 7Pa

0.7 mg/mL 30Pa 1.2 mg/mL 80 Pa

200 Pa

2.7 mg/mL 700 Pa

Fig. 7 Representative phase contrast images of sprouting morphologies within collagen/ fibronectin matrices of different collagen densities and identical VEGF gradients. **a**, **b** At low collagen densities (0.3 and 0.7 mg/mL), cells primarily migrate into the matrix as isolated cells. **c**, **d** At intermediate collagen densities (1.2 and 1.9 mg/mL), cells balance proliferation and migration to form stable sprouts. **e** At a high collagen density (2.7 mg/mL), cells form thick protrusions with minimal migration into the matrix. Originally published in [69]. *Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C005069E

In addition to affecting sprout morphology, matrix density was observed to affect the capacity of a sprout to align with a soluble gradient. Time-lapse microscopy was utilized to image sprout elongation over 4 days in the microfluidic devices. From these images, the initial angle (i.e., base of the sprout) final angle (i.e., tip of the sprout) of each sprout's growth could be measured with respect to the direction of the VEGF gradient (Fig. 8a, b) [70]. An angle of zero means that that sprout is perfectly aligned and growing towards the higher VEGF concentration. An angle of 180° signifies that growth is completely opposed to the gradient (Fig. 8c). For matrices of lower density (1.2 mg/mL), sprouts aligned to the gradient over time, with greater fidelity to gradients of steeper magnitude (46 vs. 23 ng/mL/mm) (Fig. 8d, f). In contrast, sprouts in matrices of higher density (1.9 mg/mL) did not align over time (Fig. 8e, g). Instead, these sprouts were much more likely to align with the gradient as soon as the sprout left the bead surface, with increased alignment observed in steeper gradients. From these data, we conclude that identical VEGF concentration profiles can result in dramatically different sprout pathfinding behaviors depending on the matrix properties. Lower density matrices are more permissive of sprout turning, while higher density matrices prevent misalignment of initial sprouting. These results demonstrate the critical importance of decoupling cell-matrix, cell-soluble signal, and soluble signal-matrix interactions. Furthermore, these results suggest that studies of soluble factor potency (e.g., determination of activation and saturation thresholds) will be dependent on the choice of 3D matrix.

Matrix density was also observed to mediate lumen formation, a morphological process that is required for perfusion and sprout stabilization to occur. Because microfluidic devices can be fabricated from optically clear materials (glass and polydimethylsiloxande) fluorescence staining and confocal microscopy can be performed directly on the samples at the end of the culture period (Fig. 9a, b). The



Fig. 8 Sprout pathfinding in different linear VEGF gradients. **a** Fluorescent images of sprout pathfinding are analyzed by quantifying **b** the initial (θ_1) and final (θ_2) angles of sprout growth with respect to the gradient. **c** The growth angle is binned into six angular regions, colored as described by the pinwheel. An angle of 0° is completely aligned with the gradient, and an angle of 180° means the sprout is growing anti-parallel to the gradient. Distributions are shown for **d**, **e** initial and **f**, **g** final angles of sprouts grown in matrices of **d**, **f** 1.2 mg/mL and **e**, **g** 1.9 mg/mL collagen. Three VEGF concentration profiles are shown. Increased alignment with the gradient between initial and final angles indicates sprout pathfinding. For each condition, n = 4 microdevices, with an average of 80 sprouts. Originally published in [70]

extent of lumen formation was quantified by determining the fraction of the sprout length with a hollow core (Fig. 9c) [69]. As an additional measure of sprout maturation, cell density within the sprout was quantified as the number of cell nuclei found within a 10 μ m length of the sprout. It is hypothesized that a higher cellular density is more likely to support lumen formation. Both markers of maturity are significantly increased in the 1.9 mg/mL collagen matrix compared to



Fig. 9 Morphological markers of maturity. Representative confocal images of sprouts formed within **a** 1.2 and **b** 1.9 mg/mL collagen matrices. Nuclei are stained white, actin cytoskeleton *red.* **c** Confocal microscopy cross-sections of sprouts grown in 1.9 mg/mL collagen have a clearly defined lumen. **d** Maturity is quantified in terms of lumen formation and cellular density. Extent of lumen formation is the fraction of sprout length containing a lumen. Cellular density is quantified as the number of cells per 10 microns of sprout length. Schematics of cross-sections from each condition are shown. Error bars are standard deviation, n = 20. The average number of cells per cross-section is two and three within 1.2 and 1.9 mg/ml matrices, respectively. Originally published in [69]. *Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C005069E

the 1.2 mg/mL counterpart (Fig. 9d). This faster rate of sprout maturation in the higher density matrix could be due to increased mechanical resistance to elongation, decreased proteolysis of the matrix, increased density of pro-proliferation signaling from the matrix, decreased diffusivity of autocrine/paracrine secretions, or some combination of these processes. Future studies utilizing well-defined, tunable biomaterial matrices (as opposed to naturally harvested collagen), are expected to shed light onto these mechanistic processes.

An additional micro-environmental cue that is thought to mediate sprout maturation is interstitial flow. Recently, Kamm et al. have reported the development of a microfluidic device that exposes the matrix directly to flowing reagent channels in order to mimic the interstitial flow profile experienced in vivo [71]. Micropillars inside the culture chamber stabilize the matrix to prevent degradation in response to shear stress from the reagent streams. This device may be particularly beneficial





Fig. 10 GPR124 is a receptor that mediates endothelial cell chemotaxis in response to paracine factors secreted by the embryonic forebrain. **a** GPR124-overexpressing bEND3 cells (GPR124+) migrate within a gradient of conditioned medium from cultured E12.5 forebrain cortical neurons. Migration is random under **b** an equivalent hindbrain gradient, **c** a gradient from HEK293T conditioned medium, **d** a uniform concentration of forebrain-conditioned medium. **e**, **f** Directional bias is ablated by treatment with shRNA against GPR124. **g** Chemotaxis is preserved under sequestration of VEGF by a recombinant soluble VEGFR1 ectodomain (400 ng/mL). Originally published in [72]

in studies of matrix remodeling during sprouting morphogenesis, as the proteolytic degradation of existing matrix and the deposition of new matrix are both expected to be intimately connected to interstitial flow.

Although VEGF is the most commonly studied angiogenic cue, gradients of other factors also play a role in endothelial cell chemotaxis and sprouting morphogenesis. Recent microfluidic experiments identified the G-protein coupled receptor 124 (GPR124) as a critical regulator of organ-specific angiogenesis in the central nervous system [72]. GPR124 is an endothelial receptor of previously unknown function that induces chemotaxis of brain-derived endothelial cells through a non-VEGF pathway. Expression of GPR124 caused cells from the brain vascular endothelial cell line bEND3 to chemotax along a gradient of paracrine secretions from cortical neurons of the murine embryonic forebrain (Fig. 10a). In contrast, a gradient of hindbrain-derived secretions did not elicit chemotaxis (Fig. 10b). As controls for specificity, a gradient of conditioned medium from the 293T cell line (Fig. 10c) and a uniform concentration profile of forebrain-conditioned medium (Fig. 10d) did not induce chemotaxis. Similarly, knocking down GPR124 through use of small hairpin RNA (shRNA) prevented chemotaxis (Fig. 10e, f). Blocking the VEGF activity through inhibition with a soluble receptor did not inhibit forebrain-specific chemotactic signaling (Fig. 10g). These results corroborate data from GPR124-knockout mice, which are deficient in the embryonic development of forebrain vasculature [72]. Together, these data support the hypothesis that GPR124 is a critical mediator of brain-specific endothelial cell chemotaxis and that the GPR124 ligand is secreted by forebrain cortical neurons.

To further demonstrate that the GPR124 ligand promotes stable sprout formation, sprouting morphogenesis assays were performed in a microfluidic device





Fig. 11 Brain endothelial cells (bEND3) expressing GPR124 were induced to form sprouts by gradients of forebrain-conditioned medium. **a** Schematic of microfluidic device to induce sprouting morphogenesis within a gradient of conditioned medium (*CM*). **b** A representative sprout cultured within a gradient of CM from E12.5 forebrain cortical neurons. **c**, **d** Directional sprouting morphogenesis is enhanced in cultures expressing GPR124 (+) and exposed to gradients of forebrain-conditioned medium (*F*). Cells treated with GPR124 shRNA (sh) or exposed to gradients of hindbrain-conditioned medium (*H*) resulted in significantly less sprouting morphogenesis and did not display pathfinding behavior (‡ p < 0.05). Originally published in [72]

modified to enable both 2D and 3D endothelial cell culture (Fig. 11a). In this assay, bEnd3 cells were initially cultured as a monolayer within a side chamber that was connected to the main culture chamber though 30 μ m micro-capillaries. The main culture chamber was filled with a 3D matrix blend of collagen I (1.9 mg/mL) with fibronectin (50 μ g/mL). The cells undergo 2D migration through the micro-capillaries followed by sprouting morphogenesis into the 3D matrix, where they are exposed to a stable gradient of paracrine secretions from cultured cortical cells of murine forebrain origin (Fig. 11b). This gradient is oriented perpendicular to the initial sprouting direction. Total sprout length was specifically increased by



signaling from GPR124/forebrain paracrine factors (Fig. 11c). In agreement with the chemotaxis data, significant sprout alignment with the gradient only occurred when cells expressed GPR124 and did not occur for cells treated with GPR124 shRNA (Fig. 11d). As a control, sprouts exposed to gradients of hindbrain-conditioned medium displayed significantly less directionality (Fig. 11d). These data demonstrate the powerful use of microfluidic devices as reductive screening assays to discover new regulators of organ-specific vascularization, which have been hypothesized to be critical during embryonic development and may also prove to be beneficial in regenerative medicine therapies [73].

In summary, the case studies presented here illustrate how this type of "restricted-flow" device can be utilized in two different angiogenic models. First, these devices enable 2D chemotactic studies of shear-sensitive endothelial cells in a reductionist manner. Second, these devices enable the reductionist study of sprouting morphogenesis, sprout pathfinding, and sprout maturation within 3D matrices. These devices have been used both in quantitative studies to evaluate the concentration profile requirements to induce endothelial cell polarization of known chemotactic cues (i.e., VEGF) as well as in discovery-driven experiments to identify novel regulators of organ-specific endothelial cell chemotaxis. Our results highlight the fact that endothelial responses to a specific gradient of soluble factors is context-dependent. Identical gradients can result in different cellular responses depending on the matrix microenvironment and potentially other biophysical and biochemical cues. Given the inherent complexity in the processes that regulate angiogenesis, these restricted-flow microfluidic devices are especially well suited for systematic experimental studies due to their quantitative control, substrate independence, and stability of the generated gradients.

5 Potential Impact and Future Opportunities

Building on the successful use of these devices to study 2D endothelial cell chemotaxis and 3D sprouting morphogenesis, future opportunities exist to further utilize this experimental platform in the development of clinically translatable therapies.

The controlled delivery of soluble factors from hydrogels [74], nanoparticles [75], or coacervates [76], to treat pathological angiogenesis such as chronic ischemia and cancer is a highly active area of research. A variety of innovative encapsulation and release strategies have been developed to enable delivery of specific concentration profiles; however, often the optimal profile required to elicit the desired cellular response is unknown. Due to the small volume of reagents required, microfluidic devices are ideal platforms to quantitatively screen multiple concentration profiles to identify conditions that promote or inhibit processes such as sprouting morphogenesis. These studies are expected to enable more efficient, goal-driven design of the delivery system. Moreover, the timed delivery of multiple factors is also known to affect therapeutic outcome. For example, a

promising pair of soluble factors is VEGF and PDGF-bb, which have been shown to stimulate sprouting and maturation when delivered sequentially [77, 78]. The time-dependent delivery of multiple soluble factors can be easily simulated in vitro using microfluidic devices programmed to deliver known amounts of several different source reagents. In addition, these microfluidic devices can be used in controlled delivery studies to optimize the soluble factors themselves. For example, protein-engineered variants of chemotactic factors, which have been shown to enhance chemotaxis and wound healing [79], could be screened quickly using multiple devices operated in parallel. The use of microfluidic devices to independently optimize soluble factor concentration profiles, temporal profiles, and potency can potentially save time and resources compared to traditional approaches to drug delivery optimization.

In addition to manipulating angiogenesis in native tissue, the creation of vascular networks within tissue-engineered constructs is another area of great potential. Without a perfusable network to mediate nutrient exchange, tissueengineered constructs cannot support cell viability throughout the entire bulk structure. This challenge involves the use of a biomaterial scaffold, through which endothelial cells must penetrate and develop into functional blood vessels. Microfluidic sprouting morphogenesis assays can be used in the high-throughput screening of candidate biomaterials exposed to specific soluble concentration profiles. Although natural materials such as collagen and alginate have some ability to be tailored, novel synthetics, which are multivariately tunable for cell adhesion, mechanical strength [80], immobilized ligand density [81], and cell-sensitive degradation [82], are especially suited to this systematic approach. For example, crosstalk between cell adhesion and growth factor signaling is known to impact cellular proliferation and migration [83] and is likely to affect sprouting morphogenesis. Engineered matrices can also provide additional anisotropic signals such as lithographic nanopatterns [84], nanofibrous structures [85], and gradients of bound growth factors [86], adhesion ligands [87], or stiffness [88]. All of these anisotropic microenvironments are expected to interact with and modify directional signaling from soluble gradients.

Another potential application for these devices is the study of pathological angiogenesis such as chronic ischemia and cancer angiogenesis. By mimicking specific characteristics of the diseased tissue within the quantitatively controlled environment of the microfluidic device, these studies may help to provide systematic understanding of disease processes by teasing apart interdependent variables. Ischemia in peripheral arterial disease results from a failure of angiogenesis, leading to loss of mobility and independence [89]. Angiogenesis in cancer, i.e., tumor-elicited vascularization, is a critical mechanism of malignancy [90]. Mechanistic insight into these complex processes may be gleaned through reductive analysis of individual components. For example, the microfluidic device could be utilized to quantitatively examine the effects of paracrine factors secreted under hypoxic conditions, phenotypic changes displayed by vascular endothelial cells, or aberrant matrix remodeling, all of which are known to change over the course of disease progression. The device microenvironment could also serve as an

in vitro mimic of diseased tissue for the development of novel interventions, such as engineered growth factors [91] and gene delivery strategies [92]. These mechanistic studies are expected to help elucidate the complex etiology and possible treatments of vascular disease.

6 Conclusion

Restricted-flow microfluidic devices are ideal for performing quantitative, reductive, and systematic studies on the role of soluble gradients in sprouting morphogenesis. By allowing a diffusion gradient to form across a cell culture chamber that is shielded from convective flow, these devices create stable concentration profiles that both avoid shear-activation of endothelial cells and are independent of culture substrate and dimensionality. In addition, these devices enable gradient-mediated anisotropic signaling to influence cultured cells over indefinite time periods, thereby allowing time-lapse observation of cellular behavior over multiple days. Current use of the devices has focused on (1) the quantitative, reductionist evaluation of VEGF concentration requirements for 2D chemotaxis, (2) the interplay between 3D matrix microenvironment and VEGF gradient signaling, and (3) the identification of novel regulators of organ-specific angiogenesis. Future applications of the device may include optimization of multiple soluble gradients to enhance their angiogenic potential in regenerative medicine therapies, highthroughput screening of pro-angiogenic biomaterials for tissue engineering applications, and mechanistic studies of chronic ischemia and tumor vascularization.

References

- 1. Zeng, G., et al.: Orientation of endothelial cell division is regulated by VEGF signaling during blood vessel formation. Blood **109**(4), 1345–1352 (2007)
- MacGabhann, F., Ji, J.W., Popel, A.S.: VEGF gradients, receptor activation, and sprout guidance in resting and exercising skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 102(2), 722–734 (2007)
- Abramsson, A., Lindblom, P., Betsholtz, C.: Endothelial and nonendothelial sources of PDGF-B regulate pericyte recruitment and influence vascular pattern formation in tumors. J. Clin. Invest. 112, 1142–1151 (2003)
- 4. Chen, R.R., et al.: Spatio-temporal VEGF and PDGF delivery patterns blood vessel formation and maturation. Pharm. Res. **24**(2), 258–264 (2007)
- Dike, L.E., et al.: Geometric control of switching between growth, apoptosis, and differentiation during angiogenesis using micropatterned substrates. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Anim 35(8), 441–448 (1999)
- Straley, K.S., Heilshorn, S.C.: Dynamic, 3D-pattern formation within enzyme-responsive hydrogels. Adv. Mater. 21(41), 4148–4152 (2009)
- Dvorak, H.F., et al.: Distribution of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) in tumors: concentration in tumor blood vessels. J. Exp. Med. **174**(5), 1275–1278 (1991)

🏹 للاستشارات

- Barkefors, I., et al.: Endothelial cell migration in stable gradients of vascular endothelial growth factor A and fibroblast growth factor 2: effects on chemotaxis and chemokinesis. J. Biol. Chem. 283(20), 13905–13912 (2008)
- 9. Dye, J., et al.: Distinct patterns of microvascular endothelial cell morphology are determined by extracellular matrix composition. Endothelium-J Endoth **11**(3–4), 151–167 (2004)
- Gospodarowicz, D., Vlodavsky, I., Savion, N.: The extracellular matrix and the control of proliferation of vascular endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells. J. Supramol. Struct. Cell 13(3), 339–372 (1980)
- 11. Nehls, V., Herrmann, R.: The configuration of fibrin clots determines capillary morphogenesis and endothelial cell migration. Microvasc. Res. **51**(3), 347–364 (1996)
- 12. Ruoslahti, E.: Specialization of tumour vasculature. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2(2), 83-90 (2002)
- 13. Ogunshola, O.: Neuronal VEGF expression correlates with angiogenesis in postnatal developing rat brain. Dev. Brain Res. **119**(1), 139–153 (2000)
- Laschke, M.W., Vollmar, B., Menger, M.D.: Inosculation: connecting the life-sustaining pipelines. Tissue Eng. Part B-Rev 15(4), 455–465 (2009)
- Tillet, E., et al.: N-cadherin deficiency impairs pericyte recruitment, and not endothelial differentiation or sprouting, in embryonic stem cell-derived angiogenesis. Exp. Cell Res. 310(2), 392–400 (2005)
- Boyden, S.: The chemotactic effect of mixtures of antibody and antigen on polymorphonuclear leucocytes. J. Exp. Med. 115, 453–466 (1962)
- 17. Zigmond, S.H.: Orientation chamber in chemotaxis. Methods Enzymol. 162, 65–72 (1988)
- Zicha, D., Dunn, G.A., Brown, A.F.: A new direct-viewing chemotaxis chamber. J. Cell Sci. 99(4), 769–775 (1991)
- 19. Blow, N.: Cell migration: our protruding knowledge. Nat. Methods 4(7), 589-594 (2007)
- Pankov, R., et al.: A Rac switch regulates random versus directionally persistent cell migration. J. Cell Biol. 170(5), 793–802 (2005)
- Chen, R.R., et al.: Integrated approach to designing growth factor delivery systems. FASEB J 21(14), 3896–3903 (2007)
- 22. Lin, F., Butcher, E.C.: T cell chemotaxis in a simple microfluidic device. Lab Chip 6(11), 1462–1469 (2006)
- Walker, G.M.: Effects of flow and diffusion on chemotaxis studies in a microfabricated gradient generator. Lab Chip 5(6), 611–618 (2005)
- Dertinger, S.K.W., et al.: Generation of gradients having complex shapes using microfluidic networks. Anal. Chem. 73(6), 1240–1246 (2001)
- Song, J.W., Munn, L.L.: Fluid forces control endothelial sprouting. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108(37), 15342–15347 (2011)
- Urbich, C.: Shear stress-induced endothelial cell migration involves integrin signaling via the fibronectin receptor subunits alpha5 and beta1. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 22(1), 69–75 (2002)
- 27. Saadi, W., et al.: Generation of stable concentration gradients in 2D and 3D environments using a microfluidic ladder chamber. Biomed. Microdevices **9**(5), 627–635 (2007)
- Kim, T., Pinelis, M., Maharbiz, M.M.: Generating steep, shear-free gradients of small molecules for cell culture. Biomed. Microdevices 11(1), 65–73 (2009)
- 29. Cheng, S.-Y., et al.: A hydrogel-based microfluidic device for the studies of directed cell migration. Lab Chip **7**(6), 763–769 (2007)
- Shamloo, A., et al.: Endothelial cell polarization and chemotaxis in a microfluidic device. Lab Chip 8(8), 1292–1299 (2008)
- Berra, E., et al.: HIF prolyl-hydroxylase 2 is the key oxygen sensor setting low steady-state levels of HIF-1alpha in normoxia. EMBO J. 22(16), 4082–4090 (2003)
- 32. Neufeld, G., et al.: Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors. FASEB J 13(1), 9–22 (1999)
- Helm, C.-L.E., et al.: Synergy between interstitial flow and VEGF directs capillary morphogenesis in vitro through a gradient amplification mechanism. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102(44), 15779–15784 (2005)

김 للاستشارات

- 34. Hiratsuka, S., et al.: MMP9 induction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 is involved in lung-specific metastasis. Cancer Cell **2**(4), 289–300 (2002)
- Pepper, M.S., et al.: Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) induces plasminogen activators and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in microvascular endothelial cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 181(2), 902–906 (1991)
- Hawinkels, L.J.A.C., et al.: VEGF release by MMP-9 mediated heparan sulphate cleavage induces colorectal cancer angiogenesis. Eur. J. Cancer 44(13), 1904–1913 (2008)
- 37. Esser, S., et al.: Vascular endothelial growth factor induces VE-cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation in endothelial cells. J. Cell Sci. **111**(13), 1853–1865 (1998)
- 38. Fleury, M.E., Boardman, K.C., Swartz, M.A.: Autologous morphogen gradients by subtle interstitial flow and matrix interactions. Biophys. J. **91**(1), 113–121 (2006)
- Almqvist, N., et al.: Elasticity and adhesion force mapping reveals real-time clustering of growth factor receptors and associated changes in local cellular rheological properties. Biophys. J. 86(3), 1753–1762 (2004)
- 40. Kiosses, W.B., et al.: Rac recruits high-affinity integrin alphavbeta3 to lamellipodia in endothelial cell migration. Nat. Cell Biol. **3**(3), 316–320 (2001)
- Rousseau, S., et al.: p38 MAP kinase activation by vascular endothelial growth factor mediates actin reorganization and cell migration in human endothelial cells. Oncogene 15(18), 2169–2177 (1997)
- 42. Podar, K., et al.: Caveolin-1 is required for vascular endothelial growth factor-triggered multiple myeloma cell migration and is targeted by bortezomib. Cancer Res. **64**(20), 7500–7506 (2004)
- Caswell, P.T., Vadrevu, S., Norman, J.C.: Integrins: masters and slaves of endocytic transport. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10(12), 843–853 (2009)
- 44. Navarro, A., Anand-Apte, B., Parat, M.-O.: A role for caveolae in cell migration. FASEB J 18(15), 1801–1811 (2004)
- Gerhardt, H., et al.: VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. J. Cell Biol. 161(6), 1163–1177 (2003)
- Pollock, A.S.: Matrix metalloproteinase 2(gelatinase A) regulates glomerular mesangial cell proliferation and differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 271(25), 15074–15083 (1996)
- 47. Iwamoto, Y., et al.: YIGSR, a synthetic laminin pentapeptide, inhibits experimental metastasis formation. Science **238**(4830), 1132–1134 (1987)
- 48. Suchting, S., et al.: The notch ligand delta-like 4 negatively regulates endothelial tip cell formation and vessel branching. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **104**(9), 3225–3230 (2007)
- 49. Yana, I., et al.: Crosstalk between neovessels and mural cells directs the site-specific expression of MT1-MMP to endothelial tip cells. J. Cell Sci. **120**(9), 1607–1614 (2007)
- Ausprunk, D.H., Folkman, J.: Migration and proliferation of endothelial cells in preformed and newly formed blood vessels during tumor angiogenesis. Microvasc. Res. 14(1), 53–65 (1977)
- Jakobsson, L., et al.: Endothelial cells dynamically compete for the tip cell position during angiogenic sprouting. Nat. Cell Biol. 12(10), 943–953 (2010)
- 52. Funahashi, Y., et al.: Notch regulates the angiogenic response via induction of VEGFR-1. J. Angiogenes. Res. 2(1), 3 (2010)
- 53. Krueger, J., et al.: Flt1 acts as a negative regulator of tip cell formation and branching morphogenesis in the zebrafish embryo. Development **138**(10), 2111–2120 (2011)
- 54. Cha, Y.R., Weinstein, B.M.: Visualization and experimental analysis of blood vessel formation using transgenic zebrafish. Birth Defects Res. C 81(4), 286–296 (2007)
- 55. Ruhrberg, C., Gerhardt, H.: VEGF in Development, pp. 68-78. Springer, New York (2008)
- 56. Asahara, T., et al.: Tie2 receptor ligands, angiopoietin-1 and angiopoietin-2, modulate VEGF-induced postnatal neovascularization. Circ. Res. **83**(3), 233–240 (1998)
- 57. Maisonpierre, P.C., et al.: Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis. Science **277**(5322), 55–60 (1997)
- 58. Das, A.: Angiopoietin/tek interactions regulate MMP-9 expression and retinal neovascularization. Lab. Invest. **83**(11), 1637–1645 (2003)



- 59. Clark, E.R.: Studies on the growth of blood-vessels in the tail of the frog larva by observation and experiment on the living animal. Am. J. Anat. **23**(1), 37–88 (1918)
- 60. Augustin, H.G., et al.: Control of vascular morphogenesis and homeostasis through the angiopoietin-Tie system. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. **10**(3), 165–177 (2009)
- Allt, G., Lawrenson, J.G.: Pericytes: cell biology and pathology. Cells Tissues Organs 169(1), 1–11 (2001)
- Bergers, G., Song, S.: The role of pericytes in blood-vessel formation and maintenance. Neuro-oncology 7(4), 452–464 (2005)
- Hellstrom, M., et al.: Role of PDGF-B and PDGFR-beta in recruitment of vascular smooth muscle cells and pericytes during embryonic blood vessel formation in the mouse. Development 126(14), 3047–3055 (1999)
- 64. Rajantie, I., et al.: Adult bone marrow-derived cells recruited during angiogenesis comprise precursors for periendothelial vascular mural cells. Blood **104**(7), 2084–2086 (2004)
- 65. Goldfinger, L.E., et al.: Localized alpha4 integrin phosphorylation directs shear stressinduced endothelial cell alignment. Circ. Res. **103**(2), 177–185 (2008)
- 66. Walker, G.M., et al.: Effects of flow and diffusion on chemotaxis studies in a microfabricated gradient generator. Lab Chip 5(6), 611–618 (2005)
- van Haastert, P.J.M., Postma, M.: Biased random walk by stochastic fluctuations of chemoattractant-receptor interactions at the lower limit of detection. Biophys. J. 93(5), 1787–1796 (2007)
- Palecek, S.P., et al.: Integrin-ligand binding properties govern cell migration speed through cell-substratum adhesiveness. Nature 385(6616), 537–540 (1997)
- Shamloo, A., Heilshorn, S.C.: Matrix density mediates polarization and lumen formation of endothelial sprouts in VEGF gradients. Lab Chip 10(22), 3061–3068 (2010)
- Shamloo A, Xu H, Heilshorn SC. Mechanisms of VEGF-induced path-finding by endothelial sprouts inbiomaterials. Tissue Engineering Part A 18:320–330 (2012)
- Vickerman, V., et al.: Design, fabrication and implementation of a novel multi-parameter control microfluidic platform for three-dimensional cell culture and real-time imaging. Lab Chip 8(9), 1468–1477 (2008)
- 72. Kuhnert, F., et al.: Essential regulation of CNS angiogenesis by the orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR124. Science **330**(6006), 985–989 (2010)
- Larrivée, B., et al.: Guidance of vascular development: lessons from the nervous system. Circ. Res. 104(4), 428–441 (2009)
- 74. Ruvinov, E., Leor, J., Cohen, S.: The effects of controlled HGF delivery from an affinitybinding alginate biomaterial on angiogenesis and blood perfusion in a hindlimb ischemia model. Biomaterials **31**(16), 4573–4582 (2010)
- Chu, H., et al.: Injectable fibroblast growth factor-2 coacervate for persistent angiogenesis. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108(33), 13444–13449 (2011)
- Golub, J.S., et al.: Sustained VEGF delivery via PLGA nanoparticles promotes vascular growth. Am J Physiol-Heart Circ. Physiol. 298(6), H1959–H1965 (2010)
- 77. Borselli, C., et al.: Functional muscle regeneration with combined delivery of angiogenesis and myogenesis factors. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **107**(8), 3287–3292 (2010)
- Hao, X., et al.: Angiogenic effects of sequential release of VEGF-A165 and PDGF-BB with alginate hydrogels after myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc. Res. 75(1), 178–185 (2007)
- Jones, D.S., Tsai, P.-C., Cochran, J.R.: Engineering hepatocyte growth factor fragments with high stability and activity as met receptor agonists and antagonists. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108(32), 13035–13040 (2011)
- Wong Po Foo, C.T.S., et al.: Two-component protein-engineered physical hydrogels for cell encapsulation. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106(52), 22067–22072 (2009)
- Lin, C.-.C., Anseth, K.S.: Cell-cell communication mimicry with poly(ethylene glycol) hydrogels for enhancing beta-cell function. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108(16), 6380–6385 (2011)
- Straley, K.S., Heilshorn, S.C.: Dynamic, 3D-pattern formation within enzyme-responsive hydrogels. Adv. Mater. 21(41), 4148–4152 (2009)

م للاستشار ات
- Ramjaun, A.R., Hodivala-Dilke, K.: The role of cell adhesion pathways in angiogenesis. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 41(3), 521–530 (2009)
- 84. Hoffmann, J.C., West, J.L.: Three-dimensional photolithographic patterning of multiple bioactive ligands in poly (ethylene glycol) hydrogels. Soft Matter **6**(20), 5056 (2010)
- Ifkovits, J.L., Sundararaghavan, H.G., Burdick, J.A.: Electrospinning fibrous polymer scaffolds for tissue engineering and cell culture. J. Vis. Exp. 32, 1589 (2009)
- 86. Miller, E.D., et al.: Spatially directed guidance of stem cell population migration by immobilized patterns of growth factors. Biomaterials **32**(11), 2775–2785 (2011)
- 87. Park, J., et al.: Simple haptotactic gradient generation within a triangular microfluidic channel. Lab Chip **10**(16), 2130–2138 (2010)
- Kawano, T., Kidoaki, S.: Elasticity boundary conditions required for cell mechanotaxis on microelastically-patterned gels. Biomaterials **32**(11), 2725–2733 (2011)
- Golomb, B.A., Dang, T.T., Criqui, M.H.: Peripheral arterial disease: morbidity and mortality implications. Circulation 114(7), 688–699 (2006)
- Fox, S.B., et al.: Quantitation and prognostic value of breast cancer angiogenesis: comparison of microvessel density, chalkley count, and computer image analysis. J. Pathol. 177(3), 275–283 (1995)
- Papo, N., et al.: Antagonistic VEGF variants engineered to simultaneously bind to and inhibit VEGFR2 and {alpha}v{beta}3 integrin. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108(34), 14067–14072 (2011)
- Yang, F., et al.: Genetic engineering of human stem cells for enhanced angiogenesis using biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107(8), 3317–3322 (2010)

Reactive Oxygen Species in Physiologic and Pathologic Angiogenesis

Alisa Morss Clyne

Abstract Reactive oxygen species (ROS), including superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, play a major role in angiogenesis. High ROS doses induce oxidative stress and subsequent cell death in a variety of cardiovascular diseases, including hypertension and atherosclerosis. However, low doses of externally applied ROS directly promote angiogenesis by causing sub-lethal cell membrane damage and subsequent fibroblast growth factor-2 release, by increasing growth factor production, or by enhancing growth factor binding to their receptors. Once angiogeneic growth factor signaling is initiated, ROS are produced intracellularly through NAD(P)H oxidases and manganese superoxide dismutase as messengers in downstream growth factor signaling for proliferation, migration, and tube formation. This chapter discusses our current understanding of the vascular ROS balance in both physiologic and pathologic angiogenesis, as well as innovative approaches to applying ROS to induce angiogenesis.

1 Overview

Angiogenesis, the growth of new blood vessels from existing vessels, is tightly controlled by a balance of pro- and anti-angiogenic factors. Pro-angiogenic growth factors, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2), promote extracellular matrix degradation by cell secreted

A. M. Clyne (🖂)

Mechanical Engineering and Mechanics, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA e-mail: asm67@drexel.edu

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/078-3.642-30856-7.4. © Springer Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_4, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

An erratum to this chapter is available at 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_14.

proteases followed by endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and tube formation [1, 2]. As the extracellular matrix breaks down, it releases additional growth factors that were bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Concurrently, matrix protein breakdown products such as the plasminogen fragment angiostatin and the collagen XVIII fragment endostatin, inhibit angiogenesis [1]. This balance prevents angiogenesis from proceeding unchecked.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) also help maintain this angiogenic balance. Whereas low ROS levels stimulate angiogenesis and are in fact required for many angiogenic signaling pathways, high ROS levels inhibit angiogenesis and promote death of many cell types critical to the angiogenic process [2]. In addition to dose, timing and application mode may also influence whether ROS are pro- or anti-angiogenic. Antioxidant therapies to inhibit ROS and shift the angiogenic balance have met with limited success, perhaps due to the complexity of ROS effects on angiogenesis [3].

In cells, most ROS are formed as by-products of mitochondrial electron transport. ROS can also be formed by NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase, and nitric oxide synthase, among others [2]. Along with promoting angiogenesis, ROS increase endothelial cell permeability, enhance cell adhesion molecule surface expression, inhibit endothelial cell dependent vasodilation, and at large doses induce apoptosis [4]. While ROS are important in a variety of physiological processes, basal ROS levels are altered by many diseases including atherosclerosis, hypertension, diabetes and cancer [5–7]. Interestingly, angiogenesis also plays a critical role in many of these diseases.

In this chapter, we review biologically relevant reactive oxygen species and their role in initiating angiogenic processes and acting as messengers for intracellular angiogenic signaling. We then discuss how altered ROS levels in disease affect angiogenesis. Finally, we describe new methods to apply ROS to promote angiogenesis.

2 Reactive Oxygen Species

ROS are highly reactive molecules or free radicals derived from molecular oxygen (O_2) (Fig. 1). Superoxide (O_2^{-}) is formed by one electron reduction of O_2 by a variety of enzymes including NADPH oxidase. Singlet oxygen $(O_2(^{1}\Delta_g))$ is the electronically excited state of O_2 $((^{3}\Sigma_g^{-})^{3}O_2)$, in which the two unpaired electrons adopt antiparallel spins in the same orbital [8]. Oxygen reduction by two electrons forms hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), which is catalyzed by superoxide dismutase. The hydroxyl radical (OH·) is produced by tri-electron reduction of O_2 in the presence of metal ions through the Fenton reaction. ROS, especially hydroxyl radicals, interact with amino acids and proteins to form longer lived organic hydroperoxides (RO·, ROO·)



2.1 Superoxide (O_2^-)

In cells, the mitochondrial oxidation–reduction system generates superoxide (O_2^-) . Specifically, enzymes such as NADH/NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase, lipooxygenase, mitochondrial oxidase and cyclooxygenase reduce molecular O_2 during oxidative phosphorylation for ATP generation (Eq. 1) [9]. Approximately 2 % of the O_2 reduced by mitochondria is converted into O_2^- . O_2^- is also generated in vivo by phagocytic cells such as macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils, and eosinophils in response to foreign bodies such as bacteria [10].

$$O_2 + e^- \to O_2^- \tag{1}$$

Due to its negative charge, O_2^- cannot readily cross biological membranes. However, aqueous O_2^- at low pH forms hydroperoxyl radical (HO₂·), which can easily enter the cell. Superoxide is removed from cells by a spontaneous dismutation reaction (Eq. 2), during which two O_2^- are converted to molecular oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. The reaction rate constant is $8 \times 10^4 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, and the reaction proceeds four orders of magnitude faster in the presence of the enzyme superoxide dismutase [11, 12]. Most of the biological effects of superoxide are mediated through the dismutation to hydrogen peroxide.

$$O_2^- \cdot + O_2^- \cdot + 2H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2 \tag{2}$$

2.2 Singlet Oxygen $(O_2(^{I}\Delta_g))$

Molecular oxygen exists in the triplet state $(({}^{3}\Sigma_{g}^{-}){}^{3}O_{2})$, with two unpaired electrons of parallel spin in separate orbitals. Singlet oxygen is the electronically excited state of oxygen when these electrons adopt antiparallel spins and occupy the same orbital, thus opening an opportunity to accept electrons of either spin [10]. Singlet oxygen is formed in cells by energy transfer from photochemically excited photosensitizers to triplet state molecular oxygen or during an inflammatory reaction. For example, O_2^- produced by NADPH oxidase (Eq. 3) undergoes dismutation to form H_2O_2 and O_2 (Eq. 4). This H_2O_2 is in the singlet state if dismutation is spontaneous rather than catalyzed by superoxide dismutase. H_2O_2 produces hypochlorite in the presence of myeloperoxidase (Eq. 5) which in turn reacts with H_2O_2 to yield $O_2({}^{1}\Delta_{g})$ (Eq. 6).

$$2 O_2 + \text{NADPH} \rightarrow 2 O_2^- \cdot + \text{NADP}^+ + \text{H}^+$$
(3)

$$2 O_2^- \cdot + 2 H^+ \to H_2 O_2 + O_2 \tag{4}$$

$$\mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{2} + \mathrm{Cl}^{-} \to \mathrm{O}\mathrm{Cl}^{-} + \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O} \tag{5}$$

$$H_2O_2 + OCl^- \rightarrow Cl^- + H_2O + O_2(^1\Delta_g)$$
(6)

Singlet oxygen both impairs and activates several signaling processes. Singlet oxygen generation during inflammation helps fight infection [10]. It also interacts with DNA to produce 8-oxo-7, 8-dihydro(deoxy)guanosine (8-oxo-(d)G) moieties which trigger DNA repair [10]. At very high $O_2({}^1\Delta_g)$ concentration, single strand DNA as well as double strand breaks occur. Some of the amino acids most sensitive to singlet oxygen oxidation are tryptophan, cysteine, methionine and histidine. Cysteine oxidation by singlet oxygen inactivates several enzymes including tyrosine phosphatases, resulting in activation of signaling pathways such as p38/JNK and NF- κ B [10, 13, 14]. Tryptophan and tyrosine oxidation produces peptides that inhibit caspases, thus preventing apoptosis [15].

2.3 Hydrogen Peroxide (H_2O_2)

 H_2O_2 is mainly produced by O_2^- dismutation by superoxide dismutase. It is also directly produced by several enzymes such as monoamine oxidases and glycolate [16]. H_2O_2 is a stable and long living species since there are no unpaired electrons present. Due to their small size and neutral charge, H_2O_2 molecules freely dissolve in solution and readily diffuse into cells through cell membrane aquaporins [17, 18].

At high concentrations, H_2O_2 is associated with DNA, lipid and protein damage [7, 16]. However, hydrogen peroxide concentrations below 20–50 µM are less toxic to human cells [16]. The deleterious effect of H_2O_2 is attributed to its conversion into OH· radical. In the presence of iron or copper ions, H_2O_2 reacts with O_2^- to produce highly reactive OH· (Eq. 7). Ultraviolet radiation also converts H_2O_2 into OH· radicals by homolytic fission of the O–O bond (Eq. 8). At low concentrations, H_2O_2 takes part in intracellular signaling and gene expression, including tyrosine phosphorylation of growth factor receptors, activation of MAP kinases, and increased affinity of DNA transcription factors for their binding sites [19–23].

$$O_{2}^{-} \cdot + H_{2}O_{2} \xrightarrow{\text{Fe or Cu ions}} OH \cdot + OH^{-} + O_{2}$$
(7)

$$H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{UV} OH$$
 (8)



2.4 Hydroxyl Radical (OH·)

Hydroxyl radicals are the most reactive of all ROS even though they have a short half-life [24]. OH· is formed in biological systems from H₂O₂, as described previously. Due to its high reactivity, OH· reacts non-specifically with any cell component (DNA, lipids, proteins, amino acids and sugars) causing loss of cell integrity and function [25, 26]. α -tocopherol effectively converts OH· by forming stable tocopheroxyl radicals, which are then reduced by ascorbate and NADH/ NADPH-dependent reductase enzymes into phenol [27].

2.5 ROS Scavengers

To protect against ROS damage, cells produce antioxidant enzymes. Major intracellular ROS scavengers include superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) and catalase [9]. SOD catalyzes the dismutation of superoxide into hydrogen peroxide, and GSH-Px removes H_2O_2 by oxidizing reduced glutathione (GSH) into glutathione disulfide (GS–SG, Eq. 9). Catalase decomposes H_2O_2 into H_2O and O_2 (Eq. 10). Antioxidant enzyme expression is altered by a variety of factors, including angiotensin II, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-1 β , and hydrogen peroxide [28–31].

$$2\text{GSH} + \text{H}_2\text{O}_2 \rightarrow \text{GS} - \text{SG} + 2\text{H}_2\text{O} \tag{9}$$

$$2H_2O_2 \rightarrow 2H_2O + O_2 \tag{10}$$

3 Reactive Species in Angiogenesis

A variety of ROS play critical roles in angiogenesis. Low dose ROS initiate angiogenesis, often through physiologic ROS production in response to an applied stimulus. However, externally applied ROS can also initiate angiogenesis. Once the angiogenic process is underway, ROS act as second messengers in angiogenic signal transduction pathways. While conflicting reports describe pro-and anti-angiogenic effects of ROS in wound healing [32–35], ROS dose and timing as well as cell redox state are critical to determining their cellular response [36].

3.1 ROS-Induced Initiation of Angiogenesis

ROS that initiate angiogenesis can come either from biological production by adjacent cells or from sources external to the tissue. In wounds, leukocytes digest

damaged tissue and destroy microorganisms via hydrogen peroxide and superoxide release, which is referred to as "respiratory burst" [37]. Reoxygenation following hypoxia leads to ROS formation [38]. Changes in the extracellular tissue environment, including elevated glucose, ethanol, UV light, and ionizing radiation can also stimulate high levels of cell-produced ROS [39–42]. For in vitro and in vivo studies of ROS effects on angiogenesis, hydrogen peroxide or the ROS of interest is often applied directly.

While early, high ROS doses (e.g., $250-1000 \ \mu M H_2O_2$) damage cells and tissue, after the initial injury lower ROS concentrations initiate angiogenesis and tissue repair [43, 44]. Endothelial cell exposure to hydrogen peroxide induced actin stress fiber formation and focal adhesion kinase (FAK) activation, likely through hydroxyl radical formation [45]. Hydrogen peroxide and ROS donors further stimulated cell proliferation, migration, and tube formation when added to 2- and 3-dimensional endothelial cell culture [46–48]. When ROS came from hypoxia, ischemic preconditioning, or ethanol instead of being exogenously added, actin reorganization, cell migration, and capillary tube still occurred [38, 40, 49]. Similarly, inflammatory cell-mediated angiogenic activity, including that from activated polymorphonuclear leukocytes, also appeared to be related to ROS [50–55].

Exogenous ROS affect angiogenic pathways in a variety of ways. Independent of ligand binding, UV light clustered growth factor receptors via ROS, and exogenous H₂O₂ activated PDGF and EGF receptors [41, 56–58]. Exogenous ROS stimulated VEGF mRNA and VEGF secretion, perhaps via enhanced NF-kB binding [59]. Additional evidence suggests the important of NF- κ B in ROSmediated angiogenesis, since NF-kB antisense nucleotides inhibited tube formation in response to hydrogen peroxide [48]. In a 3D collagen gel model, hydrogen peroxide stimulated tube formation, which was blocked by an ets-1 antisense oligonucleotide. Ets-1 regulates genes involved in matrix degradation, such as urokinase plasminogen activator and matrix metalloproteinase-1, therefore ROS may also promote endothelial cell invasion by controlling matrix degradation [47]. Exogenous ROS may also signal via secondary ROS production. Hydrogen peroxide activated NADPH oxidase superoxide production in vascular smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, and mouse pulmonary arteries [60, 61]. These secondary ROS may contribute to vascular cell injury due to ROS, however they have also been shown to induce cell proliferation [46]. Exogenous H_2O_2 has even been shown to mimic growth factors by directly inducing protein tyrosine phosphorylation and MAPK activation [62–64].

Exogenous ROS also contribute to angiogenesis through FGF-2, also known as basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) [65]. FGF-2 is associated with cell survival, proliferation, migration and differentiation [66–68], however it does not have a recognized signal sequence for secretion. FGF-2 is therefore released following cell injury often caused by ROS, for example by ionizing radiation, pulsed electromagnetic field, or elevated glucose [39, 69–71]. Released FGF-2 promotes cell survival and also increases FGF-2 and VEGF expression in endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and cardiac myocytes [72–77]. FGF-2 signaling in turn acts through ROS. Exogenous FGF-2 increased FGF-2 expression in pulmonary arterial

smooth muscle cells by increasing superoxide levels via NADPH oxidase activation. FGF-2 expression could also be stimulated by other factors known to increase ROS, including endothelin-1 and transforming growth factor- β 1 [78].

3.2 ROS in Angiogenic Signaling

ROS not only initiate angiogenesis but they additionally play a critical role in intracellular signaling during angiogenesis. In endothelial cells, NADPH oxidase basally produces low superoxide levels, but it is stimulated acutely by growth factors [79]. VEGF specifically stimulates superoxide production via Rac-1 dependent activation of NADPH oxidases [80]. When VEGF binds to its receptor (primarily VEGFR2), the small GTPase Rac1 is activated. Rac1 moves to the plasma membrane to stimulate NADPH oxidase. ROS produced by the NADPH oxidase then inactivate the protein tyrosine phosphatases which negatively regulate VEGFR2 (Fig. 2). This enhances VEGFR2 autophosphorylation and VEGF signaling for endothelial cell proliferation and migration [80–82]. The role of ROS in VEGF signaling is supported by studies showing that antioxidants attenuated VEGF receptor tyrosine phosphorylation and subsequent endothelial cell proliferation and migration [80]. In addition to communicating downstream VEGF signaling, NADPH oxidase-produced ROS also support future growth factor signals by inducing VEGF and FGF-2 expression [78, 83].

Growth factor-stimulated primary superoxide production from NADPH oxidase may then stimulate secondary hydrogen peroxide formation via superoxide dismutases. VEGF induced manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) expression via the NAPDH oxidase pathway [81]. MnSOD overexpression led to increased mitochondrial H₂O₂, which enhanced phosphosphoinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) signaling and activated its downstream targets, including Akt. The MnSOD-derived ROS then upregulated VEGF expression and promoted both endothelial cell sprouting in a collagen gel as well as blood vessel formation in the chick chorioallantoic membrane assay [84]. Similary to VEGF, FGF-2 induced angiogenesis was 3-fold higher in transgenic mice with elevated Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase. In vitro, the SOD inhibitor disulfiram inhibited hydrogen peroxide formation and DNA synthesis in capillary endothelial cells [85]. These results suggest that primary ROS may then induce secondary ROS production, which is critical for angiogenesis.

While ROS affect a wide variety of cell components, ROS may influence angiogenic signaling pathways by oxidizing redox-sensitive proteins. Hydrogen peroxide reversibly oxidizes low-pKa cysteine residues in proteins such as NF- κ B [86], hypoxia inducible factor (HIF) [87], and protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) [14]. Hydrogen peroxide increased NF- κ B binding activity, and antisense NF- κ B inhibited tube formation by H₂O₂ [48, 59]. HIF-1 activates many angiogenic genes and pathways in response to hypoxia, in particular VEGF expression. ROS produced by NADPH oxidases induced HIF-1 in vascular cells [88]. PTPs associate with



Fig. 2 Signaling pathways regulated by NADPH oxidase-derived ROS leading to angiogenesis. Growth factor binds to its receptor leading to translocation of GTPase Rac 1 into plasma membrane, stimulating ROS production by NADPH oxidases. These ROS inactivate negatively regulating protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTP-SH \rightarrow PTP-SOH) enhancing receptor autophosphorylation. Multiple signaling pathways leading to angiogenesis are activated

VEGFR2 after VEGF stimulation to inhibit VEGF-induced VEGFR2 autophosphorylation and subsequent endothelial cell migration and proliferation [89–91]. Thus PTP inactivation by ROS allows increased VEGF signaling.

ROS also activate downstream signaling pathways. Mitogen activated protein kinases (MAP kinases), which are important to cell proliferation and migration, are redox sensitive. Hydrogen peroxide activated p38 MAPK in endothelial cells, leading to actin reorganization, stress fiber formation, and vinculin recruitment to focal adhesions [92]. Akt plays a key role in cell survival. Hydrogen peroxide stimulated Akt in smooth muscle cells, and angiopoietin-1 enhanced Akt phosphorylation and angiogenesis via NADPH oxidase ROS production in endothelial cells [93, 94]. Akt activation could occur either through enhanced receptor tyrosine kinase signaling through PTP inactivation, or ROS may inactivate the phosphatase PTEN which is a negative regulator of PI3K that is upstream of Akt [95]. Additionally, ROS may act more directly through Rac1 to decrease cell–cell adhesion and promote cytoskeletal reorganization required for endothelial cell migration [96, 97].

4 Reactive Oxygen Species in Disease—Effects on Angiogenesis

ROS play a significant role in many vascular diseases, including atherosclerosis, hypertension, diabetes and cancer among others [98]. Elevated ROS in these conditions negatively affect a multitude of vascular functions. Endothelial cells directly exposed to high ROS undergo apoptosis, and chemically-induced apoptosis through oxidized LDL, angiotensin II, high glucose, and tumor necrosis factor- α is inhibited by antioxidants such as superoxide dismutase and N-acetyl cysteine [99]. ROS enhance inflammatory adhesion molecule expression [100, 101]. ROS, especially superoxide, inactivate nitric oxide to inhibit endothelium-dependent vasodilation [102]. In addition, individuals who suffer from these diseases may have altered angiogenesis.

ROS are important in all stages of atherosclerosis, from atherosclerotic plaque formation to plaque rupture to the intervention response. Angiogenesis related to elevated ROS may also play a role, since atherosclerotic vessels have intimal microvasculature whereas in normal vessels the microvasculature is confined to the adventitia [103]. These vessels may assist in plaque growth by recruiting inflammatory cells or providing essential nutrients [104]. Both mechanical and chemical factors may increase ROS to promote this angiogenesis. While laminar shear stress produced a transient prooxidant signal that is quickly decreased by antioxidant enzyme upregulation, the oscillatory shear stress present in atherosclerotic regions activated NADPH without compensatory SOD upregulation [105]. Hypercholesterolemia [106] and oxidized lipids [107] activate PKC and increase vascular ROS formation via NADPH oxidase [108, 109]. The importance of angiogenesis in atherosclerotic lesion progression is supported by reduced plaque growth and intimal neovascularization with anti-angiogenic therapy [110]. Plaque rupture correlates with angiogenesis, with a higher prevalence of plaque neovascularization measured clinically in lesions with plaque rupture [111]. Since angiogenesis requires proteases, plaque angiogenesis could directly contribute to plaque disruption [112, 113]. In fact, nonatherosclerotic explanted human coronary arteries showed homogenous low superoxide levels, whereas atherosclerotic arteries had increased superoxide in the vulnerable plaque shoulder [114]. Finally, baboon balloon-injured arteries demonstrated increased VEGF expression in the neointima, which correlated with the lipid peroxidation product 4-hydroxynonenal, an endogenous ROS present in atherosclerotic lesions [115].

All types of hypertension exhibit oxidative stress, which is important in hypertensive pathogenesis [116]. In the most direct ROS effect, NADPH oxidase-produced superoxide inactivates nitric oxide, thus inhibiting endotheliumdependent vasodilation and increasing peripheral resistance [117]. A number of hypertensive factors upregulate NADPH oxidases. Angiotensin II, an important prohypertensive agent, induces and activates NADPH oxidases [118]. Knockout of specific NADPH oxidase components prevented angiotensin II-induced stimulation of superoxide, which in turn enhanced nitric oxide availability and attenuated

hypertension [119, 120]. Hypertensive oxidative stress inhibits angiogenesis and in fact leads to microvascular rarefaction, the disappearance of capillaries and pre-capillary arterioles. Rarefaction, a hallmark of hypertension, can occur when elevated blood pressure causes capillary endothelium dysfunction, followed by microvessel constriction and disappearance [121]. Microvascular rarefaction increases peripheral resistance, thereby reducing blood flow and further elevating blood pressure. Furthermore, impaired angiogenesis in development may predispose to hypertension in later life [122, 123]. Some new angiogenesis inhibitor drugs used to treat cancer lead to hypertension through endothelial dysfunction and capillary rarefaction [124, 125], and vasodilator antihypertensive treatments (particularly angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors) can improve capillary density [126]. Thus hypertension may systematically elevate vascular oxidative stress to inhibit angiogenesis.

A wide variety of cancers have been linked to oxidative stress, including breast, liver, lung, and skin cancer [127–130]. Human cancers produced hydrogen peroxide at levels comparable to activated neutrophils, and H₂O₂ was involved in lymphocyte-mediate angiogenesis in tumors [51, 131]. Oxidative stress may initially induce DNA damage leading to tumor formation. Subsequently, ROS may promote cancer cell survival by activating Akt, or increase cell proliferation via MAPK and NF- κ B [132–135]. Angiogenesis is critical to tumor growth and metastasis, and a number of cellular stress factors, including ROS, are important angiogenic stimuli in cancer [136]. ROS stabilized HIF-1 α and induced angiogenic factor production by tumor cells [137]. The importance of ROS in tumor angiogenesis is supported by the fact that antioxidants attenuated angiogenesis due to tumor secreted products [138].

In diabetes, vascular ROS are increased due to both high glucose and advanced glycation end products (AGE). High glucose leads to superoxide leakage from mitochondrial respiration, increases NADPH oxidase activity in endothelial cells through the PKC pathway, and upregulates NAPDH oxidase expression [139–141]. AGE increased NADPH oxidase expression in cardiac myocytes [142], and downregulation of NADPH oxidase attenuated endothelial cell activation in response to AGE [143]. Blood vessels from diabetic subjects showed increased ROS due to enhanced NADPH oxidase activity and subsequent eNOS uncoupling [144-146]. Interestingly, angiogenesis in diabetes is vascular-bed dependent. Excess angiogenesis in renal glomeruli leads to loss of renal filtration function and diabetic nephropathy. Fragile new capillaries formed due excessive angiogenesis in the eve create a unique retinopathy [147]. In contrast, reduced angiogenesis in the extremities contributes to poor wound healing [148]. While no direct link has been shown, there is strong correlation between ROS production, neovascularization and VEGF expression in eyes of diabetics [149, 150]. This correlation is supported by the fact that antioxidants inhibited neovascularization in the mouse model [151, 152]. ROS dose and timing are particularly important in wound healing [32]. High ROS levels are initially produced at the wound site to prevent wound infection. As the wound progresses out of the inflammatory phase and into the proliferative phase, lower ROS levels initiate wound healing processes, especially angiogenesis [32]. However,

excessive ROS production or their impaired detoxification causes extended oxidative stress, which leads to chronic, non-healing wounds with decreased angiogenesis [153].

5 Novel Methods for Applying Reactive Species to Stimulate Angiogenesis

Current therapeutic angiogenesis techniques lack the required clinical efficacy. While angiogenic growth factors including VEGF [154, 155] and FGF-2 [156, 157] are critical to the angiogenic process, their success depends on precise timing, dose, and gradients [158–161]. Efforts to apply growth factors either in ischemic tissue, wounds, or tissue engineered constructs to induce angiogenesis have met with limited success [161–163]. ROS are known to promote angiogenesis, however precise dosing of these species is difficult to achieve. We recently showed that non-thermal dielectric barrier discharge (DBD) plasma could apply ROS and stimulate angiogenesis in endothelial cells in 2D and 3D culture.

5.1 Dielectric Barrier Discharge Plasma

Plasma is an ionized gas composed of charged particles (electrons, ions), excited atoms, molecules, radicals, and UV photons [2]. Naturally occurring plasmas include the solar corona and lightning, and man-made plasmas are used in television, fluorescent light bulbs, and microelectronics processing. Man-made plasma is created with an electrical discharge and a large electric field. Electrons, being much lighter than molecules, atoms, and ions, absorb electrical energy first. Given sufficient time, electrons transfer a substantial part of their energy to ions, molecules, and atoms through collisions. When the temperature of electrons and the heavier plasma components equilibrates, the entire plasma becomes hot. Such plasma is called thermal or equilibrium plasma. In non-thermal plasma, which is far from thermal equilibrium, the electron temperature is much higher than the heavy particle temperature. Gas in a non-thermal plasma remains close to room temperature.

Thermal plasmas such as the argon plasma coagulator have been widely used for blood coagulation as well as for pathological tissue removal [164–168]. In recent years, non-thermal plasma emerged as a novel technology for medical applications. Since gas temperature remains close to room temperature, these plasmas can be applied directly to cells and tissue without measurable damage [169]. Non-thermal plasma has primarily been used to coagulate blood, sterilize tissue and equipment, or kill bacteria and cancerous cells [170–176].

DBD plasma is generated at atmospheric pressure in air when short duration, high voltage pulses are applied between two electrodes, with one electrode being insulated to prevent an increase in current [177, 178]. Depending on the applied voltage, dielectric material and interelectrode distance, the DBD plasma characteristics in air vary, including electron density, reduced electric field, gas temperature, and active species concentration [178]. For living tissue treatment, a floating electrode DBD (FE-DBD) is employed where an insulated high voltage electrode acts as one electrode while the live tissue acts as the second electrode [170]. Non-thermal DBD plasma produces a variety of biologically active reactive species, in particular ROS [178]. Non-thermal DBD plasma has a g-factor (ROS generated per electron volt) between 0.3 and 0.5 [179]. Thus, for every plasma dose of 1 J/cm², 1.88–3.13 × 10¹⁶ ROS are produced in gas phase. Non-thermal plasma devices, specifically DBD plasma, have great potential in medicine due to their selectivity, portability, scalability, ease of operation, and low manufacturing and maintenance costs.

5.2 DBD Plasma Induced Endothelial Cell Proliferation, Migration, and Tube Formation

DBD plasma had previously been shown to kill bacteria and cancer cells using high ROS doses [175, 180]. However, we hypothesized that lower ROS doses from the DBD plasma could induce angiogenesis via FGF-2 release. We had previously studied altered FGF-2 release, storage, and cellular effect induced by ROS production due to high glucose [39, 181]. Others had also demonstrated that mechanical forces, ionizing radiation, and pulsed electromagnetic fields lead to angiogenesis via FGF-2 [69–71, 182–184]. However, non-thermal plasma has advantages over irradiation and electromagnetic fields in that the latter are penetrating and injure surrounding tissue, or they need an expensive setup to be safely generated.

We initially demonstrated that while longer term plasma treatment induced endothelial cell death via apoptosis, lower plasma doses (4.2 J/cm²) led to FGF-2 release peaking 3 h after plasma treatment. This FGF-2 release then enhanced cell proliferation, which was abrogated by an FGF-2 neutralizing antibody or ROS inhibitors *N*-acetyl cysteine and sodium pyruvate [179]. We further showed that plasma treatment enhanced endothelial cell 2- and 3-dimensional migration, again through FGF-2 release via plasma-produced ROS. Using a collagen gel assay, we demonstrated that plasma-produced ROS could induce endothelial cell tube formation [185]. To ensure that plasma-produced ROS caused these effects, we measured an increase in intracellular ROS about 1 h after plasma treatment, with oxidative stress returning to baseline levels by 3 h. By analyzing each plasma-produced ROS individually, hydroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide were identified as the key plasma-produced ROS responsible for the angiogenic effect [186].

5.3 DBD Plasma Induced Secondary ROS

When growth factors such as FGF-2 bind to their receptors, ROS are produced by NADPH oxidases [187]. This ROS signaling following growth factor stimulation may enhance growth factor binding to receptors, induce receptor tyrosine kinase phosphorylation, or signal along growth factor pathways [58, 82, 188]. In human coronary endothelial cells, FGF-2 induced cell proliferation and migration through ROS production by NADPH oxidase [189]. The NADPH oxidase inhibitor DPI prevented secondary ROS formation and decreased cell proliferation. FGF-2 stimulation also increases FGF-2 expression in endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and cardiac myocytes. Using an in vitro scrape cell injury model, Ku et al. showed that scrape-released FGF-2 induced a 4-10 fold increase in FGF-2 mRNA levels [72]. This process may also be mediated by FGF-2 induced intracellular ROS production [74-76, 190]. In pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells, FGF-2 expression following exogenous FGF-2 addition was associated with increased intracellular ROS via NADPH oxidase activation. FGF-2 expression was attenuated by the intracellular ROS scavenger N-acetyl cysteine [78]. FGF-2 release caused by injury has also been shown to enhance FGF-2 expression in intestinal epithelial stem cells and human lens cells [68, 191].

We hypothesized that FGF-2 released by DBD plasma causes cell proliferation through intracellular secondary ROS production. We measured longer term plasma effects on intracellular ROS (up to 24 h after plasma). ROS levels increased rapidly following plasma and returned to untreated control levels by 6 h. However, at 24 h intracellular ROS peaked a second time. When cells were incubated with an FGF-2 neutralizing antibody, the initial ROS peak was higher (40 % increase), occurred later (3 h), and declined more slowly over time. No secondary ROS peak was observed at 24 h with the FGF-2 antibody. When the secondary ROS peak was blocked with sodium pyruvate, plasma no longer increased endothelial cell proliferation. Finally, we were interested in observing the effect of multiple plasma treatments, or essentially repeated oxidative stress. When endothelial cells were plasma treated a second time either 48 or 72 h after the initial plasma treatment, plasma-induced FGF-2 release increased significantly. This effect was also blocked by an FGF-2 neutralizing antibody. These data show that initial oxidative stress induces FGF-2 release, which then signals for cell proliferation via intracellular secondary ROS production. The initial FGF-2 release induces FGF-2 production, so that any subsequent oxidative stress causes a larger FGF-2 release.

6 Conclusions

ROS modulation is an important therapeutic option for a wide variety of angiogenesis dependent and independent diseases. However, current oxidant and anti-oxidant therapies fail to incorporate the complexities of ROS type, dose, and timing.

By further understanding the role of ROS in physiology and pathology, we will enlarge our biochemical toolbox for both enhancing and inhibiting angiogenesis.

References

- Kalluri, R.: Basement membranes: structure, assembly and role in tumour angiogenesis. Nat. Rev. Cancer 3(6), 422–433 (2003)
- Ushio-Fukai, M., Alexander, R.: Reactive oxygen species as mediators of angiogenesis signaling. Role of NAD(P)H oxidase. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 264(1), 85–97 (2005)
- Taniyama, Y., Griendling, K.K.: Reactive oxygen species in the vasculature: molecular and cellular mechanisms. Hypertension 42(6), 1075–1081 (2003)
- 4. Ogita, H., Liao, J.: Endothelial function and oxidative stress. Endothelium **11**(2), 123–132 (2004)
- 5. Adly, A.A.M.: Oxidative stress and disease: an updated review. Res. J. Immunol. 3(2), 129-145 (2010)
- 6. Cross, C.E., et al.: Oxygen radicals and human disease. Ann. Intern. Med. 107(4), 526–545 (1987)
- 7. Halliwell, B., Gutteridge, J.M.C.: Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine, 4th edn. Oxford University Press, New York (2007)
- 8. Droge, W.: The plasma redox state and ageing. Ageing Res. Rev. 1(2), 257-278 (2002)
- Hensley, K., et al.: Reactive oxygen species, cell signaling, and cell injury. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 28(10), 1456–1462 (2000)
- Klotz, L., Kroncke, K., Sies, H.: Singlet oxygen-induced signaling effects in mammalian cells. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 2(2), 88–94 (2003)
- Halliwell, B.: Reactive oxygen species in living systems: source, biochemistry, and role in human disease. Am. J. Med. 91(3, Supplement 3), S14–S22 (1991)
- Fridovich, I.: Superoxide radical—an endogenous toxicant. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 23, 239–257 (1983)
- Herrlich, P., Böhmer, F.D.: Redox regulation of signal transduction in mammalian cells. Biochem. Pharmacol. 59(1), 35–41 (2000)
- 14. Chiarugi, P., Cirri, P.: Redox regulation of protein tyrosine phosphatases during receptor tyrosine kinase signal transduction. Trends Biochem. Sci. **28**(9), 509–514 (2003)
- Hampton, M.B., Morgan, P.E., Davies, M.J.: Inactivation of cellular caspases by peptidederived tryptophan and tyrosine peroxides. FEBS Lett. 527(1), 289–292 (2002)
- Halliwell, B., Clement, M.V., Long, L.H.: Hydrogen peroxide in the human body. FEBS Lett. 486(1), 10–13 (2000)
- Bienert, G.P., et al.: Specific aquaporins facilitate the diffusion of hydrogen peroxide across membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 282(2), 1183–1192 (2007)
- Bienert, G.P., Schjoerring, J.K., Jahn, T.P.: Membrane transport of hydrogen peroxide. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)—Biomembranes 1758(8), 994–1003 (2006)
- Sen, C., Packer, L.: Antioxidant and redox regulation of gene transcription. FASEB J. 10(7), 709–720 (1996)
- Dalton, T.P., Howard, S.G., Puga, A.: Regulation of gene expression by reactive oxygen. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 39, 67–101 (1999)
- Schreck, R., Rieber, P., Baeuerle, P.A.: Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-kB transcription factor and HIV-1. The EMBO J. 10(8), 2247–2258 (1991)
- Wang, X., et al.: The cellular response to oxidative stress: influences of mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling pathways on cell survival. Biochem. J. 333(Pt 2), 291–300 (1998)
- Griendling, K.K., Harrison, D.G.: Dual role of reactive oxygen species in vascular growth. Circ. Res. 85(6), 562–563 (1999)

الم الم للاستشارات

- 24. Bielski, B.H.J., Cabelli, D.E.: ChemInform abstract: superoxide and hydroxyl radical chemistry in aqueous solution. In: Foote, C.S. (ed.) Active Oxygen in Chemistry. Chapman & Hall, Glasgow (1996)
- Halliwell, B.: Oxygen and nitrogen are pro-carcinogens. damage to DNA by reactive oxygen, chlorine and nitrogen species: measurement, mechanism and the effects of nutrition. Mutat. Res./Genet. Toxicol. Environ. Mutagen. 443(1-2), 37-52 (1999)
- Stadtman, E.R., Berlett, B.S.: Fenton chemistry. Amino acid oxidation. J. Biol. Chem. 266(26), 17201–17211 (1991)
- 27. Buettner, G.R.: The pecking order of free radicals and antioxidants: lipid peroxidation, α -Tocopherol, and Ascorbate. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **300**(2), 535–543 (1993)
- Fukai, T., et al.: Modulation of extracellular superoxide dismutase expression by angiotensin II and hypertension. Circ. Res. 85(1), 23–28 (1999)
- Shaffer, J.B., Treanor, C.P., Del Vecchio, P.J.: Expression of bovine and mouse endothelial cell antioxidant enzymes following TNF-alpha exposure. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 8(5), 497–502 (1990)
- Crosby, A.J., Wahle, K.W., Duthie, G.G.: Modulation of glutathione peroxidase activity in human vascular endothelial cells by fatty acids and the cytokine interleukin-1 beta. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1303(3), 187–192 (1996)
- Li, P.F., Fang, Y.Z., Lu, X.: Oxidative modification of bovine erythrocyte superoxide dismutase by hydrogen peroxide and ascorbate—Fe(III). Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int. 29(5), 929–937 (1993)
- 32. Roy, S., et al.: Dermal wound healing is subject to redox control. Mol. Ther. 13, 211–220 (2006)
- Jones, M.K., et al.: Dual actions of nitric oxide on angiogenesis: possible roles of PKC, ERK, and AP-1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 318, 520–528 (2004)
- Wlaschek, M., Scharffetter-Kochanek, K.: Oxidative stress in chronic venous leg ulcers. Wound Repair Regen. 13(5), 452–461 (2005)
- 35. Sen, C.K., Roy, S.: Redox signals in wound healing. Biochim. Biophys. Acta **1780**(11), 1348–1361 (2008)
- Martin, K.R., Barrett, J.C.: Reactive oxygen species as double-edged swords in cellular processes: low-dose cell signaling versus high-dose toxicity. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 21, 71–75 (2002)
- Lambeth, J.D.: NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4(3), 181–189 (2004)
- Lelkes, P.I., et al.: Hypoxia/reoxygenation enhances tube formation of cultured microvascular endothelial cells: the role of reactive oxygen species. In: Maragoudakis, M.E. (ed.) Angiogenesis: Models, Modulators, and Clinical Applications, NATO ASI (1998)
- Morss, A.S., Edelman, E.R.: Glucose modulates basement membrane fibroblast growth factor-2 via alterations in endothelial cell permeability. J. Biol. Chem. 282(19), 14635–14644 (2007)
- Qian, Y., et al.: Hydrogen peroxide formation and actin filament reorganization by Cdc42 are essential for ethanol-induced in vitro angiogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 278(18), 16189–16197 (2003)
- Huang, R.P., et al.: UV activates growth factor receptors via reactive oxygen intermediates. J. Cell. Biol. 133(1), 211–220 (1996)
- 42. Datta, R., et al.: Involvement of reactive oxygen intermediates in the induction of c-jun gene transcription by ionizing radiation. Biochemistry **31**(35), 8300–8306 (1992)
- 43. Shimizu, S., et al.: Stimulation by hydrogen peroxide of L-arginine metabolism to Lcitrulline coupled with nitric oxide synthesis in cultured endothelial cells. Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol. 84(3), 315–329 (1994)
- Burdon, R.H., Gill, V., Rice-Evans, C.: Oxidative stress and tumour cell proliferation. Free Radic. Res. Commun. 11(1–3), 65–76 (1990)
- Vepa, S., et al.: Hydrogen peroxide stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase in vascular endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. 277(1 Pt 1), L150–L158 (1999)

الم الم للاستشارات

- 46. Luczak, K., et al.: Low concentration of oxidant and nitric oxide donors stimulate proliferation of human endothelial cells in vitro. Cell. Biol. Int. 28(6), 483–486 (2004)
- Yasuda, M., et al.: Stimulation of in vitro angiogenesis by hydrogen peroxide and the relation with ETS-1 in endothelial cells. Life Sci. 64(4), 249–258 (1999)
- Shono, T., et al.: Involvement of the transcription factor NF-kappaB in tubular morphogenesis of human microvascular endothelial cells by oxidative stress. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16(8), 4231–4239 (1996)
- Sasaki, H., et al.: Hypoxic preconditioning triggers myocardial angiogenesis: a novel approach to enhance contractile functional reserve in rat with myocardial infarction. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 34(3), 335–348 (2002)
- 50. Monte, M., Davel, L.E., de Lustig, E.S.: Inhibition of lymphocyte-induced angiogenesis by free radical scavengers. Free Radic. Biol. Med. **17**(3), 259–266 (1994)
- Monte, M., Davel, L.E., Sacerdote de Lustig, E.: Hydrogen peroxide is involved in lymphocyte activation mechanisms to induce angiogenesis. Eur. J. Cancer 33(4), 676–682 (1997)
- 52. Fidelus, R.K.: The generation of oxygen radicals: a positive signal for lymphocyte activation. Cell. Immunol. **113**(1), 175–182 (1988)
- Koch, A.E., Polverini, P.J., Leibovich, S.J.: Functional heterogeneity of human rheumatoid synovial tissue macrophages. J. Rheumatol. 15(7), 1058–1063 (1988)
- Koch, A.E., et al.: Inhibition of production of monocyte/macrophage-derived angiogenic activity by oxygen free-radical scavengers. Cell. Biol. Int. Rep. 16(5), 415–425 (1992)
- Yasuda, M., et al.: A novel effect of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in the facilitation of angiogenesis. Life Sci. 66(21), 2113–2121 (2000)
- Peus, D., et al.: H₂O₂ is required for UVB-induced EGF receptor and downstream signaling pathway activation. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 27(11–12), 1197–1202 (1999)
- Gamou, S., Shimizu, N.: Hydrogen peroxide preferentially enhances the tyrosine phosphorylation of epidermal growth factor receptor. FEBS Lett. 357(2), 161–164 (1995)
- 58. Goldkorn, T., et al.: EGF-receptor phosphorylation and signaling are targeted by H_2O_2 redox stress. Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. **19**(5), 786–798 (1998)
- Chua, C.C., Hamdy, R.C., Chua, B.H.L.: Upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by H₂O₂ in rat heart endothelial cells. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 25(8), 891–897 (1998)
- Li, W.G., et al.: H₍₂₎O₍₂₎-induced O₍₂₎ production by a non-phagocytic NAD(P)H oxidase causes oxidant injury. J. Biol. Chem. 276(31), 29251–29256 (2001)
- Rathore, R., et al.: Hypoxia activates NADPH oxidase to increase [ROS]i and [Ca²⁺]i through the mitochondrial ROS-PKCepsilon signaling axis in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 45(9), 1223–1231 (2008)
- 62. May, J.M., Haen, C.D.: Insulin-stimulated intracellular hydrogen peroxide production in rat epididymal fat cells. J. Biol. Chem. **254**, 2214–2220 (1979)
- Irani, K., et al.: Mitogenic signaling mediated by oxidants in Ras-transformed fibroblasts. Science 275(5306), 1649–1652 (1997)
- 64. Yoshizumi, M., et al.: Src and Cas mediate JNK activation but not ERK1/2 and p38 kinases by reactive oxygen species. J. Biol. Chem. **275**(16), 11706–11712 (2000)
- 65. Bohlen, P., et al.: Isolation and partial molecular characterization of pituitary fibroblast growth factor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A **81**, 5364–5368 (1984)
- Cross, M.J., Claesson-Welsh, L.: FGF and VEGF function in angiogenesis: signaling pathways, biological responses and therapeutic inhibition. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 22(4), 201–207 (2001)
- 67. Nugent, M.A., Iozzo, R.V.: Fibroblast growth factor-2. Int. J. Biochem. Cell. Biol. 32(2), 115–120 (2000)
- Houchen, C.W., et al.: FGF-2 enhances intestinal stem cell survival and its expression is induced after radiation injury. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 276(1), G249– G258 (1999)
- 69. Tepper, O.M., et al.: Electromagnetic fields increase in vitro and in vivo angiogenesis through endothelial release of FGF-2. FASEB J. **18**, 1231–1233 (2004)

، للاستشار ات

- Fuks, Z., et al.: Basic fibroblast growth factor protects endothelial cells against radiationinduced programmed cell death in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Res. 54, 2582–2590 (1994)
- Haimovitz-Friedman, A., et al.: Protein kinase C mediated basic fibroblast growth factor protection of endothelial cells against radiation-induced apoptosis. Cancer Res. 54(10), 2591–2597 (1994)
- Ku, P.T., D'Amore, P.A.: Regulation of basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) gene and protein expression following its release from sublethally injured endothelial cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 58(3), 328–343 (1995)
- Finklestein, S.P., et al.: Increased basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) immunoreactivity at the site of focal brain wounds. Brain Res. 460(2), 253–259 (1988)
- 74. Fischer, T.A., et al.: Regulation of bFGF expression and Ang II secretion in cardiac myocytes and microvascular endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 272(2), H958–H968 (1997)
- Weich, H.A., et al.: Transcriptional regulation of basic fibroblast growth factor gene expression in capillary endothelial cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 47(2), 158–164 (1991)
- Jimenez, S.K., et al.: Transcriptional regulation of FGF-2 gene expression in cardiac myocytes. Cardiovas. Res. 62(3), 548–557 (2004)
- 77. Seghezzi, G., et al.: Fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) induces vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in the endothelial cells of forming capillaries: an autocrine mechanism contributing to angiogenesis. J. Cell. Biol. 141(7), 1659–1673 (1998)
- Black, S.M., DeVol, J.M., Wedgwood, S.: Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-2 expression in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells involves increased reactive oxygen species generation. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 294(1), C345–C354 (2008)
- Griendling, K.K., Sorescu, D., Ushio-Fukai, M.: NAD(P)H oxidase: role in cardiovascular biology and disease. Circ. Res. 86(5), 494–501 (2000)
- Ushio-Fukai, M., et al.: Novel role of gp91(phox)-containing NAD(P)H oxidase in vascular endothelial growth factor-induced signaling and angiogenesis. Circ. Res. 91(12), 1160–1167 (2002)
- Abid, M.R., et al.: Vascular endothelial growth factor induces manganese-superoxide dismutase expression in endothelial cells by a Rac1-regulated NADPH oxidase-dependent mechanism. FASEB J. 15(13), 2548–2550 (2001)
- Colavitti, R., et al.: Reactive oxygen species as downstream mediators of angiogenic signaling by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2/KDR. J. Biol. Chem. 277(5), 3101–3108 (2002)
- Mata-Greenwood, E., et al.: Cyclic stretch increases VEGF expression in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells via TGF-beta1 and reactive oxygen species: a requirement for NAD(P)H oxidase. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 289(2), L288–L289 (2005)
- Connor, K.M., et al.: Mitochondrial H₂O₂ regulates the angiogenic phenotype via PTEN oxidation. J. Biol. Chem. 280(17), 16916–16924 (2005)
- Marikovsky, M., et al.: Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase plays a role in angiogenesis. Int. J. Cancer 97(1), 34–41 (2002)
- Schreck, R., Rieber, P., Baeuerle, P.A.: Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-kappa B transcription factor and HIV-1. EMBO J. 10(8), 2247–2258 (1991)
- Wang, G.L., Jiang, B.H., Semenza, G.L.: Effect of altered redox states on expression and DNA-binding activity of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 212(2), 550–556 (1995)
- Kietzmann, T., Gorlach, A.: Reactive oxygen species in the control of hypoxia-inducible factor-mediated gene expression. Semin. Cell. Dev. Biol. 16(4–5), 474–486 (2005)
- Kroll, J., Waltenberger, J.: The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor KDR activates multiple signal transduction pathways in porcine aortic endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 272(51), 32521–32527 (1997)

المستشارات

- Guo, D.Q., et al.: Tumor necrosis factor employs a protein-tyrosine phosphatase to inhibit activation of KDR and vascular endothelial cell growth factor-induced endothelial cell proliferation. J. Biol. Chem. 275(15), 11216–11221 (2000)
- Huang, L., et al.: HCPTPA, a protein tyrosine phosphatase that regulates vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-mediated signal transduction and biological activity. J. Biol. Chem. 274(53), 38183–38188 (1999)
- Huot, J., et al.: Oxidative stress-induced actin reorganization mediated by the p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase/heat shock protein 27 pathway in vascular endothelial cells. Circ. Res. 80(3), 383–392 (1997)
- Ushio-Fukai, M., et al.: Reactive oxygen species mediate the activation of Akt/protein kinase B by angiotensin II in vascular smooth muscle cells. J. Biol. Chem. 274(32), 22699–22704 (1999)
- Wang, Y., et al.: The role of the NADPH oxidase complex, p38 MAPK, and Akt in regulating human monocyte/macrophage survival. Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. 36(1), 68–77 (2007)
- Jiang, F., Zhang, Y., Dusting, G.J.: NADPH oxidase-mediated redox signaling: roles in cellular stress response, stress tolerance, and tissue repair. Pharmacol. Rev. 63(1), 218–242 (2011)
- 96. van Wetering, S., et al.: Reactive oxygen species mediate Rac-induced loss of cell-cell adhesion in primary human endothelial cells. J. Cell Sci. **115**(9), 1837–1846 (2002)
- 97. Moldovan, L., et al.: The actin cytoskeleton reorganization induced by Rac1 requires the production of superoxide. Antioxid. Redox. Signal. 1(1), 29–43 (1999)
- 98. Armstrong, D., Sohal, R.S, Cutler, R.G.: Free Radicals in Molecular Biology, Aging, and Disease. Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia (1984)
- Dimmeler, S., Zeiher, A.M.: Reactive oxygen species and vascular cell apoptosis in response to angiotensin II and pro-atherosclerotic factors. Regul. Pept. 90(1–3), 19–25 (2000)
- 100. Marui, N., et al.: Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) gene transcription and expression are regulated through an antioxidant-sensitive mechanism in human vascular endothelial cells. J. Clin. Invest. 92(4), 1866–1874 (1993)
- 101. Chappell, D.C., et al.: Oscillatory shear stress stimulates adhesion molecule expression in cultured human endothelium. Circ. Res. 82(5), 532–539 (1998)
- 102. Mugge, A., et al.: Release of intact endothelium-derived relaxing factor depends on endothelial superoxide dismutase activity. Am. J. Physiol. 260(2 Pt 1), C219–C225 (1991)
- Barger, A.C., et al.: Hypothesis: vasa vasorum and neovascularization of human coronary arteries. A possible role in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. N. Engl. J. Med. **310**(3), 175–177 (1984)
- 104. O'Brien, K.D., et al.: Neovascular expression of E-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule-1, and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in human atherosclerosis and their relation to intimal leukocyte content. Circulation **93**(4), 672–682 (1996)
- 105. De Keulenaer, G.W., et al.: Oscillatory and steady laminar shear stress differentially affect human endothelial redox state: role of a superoxide-producing NADH oxidase. Circ. Res. 82(10), 1094–1101 (1998)
- 106. Ohara, Y., et al.: Lysophosphatidylcholine increases vascular superoxide anion production via protein kinase C activation. Arterioscler. Thromb. **14**(6), 1007–1013 (1994)
- 107. Heinloth, A., et al.: Stimulation of NADPH oxidase by oxidized low-density lipoprotein induces proliferation of human vascular endothelial cells. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 11(10), 1819–1825 (2000)
- Li, W.G., et al.: Activation of NAD(P)H oxidase by lipid hydroperoxides: mechanism of oxidant-mediated smooth muscle cytotoxicity. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 34(7), 937–946 (2003)
- 109. Wolfort, R.M., Stokes, K.Y., Granger, D.N.: CD4+ T lymphocytes mediate hypercholesterolemia-induced endothelial dysfunction via a NAD(P)H oxidase-dependent mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 294(6), H2619–H2626 (2008)
- 110. Moulton, K.S., et al.: Angiogenesis inhibitors endostatin or TNP-470 reduce intimal neovascularization and plaque growth in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation 99(13), 1726–1732 (1999)
- 111. Tenaglia, A.N., et al.: Neovascularization in atherectomy specimens from patients with unstable angina: implications for pathogenesis of unstable angina. Am. Heart J. 135(1), 10–14 (1998)

i الم للاستشارات

- 112. Gross, J.L., Moscatelli, D., Rifkin, D.B.: Increased capillary endothelial cell protease activity in response to angiogenic stimuli in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 80(9), 2623–2627 (1983)
- Galis, Z.S., et al.: Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. J. Clin. Invest. 94(6), 2493–2503 (1994)
- 114. Sorescu, D., et al.: Superoxide production and expression of nox family proteins in human atherosclerosis. Circulation **105**(12), 1429–1435 (2002)
- 115. Ruef, J., et al.: Induction of vascular endothelial growth factor in balloon-injured baboon arteries: a novel role for reactive oxygen species in atherosclerosis. Circ. Res. 81(1), 24–33 (1997)
- 116. Touyz, R.M., Briones, A.M.: Reactive oxygen species and vascular biology: implications in human hypertension. Hypertens. Res. **34**(1), 5–14 (2011)
- 117. Landmesser, U., et al.: Role of p47(phox) in vascular oxidative stress and hypertension caused by angiotensin II. Hypertension **40**(4), 511–515 (2002)
- 118. Jung, O., et al.: gp91phox-containing NADPH oxidase mediates endothelial dysfunction in renovascular hypertension. Circulation **109**(14), 1795–1801 (2004)
- Matsuno, K., et al.: Nox1 is involved in angiotensin II-mediated hypertension: a study in Nox1-deficient mice. Circulation 112(17), 2677–2685 (2005)
- Gavazzi, G., et al.: Decreased blood pressure in NOX1-deficient mice. FEBS Lett. 580(2), 497–504 (2006)
- 121. Hutchins, P.M., Bond, R.F., Green, H.D.: Participation of oxygen in the local control of skeletal muscle microvasculature. Circ. Res. **40**(4), 85–93 (1974)
- 122. Noon, J.P., et al.: Impaired microvascular dilatation and capillary rarefaction in young adults with a predisposition to high blood pressure. J. Clin. Invest. **99**(8), 1873–1879 (1997)
- 123. Antonios, T.F., et al.: Rarefaction of skin capillaries in normotensive offspring of individuals with essential hypertension. Heart **89**(2), 175–178 (2003)
- 124. Mourad, J.J., et al.: Blood pressure rise following angiogenesis inhibition by bevacizumab. A crucial role for microcirculation. Ann. Oncol. **19**(5), 927–934 (2008)
- 125. Steeghs, N., et al.: Hypertension and rarefaction during treatment with telatinib, a small molecule angiogenesis inhibitor. Clin. Cancer Res. **14**(11), 3470–3476 (2008)
- Debbabi, H., et al.: Increased skin capillary density in treated essential hypertensive patients. Am. J. Hypertens. 19(5), 477–483 (2006)
- 127. Brown, N.S., Bicknell, R.: Hypoxia and oxidative stress in breast cancer. Oxidative stress: its effects on the growth, metastatic potential and response to therapy of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 3(5), 323–327 (2001)
- 128. Calvisi, D.F., et al.: Vitamin E down-modulates iNOS and NADPH oxidase in c-Myc/TGFalpha transgenic mouse model of liver cancer. J. Hepatol. **41**(5), 815–822 (2004)
- 129. Azad, N., Rojanasakul, Y., Vallyathan, V.: Inflammation and lung cancer: roles of reactive oxygen/nitrogen species. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health B Crit. Rev. **11**(1), 1–15 (2008)
- Fruehauf, J.P., Trapp, V.: Reactive oxygen species: an Achilles' heel of melanoma? Expert Rev. Anticancer Ther. 8(11), 1751–1757 (2008)
- 131. Szatrowski, T.P., Nathan, C.F.: Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. Cancer Res. **51**(3), 794–798 (1991)
- Kamata, T.: Roles of Nox1 and other Nox isoforms in cancer development. Cancer Sci. 100(8), 1382–1388 (2009)
- Los, M., et al.: Switching Akt: from survival signaling to deadly response. BioEssays 31(5), 492–495 (2009)
- 134. Muller, J.M., Rupec, R.A., Baeuerle, P.A.: Study of gene regulation by NF-kappa B and AP-1 in response to reactive oxygen intermediates. Methods **11**(3), 301–312 (1997)
- Pennington, J.D., et al.: Redox-sensitive signaling factors as a novel molecular targets for cancer therapy. Drug Resist. Updat. 8(5), 322–330 (2005)
- 136. North, S., Moenner, M., Bikfalvi, A.: Recent developments in the regulation of the angiogenic switch by cellular stress factors in tumors. Cancer Lett. **218**(1), 1–14 (2005)

🏹 للاستشارات

- 137. Chandel, N.S., et al.: Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxia-induced transcription. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A **95**(20), 11715–11720 (1998)
- Cai, T., et al.: N-acetylcysteine inhibits endothelial cell invasion and angiogenesis. Lab. Invest. 79(9), 1151–1159 (1999)
- 139. Evans, J.L., et al.: Oxidative stress and stress-activated signaling pathways: a unifying hypothesis of type 2 diabetes. Endocr. Rev. 23(5), 599-622 (2002)
- 140. Christ, M., et al.: Glucose increases endothelial-dependent superoxide formation in coronary arteries by NAD(P)H oxidase activation: attenuation by the 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitor atorvastatin. Diabetes 51(8), 2648–2652 (2002)
- 141. Liu, S., et al.: Glucose down-regulation of cGMP-dependent protein kinase I expression in vascular smooth muscle cells involves NAD(P)H oxidase-derived reactive oxygen species. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 42(6), 852–863 (2007)
- 142. Zhang, M., et al.: Glycated proteins stimulate reactive oxygen species production in cardiac myocytes: involvement of Nox2 (gp91phox)-containing NADPH oxidase. Circulation 113(9), 1235–1243 (2006)
- 143. Wautier, M.P., et al.: Activation of NADPH oxidase by AGE links oxidant stress to altered gene expression via RAGE. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 280(5), E685–E694 (2001)
- 144. Stokes, K.Y., et al.: NAD(P)H oxidase-derived superoxide mediates hypercholesterolemiainduced leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion. Circ. Res. **88**(5), 499–505 (2001)
- 145. Silver, A.E., et al.: Overweight and obese humans demonstrate increased vascular endothelial NAD(P)H oxidase-p47(phox) expression and evidence of endothelial oxidative stress. Circulation **115**(5), 627–637 (2007)
- 146. Guzik, T.J., et al.: Mechanisms of increased vascular superoxide production in human diabetes mellitus: role of NAD(P)H oxidase and endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Circulation 105(14), 1656–1662 (2002)
- Tsilibary, E.C.: Microvascular basement membranes in diabetes mellitus. J. Pathol. 200(4), 537–546 (2003)
- 148. Martin, A., Komada, M.R., Sane, D.C.: Abnormal angiogenesis in diabetes mellitus. Med. Res. Rev. 23(2), 117–145 (2003)
- 149. Ellis, E.A., et al.: Increased H_2O_2 , vascular endothelial growth factor and receptors in the retina of the BBZ/Wor diabetic rat. Free Radic. Biol. Med. **28**(1), 91–101 (2000)
- Caldwell, R.B., et al.: Vascular endothelial growth factor and diabetic retinopathy: role of oxidative stress. Curr. Drug Targets 6(4), 511–524 (2005)
- 151. Cao, Y., Cao, R.: Angiogenesis inhibited by drinking tea. Nature 398(6726), 381 (1999)
- 152. Brakenhielm, E., Cao, R., Cao, Y.: Suppression of angiogenesis, tumor growth, and wound healing by resveratrol, a natural compound in red wine and grapes. FASEB J. 15(10), 1798–1800 (2001)
- Schäfer, M., Werner, S.: Oxidative stress in normal and impaired wound repair. Pharmacol. Res. 58(2), 165–171 (2008)
- 154. Ferrara, N., Gerber, H.-P., LeCouter, J.: The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat. Med. 9(6), 669–676 (2003)
- 155. Neufeld, G., et al.: Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors. FASEB J. 13(1), 9–22 (1999)
- 156. Bikfalvi, A., et al.: Biological roles of fibroblast growth factor-2. Endocr. Rev. **18**(1), 26–45 (1997)
- 157. Presta, M., et al.: Fibroblast growth factor/fibroblast growth factor receptor system in angiogenesis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 16(2), 159–178 (2005)
- Edelman, E.R., et al.: Controlled and modulated release of basic fibroblast growth factor. Biomaterials 12(7), 619–626 (1991)
- Borselli, C., et al.: Induction of directional sprouting angiogenesis by matrix gradients.
 J. Biomed. Mater. Res., Part A 80A(2), 297–305 (2007)
- 160. Dor, Y., et al.: Conditional switching of VEGF provides new insights into adult neovascularization and pro-angiogenic therapy. EMBO J. **21**(8), 1939–1947 (2002)



- 161. Boodhwani, M., et al.: The future of therapeutic myocardial angiogenesis. Shock 26(4), 332-341 (2006)
- 162. Robson, M.C., Mustoe, T.A., Hunt, T.K.: The future of recombinant growth factors in wound healing. Am. J. Surg. 176(2, Supplement 1), 80S-82S (1998)
- 163. Simons, M., et al.: Clinical trials in coronary angiogenesis: issues, problems, consensus: an expert panel summary. Circulation 102(11), e73–e86 (2000)
- 164. Barlow, D.E.: Endoscopic applications of electrosurgery: a review of basic principles. Gastrointest. Endosc. 28(2), 73–76 (1982)
- Brand, C.U., et al.: Application of argon plasma coagulation in skin surgery. Dermatology 197(2), 152–157 (1998)
- 166. Colt, H.G., Crawford, S.W.: In vitro study of the safety limits of bronchoscopic argon plasma coagulation in the presence of airway stents. Respirology 11(5), 643–647 (2006)
- 167. Raiser, J., Zenker, M.: Argon plasma coagulation for open surgical and endoscopic applications: state of the art. J. Phys. D Appl. Phys. **39**, 3520–3523 (2006)
- Robotis, J., Sechopoulos, P., Rokkas, T.: Argon plasma coagulation: clinical applications in gastroenterology. Ann. Gastroenterol. 16(2), 131–137 (2003)
- Chirokov, A., Gutsol, A., Fridman, A.: Atmospheric pressure plasma of dielectric barrier discharges. Pure Appl. Chem. 77(2), 487–495 (2005)
- 170. Fridman, G., et al.: Blood coagulation and living tissue sterilization by floating-electrode dielectric barrier discharge in air. Plasma Chem. Plasma Process. **26**, 425–442 (2006)
- 171. Soloshenko, I.A., et al.: Sterilization of medical products in low-pressure glow discharges. Plasma Phys. Rep. 26(9), 792–800 (2000)
- 172. Kuo, S.P., et al.: Contribution of a portable air plasma torch to rapid blood coagulation as a method of preventing bleeding. New J. Phys. **11**, 115016 (2009)
- 173. Shekhter, A.B., et al.: Beneficial effect of gaseous nitric oxide on the healing of skin wounds. Nitric Oxide Biol. Chem. **12**, 210–219 (2005)
- 174. Sladek, R.E.J., et al.: Plasma treatment of dental cavities: a feasibility study. IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci. **32**(4), 1540–1543 (2004)
- 175. Sensenig, R., et al.: Non-thermal plasma induces apoptosis in melanoma cells via production of intracellular reactive oxygen species. Ann. Biomed. Eng. **39**(2), 674–687 (2011)
- 176. Yildrim, E.D., et al.: Effect of dielectric barrier discharge plasma on the attachment and proliferation of osteoblasts cultured over poly(ε-caprolactone) scaffolds. Plasma Process Polym. 5(4), 397 (2008)
- 177. Eliasson, B., Egli, W., Kogelschatz, U.: Modelling of dielectric barrier discharge chemistry. Pure Appl. Chem. **66**(6), 1275–1286 (1994)
- 178. Kuchenbecker, M., et al.: Characterization of DBD plasma source for biomedical applications. J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 42(4) (2009)
- 179. Kalghatgi, S., et al.: Endothelial cell proliferation is enhanced by low dose non-thermal plasma through fibroblast growth factor-2 release. Ann. Biomed. Eng. **38**(3), 748–757 (2010)
- Fridman, G., et al.: Floating electrode dielectric barrier discharge plasma in air promoting apoptotic behavior in melanoma skin cancer cell lines. Plasma Chem. Plasma Process. 27(2), 163–176 (2007)
- Clyne, A.M., Zhu, H., Edelman, E.R.: Elevated fibroblast growth factor-2 increases tumor necrosis factor-alpha induced endothelial cell death in high glucose. J. Cell. Physiol. 217(1), 86–92 (2008)
- Muthukrishnan, L., Warder, E., McNeil, P.L.: Basic fibroblast growth factor is efficiently released from a cytolsolic storage site through plasma membrane disruptions of endothelial cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 148(1), 1–16 (1991)
- Caplice, N.M., et al.: Growth factors released into the coronary circulation after vascular injury promote proliferation of human vascular smooth muscle cells in culture. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 29(7), 1536–1541 (1997)
- 184. Callaghan, M.J., et al.: Pulsed electromagnetic fields accelerate normal and diabetic wound healing by increasing endogenous FGF-2 release. Plast. Reconstr. Surg. 121(1), 130–141 (2008)

المستشارات

- 185. Arjunan, K.P., et al.: Non-thermal dielectric barrier discharge plasma induces angiogenesis through reactive oxygen species. J. R. Soc. Interface **9**(66), 147–157 (2011)
- 186. Arjunan, K.P., Clyne, A.M.: Hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide are primarily responsible for dielectric barrier discharge plasma-induced angiogenesis. Plasma Process. Polymers 8(12), 1154–1164
- Petry, A., Weitnauer, M., Gorlach, A.: Receptor activation of NADPH oxidases. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 13(4), 467–487 (2010)
- 188. Herbert, J.M., Bono, F., Savi, P.: The mitogenic effect of H_2O_2 for vascular smooth muscle cells is mediated by an increase of the affinity of basic fibroblast growth factor for its receptor. FEBS Lett. **395**(1), 43–47 (1996)
- Abid, M.R., et al.: NADPH oxidase activity is required for endothelial cell proliferation and migration. FEBS Lett. 486(3), 252–256 (2000)
- 190. Eyries, M., Collins, T., Khachigian, L.M.: Modulation of growth factor gene expression in vascular cells by oxidative stress. Endothelium **11**(2), 133–139 (2004)
- Chang, P.Y., et al.: Particle irradiation induces FGF2 expression in normal human lens cells. Radiat. Res. 154(5), 477–484 (2000)

المنارات

Microfluidic Devices for Angiogenesis

Vernella Vickerman, Choong Kim and Roger D. Kamm

Abstract Cell culture has played a central role in developing our understanding of angiogenesis, and a wide variety of culture systems have been adapted for this purpose. Despite the value of this approach, many of the systems employed have suffered from a lack of precise control over culture conditions, an inability to visualize the process of angiogenesis in real time, and limitations in the ability to replicate the in vivo situation in which multiple cell types interact over distances of 100s of microns. With the advent of microfluidics, many of these obstacles can be overcome, and in vitro experiments can be produced with closer relevance to the in vivo situation. In this chapter, we describe the evolution of these microfluidic devices in the context of angiogenesis and describe current capabilities.

1 Introduction

Angiogenesis is important in health and disease, as has been abundantly demonstrated in other chapters of this text. During embryonic development, for example, angiogenesis facilitates the expansion of the primitive vascular plexus, thus meeting the demands for oxygen and nutrient requirements during embryogenesis. In healthy adults physiologic angiogenesis occurs during endometrial and placental formation, wound granulation after injury and hair follicle vascularization [1]. Furthermore, angiogenesis has been implicated in and directly linked to the pathogenesis of a growing list of diseases [2]. Given the far-reaching impact, it is not surprising that the radical theory of angiogenesis proposed by Folkman during

V. Vickerman \cdot C. Kim \cdot R. D. Kamm (\boxtimes)

Mechanical Engineering and Biological Engineering, MIT, Cambridge, MA, USA e-mail: rdkamm@mit.edu

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_5, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

the 1970s has spawned an entirely new field of both basic and translational research. Moreover, there is considerable interest in understanding how to modulate vascularization and insights from angiogenesis are used to design new therapies for cardiovascular diseases [3] or more boldly, the in vitro creation of vascularized tissues or organs by implementing tissue engineering approaches for replacement therapies.

1.1 In Vitro Versus In Vivo Models of Angiogenesis

Over time, investigators have implemented different types of in vivo and in vitro models in an effort to recapitulate natural angiogenesis. The requirement for more affordable, reliable, reproducible and well-characterized model systems has contributed to vast progress over the years. Despite these advances, there still remain challenges with either approach, evident by the limited success in the translation of basic research to the clinic or bedside. Nevertheless, the research community is aware of these shortcomings, and has identified the extensive criteria that must be met [4] for successfully recreating angiogenesis in the lab. Thus, the field continues to evolve, as newer models are developed and older ones are refined.

In vivo *systems:* Three main types of in vivo angiogenesis assay have been described; (1) microcirculatory preparations in chick embryo and rodents; (2) recruitment of vessels by biocompatible polymer matrix implants; and (3) excision of vascularized tissues (see [4] for an extensive review). One of the earliest in vivo angiogenesis models dates back to the late 1930s, where Ide et al. [5] demonstrated the vascularization of an implant of Brown-Pearce epitheliaoma using the transparent rabbit ear window developed by Sandison [6]. Since then, several other in vivo assays have been developed including cranial windows, chick chorioallantoic membrane (CAM), corneal micropocket assays among others [4].

In vitro systems: In vitro assays traditionally take what could be viewed as a minimalistic approach; the angiogenesis cascade is decomposed and investigated as the sum of its individual steps, namely migration, proliferation and tube formation. Two research groups, Jaffe et al. and Gimbrone et al. were among the first to report of the successful long-term culture of endothelial cells in vitro [7, 8]. However, it was not until methods for the successful culture and clonal expansion of endothelial cells (ECs) in vitro [9] were developed that the first in vitro angiogenesis assay was established. In 1980, Folkman and Haudenschild demonstrated that cloned capillary ECs cultured on a gelatinized Cuprak dish in tumourconditioned medium could initiate angiogenesis [10]. Since then a variety of in vitro models have been developed in an attempt to simulate and analyze the process of neovascularization. These in vitro assays can be broadly classified as two-dimensional (2D) or three-dimensional (3D). In 2D models, cells are plated on culture surfaces that are coated with thin layers of adhesion proteins whereas in 3D models cells are cultured on or in 3D matrices. In 3D cultures, cells are able to invade or migrate within the matrix, which better recapitulates the 3D nature of the

in vivo microenvironment. A common theme involves the culture of ECs in the presence of different extracellular matrix components and angiogenic factors. Although these models have been extremely valuable for understanding several aspects of the cellular and molecular mechanisms operative in angiogenesis, they lack the capability of including other important factors such as chemical gradients, surface shear stress and interstitial flows, as discussed in more detail later.

Physiologically relevant and well-controlled models that better mimic normal and pathological angiogenesis would narrow the gap between bench-top discoveries and clinical applications. In vivo models have physiological relevance yet inherently lack a high level of control. On the other hand, in vitro models have the potential for greater degree of control, yet lack critical elements of the in vivo microenvironment. There remains much room for improvement, and this has motivated many to explore microfluidic methods in the search for greater in vivo relevance in an in vitro model.

1.2 Traditional Methods of Studying Endothelial Chemotaxis

Directional migration toward a gradient of soluble chemoattractant, or chemotaxis, is an essential feature common to many cell types that is vital for organ development, wound repair, inflammation, neurite outgrowth, angiogenesis, tumor invasion and metastasis. During angiogenesis, activated endothelial cells degrade their underlying basement membrane, interpret directional cues and migrate toward a chemotactic gradient of angiogenic factors (e.g. VEGF, bFGF [11]). A modified Boyden chamber assay, also known as the Transwell[®] assay is widely used [12–15] to study endothelial chemotaxis. The Boyden chamber consists of upper and lower compartments separated by a porous filter barrier. Filters are typically available in different membrane materials (e.g. polycarbonate, polyester, and cellulose nitrate), surface treatments and pore sizes which are chosen based on cells of interest. In this method, cells are seeded in the upper compartment and chemoattractant placed in the lower. After a predetermined incubation period, typically 4–6 h, the number of cells that have migrated across the entire width of the filter is quantified. Two major weaknesses with this method include (1) uncertainty in the nature of gradient generated and (2) the inability to visualize and continuously monitor cells during the course of the experiment. Other traditional methods for studying endothelial migration include the wound assay [16], Teflon fence assay [17] and phagokinetic track assay [18]. In each of these, there is an inherent challenge in distinguishing between chemokinesis and chemotaxis. Consequently, many in the research community have recently looked to microfluidic approaches that facilitate the establishment of stable gradients and permit real-time monitoring.



Fig. 1 Schematic of Microfluidic Device Fabrication: The microfluidic chip is fabricated via conventional soft lithography (a-d) and PDMS replica molding (e-h). **a** A silicon wafer is placed on a spin-coater to achieve the desired SU-8 resist film thickness. **b** SU-8 photoresist is coated onto the silicon wafer and baked on a hot plate. **c** For patterning, the SU 8 photoresist on the silicon wafer is exposed to conventional UV (350–400 nm) radiation through a photomask. **d** After baking, the SU-8 resist is developed with SU-8 developer, and an SU-8 master mold is made. **e** The SU-8 master mold is placed in a large Petri dish for PDMS preparation. **f** PDMS is poured onto the master mold in the Petri dish and degassed in the vacuum chamber. **g** After curing (70 °C), the PDMS replica is peeled away from the master mold. **h** For bonding, the PDMS slabs are bonded with a cover slip after oxygen plasma treatment

1.3 The Advent of Microfluidics

Early fluidic devices were developed in the 1980s and used in studies of the effects of shear stress on endothelial monolayers [19-21]. While not "micro" in scale, they typically involved channels on the order of 10^{-3} m; large enough to enable easy fabrication by standard machining methods, yet small enough to limit the need for large numbers of cells or large volumes of reagents. In parallel, microfluidics emerged as a multidisciplinary research field since its inception at Stanford University where the technology was first applied to the fabrication of gas chromatographic air analyzers [22] and for designing the nozzle component for the first inkjet printers by IBM [23]. The foundation for microfluidic fabrication was laid by the microelectronics industry that developed fabrication techniques for creating high-resolution features in microelectronic components. Early microfluidic systems were fabricated in silicon or glass using standard photolithography (other lithographic techniques include electron lithography, X-ray lithography, ion lithography) and chemical etching methods [24]. In recent years, there has been a shift towards elastomeric materials that permits rapid prototyping of microfluidic systems, discussed further in Sect. 3 and illustrated in Fig. 1 [25, 26].

Current applications for microfluidic devices span multiple disciplines, with applications in biotechnology and biochemical processing [27]; clinical and forensic analysis [28]; combinatorial chemistry [29]; systems biology [30]; tissue engineering [31], cell-based biosensors [32]; diagnostics and personalized medicine [33]; and embryo production [34]. The biology community has greatly benefited from these advances, and progress in microfabrication technologies has paved the way for new approaches to manipulate and observe cells in microenvironments that more closely mimic in vivo conditions. Microfluidic-based cell culture systems provide new capabilities for continuous monitoring of dynamic processes, such as angiogenesis, at high spatial and temporal resolution in a controlled microenvironment [35].

2 The Biology of Angiogenesis and Endothelial Cell Chemotaxis

2.1 Angiogenesis in Development

Although the processes by which microvascular networks form are described in detail in other chapters, a brief background is useful as motivation for in vitro studies in microfluidics to follow. The embryonic vasculature is formed by two distinct processes, vasculogenesis—the de novo vessel formation from endothelial progenitors, angioblasts—and angiogenesis—the expansion of a pre-existing vascular network which occurs during the later stages of development. Interestingly, these two processes of vascularization occur in distinct embryonic regions which are defined by the three germ layers: ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm. Vasculogenesis, which gives rise to the primitive vascular plexus, occurs in tissue of a splanchnopleural origin (includes endoderm and splanchnopleural mesoderm), while angiogenesis predominantly occurs in tissues of a somatopleural origin (ectoderm and somatopleural mesoderm) [36]. Here, in keeping with most of the existing microfluidic literature, we mainly focus on angiogenesis.

2.2 The Pathways of Angiogenic Sprouting and Network Formation

Angiogenesis is a complex, multi-step process involving a series of well delineated steps. Once endothelial cells have acquired an angiogenic phenotype, the following processes occur: (a) protease production increases facilitating degradation of basement membrane; (b) directional cues initiate migration towards the angiogenic stimulus; (c) proliferation; (d) tube formation; and (e) maturation. The regulatory chemical signals produced at the onset of and during angiogenesis



originate from many cell types including tumor cells, fibroblast, keratinocytes and macrophages [37]. Up-regulation of pro-angiogenic factors and the simultaneous down-regulation of endogenous angiogenesis inhibitors are normally triggered when the tissue environment becomes hypoxic [38, 39] or inflammatory [40].

Oxygen sensing is important for many biological processes including development, pH homeostasis and angiogenesis [41]. Critical molecular mediators of hypoxia and cellular oxygen-signaling pathways, hypoxia-inducible factor (HIFs), are known to directly activate the expression of such pro-angiogenic factors as VEGF, PDGF-B, Ang-1, Ang-2 and receptors VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and Tie-2 [39, 42], (see also Table 1). In particular, hypoxia induces a dramatic increase in VEGF messenger RNA levels [43]. VEGF is essential for embryonic vasculogenesis and angiogenesis, as demonstrated by the observation that VEGF gene inactivation is lethal [44, 45]. In vitro, VEGF promotes EC proliferation, migration, differentiation and capillary formation. It is also widely appreciated that tumor cells secrete angiogenesis-related proteins under hypoxic growth conditions and the expression levels of eight angiogenesis-related proteins including VEGF, IL-8, PDGF-AA, PDGF-AA/BB, TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, EGF, and IP-10 [48]. In addition, stromal cells promote angiogenesis [49, 50] and also enhance vascular maturation [51].

Inflammatory cytokines and chemokines represent another group of signaling molecules with critical roles in angiogenesis regulation during tumor growth, wound healing and ischemia [40]. Furthermore, chronic inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) are considered as angiogenic diseases, as the excessive neovascularization contributes to their pathogenesis. Pro-inflammatory factors such as TNF- α , IL-8/CXCL8 and SDF-1/CXCL12 are known angiogenic mediators while IL-4, LIF and PF4/CXCL4 exert an inhibitory role [52, 53]. For extensive reviews on additional topics related to angiogenesis in inflammation see [54].

2.3 Angiogenesis in Disease Processes

In healthy adults, endothelial cells remain virtually quiescent—the result of a strict balance between pro- and anti-angiogenic factors. The transition from a quiescent to an angiogenic phenotype occurs when this balance is disrupted and proangiogenic factors dominate. While physiologic angiogenesis occurs in a tightly regulated fashion, deregulation of this process contributes to the progression of a variety of diseases (Table 2). The pathogenesis of the diseases may be characterized by either an excessive or insufficient growth of blood vessels. Interestingly, while the cellular and molecular regulators of normal and pathological angiogenesis have much in common, the latter is characterized by uncontrolled, aberrant vascular growth [55]. For example, VEGF signaling plays a pivotal role in normal and tumor angiogenesis, however tumor vasculature is chaotic and structurally abnormal [55].

Positive/negative regulators	Soluble ligands/receptors	Impact on endothelial cells	Notes
Pro-angiogenic Factors	VEGF VEGFR-1 (FIt-1) VEGFR-2 (FIK-1/KDR)	Chemotactic [11] EC migration, proliferation, anti- apoptosis, differentiation	Targets EC specific mitoge Sources Smooth muscle ce keratinocytes, macroph
			cells Gene Regulation Oxygen tensio factor (TFG-alpah,PDC inflammatory cytokine alpha,IL-6); Hormones
	A sector se		ACTH); oncogenes (ra
	Tie-2	<i>in vario</i> DC imgration, tuge formation, survival	[711]
		in vivo Maturation, signal recruitment of mural cells	
	FGF	Chemokinetic	Synergistically with VEGF
	bFGF binds FGFR-1 aFGF	1 EC proliferation	spectrum, multiple cell
	PDGF-BB	↑ EC migration, require bFGF	Targets VSMCs/pericytes
	$PDGFR-\alpha\alpha$	pretreatment	chemoattractant. bFGF
	PDGFR- $\beta\beta$ PDGFR- $\alpha\beta$		EC [113]
	IL-8/CXCL8	Chemotactic	ELR-positive chemokine [
	CXCR1 CXCR2	↑ EC proliferation ↑ EC migration	
		↑ MMP production	
	Stromal cell-derived factor 1	Chemotactic	[115]
	SDF-1/CXCL12	<i>in vivo</i> ; dermal angiogenesis	
	TGF-B	Induces EC apoptosis \uparrow bFGF	[116]
		expression, [†] VEGF synthesis	•
	Hepatocyte growth factor/	↑ EC proliferation	Down-regulate TSP-1 in t
	scauer lactor(HUF/SF) Met		

99

Fable 1 (continued)			
Positive/negative regulators	Soluble ligands/receptors	Impact on endothelial cells	Notes
Anti-angiogenic factors	Angiostatin	Inhibit EC proliferation	38 kDa plasminogen fragment [118]
	Endostatin	Inhibit EC proliferation	20 kDa C-terminal collagen XVIII fragment [119]
	Interleukins (IL-4, IL-13)	Inhibit EC migration Inhibit tube formation	Cytokine [120], [121]
	Platelet factor-4 (PF4) CXCR3-B	Inhibit EC proliferation Inhibit EC migration	ELR-negative chemokine [122]
	Thrombospondin-1(TSP-1)	Inhibit EC migration	[123]
	Vasostatin	Inhibit EC proliferation	Fragment of calreticulin [124]

المنارات المستشارات

Angiogenesis	Diseases	Notes/references
Excessive/ abnormal angiogenesis	Cancer/solid tumors hemangiomas <i>Retinopathies</i> Proliferative ischemic retinopathies: proliferative diabetic retinopathy (PDR), retinopathy of prematurity (ROP). Age-related macular degeneration (AMD). Retinoblastoma	[125] Blindness, excessive pre-retinal blood vessel growth leading to retinal detachment [126]
	Atherosclerosis Inflammatory rheumatic diseases: rheumatoid arthritis (RA)	Inflammatory disease [127–129] [130]
	Psoriasis	Chronic Inflammatory disease of skin and small joints [131]
	Asthma	Chronic Inflammatory disease: [132]
	Endometriosis	Gynecological disorder, proliferation of endometrial glands and stroma outside uterine cavity [133]
	Chronic liver disease: portal hypertension (PH), fibrosis, cirrhosis, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), hepatocellular carcinoma	[134]
Insufficient	Coronary artery disease	[135]
angiogenesis	Ischemic stroke	[136]
	Chronic wounds	[137]
	Inflammatory rheumatic diseases: systemic sclerosis or systemic scleroderma (SSc)	[130]

Table 2 Angiogenesis in disease process

2.4 Angiogenesis in Tissue Repair

During tissue repair, for example in wound healing, angiogenesis is necessary for generating a functional granulated tissue. In healthy individuals, this phase of wound repair progresses naturally. However, in certain situations, for example in diabetes, growth factor deficiencies, impaired keratinocyte and fibroblast migration and proliferation, and accumulation of anti-angiogenic glycation end-products in their tissues impair the angiogenic response and subsequent tissue repair [56]. Furthermore, tissue damage is inevitable in diseases characterized by inadequate vascular perfusion and interventions to correct vascular insufficiency are required. One approach, therapeutic angiogenesis, has been extensively explored. Therapeutic angiogenesis is the delivery of exogenous factors (e.g. small molecules, genes or cells) or the use of mechanical devices to stimulate neovascularization, restore form and function to tissues [1]. Growth factor therapy with recombinant proteins, gene therapy using non-viral (e.g. plasmid DNA, liposomes, nanoparticles) or viral (e.g. recombinant retrovirus, adenovirus, adenovascularious and virus,



Herpes simplex virus type-1) techniques to deliver pro-angiogenic factors, tissueengineered products, hyperbaric oxygen and negative pressure wound therapy are current avenues for stimulating angiogenesis [1, 57]. Recombinant growth factors including VEGF, bFGF and PDGF-BB have been used in animal models of chronic limb ischemia [58, 59]. More recently, using plasmid-based gene delivery systems, local intramuscular administration of FGF-1 was shown to be safe and improved amputation-free survival in patients with critical limb ischemia [60]. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT), the intermittent exposure of patients to 100 % oxygen at pressures above 1 atmosphere, has been known to promote angiogenesis and collagen synthesis but the underlying mechanisms remain unclear [61]. Another strategy, negative pressure therapy has been used extensively in clinical management of wounds [62]. The underlying mechanism by which topical negative pressure stimulates angiogenesis has been investigated using in vitro methods and linked to increased endothelial cell migration and proliferation [63, 64].

Angiogenesis is clearly a complex process requiring the coordination of multiple cell types and integration of a host of chemical and mechanical microenvironmental signals. Despite these enormous challenges small successes provide a map for future directions and motivation for further pursuits in the application of angiogenesis principles for tissue repair and regeneration.

3 Endothelial Cell Culture in Microfluidics

3.1 Pre-formed Microvascular Systems

Microfluidic cell culture began approximately 30 years ago with studies in which the cells were plated on channels on a 2D rigid surface [65]. This was a natural extension of studies in traditional culture dishes, adding some advantages in terms of improved imaging capabilities and a more natural means of introducing fluid shear stress, a factor that had been recognized to play a significant role in numerous endothelial cell processes since the early experiments by Gimbrone, Davies and Dewey [66, 67] beginning in the 1980s. These early flow devices were not "micro" in scale, however, and were typically machined out of hard plastic, limiting their use and their ability to mimic the actual in vivo microenvironment. In particular, the plastic surfaces were orders of magnitude higher in stiffness than the basement membrane these cells adhere to in blood vessels, and were incapable of being stretched by 5-10 % as would normally occur in vivo as a consequence of normal blood pressure pulsatility. Despite these limitations, these studies greatly advanced our understanding of endothelial biology, for example, leading to a progressively deeper appreciation of the importance of fluid shear stress and of the wide range of biological processes influenced by it (see e.g., reviews by Davies [68]).



Although the surfaces of these devices had always been treated with some form of adhesion factors (e.g., collagen, fibronectin, etc.), an important step toward greater realism occurred when these devices began to incorporate compliant substrates, either fabricated from elastomeric materials or incorporating regions of hydrogel that the cells could be plated onto, thereby relaxing the constraint of using an unrealistic substrate stiffness. Hydroglels such as collagen, fibrin, MatrigelTM, and others (gelatin, laminin, alginate, and chitosan) came into common usage [69]. These became widely referred to as three-dimensional (3D) substrates, even though the cells generally remained on the 2D surface of the gel. Most of these hydrogels naturally contained or were functionalized with motifs that could bind to integrin receptors (e.g., the RGD sequence), giving rise to cell adhesion, but also to the signaling associated with integrin activation. Results from these compliant systems differed from those on rigid substrates in numerous ways, but most noticeably in terms of the nature of the focal adhesions formed, being more focal in nature on rigid substrates, but more diffuse and ill-defined on 3D gels [70].

Studies were also conducted on or in rigid substrates in 1D, 2D, and even 3D [71, 72] with the aim of developing microvascular networks for applications such as tissue engineering. While these could sustain a flow, they lacked endothelial cells, and were often not biocompatible. They did, however, demonstrate the capability of fabricating complex vascular-like structures using micro- and nano-fabrication methods.

A second major advance occurred with the introduction of soft lithographic methods as a means of producing microfluidic channels and systems, typically from poly(dimethylsiloxane) (PDMS), a biocompatible elastomer [26]. Numerous advantages accrued from this new approach. One was that, since the systems were fabricated by means of casting the PDMS onto silicon wafers, the wealth of knowledge gained from the use of silicon technology in the semiconductor industry could immediately be applied to the fabrication of these miniaturized devices for cell culture. Ultimately, the inherent low Young's modulus of PDMS, although far in excess of biological tissues, could be used to allow substrate stretch, simulating the deformations of the vascular wall, or to measure contractile forces of cells using systems of micropillars upon which the cells could be cultured [73]. Finally, the high permeability of PDMS to gas and liquid [74] proved a mixed blessing. On one hand, gas exchange in an incubator helped to maintain desired levels of O₂ and CO₂. Given the reduced volumes of these miniaturized systems (larger surface-to-volume ratio), this no doubt helps limit the need for frequent media changes. On the other hand, it also led to higher rates of evaporation, a limitation in some experimental situations. Finally, the tendency for PDMS to adsorb small hydrophobic molecules also has a negative influence in some experiments, especially in the context of drug screening [75].

Despite the obvious advantages of microfluidics in studying vascular biology, its use for investigations of angiogenesis is a relatively recent development. Early attempts to produce microvascular networks focused not on angiogenic responses, but rather on the fabrication of preformed vascular network patterns in PDMS or stiff gels, and subsequent seeding with endothelial cells. This work was motivated



Fig. 2 Preformed microvascular networks: **A** (a) Macroscopic view of the microfabricated PDMS network. (b) Endothelial cells immediately after seeding onto the pre-fabricated networks. (c) Endothelial cells lining the networks after monolayer formation [77]—*Reprinted with permission from Springer*. **B** Formation of tubes that incorporate endothelial cells and fibroblasts. (a) Schematic diagram showing the fabrication of microfluidic gels. Sequential introduction of Pluronic and liquid gelatin into the channels, and gelation, yielding a gelatin mesh that could be separated from the channels. (b) Collagen gel with embedded fibroblasts. (c) Collagen gel with a monolayer of endothelial cells lining internal channels. Inset, Hoechst-stained microvascular network [78]—*Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*. **C** (a) Schematic of gel substrate with embedded perivascular cells (PCs) and a channel for endothelial cell seeding. (b) Phase-contrast image and (c) corresponding fluorescence image of the center plane of the tube with PCs embedded within the collagen matrix. (d) Fluorescence image after 20 min of perfusion with fluorescently labeled BSA. Scale bars = 100 μ m [80]—*Reprinted with permission from Elsevier Ltd*

by the need for vascular networks in organs being developed for engineered tissues. One of the first demonstrations of microvessel growth in PDMS channels was published in 2002 [76, 77] (Fig. 2A), demonstrating that the vessels could be maintained for up to 2 weeks under flow conditions in channels as small as 35 μ . Of course, the use of these "engineered" vascular networks would require that either the channels be cast in a hydrogel that could be seeded with cells, as has recently demonstrated [78, 79] (Fig. 2B), or that the networks be removable from the mold without causing irreparable damage.

An alternative "engineered" approach was developed by Tien and colleagues [80, 81] (Fig. 2C). In their approach, a cylindrical channel was cast around a rigid needle in a hydrogel such as type I collagen. Once gelled, the needle was removed, leaving an open cylinder into which endothelial cells could be seeded, forming confluent EC-lined lumens after about 2 days in culture. These vessels could subsequently be perfused, and in doing so, became stabilized through a combination of physiological levels of fluid shear stress and hydrostatic pressure [81]. Functional assays were performed, demonstrating levels of permeability for albumin comparable to those observed in vivo ($\sim 2 \times 10^{-7}$ cm/s) and well-defined, continuous



Fig. 3 Conventional in vitro methods to study angiogenesis: Schematic representation of 2D and 3D assays. **a** 2D assay with capillary-like structures (CLS) developed on the surface of a gel adopting a planar configuration. **b** 3D sandwich assay in which ECs are seeded between two gel layers and form networks. **c** Monolayer angiogenesis assay. **d** Aortic ring assay embedded in Matrigel and incubated. **e** Cell attached to microbeads seeded in gels [138]

staining for VE-cadherin, indicative of tight junctional complexes. These vessels appeared stable, and could be maintained for over 2 weeks in culture. And while these vessels were not branched, several could be placed in parallel in order to produce uniform perfusion of a block of tissue.

Three dimensional structures could also be formed, in this case through a method employing two gels, one (gelatin) that was used as a sacrificial material in the formation of 3D microvascular networks with channels as small as 6μ in diameter, and that could be seeded with endothelial cells and maintained in culture for several days [78] (Fig. 2B). Another advantage of this two-gel system is that a second cell type, fibroblasts in this case, could be seeded into the remaining gel, presumably to allow interactions with the endothelial monolayer.

3.2 Angiogenesis and Vasculogenesis Assays

None of the methods described above allowed, however, for natural angiogenesis, the objective being instead, the designed formation of a microvascular network by seeding cells into a cast mold. In a different set of studies, the objective has been to induce an endothelial monolayer to form sprouts and networks into a 3D hydrogel (Fig. 3). This requires the ability to seed cells either on or in a matrix material that is receptive to sprouting, and the addition of angiogenic factors to the medium in order to promote angiogenesis, either in a spatially-uniform manner, or as a gradient to induce sprouting in the direction of higher growth factor concentration.
Assays for angiogenesis have varied in their design, ranging from the more conventional gel systems, where endothelial cells are plated onto the surface of a gel [82] (Fig. 3a) or sandwiched between two layers of hydrogel [83] (Fig. 3b) with growth factors added to stimulate vascular network formation or sprouting, to systems in which the cells are plated as a monolayer on a gel surface (Fig. 3C), or vessel rings [84] (Fig. 3d) or endothelial-coated microbeads are suspended in matrix [85] (Fig. 3e).

Two different types of approach have been used, one to study vasculogenesis and another for angiogenesis. While we focus most of the discussion here on angiogenesis, a short summary of some of the important microfluidic work on vasculogenesis is first presented.

Vasculogenesis occurs by the transformation of angioblasts into endothelial cells that assemble to form a microvascular network [86]. This process usually occurs during development (although there is some evidence that it can also occur in adults), whereas angiogenesis can occur both in the embryo and the adult organism [87]. Vasculogenesis, or at least one model for it, is accomplished by sandwiching endothelial precursor cells or endothelial cells themselves, between two layers of gel [83]. In this case, vascular networks form as a consequence of the seeded cells stretching out toward their neighbors, making contact, forming a 3D network and in many cases, ultimately creating an interconnected array of tubes with diameters comparable to those of a capillary. Generally, these networks have been non-functional in the sense that it is not possible to perfuse them due to the manner in which they are connected to the channels of the device, but systems having the capability to link with these formed networks now exist and it is just a matter of time before these systems can be perfused and presumably used to provide nutrients and gas exchange to other resident cells.

Several microfluidic assays for angiogenesis have been developed consisting of medial channels that run parallel to a gel region. One such system consists of a hydrogel (e.g., collagen) seeded with embryoid bodies or embryonic kidneys and flanked on both sides by medium-filled channels [88] (Fig. 4C). Molded from PDMS and sealed by vacuum against a petri dish following the placement of tissue-seeded gels, gradients were produced in this system by the flow of growth factor-containing medium (VEGFA, VEGFC, FGF2) on one side and control medium on the other. Vascular sprouts were observed to form preferentially in the direction of higher growth factor concentrations. The authors noted the potential for real-time imaging and the retrieval of tissue specimens at the end of the experiment for subsequent biochemical analysis.

A major challenge in using this system was the containment of gel solution, which these authors accomplished by means of PDMS plugs inserted into the channels during gel polymerization. Another approach is to use posts cast in the PDMS replica to define the gel region, and to rely on surface tension along these posts to contain the gel and also to stabilize it after gelation (Fig. 4A, B) [35, 89]. Initial systems accomplished this by direct microinjection of the gel solution, followed immediately (before polymerization) by attachment of a coverslip to the plasma-treated PDMS surface. In these studies, medium and endothelial cells were



Fig. 4 Microfluidic assays for angiogenesis: A Developed microfluidic system. Left A photograph of a 2-channel system (top and bottom) with a gel region in between. Right Fluorescent image showing the sprouting of new vessels into the hydrogel from the endothelial monolayer seen at the top of the image [35]—Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry. B A system in which ECs and fibroblasts are co-seeded in the gel region and form a microvascular plexus. (a) Schematic representation of the microfluidic system with gel regions (red) and media channels (cyan). Gel channels are each 400 µm wide and are supported by hexagonal posts, 100 µm in diameter. (b) Side view of the device showing the relative positions of the polymerized hydrogels and the media channels (1.5 mm wide). (c) Phase-contrast image (day 14) of a primitive capillary plexus. Scale bar = $100 \mu m$. (d) Collapsed z-stack of confocal images showing a 3D projection of the structures [89]-Reprinted with permission of John Wiley and Sons. C (a) Schematic of the microfluidic chip shown assembled by connecting a vacuum to the outer network of channels. (b) Assembly of the system. A liquid gel solution is introduced to the chamber. Then the biological sample is added. Finally, the flow channel plugs are removed and the device is assembled. (c) Embryonic kidney stimulated with a gradient of VEGFA, FGF2, and VEGFC for 48 h showing the asymmetric sprouting of microvessels. [88]-Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry

introduced to the side channels after attaching the coverslip, lining the channel walls including the lateral face of the collagen. Seeded in this way, growth factors introduced either uniformly or as a gradient were shown to control vascular sprouting into the gel [35]. A major advantage of this system was the capability to image sprout formation in real-time, with sprouts growing approximately in the imaging plane. This enabled high resolution imaging of vascular sprouts that could grow several hundred microns in length over just a 24 h period [35]. In other



Fig. 5 Types of invasion into the gel: **A** 2D capillary morphogenesis in the collagen treated channel and **C** 3D sprouting into the gel. **B** (a)–(d) confocal micrographs showing branched structures with lumens formed by migration of cells along the bottom of the gel region that eventually close to form patent lumens across the gel. Scale bar = $250 \mu m [35]$ —*Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*, [139]—*Reprinted with permission of John Wiley and Sons*. **D** Microvascular endothelial cells sprout to form capillary-like structures. (a)–(i) Sequence of images demonstrating capillary formation and the initiation of lumen formation [35]—*Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*

experiments, the cells were seeded either individually in the gel or along the 2D surface of the coverslip. New capabilities demonstrated in these studies were the generation of flow either in the media channels or across the gel itself, creating an interstitial flow. Two types of vascular structures were observed; in one, the endothelial cells invaded into the gel along the surface of the coverslip, but eventually folded around to form closed and empty lumens which were demonstrated to be patent by both confocal microscopy and the flow of microbeads.

An alternative method is to add gel-filling channels to the system that permit the introduction of gel after bonding the coverslip by plasma treatment [90]. These systems were used in multiple investigations. In one, the effect of device coating was studied [91]. It had been observed that the endothelial monolayer would often adhere to and migrate along the walls of the microfluidic device, or that contraction of cell-seeded gels would cause gaps to appear between the gel and the device walls, especially if the gel concentration was low (Fig. 5A, B) [35]. Two methods were found to mitigate this tendency, either to increase the gel stiffness or to increase the adhesion of the gel to the device surface by an initial coating of

poly D lysine (PDL), both of which led to more sprouts with a more natural appearance [90] (Fig. 5C, D). Gel stiffness could be increased in type I collagen either by using a higher collagen concentration or by gelation at low pH [92].

4 Factors that Influence the Properties of Vascular Sprouts

4.1 Biochemical Factors

In recent experiments, the combined effects of VEGF and ANG-1 were studied [93]. Using a microfluidic system, an endothelial monolayer was induced to grow into a type I collagen gel. When under the influence of a VEGF gradient alone, the sprouts were observed to often become unstable, and the tip cell would frequently break loose from the stalk and migrate separately. This tendency could be greatly reduced by the additional of ANG-1, a known vascular stabilizing factor. While this represents but one of many possible combinations, it demonstrates the enormous potential of microfluidics to study the combined effects of multiple factors that can either accelerate or slow and stabilize the growth of microvascular sprouts.

While it is well established that biochemical factors influence angiogenesis, the effects of physical factors on the sprouting of endothelial monolayers into gel have been much less studied. Of studies conducted in microfluidic systems, two primary matrix-related factors have been studied. One is the stiffness of the gel [92], which can be varied either by the use of different gels (e.g., type I collagen, fibrin, matrigel), by varying the concentration of gel, or by regulating the extent of cross-links [92]. While the gel type has been extensively studied in macro-culture assays, this has been relatively less studied in microfluidic systems.

4.2 Effects of Hemodynamic Shear

In one recently published set of experiments, Kang and co-workers [94], examined the effect of shear stress on the apical (luminal) side of the monolayer on endothelial sprouting. They found that, in the presence of sphingozine-1-phosphate (S1P), one of the factors found to promote angiogenesis although it also has stabilizing effects, shear stress on the apical surface of cells adherent to a gel surface, more aggressively invaded into the gel, forming sprouts at a higher frequency than monolayers lacking shear stress. In their experiments, the system could be visualized only after fixation, so their data all examine a single time point (24 h after the initiation of shear). Interestingly, in a different study, using VEGF rather than S1P to induce sprouting, shear stress was found to exert a stabilizing effect; that is, the monolayer was less likely to extend sprouts into the gel when

subjected to fluid shear stress of 1.2 Pa over the apical cell surface. It remains to resolve this apparently contradictory behavior.

In these studies the effects of hemodynamic shear stress parallel to the monolayer surface was investigated. But in the vascular system, flows also occur *across* the vascular endothelium (transendothelial flow) due to differences in hydrostatic plus oncotic pressure between the blood and the interstitial space. These flows across the arterial wall have been estimated to be on the order of 0.01 μ m/s in normal arteries, but could easily rise much higher either when endothelial cell turnover occurs [95], as a result of vessel wall trauma, or in vascular beds that that more permeable than normal, such as in the vascular networks that form in the vicinity of malignant tumors [96].

4.3 Effects of Transendothelial Flow

Two groups have examined the effects of interstitial flow across an endothelial monolayer on angiogenesis in microfluidic systems. One used a system in which a gel was formed in a PDMS chamber, on one side of which an endothelial monolayer was grown, across which flow could be directed from the apical surface into the gel [97]. These experiments showed that flow enhances the rate of vascular ingrowth by a Src-mediated process at mean flow velocities ranging up to 50 µm/min. Vascular sprouts appeared to emerge from localized islands of activated Src. More recent studies, however, raise questions about this observation. Using a microfluidic system containing a gel positioned between two media channels so that flow could be directed either in the apical-to-basal or basal-to-apical direction, Song and Munn observed a different response [98]. Whether or not shear stress was applied to the apical surface, and with or without a VEGF gradient, they found that apical-to-basal flow tended to reduce the tendency for angiogenesis as compared to the case with no flow, or with flow from the basal-to-apical side. The mechanisms or signaling pathways activated by this process were not investigated, and this remains an interesting area for further investigation. It is worth nothing, however, that in other studies interstitial flow has been shown to elicit a biological response from smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts [95], and that this effect could be inhibited by the introduction of heparanase, presumably removing the cell-secreted glycocalyx in these collagen I gels. In addition, transendothelial flow has been shown to cause a reduction in monolayer hydraulic conductivity and protein permeability [99]. The link to angiogenesis is that sprouting is often accompanied by a loosening of the cell-cell junctions, which would also cause an increase in permeability.

In a separate study [35] it was observed that interstitial flows of $\sim 90 \ \mu$ m/min past endothelial cells seeded *inside* the gel helped to promote the formation of an interconnected network, and also induced the cells to form a monolayer on the upstream face of the gel region. These results, taken together, suggest that flows of a magnitude that would be expected in vivo, either parallel to or perpendicular to an endothelial monolayer, can have a dramatic influence on angiogenesis. Studies are just now appearing in

the literature, in large part due to the newly developed capabilities of microfluidic systems, and many questions regarding mechanisms of action remain to be answered.

5 Heterotypic Cell Culture in Microfluidics

5.1 The Importance of Co-Culture in Angiogenesis

A number of recent studies have begun to use microfluidics to examine interactions between multiple cell types, and some have specifically examined interactions in the context of angiogenesis. There exists a strong motivation for studies of this type. Clearly, in an attempt to replicate true physiology, many types of cell–cell interactions need to be replicated, and the addition of other, non-endothelial cell types helps in that regard. Whether the objective is to create an engineered organ or to screen for new drugs, the more closely one can mimic in vivo conditions, the better. At the same time, however, the addition of other cell types greatly complicates the process of understanding all of the relevant communication pathways. In order to provide some added realism while avoiding the overwhelming complexity of the in vivo situation, investigators have typically introduced only one or two accessory cell types; cells that communicate with ECs in a way that influences the particular behavior of interest.

5.2 Experiments with Multiple Cell Types

One example of this has been the co-culture of endothelial cells with tumor cells, either as isolated cells [90] or as tumor spheroids. Experiments of this type have demonstrated that, depending upon the tumor cell type, the nature of the interaction can be very different, giving rise to different forms of invasion, or producing various levels of stimulation of the EC monolayer (Fig. 6a). In either case, one objective has been to study the role of endothelial-secreted factors that might act as chemoattractants to cancer cells, as a stimulus drawing the cells to the vascular or lymphatic system where they might intravasate and be transported to another location where they could initiate a metastatic tumor. Cells have been introduced both suspended in matrix material [100] (Fig. 6c) or plated onto the surface of a separate channel [101], and induced to migrate preferentially toward the endothelial cells.

Of greater relevance to this chapter, factors secreted by tumor cells have induced sprouting angiogenesis. In a series of preliminary studies using a micro-fluidic platform consisting of 2 or 3 media channels and 1 or 2 gel regions, the role of various cell types on endothelial invasion into gel has been investigated (e.g., [102]). Interestingly, the effects of different cancer cell lines have shown



Fig. 6 Some of the various types of experiments conducted in microfluidic systems: **a** Heterotypic cell culture investigating the interactions between GFP-expressing rat mammary adenocarcinoma cells (MTLn3) and GFP-expressing human glioblastoma cell line (U87MG), human microvascular endothelial cells (HMVEC) and a smooth muscle precursor cell line (10 T1/2) [90]—*Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*. **b** Endothelial cells seeded in one channel and hepatocyles seeded in the other. Hepatocytes form bile cannaliculi and ECs sprout into the gel [102]—*Reprinted with permission from FASEB*. **c** Tumor cells (MDA) and macrophage (RAW) co-seeded in hydrogel and interacting through intercellular signaling [100]—*Reproduced by permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry*. **d** Investigating SMC (Human aortic vascular SMC CRL-1999) migration in response to endothelium-derived factors [103]—*Reprinted with permission from The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*

sometimes contradictory behavior. When endothelial cells are allowed to interact with a particular breast cancer cell line [90], the endothelial cells were observed to actively sprout into the collagen type I gel, while the rate of tumor cell invasion was relatively subdued. In contrast, when interacting with a glioblastoma cell line (U87MG), the tumor cells became highly activated, migrating at a high speed toward the endothelium, while the endothelial cells remained relatively quiescent [89]. Clearly, multiple signals are being exchanged between tumor and endothelial cells, and one cannot readily generalize from one cell line to another as their behavior can be markedly different.

In another set of experiments using the same microfluidic device [103], the interactions between an endothelial monolayer and the 10 T1/2 cell line were considered (Fig. 6d). Since the 10 T1/2 cells are known to be smooth muscle precursor cells, the hypothesis was that when placed in close proximity, they would both differentiate into mature SMCs and also migrate to the endothelial monolayer, stabilizing it and forming an adjacent layer of cells. Results were

somewhat disappointing, however, in that there was little evidence to support the hypothesis.

It is well known that the hypoxic environment found in and around tumors is a major factor influencing the transition of a quiescent endothelium to an activated, angiogenic phenotype. These results from prolonged lifetime of HIF-1 α caused by intermittent hypoxia [104]. This, in turn, increases the synthesis and secretion of angiogenic factors such as VEGF, bFGF, and the initiation of sprouting. This has spawned an interest in developing microfluidic systems that can produce a controlled hypoxic environment. In one of these [105], small alginate gel disks seeded with U87 tumor cells were formed in PDMS microwells, then a layer of endothelial cells were plated onto the surface. Since the rate of oxygen consumption was known from separate experiments, computational methods could be used to estimate the degree of hypoxia and the spatial distribution of oxygen tension.

When vascular networks grow in vivo, they are acted upon by numerous factors, both pro- and anti-angiogenic, as described above. Most of both types of factors are synthesized and secreted by resident cells, such as in response to hypoxic conditions. In addition, as the network matures, it undergoes a process of pruning and stabilization, mediated largely by pericytes and smooth muscle cells [106]. For this reason, some have begun to introduce other, accessory cells into their microfluidic cultures in order to promote maturation and stabilization. In one study [89], fibroblasts or mesenchymal stem cells were added to endothelial cells to produce structures having many of the characteristics of a primitive vascular plexus. In another study, a co-culture of endothelial cells and hepatocytes gave rise to vascular sprouts with well-defined lumens and good long-term stability [102] (Fig. 6b). More studies of this type are certain to appear since the interactions between multiple cell types have clear advantages in the formation and stabilization of vascular structures.

5.3 Angiogenesis in Tissue Engineering

Angiogenesis, as mentioned earlier, is highly desired in engineered organs, although the structure of the vascular network can be drastically different between organ systems. This is nowhere more evident than in tissues such as the liver that are both highly vascularized and possess a unique microvascular structure that is central to organ function. For this reason, much work has been directed toward inducing microvessles to grow and develop the desired structure in in vitro systems, either to function ex vivo or ultimately to be implanted. Several microfluidic systems have been developed for this purpose, but only a few contain endothelial cells and offer the hope of natural vascularization [102, 107, 108].

6 Quantification Methods and the Role of Modeling

An issue that often arises in studies of angiogenesis in microfluidic systems is how best to quantify the nature of the networks. Various metrics have been developed such as the projected area of the sprouts [89, 90], the total length of sprouts or the average length [90], the average number of cells contained in a sprout, and the number of branches. Recently, a Matlab-based tool, Rapid Analysis of Vessel Elements (RAVE) has been made available, that should prove useful in quantitative analysis [109].

A new approach that has just recently been developed is to use a computational model as a means of controlling in real time an in vitro experiment in angiogenesis, with the objective of regulating the growing microvascular bed [110]. This approach would have obvious advantages in the creation of a vascular system to meet the needs of a specific engineered tissue. In this approach, network growth is observed over time, in this instance, simply in terms of network morphology, and a simulation is used to predict future behaviors under a variety of stimulatory patterns, such as the spatiotemporal distributions of angiogenic factors. Microfluidic systems are particularly well suited to this method in that they allow both for real-time imaging of vascular growth, and the ability to control the delivery of growth factors over time and space in a precise manner. First attempts at this employ a simple model that relates vessel diameter to the speed of tip cell migration; by controlling the latter via changes in the VEGF gradient, the diameter of the vessels as a function of position can, in theory, be controlled. Many hurdles yet need to be overcome, however, if this method is to succeed, not least of which is the fact that vessel grow at a particular instant in time is a consequence of numerous signaling events that have occurred in the past. In order to effectively control the process, it will be necessary to identify read-outs of earlier signaling such as through the use of fluorescent reporters.

7 Future Directions

New microfluidic methods are being developed at a rapid pace, and it is clear that future methods will enable further improvements in realism, control of the critical biochemical and biomechanical factors, and imaging capabilities. From the current studies of angiogenesis, assays are likely to emerge that facilitate the growth of entire microvascular networks in co-culture with perivascular cells that are capable of being perfused and stabilized for extended periods of time. These "engineered" networks will contribute an essential element in the quest for vascularized organs for implantation and enable new, more detailed studies of angiogenesis. At the same time, as our understanding of the underlying biological processes evolves, new approaches to modeling can be developed that will eventually facilitate the active regulation of in vitro angiogenesis.



Acknowledgments The authors would like to acknowledge support from the NIBIB, the National Science Foundation (EFRI-0735997 and CBET-0939511), and the Singapore-MIT Alliance for Research and Technology.

References

- 1. Li, W.W., et al.: The role of therapeutic angiogenesis in tissue repair and regeneration. Adv. Skin Wound Care. **18**, 491–500 (2005)
- 2. Carmeliet, P.: Angiogenesis in life, disease and medicine. Nature 438(15), 932-936 (2005)
- 3. Nikol, S.: Angiogenesis and cardiovascular disease: how long will angiogenesis last and how can we stop it. Dialogues Cardiovasc. Med. 6(3), 190–196 (2001)
- Jain, R.K., et al.: Quantitative angiogenesis assays: progress and problems. Nat. Med. 3(11), 1203–1208 (1997)
- Ide, A.G., Baker, N.H., Warren, S.L.: Vascularization of the brown pearce rabbit epithelium transplant as seen in the transparent ear chamber. Am. J. Roentgenol. 42, 891–899 (1939)
- 6. Sandison, J.C.: A new method for the microscopic study of living growing tissues by the introduction of a transparent chamber in the rabbit's ear. Anat. Rec. 28, 281–287 (1924)
- 7. Jaffe, E.A., et al.: Culture of human endothelial cells derived from umbilical veins. Identification by morphologic and immunologic criteria. J. Clin. Investig. **52**, 2745–2756 (1973)
- Gimbrone, M.A., et al.: Human vascular endothelial cells in culture. Growth and DNA synthesis. J. Cell Biol. 60, 673–684 (1974)
- 9. Folkman, J., Haudenschild, C.C., Zetter, B.R.: Long-term culture of capillary endothelial cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **76**(10), 5217–5221 (1979)
- 10. Folkman, J., Haudenschild, C.: Angiogenesis in vitro. Nature 288(11), 551-556 (1980)
- Yoshida, A., Anand-Apte, B., Zetter, B.R.: Differential endothelial migration and proliferation to basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor. Growth Factors 13(1–2), 57–64 (1996)
- Seymour, K.A., et al.: Vascular smooth muscle cell migration induced by domains of thrombospondin-1 is differentially regulated. Am. J. Surg. 202(5), 553–557 (2011)
- Thomsen, R., Lade, N.A.: A Boyden chamber-based method for characterization of astrocyte protrusion localized RNA and protein. Glia. 59(11), 1782–1792 (2011)
- 14. Zabel, B.A., et al.: The novel chemokine receptor CXCR7 regulates trans- endothelial migration of cancer cells. Mol. Cancer 10, 73 (2011)
- Lee, W.Y., et al.: In vitro neutrophil transepithelial migration. Methods Mol. Biol. 341, 205–215 (2006)
- Schleef, R.R., Birdwell, C.R.: The effect of fibrin on endothelial cell migration in vitro. Tissue Cell 14(4), 629–636 (1982)
- 17. Pratt, D.M., et al.: Mechanisms of cytoskeletal regulation. modulation of aortic endothelial cell spectrin by extracellular matrix. Am. J. Pathol. **117**(3), 349–354 (1984)
- 18. Tapper, D., et al.: Capillary endothelial cell migration: stimulating activity of aqueous humor from patients with ocular cancers. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. **71**(3), 501–505 (1983)
- Dewey Jr, C.F., et al.: The dynamic response of vascular endothelial cells to fluid shear stress. J. Biomech. Eng. 103(3), 177–185 (1981)
- Levesque, M.J., Nerem, R.M.: The elongation and orientation of cultured endothelial cells in response to shear stress. J. Biomech. Eng. 107(4), 341–347 (1985)
- 21. Eskin, S.G., et al.: Response of cultured endothelial cells to steady flow. Microvasc. Res. 28(1), 87–94 (1984)
- Terry, S.C., Jernab, J.H., Angell, J.B.: A gas chromatographic air analyzer fabricated on a silicon wafer. IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 26(12), 1880–1886 (1979)
- Bassous, E., Taub, H.H., Kuhn, L.: Ink jet printing nozzle arrays etched in silicon. Appl. Phys. Lett. 31, 135–137 (1977)

للاستشارات

- 24. Wilding, P., et al.: Manipulation and flow of biological fluids in straight channels micromachined in silicon. Clin. Chem. 40, 43–47 (1994)
- Duffy, D.C., et al.: Rapid prototyping of microfluidic systems in poly(dimethylsiloxane). Anal. Chem. 70, 4974–4984 (1998)
- McDonald, J.C., et al.: Fabrication of microfluidic system in poly(dimethylsiloxane). Electrophoresis 21, 27–40 (2000)
- Chovan, T., Guttman, A.: Microfabricated devices in biotechnology and biochemical processing. Trends Biotechnol. 20(3), 116–122 (2002)
- Verpoorte, E.: Microfluidic chips for clinical and forensic analysis. Electrophoresis 23(5), 677–712 (2002)
- Watts, P., Haswell, S.J.: Microfluidic combinatorial chemistry. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 7(3), 380–387 (2003)
- Breslauer, D.N., Lee, P.J., Lee, L.P.: Microfluidics-based system biology. Mol. BioSyst. 2(2), 97–112 (2006)
- Andersson, H., Berg, A.: Microfabrication and microfluidics for tissue engineering: sate of the art and future opportunities. Lab. Chip 4(2), 98–103 (2004)
- Park, T.H., Shuler, M.L.: Integration of cell culture and microfabrication technology. Biotechnol. Prog. 19(2), 243–253 (2003)
- Jain, K.K.: Applications of biochips from diagnostics to personalized medicine. Curr. Opin. Drug Discov. Devel. 7(3), 285–289 (2004)
- Wheeler, M.B., et al.: Application of sexed semen technology to in vitro embryo production in cattle. Theriogenology 65(1), 219–227 (2006)
- Vickerman, V., et al.: Design, fabrication and implementation of a novel multi-parameter control microfluidic platform for three-dimensional cell culture and real-time imaging. Lab. Chip 8, 1468–1477 (2008)
- 36. Pardanaud, L., Yassine, F., Dieterlen-Lievre, F.: Relationship between vasculogenesis, angiogenesis and haemopoiesis during avian ontogeny. Dev. **105**, 473–485 (1989)
- James, J.M., Jennifer, L.W.: Vascularization of engineered tissues: approaches to promote angiogenesis. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 7, 300–310 (2008)
- Fong, G.-H.: Mechanisms of adaptive angiogenesis to tissue hypoxia. Angiogenesis 11, 121–140 (2008)
- Rankin, E.B., Giaccia, A.J.: The role of hypoxia-inducible factors in tumorigenesis. Cell Death Differ. 15, 678–685 (2008)
- Bernardini, G., et al.: Analysis of the role of chemokines in angiogenesis. J. Immunol. Methods 273(1–2), 83–101 (2003)
- Cassavaugh, J., Lounsbury, K.: Hypoxia-mediated biological control. J. Cell. Biochem. 112, 735–744 (2011)
- Hickey, M.M., Simon, M.C.: Regulation of angiogenesis by hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factors. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 76, 217–257 (2006)
- 43. Shweiki, D., et al.: Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. Nature **359**, 843–845 (1992)
- Carmeliet,P, et al.: Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. Nature 380(s.l), 435–39 (1996)
- 45. Ferrara, N., et al.: Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. Nature **380**, 439–442 (1996)
- Park, J.E., et al.: Hypoxic tumor cell modulates its microenvironment to enhance angiogenic and metastatic potential by secretion of proteins and exosomes. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 9(6), 1085–1099 (2010)
- 47. Kunz, M., Ibrahim, S.M.: Molecular responses to hypoxia in tumor cells. Mol. Cancer 2(23), (2003)
- Heinzman, J.M., Browe, S.L., Bush, J.E.: Comparison of angiogenesis- related factor expression in primary tumor cultures under normal and hypoxic growth conditions. Cancer Cell Int. 8, 11 (2008)
- 49. Fukamara, D., et al.: Tumor induction of VEGF promoter activity in stromal cells. Cell **94**, 715–725 (1998)



- Tuxhorn, J.A., et al.: Stromal cells promote angiogenesis and growth of human prostate tumors in a differential reactive stroma (DRS) xenograft model. Cancer Res. 62, 3298–3307 (2002)
- Darland, D.C., D'Amore, P.A.: Blood vessel maturation: vascular development comes of age. J. Clin. Invest. 103(2), 157–158 (1999)
- 52. Szekanecz, Z., Koch, A. E.: Chemokines and cytokines in inflammatory angiogenesis. [Book Section] Angiogenesis in inflammation; mechanisms and clinical correlates/book auth. Seed Michael P and Walsh David A. [s.l.] Birkhauser Base
- Kiefer, F., Siekmann, A.F.: The role of chemokines and their receptor in angiogenesis. Cell Mol. Life Sci. 68, 2811–2830 (2011)
- 54. Seed, M.P., Walsh, D.A.: Angiogenesis in inflamation; mechanisms and clinical correlates. Birkhauser Basel, Germany (2008)
- Nagy, J.A., et al.: Why are tumour blood vessels abnormal and why is it important to know? Br. J. Cancer 100, 865–869 (2009)
- Brem, H., Tomic-Canic, M.: Cellular and molecular basis of wound healing in diabetes. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 1219–1222 (2007)
- Eming, S.A., Krieg, T., Davidson, J.M.: Gene therapy and wound healing. Clin. Dermatol. 25, 79–92 (2007)
- Takeshita, S., et al.: Therapeutic angiogenesis: a single intra-arterial bolus of vascular endothelial growth factor augments sollateral vessel formation in a rabbit ischemic hindlimb model. J. Clin. Invest. 93, 662–670 (1994)
- 59. Cao, R., et al.: Angiogenic synergy, vascular stability and improvement of hind-limb ischemia by a combination PDGF-BB and FGF-2. Nat. Med. 9, 604–613 (2003)
- 60. Nikol, S., et al.: Therapeutic angiogenesis with intramuscular NV1FGF improves amputation-free survival in patients with critical limb ischemia. Mol. Ther. **16**, 972–978 (2008)
- 61. Thackham, J.A., McElwain, D.L., Long, R.J.: The use of hyperbaric oxygen therapy to treat chronic wounds: a review. Wound Repair Regen. **16**, 321–330 (2008)
- Cipolla, J., et al.: Negative pressure wound therapy: unusual and innovative applications. OPUS 12. Scientist 2, 15–29 (2008)
- Baldwin, C., et al.: Topical negative pressure stimulates endothelial migration and proliferation: a suggested mechanism for improved integration of Integra. Ann. Plast. Surg. 62, 92–96 (2009)
- 64. Potter, M.J., et al.: In vitro optimization of topical negative pressure regimens for angiogenesis into synthetic dermal replacements. Burns **34**, 164–174 (2008)
- 65. Umit, A., et al.: Regulation of angiogenic activity of human endometrial endothelial cells in culture by ovarian steroids. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. **62**(11), 5794–5802 (2004)
- Nagel, T., et al.: Shear stresses selectively upregulates intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in cultured human vascular endothelial cells. J. Clin. Invest. 94, 885–891 (1994)
- 67. Davies, P.F., Tripathi, S.C.: Mechanical stress mechanisms and the cell: an endothelial paradigm. Circ. Res. **72**, 239–245 (1993)
- 68. Davies, P.F.: Hemodynamic shear stress and the endothelium in cardiovascular pathophysiology. Nat. Rev. Cardiol. 6, 16–26 (2009)
- 69. Li, Z., Guan, J.: Hydrogels for cardiac tissue engineering. Polymers 3, 740-761 (2011)
- Even-Ram, S., Yamada, K.M.: Cell migration in 3D matrix. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 17, 524–532 (2005)
- Therriault, D., White, S.R., Lewis, J.A.: Chaotic mixing in three-dimensional microvascular networks fabricated by direct-write assembly. Nat. Mater. 2, 265–271 (2003)
- Lim, D., et al.: Fabrication of microfluidic mixers and artificial vasculatures using a highbrightness diode-pumped Nd:YAG laser direct write method. Lab. Chip 3, 318–323 (2003)
- Chen, C.S., Mrksich, M., Huang, S., Whitesides, G.M., Ingber, D.E.: Geometric control of cell life and death. Science 276(30), 1425–1428 (1997)
- 74. Johnson, M., Liddiard, G., Eddings, M., Gale, B.: Bubble inclusion and removal using PDMS membrane-based gas permeation for applications in pumping, valving and mixing in microfluidic devices. J. Micromech. Microeng. 19, 1–9 (2009)

, للاستشارات

- 75. Toepke, M.W., Beebe, D.J.: PDMS absorption of small molecules and consequences in microfluidic applications. Lab. Chip 6, 1484–1486 (2006)
- Borenstein, J., et al.: Microfabrication technology for vascularized tissue engineering. Biomed. Microdevices 4, 167–175 (2002)
- 77. Shin, M., et al.: Endothelialized networks with a vascular geometry in microfabricated poly (dimethyl siloxane). Biomed. Microdevices **6**, 269–278 (2004)
- Golden, A.P., Tien, J.: Fabrication of microfluidic hydrogels using molded gelatin as a sacrificial element. Lab. Chip 7, 720–725 (2007)
- Raghavan, S., Desai, R.A., Kwon, Y., Mrksich, M., Chen, C.S.: Micropatterned dynamically adhesive substrates for cell migration. Langmuir 26, 17733–17738 (2010)
- Chrobak, K.M., Potter, D.R., Tien, J.: Formation of perfused, functional microvascular tubes in vitro. Microvasc. Res. 71, 185–196 (2006)
- Price, G.M., et al.: Effect of mechanical factors on the function of engineered humanblood microvessels in microfluidic collagengels. Biomaterials 31, 6182–6189 (2010)
- Reinhart-King, C.A., Dembo, M., Hammer, D.A.: Endothelial cell traction forces on RGDderivatized polyacrylamide substrata. Langmuir 19(5), 1573–1579 (2003)
- Gagnon, E., Cattaruzzi, P., Griffith, M.: Human vascular endothelial cells with extended life spans: in vitro cell response, protein expression, and angiogenesis. Angiogenesis 5, 21–33 (2002)
- Nicosia, R.F., Tchao, R., Leighton, J.: Angiogenesis-dependent tumor spread in reinforced fibrin clot culture. Cancer Bes. 43, 2159–2166 (1983)
- 85. Nakatsu, M.N., Hughes, C.C.: An optimized three-dimensional in vitro model for the analysis of angiogenesis. Methods Enzymol. 443, 65–82 (2008)
- Conway, E.M., Collen, D., Carmeliet, P.: Molecular mechanisms of blood vessel growth. Cardiovasc. Res. 49, 507–521 (2001)
- Vailhé, B., Vittet, D., Feige, J.-J.: In vitro models of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Lab. Invest. 81(4), 439–452 (2001)
- Barkefors, I., Thorslund, S., Nikolajeff, F., Kreuger, J.: A fluidic device to study directional abgiogenesis in complex tissue and organ culture models. Lab. Chip 9, 529–535 (2009)
- Carrion, B., et al.: Recreating the perivascular niche ex vivo using a microfluidic approach. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 107(6), 1020–1028 (2010)
- 90. Chung, S., et al.: Cell migration into scaffolds under co-culture conditions in a microfluidic platform. Lab. Chip 9, 269–275 (2009)
- Jeong, G.S., et al.: Microfluidic assay of endothelial cell migration in 3D interpenetrating polymer semi-network HA-Collagen hydrogel. Biomed. Microdevices 13(4), 717–723 (2011)
- Yamamura, N., Sudo, R., Ikeda, M., Tanishita, K.: Effects of the mechanical properties of collagen gel on the in vitro formation of microvessel networks by endothelial cells. Tissue Eng. 13, 1443–1453 (2007)
- Shin, Y., et al.: In vitro 3D collective sprouting angiogenesis under orchestrated ANG-1 and VEGF gradients. Lab. Chip 11, 2175–2181 (2011)
- Kang, H., Bayless, K.J., Kaunas, R.: Fluid shear stress modulates endothelial cell invasion into three-dimensional collagen matrices. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 295, H2087– H2097 (2008)
- Tarbell, J.M.: Shear stress and endothelial transport barrier. J Cardiovasc. Res. 87, 329–330 (2010)
- 96. Sarin, H., et al.: Physiologic upper limit of pore size in the blood-tumor barrier of malignant solid tumors. J. Transl. Med. **7**, 51 (2009)
- Vera, R.H., et al.: Interstitial fluid flow intensity modulates endothelial sprouting in restricted srcactivated cell clusters during capillary morphogenesis. Tissue Eng. Part A 15(1), 175–185 (2009)
- Song, J.W., Munn, L.L.: Fluid forces control endothelial sprouting. PNAS 108(37), 15342–15347 (2011)
- DeMaio, L., Tarbell, J.M., Scaduto Jr, R.C., Gardner, T.W., Antonetti, D.A.: A transmural pressure gradient induces mechanical and biological adaptive responses in endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 286(2H), 731–741 (2004)

للاستشارات

- 100. Huang, C.P., et al.: Engineering microscale cellular niches for three-dimensional multicellular co-cultures. Lab. Chip **9**, 1740–1748 (2009)
- Doran, M.R., et al.: A cell migration device that maintains a defined surface with no cellular damage during wound edge generation. Lab. Chip 9, 2364–2369 (2009)
- 102. Sudo, R., et al.: Transport-mediated angiogenesis in 3D epithelial co culture. FASEB J. 23(37), 2155–2164 (2009)
- Mack, P.J.: Biomechanical regulation of endothelium-dependent events critical for adaptive remodeling. J. Biol. Chem. 284(13), 8412–8420 (2009)
- 104. Prabhakar, N.R., Fields, R.D., Baker, T., Fletcher, E.C.: Intermittent hypoxia: cell to system. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 281L, 524–528 (2001)
- 105. Verbridge, S.S., et al.: Oxygen-controlled three-dimensional cultures to analyze tumor angiogenesis. Tissue Eng. A 16, 2133–2141 (2010)
- 106. Truskey, G.A.: Endothelial cell vascular smooth muscle cell co-culture assay for high throughput screening assays for discovery of anti-angiogenesis agents and other therapeutic molecules. Int. J. High Throughput Screening 1, 171–181 (2010)
- Griffith, C.K., et al.: Diffusion limits of an in vitro thick prevascularized tissue. Tissue Eng. 11, 257–266 (2005)
- 108. Chen, A.A., Underhill, G.H., Bhatia, S.N.: Multiplexed, high-throughput analysis of 3D microtissue suspensions. Integr. Biol. 2, 517–527 (2010)
- Seaman, M.E., Peirce, S.M., Kelly, K.: Rapid analysis of vessel elements (RAVE): a tool for studying physiologic, pathologic and tumor angiogenesis. PLoS ONE 6(6), 1–8 (2011)
- Wood, L.B., Kamm, R.D., Asada, H.H.: A stochastic broadcast feedback approach to regulating cell population morphology for microfluidic angiogenesis platforms. IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 56(9), 2299–2303 (2009)
- Ferrara, N.: Vascular endothelial growth factor: basic science and clinical progress. Endocr. Rev. 25(4), 581–611 (2004)
- Metheny-Barlow, L.J., Li, L.Y.: The enigmatic role of angiopoietin-1 in tumor angiogenesis. Cell Res. 13(5), 309–317 (2003)
- 113. Nissen, L.J., et al.: Angiogenic factors FGF2 and PDGF-BB synergistically promote murine tumor neovascularization and metastasis. J Clin Invest. **117**(10), 2766–2777 (2007)
- 114. Li, A., et al.: IL-8 directly enhanced endothelial cell survival, proliferation, and matrix metalloproteinases production and regulated angiogenesis. J. Immunol. 170(6), 3369–3376 (2003)
- 115. Deshane, J., et al.: Stromal cell-derived factor 1 promotes angiogenesis via a heme oxygenase 1- dependent mechanism. JEM **204**(3), 605–618 (2007)
- 116. Ferrari, G., et al.: VEGF, a prosurvival factor, acts in concert with TGF-beta to induce endothelial cell apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A **103**(46), 17260–17265 (2006)
- 117. Zhang, Y.W., Su, Y., Volpert, O.V., Vande Woude, G.F.: Hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor mediates angiogenesis through positive VEGF and negative thrombospondin 1 regulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. U.S.A **100**(22), 12718–12723 (2003)
- 118. O'Reilly, M.S., et al.: Angiostatin: a novel angiogenesis inhibitor that mediates the suppression of metastases by a lewis lung carcinoma. Cell **79**(2), 315–328 (1994)
- O'Reilly, M.S., et al.: Endostatin; an endogenoud inhibitor of angiogenesis and tumor growth. Cell 88(2), 277–285 (1997)
- 120. Volpert, O.V., et al.: Inhibition of angiogenesis by interleukin 4. J. Exp. Med. 188(6), 1039–1046 (1998)
- 121. Nishimura, Y., et al.: IL-13 attenuates vascular tube formation via JAK2-STAT6 pathway. Circ. J. **72**(3), 469–475 (2008)
- Bikfalvi, A.: Platelet factor 4: an inhibitor of angiogenesis. Semin. Thromb. Hemost. 30(3), 379–385 (2004)
- 123. Good, D.J., et al.: A tumor suppressor-dependent inhibitor of angiogenesis is immunologically and functionally indistinguishable from a fragment of thrombospondin. Proc. Natl. Aca. Sci. U.S.A. 87(17), 6624–6628 (1990)
- 124. Pike, S.E., et al.: Vasostatin, a calreticulin fragment, inhibits angiogenesis and suppresses tumor growth. J. Exp. Med. **188**(12), 2349–2356 (1998)



- 125. Folkman, J.: Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. N. Engl. J. Med. 285(21), 1182–1186 (1971)
- 126. Sapieha, P., et al.: Proliferative retinopathies: angiogenesis that blinds. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. **42**, 5–12 (2010)
- 127. Di, S.R., Felice, F., Balbarini, A.: Angiogenesis as a risk factor for plaque vulnerability. Curr. Pharm. Des. **15**(10), 1095–1106 (2009)
- Moulton, K.S.: Angiogenesis in atherosclerosis: gathering evidence beyond speculation. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 17(5), 548–555 (2006)
- Virmani, R., et al.: Atherosclerotic plaque progression and vulnerability to rupture: angiogenesis as a source of intraplaque hemorrhage. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25, 2054–2061 (2005)
- Koch, A. E., Distler, O.:Vasculopathy and disordered angiogenesis in selected rheumatic diseases: rheumatoid arthritis and systemic sclerosis. Arthritis Res. Ther. 9(2), S3 (2007) (doi:10.1186/ar2187)
- 131. Heidenreich, R., Rocken, M., Ghoreschi, K.: Angiogenesis drives psoriasis pathogenesis. Int. J. Exp. Path. **90**, 232–248 (2009)
- 132. Ribatti, D., et al.: Angiogenesis in asthma. Clin. Exp. Allergy 39, 1815–1821 (2009)
- 133. Taylor, R.N., et al.: Mechanistic and therapeutic implications of angiogenesis in endometriosis. Reprod Sci. 16(2), 140–146 (2009)
- 134. Coulon, S., et al.: Angiogenesis in chronic liver disease and its complications. Liver Int. 31(2), 146–162 (2010)
- 135. Freedman, S.B., Isner, J.M.: Therapuetic angiogenesis for coronary artery disease. Ann. Intern. Med. 136, 54-71 (2002)
- 136. Arenillas, J.F., et al.: The role of angiogenesis in damage and recovery from ischemic stroke. Curr. Treat. Options Cardiovasc. Med. 9, 205–212 (2007)
- 137. Cui, T., Kirsner, R. S., Jie, L, et al..: Angiogenesis in chronic wounds. [Book Section]// Advances in Wound Care. 1/book auth. Sen, C. K., [s.l.], Mary Ann Liebert, Inc., 1 (2010)
- Vailhé, B., Vittet, D., Feige, J.: In vitro models of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. Lab. Invest. 81(4), 439–452 (2001)
- 139. Chung, S., et al.: Surface-treatment-induced three-dimensional capillary morphogenesis in a microfluidic platform. Adv. Mater. **21**, 4863–4867 (2009)

المنسارات

Vascular Cell Physiology Under Shear Flow: Role of Cell Mechanics and Mechanotransduction

Devon Scott, Wei Tan, Jerry S. H. Lee, Owen J. T. McCarty and Monica T. Hinds

Abstract Whether examined at the micro- or macroscale, biological phenomenona are not exempt from physical laws and principles. The vasculature is frequently utilized as a model system to better understand and analyze the consequences of biophysical forces on biochemical processes and ultimate biological phenotypes. Given the complexities of biological systems, there is an inherent need to focus in order to properly elucidate mechanisms. Mechanotransduction and cell mechanics in various stages of angiogenesis have long been examined at distinct length-scales ranging from subcellular, cellular, multi-cellular, tissue, and beyond. This chapter will highlight research over the past decades that have contributed to revealing the importance and interplay between biophysical forces (compressive and shear flow) and biological behavior (motility, regulation of smooth muscle cells, polarity). Abnormal biophysical forces, such as hypertension, contribute significantly to vascular diseases, including atherosclerosis and aneurysm formation. Understanding the relationship between biophysical forces and biological behavior is required to understand the mechanisms of vascular disease.

D. Scott (🖂) · O. J. T. McCarty · M. T. Hinds Department of Biomedical Engineering, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland, OR 97239, USA e-mail: scottde@ohsu.edu

W. Tan Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Colorado at Boulder, Boulder, CO 80309, USA

J. S. H. Lee Department of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD 21218, USA

Center for Strategic Scientific Initiatives, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD 20892, USA

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_6, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

1 Introduction

Blood vessels are multi-branched elastic vessels that transport blood throughout the entire body. There are three types of blood vessels: arteries that carry blood away from the heart, capillaries that enable the exchange of nutrients, CO_2 , and O_2 between tissue and blood, and veins that carry blood back to the heart. Blood vessels are composed of three layers, the intimal, media and adventitia. The innermost layer, the intima, consists of a single layer of endothelial cells held together by an intercellular matrix surrounded by connective tissue with elastic lamina woven throughout. The middle layer, the media, is the thickest layer; it consists of smooth muscle cells, elastin fibers, and bundles of collagen fibrils, which acts as a mechanically homogeneous material. The adventitia or outer layer consists of fibroblasts, collagen, and elastin with connective tissue.

Blood vessels, including arteries, arterioles, capillaries, venules and veins, provide pathways for blood to travel. The heart consists of two pumps: one, the pulmonary circulation, drives blood to the lungs for oxygen and carbon dioxide exchange; while the second pump, the systemic circulation, brings blood to all other tissues in the body. Cardiac output is intermittent due to the periodic stimulation of heart muscles, however the distensibility of the large arteries and its branches during ventricular contraction (systole) and the elastic recoil of the arterial wall during ventricular relaxation (diastole) enables continuous flow through the arteries to the periphery [1].

As arteries branch the vessels become narrower and the walls become thinner, the arteries change from an elastic structure to a semi-muscular structure to a muscular structure at the arterioles (Table 1). Large elastic arteries serve two main functions, a conduit function and a compliance buffering function. The conduit function is the driving force for blood flow to the lungs and other organs in the pulmonary and systemic circulations. Due to low vascular resistance and a forward pressure gradient, the conduit function provides a pathway for the blood supplied from the heart through the arteries. The compliance function allows the artery to act as a pressure reservoir to smooth flow pulsations, from the cyclic action of the heart to a nearly steady flow across the capillaries, which reduces the ventricular workload during systole and conserves heart energy expenditure, alleviating pulsatile stress in the peripheral arteries [2]. The compliance function buffers flow pulsations to steady flow in the systemic circulation and semi-steady flow in the pulmonary circulation (Fig. 1). Arterial compliance reflects the total amount of blood that can be stored in an artery with a given pressure increase, enabling the conduit arteries to expand to store large volumes of blood ejected from the heart. As the heart relaxes, the arterial walls recoil and push blood into downstream vessels. The Windkessel model is the concept that blood vessels act as elastic storage vessels, relating the pressure waveform to the interaction between the stroke volume (i.e. the output of blood with each heart cycle) and the compliance of the large elastic pulmonary arteries [3]. The compliance or Windkessel effect prevents excess rise of pressure during systole and



Artery	Diameter	Artery Type
Elastic artery	>2 mm	Elastic
Semi muscular artery	400 µm–2 mm	Semi-Elastic
Muscular/microcirculation	<400 μm	Resistance

Table 1 Size and function of the arteries found in the pulmonary circulation [11]

maintains flow during diastole. The storage capacity of the elastic vessels is given by the distensibility, D = dV/dp, or the change in volume over the change in pressure.

According to the distensibility equation, the greater stroke volume, the greater amount of blood to be stored in the elastic arteries, and thus greater rise in pulse pressure. If the vessels were not compliant, pressure and flow pulsatility in downstream arteries would become exceedingly high, exerting a detrimental hemodynamic load on downstream arteries. In addition, if large arteries were not distensible, the blood flow through tissue would only occur during systole, while blood flow would cease during diastole [5]. Blood flow, Q, from the ventricle into the arteries, can be calculated by taking into account the blood pressure in the elastic artery, p, and the peripheral resistance of the small arteries, R. For an elastic artery, the change in volume flow is proportional to the pressure, Q = p/R. When the ventricle ejects blood from the heart the proximal elastic arteries are first distended until the pressure in these arteries rises higher than the pressure in the arterioles, once a pressure gradient is established blood flows to other parts of the arterial tree. The more compliant the elastic vessels, the longer the blood flow wave takes to reach the periphery, while the less compliant or stiffer the elastic arteries, the faster the velocity of the pressure pulse and blood flow propagation to the microcirculation. Therefore, propagation of blood flow to the microcirculation is driven by arterial compliance.

As the arterial lumen diameter decreases through the arterial tree, a muscular smooth muscle cell layer replaces the elastic lamina, and elasticity decreases. In the semi-muscular and muscular vessels of the microcirculation, pressure pulsations become smaller until the pulsations dampen to a semi-steady flow in the capillaries. The muscular arterioles located at the periphery, are the major resistance vessels and are the main sites for arterial wave reflection [6]. As an artery reaches an organ, it branches into many smaller-radius vessels; resistance in these smaller diameter vessels will be relatively high due to friction from the vessel wall. The greater the surface area of the vessel, the more friction, and thus more resistance, between the blood and the vessel wall. Vessel resistance dampens the pulsatile flow by limiting the amount of blood through the vessel, the greater the resistance the harder it is to advance blood to the next arterial segment. Therefore, small changes in arterial resistance have a large effect on the upstream arteries. For a small increase in resistance, the pressure in the large arteries must increase to advance the flow to the arterioles [7]. The arterioles contain very little elastin, yet have a thick layer of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) that will contract the vessel, increasing the resistance and decreasing the flow (vasoconstriction). Vasoconstriction and vasodilatation (arterial expansion) occurs in the proximal as well as the peripheral arteries.



Fig. 1 Normal blood pressure in the circulatory system. The pulmonary circulation has much lower pressures and pulsations that extend into the capillaries (Redrawn from Sherwood [4])

Vasoconstriction is regulated by factors including, paracrine factors, hormones and neurotransmitters, while vasodilatation is regulated by paracrine factors and activation of the nervous system. The SMCs also play a role in increasing the diameter of the vessel during vasodilatation allowing for the decrease of vascular resistance enabling blood flow and pressure to decrease [4].

The cyclic pumping function of the heart creates a pulsatile component in the arteries, thus blood flow and pressure are also pulsatile. The heart cycle includes periods of systole, heart contraction, and diastole, heart relaxation. During systole, blood is pumped out of the heart into the arteries. Pulse pressure is a measure of the change in blood pressure during heart contraction, or systole. When the heart is at rest (diastole) no new blood is pumped into the arteries, however, blood will advance to peripheral arterial segments. Large arteries that carry blood away from the heart provide a reservoir for high pressure allowing pulse pressure to decrease in the downstream arteries and cause the flow to become more steady or uniform. There are two major factors that affect pulse pressure, the stroke volume (blood output of the heart) and the compliance of the arterial trees [8]. The higher the stroke volume, the higher the volume of blood that must be accommodated in the arterial tree which results in either a higher pressure during systole or a higher pulse pressure. The less compliant the arterial tree the greater the pulse pressure to pump blood into the arterioles.

2 Vascular Stiffness

Many vascular diseases, such as pulmonary hypertension and coronary heart disease, are characterized by increased blood flow and pressure in the arteries [9]. Arteries maintain a homeostatic stress/strain range, stress or strain outside of this

range leads to adaptation and changes in the tissue composition, which result alterations in arterial compliance. When the vessel walls of large arteries harden due to hypertension, aging or diabetes, their compliance and thus capabilities of modulating flow pulsatility diminish. Mitchell and colleagues showed that decreases in large artery distensibility due to ageing lead to increased flow pulse pressure in downstream arteries [10]. Decreases in large artery distensibity are caused by vascular remodeling induced by oxygen deficiency, changes in external load, disease altering stress–strain relationship within the vascular wall, changes in arterial pressure, or alterations in smooth muscle tone [11]. Arterial stiffness is increasingly recognized as an important component of cardiovascular risk [11] because stiffness alters the way that the cardiovascular system responds to stress and pressure changes. The efficiency of the arterial buffering depends on the viscoelastic properties of the arterial wall and the vascular diameter.

Modifications in the composition of the arterial wall, known as vascular remodeling, as well as chronic increases in pulse pressure can lead to reductions in the arterial compliance or vascular stiffening; therefore, a stiffer artery will require a higher distending pulse pressure for a given diameter increase [12]. Characteristic vascular changes, including intimal hyperplasia/fibrosis, medial hypertrophy, and extensive extracellular matrix modulation, lead to decreased compliance of the vasculature and changes in vasoactivity. Vascular stiffening due to increased smooth muscle hyperplasia and hypertrophy may produce an increase in collagen fibers and a thinning of elastin fibers, creating less compliant arteries [13]. In compliant arteries, elastin bears the mechanical load caused by arterial pressure and circumferential stretch. In stiffer arteries, the elastin in the walls of the conduit vessels breaks down, resulting in arterial dilation, which further increases the stress on the vessel wall. Arterial stiffening occurs as the mechanical load is transferred from elastin to the stiffer collagen fibers. The increase in mechanical load on the collagen fibers causes an increase in collagen crosslinking, which results in a stiffer vessel [14]. Increases in stiffness also increase the downstream pulsatile tensile and shear stresses. Shear stress is increased as a result of decreased flow dampening during systole. Thus, more blood is ejected downstream during systole producing higher peak flows in the systole upstroke of the flow wave. The tensile stress on the arterial wall increases in proportion to the increase in pulse pressure. SMCs contribute to arterial stiffness, by transmitting contraction through the arteries, smooth muscle contraction can effect even the large arteries [12]. In the small arteries, contraction of the SMCs can cause large changes in the lumen which correspond to changes in the peripheral resistance [11].

Arterial stiffening alters the way that the vascular system can respond to stress and pressure changes. When the compliance of the vasculature decreases, pulsations from the heart are not efficiently dampened; this alters the smooth continuous flow that normally dominates in downstream arteries [7]. Therefore, arterial stiffening can increase pulsatile flow in the downstream arteries, which may lead to further microvascular damage in some vital organs, such as brain and kidney. In these organs, extensive arterial branching does not exist to dampen the pulsatile flow before it enters the microvasculature [15], and thus studies have shown that

microvascular changes are closely related to proximal arterial behavior [16]. An example was shown in hemodialysis patients, where larger amplitude pressure waves, caused by stiffer arteries, led to other cardiovascular diseases such as peripheral artery disease, ischemic heart disease, and heart failure [17]. Pulmonary hypertensive patients will also experience increased pulsatile flow into the small arteries and capillaries due to large artery stiffness, eliciting changes in the vessel wall which in turn cause an increase in arterial resistance. Pressure and flow induce wall distensibility by influencing: pulse patterns which are also distorted by branching of the arterial tree, the resistance to forward motion of flow, and the configuration and velocity of flow through the arterial tree [18]. However, the cellular mechanism underlying the role of vascular stiffening and pulsatile flow in the vascular remodeling process is still poorly understood, possibly due to the lack of a model system that can be used to examine the relationship between pulse flow waves and vascular cells. In addition, this is further complicated by the lack of understanding of the crosstalk and integration required between length-scales as one moves from sub-cellular genotype to cellular behavior to disease phenotype. An excellent example of this the set of diseases described by mutations in the LMNA gene, collectively known as laminopathies [19]. The most understood of these is progeria, where patients exhibit accelerated aging and have notable similarities in cardiovascular disease incidence [20] but surprising differences in disease ultrastructure [21].

A biomechanical study comparing the pulmonary arteries of a normo-tensive and a hypertensive (stiff artery) rat suggested that increased crosslinking of the extracellular matrix structural proteins may be a mechanism for the pulmonary artery stiffening [22]. The elastic modulus (E) determines the stiffness of the vessel wall; the modulus varies both longitudinally and circumferentially throughout the arteries. These changes reflect changes in material composition and configuration of the collagen, elastin and smooth muscle fibers. The elastic modulus can be calculated from the stress and strain of the artery:

$$E = \frac{d\sigma}{d\varepsilon},$$

where σ is the stress and ε is the strain. Changes in arterial stiffness alter the arterial pressure; Lame's equation for stress in thick walled tubes can relate strains to pressures as a result of changes in stiffness:

$$\sigma_1 = \frac{P_i[r^2 + (r+T)^2]}{(r+T)^2 - r^2}, r = r_0(1+\varepsilon)$$

where σ_1 is the stress in a thick walled artery, P_i is the mean pressure, T is the vessel thickness, r_o is the internal radius of the artery in the initial state and r is the internal radius of the artery in a strained state. Lame's equation can be used to calculate the systolic and diastolic arterial moduli [23]. Thus, from Lame's equation, the stress due to a change in pressure can be calculated and the elastic modulus can be determined to assess the impact of change in pressure on arterial

Fig. 2 Stress strain curve of arteries illustrating the effects of elastin and collagen. Curve A represents a stiffer artery then Curve B



Collagen

stiffness. The mechanical behavior of the blood vessel can be described by the strain energy function, which quantifies changes in blood vessel function due to changes in structure with a hyper elastic nonlinear arterial model (Fig. 2). Experimental stress strain data can be used to plot this curve using the pseudo-elastic strain energy function:

$$\rho_o W = \frac{1}{2} \left(a_1 E_{xx}^2 + a_2 E_{yy}^2 + 2a_4 E_{xx} E_{yy} \right)$$

where a_1 , a_2 , and a_4 are material constants with units of stress, E_{xx} and E_{yy} are the circumferential and longitudinal moduli of the artery [24]. The medial portion of the artery is responsible for most of the physical properties. Tension at low distending pressures or stresses is born by the elastin fibers while collagen fibers remain folded. At higher pressures or stresses, the less extensible collagen fibers bare the stress, thus invoking a higher stress on the vessel due to an increase in strain, resulting in increased vessel stiffness.

The interactions between the large and small arteries have significant implications on the transmission of the pulsatile pressure and flow through the arterial circulation. Large pulmonary arteries dampen flow pulsations resulting from the intermittent ventricular ejection; consequently, small arteries deliver semi-steady optimal blood flow to the lungs. Interactions between the macro- and micro-circulations are based on pulse pressure and flow wave transmissions [25]. Alterations in one part of the system can affect the other. The microcirculation can influence the pulse pressures in the macro circulation through increased vascular resistance [26]. In turn, the compliance of the macro circulation regulates pulse pressures waves and influences extension of pulsations into the microcirculation [27].

3 Vascular Resistance

The resistance arteries consist of small arteries which are less than 400 μ m in diameter [28]. An increase in pulmonary vascular resistance (PVR) is primarily caused by a decrease in the lumen diameter of small arteries and arterioles. As described by Poiseuille's law, resistance is inversely proportional to the fourth

power of the vessel radius. Thus, a small decrease in radius will greatly increase the resistance. The arterial resistance, a response to changes that mainly reside in the distal arteries, can be caused by a number of factors associated with structural, mechanical, and functional properties of the arterial wall. PVR, blood pressure, and flow are all related; an increase in blood flow or a decrease in pressure in the small arteries will result in a decrease in resistance, whereas a decrease in blood flow or an increase in pressure results in an increase in resistance. Increased PVR could be caused by pruning, vasoconstriction, or medial hypertrophy.

Pruning is a process in which there is a reduction in the total number of small peripheral arteries. Pruning of the peripheral arteries may be paired with dilation of the proximal arteries, resulting from constriction of the muscular arteries in response to increased pressure [29]. Pruning is a structural change that may increase vascular resistance in vascular diseases such as pulmonary hypertension [30]. The increase in resistance is due to the loss of pathways through which the blood can flow.

Vasoconstriction, or the decrease in blood vessel diameter, also contributes to increases in PVR. Vasoconstriction involves the contraction of SMC due to changes in environmental factors. For example, the elevation of calcium in pulmonary SMCs leads to pulmonary vasoconstriction [31]. As the SMCs constrict, the diameter of the small artery lumen will decrease, thus increasing the resistance in the arteries. Hypoxic vasoconstriction develops to maintain the local ventilation-perfusion relationship; this allows blood to be diverted from hypoxic regions to regions with proper ventilation [32]. However, chronic hypoxia will lead to narrowing of the arteries through muscularization and SMC proliferation, resulting in an increase in PVR related to vasoconstriction. Vasoconstriction is controlled through the production and release of mediators of vascular tone.

Medial hypertrophy involves the thickening of the arterial medial layer and leads to the narrowing of the vascular lumen, which causes a greater resistance to flow. This is the main contributor to increased PVR in pulmonary hypertension [28]. Medial hypertrophy can be caused by a number of different factors including, recruitment of other cells, SMC hypertrophy, SMC proliferation and fibroblast cell migration (Fig. 3). Endothelial cell dysfunction can cause the release of paracine factors, such as growth factors, to induce SMC proliferation, or chemokines to recruit circulating inflammatory cells [33]. The circulating inflammatory cells that infiltrate the media are primarily composed of monocytes and macrophages. These circulating cells attach to the endothelium and are able to penetrate into the vascular wall increasing the medial thickness thus increasing PVR [34]. Fibroblasts migrating to the medial layer may also contribute to medial hypertrophy. The transdifferentiation, induced by environmental factors, of fibroblasts to myofibroblasts is a key aspect in vascular remodeling. Once transformed, myofibroblasts are able to migrate from the adventitia to the media. Growth of the media can also result from an increase in SMC size, or number, or both. Increased pressure in the small arteries can cause SMC to undergo morphological and functional changes. Medial thickening can change SMC from a contractile to a proliferative phenotype, where





Fig. 3 Cell recruitment, fibroblast migration, and SMC proliferation and hypertrophy all contribute medial hypertrophy

abnormal cell growth dominates [35]. SMC hypertrophy accounts for the increase in SMC mass thickening of the medial layer in hypertension [36].

4 Arterial Wall Mechanical Stresses

Endothelial cells live in mechanically active environments, and experience stress and strain in both physiological and pathological conditions. The biomechanical stress imposed on cells in vivo is manifested as a complex multi-axial stress, often including various anisotropic biaxial stress conditions. The artery wall continually adapts to the changing mechanical environment, due to growth, remodeling, repair, and disease. Therefore, the structure undergoes irreversible changes due to blood flow. Blood vessels are subjected to mechanical forces of hydraulic pressure, circumferential stretch, and shear stress due to the pulsatile nature of blood flow. Blood pressure (BP) determines the amount of mechanical stretch on a vessel; BP creates radial, normal, and tangential, or shear, forces on the vessel wall. Normal stresses on the vessel wall affect all layers, the intima, media, and adventitia, while shear stress only directly affect the layer that it is in contact with the blood flow, the endothelial cells of the intima (Fig. 4).

Blood pressure is a major determinant of vessel stretch; it creates radial and tangential forces on the blood vessel wall that affect all cells types (Fig. 4). Arterial stretch or strain is the radial distension and longitudinal elongation of the vessel which are caused by changes in pressure and flow of the blood. Strain is defined as $\varepsilon = \frac{\Delta r}{r}$ or the ratio of the change in radius of the vessel to the original radius of vessel before pressure application. Circumferential strains on the wall are very complex, but can be estimated from measurement of blood pressure,





Endothelial Cells

mechanical constraints, wall thickness, and geometry. Pressure extends the artery like a balloon, the best way to measure the circumferential stretch caused by this distension is the mean circumferential hoop stress [17]. The circumferential hoop stress is given by, $\sigma = Pr/h$, where *P* is the blood pressure, *r* is the vessel inner radius and *h* is the vessel wall thickness. Circumferential strains usually affect the smooth muscle cells and the tunica media. The pulsatile nature of blood flow forces the artery to stretch with every heart beat, and therefore stretch is affected by the compliance of the arteries through the level of pulsation [37].

Shear stress directly affects endothelial cells that make up the intima layer [38]. Fluid shear stress is the result of friction created by blood flow and is also affected by arterial stiffness. Shear stress is a product of blood viscosity and the velocity gradient at the vessel wall. Although blood is a non-Netonian fluid, an assumption can be made that the non-Newtonian behavior of blood in the circulation does not affect the dynamics of the circulation as a whole. While this assumption may not hold true at specific points, such as in a vessel junction, in general, fluid shear stress can be calculated from the shear rate and the viscosity of the blood, through the change in velocity in the vessel over the change in radius, $\tau = \mu \frac{dv}{dr}$. For laminar steady flow of a Newtonian fluid, the calculation of shear stress is given by: $\tau = \frac{4\mu Q}{\pi r^2}$, where μ is the viscosity, Q is the flow rate and r is the lumen radius. Shear stress depends on the diameter of the vessel, therefore an increase or decrease in the shear stress is associated with the increase and decrease of vessel diameter. Thus, when compared to stiff vessels, elastic vessels with an increased diameter could reduce the shear rate up to 30 % [39]. In a physiological artery, the magnitude of shear stress is in the range of 10–40 dynes/cm², whereas in a diseased state, the shear stress can dramatically increase relative to normal levels [40]. The shear stress influences many vascular functions, such as the permeability of the vessel, the activity of the endothelial cells, the integrity of formed elements in the blood, and coagulation of blood [41].

Stiffness of the proximal arteries alters the flow stress. Changes in the upstream flow pattern are transferred to the downstream arteries affecting the mechanical stresses on the microcirculation. Increases in pulsations caused by a stiffer artery will result in increased shear stress and increased circumferential stress in the microcirculation. These mechanical changes not only affect the blood flow, but they also affect the cells and fibers embedded in the tissue walls.





Fig. 5 Laminar steady parabolic flow is present in most of the cardiovascular system. The arterial walls slow the flow down and the maximum velocity is found in the center of the arteries. Flow is distributed in concentric circles in the diameter of the vessel

5 Fluid Mechanics of the Vasculature

High blood flow as a result of increased large arterial stiffness may induce abnormal vasoreactivity of the artery, which could lead to the development of diseases such as pulmonary hypertension [42]. Proximal arterial characteristics, such as stiffness, influence blood spatial and temporal flow patterns in downstream vessels [43]. Elasticity of the upstream arteries determines the flow pattern on downstream small arteries. The less elastic the upstream pulmonary arteries, the higher flow pulsations in the small arteries, which normally experience low flow pulsations [44]. Decreased elasticity in the artery could lead to enhanced energy transmission to the smaller arteries, which could lead to vascular damage. The major determinants of blood flow are pressure, the viscosity of the blood, and the elasticity of the vessel.

Normal flow in the pulmonary artery is laminar, which is characterized by concentric layers of fluid moving parallel through the length of a vessel (Fig. 5). The velocity of the fluid is affected by the spatial geometry of the vessel. Fluid closest to the blood vessel wall is slowest, while it reaches a peak velocity at the center of the vessel. Thus, steady laminar flow exhibits a parabolic profile across the width. Pulsatile flow is also laminar, but it is more complicated than steady flow as its spatial flow profile is a flattened parabola. Figure 6 demonstrates that near the wall the velocity of pulsations is dampened to near zero flow, while toward the mid axis of the vessel, the maximum pulse flow velocity is reached. Therefore, there is a spatial flow gradient across the width of the blood vessel for both steady and pulsatile flow in the arteries.

5.1 Steady Flow Behavior

Steady flow is described by the Poiseuille equation, which states that the pressure gradient is directly proportional to the length of a vessel, and to the rate of flow through the tube, while the viscosity of the liquid is inversely proportional to the width of the vessel (Fig. 7). Flow increases exponentially with increases in the radius.



dP

dx



Fig. 7 The relationship between steady flow and pressure in a tube



$$\rho\left(u\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + v\frac{\partial u}{\partial y}\right) = -\frac{\partial P}{\partial x} + \mu\left(\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2}\right) \tag{1}$$

R

d

d =1

0

0.25

d =0.05

-50

where ρ is the density, *u* is the velocity in the *x* direction, *v* is the velocity in the y direction, *P* is the pressure, and μ is the viscosity. In order to determine the flow rate, the volume of a parabaloid with a parabola profile must be solved.

$$Q = 2\pi \int_{0}^{R} Vrdr.$$
 (2)

Simplification of the Navier–Stokes equation by assuming fully developed incompressible flow and u the only velocity results in:

$$\mu \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} = \frac{\partial P}{\partial x}.$$
(3)

This equation is solved with double integration using the condition of no slip at the walls and is then be incorporated into Eq. 2 to get the solution for steady laminar flow in a tube:



$$Q = 2\pi R^4 \frac{(P_1 - P_2)}{8\mu l}$$
(4)

where Q is the flow rate, R is the radius of the chamber, μ is the viscosity and *l* is the length of the vessel. Or for a rectangular chamber such as the parallel plate flow chamber:

$$Q = \frac{h^3 w \left(P_1 - P_2\right)}{12\mu} \tag{5}$$

where *h* is the height of the channel and *w* is the width. Shear stress is then calculated for a rectangular channel using the equation $\tau = \mu (dV/dx)$ producing the equation for steady shear stress:

$$\tau = \frac{6Q\mu}{wh^2}.$$
(6)

These flow equations are the most basic measurement for flow velocity, with the assumptions that the flow is laminar and does not vary with time. Poisuille's equation predicts fully developed viscous flow with a parabolic profile (Fig. 5). If flow in arteries is not steady, it will display a pulsatile behavior. Steady flow can only be applied to extremely small vessels where steady flow dominates. Vessels beyond the size of arterioles will still experience pulsatile flow. Pulsatile behavior is a function of the pumping of the heart, the pulse flow behavior changes in the arterial system due to extensive branching and vessel diameter.

5.2 Pulsatile Flow Behavior

The Womersley parameter is a measure of the degree of departure from normal parabolic flow characteristic of pulsatile flow. The Womersley number is given by: $\alpha = R\sqrt{\omega\rho/\mu}$. Where *R* is the radius of the vessel, ω is the frequency, ρ is the density, and μ is the viscosity. This equation exemplifies that the degree of departure from parabolic form increases with the Womersley number and frequency.

The equation to describe the flow of a pulsatile fluid was first derived by Womersley in 1955. The equation of motion of a liquid is:

$$\frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial w}{r} - \frac{1}{v} \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{\mu} \frac{\partial P}{\partial z}.$$
(7)

The pressure gradient $\frac{\partial P}{\partial z} = \frac{P_1 - P_2}{L}$ can be represented by a simple harmonic function:

$$\frac{\partial w^2}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial w}{\partial r} + \frac{i^3 n}{v} = -\frac{A}{\mu} e^{i\omega t}.$$
(8)

In order to solve this equation, a substitution can be made: so that Eq. 7 becomes:

$$\frac{d^2u}{dr^2} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{du}{dr} + \frac{i^3n}{v}u = \frac{A}{\mu}.$$
(9)

This equation can now be solved with a Bessel function of order zero:

$$u = \frac{A}{i\omega\rho} \left(1 - \frac{J_1(\alpha i^{3/2})}{\alpha i^{3/2} J_o(\alpha i^{3/2})} \right)$$
(10)

where J_0 and J_1 are Bessel functions of the order zero and one, and $\alpha = R\sqrt{\omega/v}$ or the Womersley number. The function in the brackets was termed $[1 - F_{10}]$ and the values were tabulated by Womersley. Then, allowing the real portion of the pressure gradient to be $M \cos(\omega t - \phi)$, we get a flow rate of:

$$Q = \frac{\pi R^2}{\omega \rho} M[1 - F_{10}] \sin(\omega t - \phi).$$

$$\tag{11}$$

Equation 8 can be put in a more physical form by putting it in terms of the modulus (M'_{10}) and the phase (ε_{10}) , these values were tabulated by Womersley based on the Womersley Number.

$$Q = \frac{\pi R^4 M}{\mu} \frac{M_{10}}{\alpha^2} \sin(\omega t - \phi - \varepsilon_{10}).$$
(12)

For a parallel plate flow chamber this equation becomes:

$$Q = \frac{h^3 w M}{\mu} \frac{M_{10}}{\alpha^2} \sin(\omega t - \phi - \varepsilon_{10}).$$
(13)

6 Endothelial Cell Physiology

Endothelial cells (ECs) line the inner surface of blood vessels throughout the entire cardiac circulation; they form a layer between the circulating blood lumen and the rest of the arterial wall. ECs are continuously exposed to shear stress, pressure and strain. Shear stress is the most influential factor on ECs; the application of shear orients the cells in the direction of flow and affects their functions. The endothelium is essential for vasodilatation and vasoconstriction in response to blood flow related shear stress [45]. The endothelium normally releases vasoconstrictors and growth promoting factors or vasodilators and growth-inhibiting factors to regulate vascular homeostasis. The release of these factors enables the ECs to regulate underlying vascular SMC behavior and contraction. These mediators are thought to control pulmonary vascular tone, homeostasis and vascular injury repair and growth.

Endothelial dysfunction can lead to impaired production of these factors [35]. Once ECs are activated in a diseased state, they may start to express factors that can increase SMC proliferation and vasoconstriction. In pulmonary hypertension, EC dysfunction results in the reduction of pro-vasodilator and antiproliferative molecules such as nitric oxide, while pro-vasoconstrictive and pro-proliferative molecules such as ET-1 are increased.

Nitric oxide (NO) is an essential signaling molecule in many physiological processes; it is responsible for resting pulmonary vasorelaxation and vascular tone. Endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) catalyzes the conversion to produce NO; this enzyme is expressed in ECs and SMCs and can react with a variety of molecules. eNOS can be modified by biomechanical stimuli such as shear stress and increased pulmonary blood flow [46]. eNOS is a constitutive enzyme controlled by the intracellular calcium concentration, when shear stress increases the calcium concentration an increased production of NO results in the inhibition of the underlying SMCs. If there is a sudden decrease in NO, SMCs will contract due to the withdrawal of the inhibitory effect of NO production [47]. Along with the vasconstrictive effect, NO is also antiproliferative, thus a reduction in its production could contribute to proliferation of SMCs. Decreased levels of eNOS have been observed in patients with pulmonary hypertension [48].

Endothelin-1 (ET-1) is an amino acid polypeptide produced by vascular ECs, and binds to SMC through the ET_A receptor. ET-1 is a vasoconstrictive and proproliferative molecule, which induces dysfunction of ECs, SMCs, and fibroblasts. ET-1 levels are increased in patients with pulmonary hypertension. In hypertensive animals, ET-1 was abundant in the ECs of pulmonary arteries with medial thickening and intimal fibrosis and showed a strong correlation with increased pulmonary vascular resistance. ET-1 receptors are highly expressed in the media of arteries and on SMCs, where they mediate vasoconstriction and proliferation. The level of ET-1 is inversely proportional to the magnitude of blood flow and cardiac output.

Angiotensin-1 converting enzyme (ACE) is a circulating enzyme that contributes to vasoconstriction and increased blood pressure; it is secreted by endothelial cells. ACE converts angiotensin-I to angiotensin-II, a vasoconstrictor, and it degrades bradykinin, a vasodilator. ACE is highly expressed in the lungs. Studies have shown that Angiotensin-II induces pulmonary vasoconstriction and ACE inhibitor has prevented the development of pulmonary hypertension in animal models [49].

Platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) regulates cell growth and division, and is synthesized by many different cell types including SMCs and ECs. PDGF is a heterodimer that consists of two chains, A and B, which are 40 % homologous to each other. PDGF is an important mitogen for mediating SMC hyperplasia, hypertrophy, migration, and for vascular remodeling. Over expression of this growth factor can lead to a diseased state. High levels of PDGF have been found in patients with pulmonary hypertension, indicating that this growth factor is critical molecule contributing to elevated resistance and pressure in the pulmonary vessels.

Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) is a protein that controls proliferation, and cellular differentiation. TGF- β is a modulator of smooth muscle morphology, phenotype, and stimulates extracellular matrix production, it is secreted in latent form by ECs. TGF- β induces the production of collagen and other extracellular matrix proteins, such as fibronectin, and has been shown to remodel tissues. The different isoforms of this growth factor are encoded by distinct genes and have specific functions for tissue and development. Transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- β 1) mRNA is expressed in ECs. TGF- β 1 exerts its effects on SMCs including, inhibiting proliferation, altering extracellular matrix synthesis and cell differentiation. However, in the pulmonary artery SMCs from patients with pulmonary hypertension, TGF- β 1 caused enhanced cell proliferation compared to an inhibitory effect in normal cells [50, 51].

7 Mechanotransduction

ECs respond to flow through mechanotransducers, which convert the mechanical signal of fluid shear stress to biochemical signals. Many mechanotranducers have been identified, including ion channels, integrins, adhesion proteins, glycocalyx, primary cilia, tyrosine kinase receptors, G-protein coupled receptors, and cyto-skeleton. However, the interplay and coordination between these mechanotransducers remains ill-defined.

Initial responses to fluid shear stress include the activation of mechanosensitive ion channels and oscillations in intracellular calcium [52]. These changes occur in a matter of seconds. Several minutes of fluid shear stress induces changes in signaling cascades including mitogen-activated kinases (MAPK) and activation of transcription factors including nuclear factor kappa B (NF κ B) [52]. It has been suggested that cells can distinguish between athero-protective and athero-prone fluid shear stress through mechanosensory proteins at the cell surface that transmit the signal throughout the cell via the cytoskeleton to nucleus, focal adhesions, and cell–cell contacts [53, 54]. This cytoskeleton-mediated distribution of signaling throughout the cell is known as "decentralization theory" [54].

Evidence suggests that many parts of a cell respond to the mechanical stimulation imposed by fluid shear stress including the cell surface, cell-cell junctions, focal adhesions, and the nucleus [53–55]. These cellular locations are connected by the cytoskeleton [53]. The cytoskeleton is critical in the transmission of the apical shear stress signal to the basal integrins or lateral adhesion proteins, which is where mechanotransduction events occur. The decentralization model suggests that mechanotransduction is transmitted by the cytoskeleton throughout the cell, thus initiating the myriad of fluid shear stress-induced cell responses. An active area of research in the past decade has aimed to better understand the complicated orchestration by small Rho GTPases on such responses, such as the potentially separate, but intimately linked, microtubule regulation of cell polarity [56, 57] and



actin mediation of cellular stiffness [58, 59]. Therefore, the highly dynamic cytoskeleton not only provides cell structure, but is also integral in cell signaling.

Anchor points, including focal adhesions and cell–cell junctions, are the major sites for fluid shear stress-induced tension on the cytoskeleton [53, 54]. Focal adhesions are locations where a cell interacts with the ECM through integrin clusters. Focal adhesions are also linked to the cytoskeleton through linker proteins, such as vinculin. Under high, unidirectional fluid shear stress, ECs remodel and align their focal adhesions in the direction of fluid shear stress, demonstrating that focal adhesions are responsive to mechanical stimuli [60]. ECs elongated on micropatterned lanes have also demonstrated alignment of focal adhesions [61]. The alignment of focal adhesions and the cytoskeleton may promote mechanotransduction due to internal cellular tension imposed by the elongated EC, independent of fluid shear stress. Furthermore, the type of ECM associated with the focal adhesions contributes to the type of signal cascade triggered by tension due to fluid shear stress [62]. Interestingly, the focal adhesions comprised of integrin $\alpha_v \beta_3$, predominantly formed on fibronectin, are responsible for tension-induced upregulation of I κ B kinase, which phosphorylates and degrades I κ B [62].

Cell-cell junctions act as anchor points between neighboring cells through molecules such as cadherins and cell adhesion molecules. Cell-cell junctions also are connected to the cytoskeleton through linker molecules. High, unidirectional fluid shear stress modulates expression and phosphorylation of cell-cell junctions including VECAD, catenins, and tight junctions [55]. While the signaling cascades induced by tension on cell-cell junctions are largely unknown, MAP kinase pathways including MEK and ERK1/2 have been implicated [63]. Functionally, the upregulation of cell-cell junctions, e.g. VECAD, is often associated with decreased EC permeability [64]. Recent data also suggests that the formation of cell-cell junctions regulates EC proliferation through tension-induced signaling via the actin cytoskeleton [65].

ECs elongated on micropatterned lanes have limited surface area that can facilitate the formation of cell–cell contacts (Fig. 8) [66]. This is due to the nature of micropatterned surface, such that an entire side of the cell is freely exposed to a passivated BSA-coated region. Cell–cell junctions can form end-to-end, with a maximum contact area of 25 μ m (the width of the micropatterned lanes). Multiple cells can adhere and spread across the 25 μ m wide lane, providing a neighboring cell for the formation of cell–cell contacts, but these cells usually lack cell junctional anchor points at the opposing cell surface. Thus, internal mechanical tension derived from cell–cell junctions of MPECs is likely to be minimal compared to confluent ECs. The large number of cell–cell contacts formed under high, unidirectional fluid shear stress may offer additional tension-induced signaling mechanism that act to either: (1) enhance cytoskeletal-alignment dependent signaling or (2) possibly generate additional cascades that stimulate gene expression solely dependent on fluid shear stress.

Fluid shear stress is a mechanical stimuli, and mechanotransduction is mediated by the cytoskeleton [53, 67]. Thus, fluid shear stress mechanical stimulation, and not cytoskeletal alignment, may be required to trigger cytoskeletal-dependent signaling



Fig. 8 Polarization of MTOC in MPECs and non-patterned (NP) ECs [66]

for some molecules, such as thrombomodulin. This suggests that certain signaling cascades are only activated after surpassing a specific mechanical threshold. Furthermore, the additive effects on cytoskeletal alignment and fluid shear stress on expression of VCAM-1, vWF, and TFPI implies that aligned cytoskeletal conformation is required for optimal mechanical force-induced cytoskeletal signaling. These complex signaling cascades would then affect other larger cellular structures, such as the nucleus, where recent evidence [68] has demonstrated that failure in such crosstalk at the sub-cellular and cellular levels may help explain why only certain tissues and organs, including the cardiovascular system, mimic natural aging degradation in progeria patients but not others [69]. Indeed, with the advancement in high-content and high-throughput screening platforms, and increased awareness of biophysical contributions, additional studies are needed to begin deciphering this multi-scale dialogue in order to better understand the mechanisms of disease.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by the American Heart Association 09BGIA2260384 (M.T.H), and the National Institute of Health grants 1R01HL103728 (M.T.H.), R01HL101972 (O.J.T.M.) and 1U54CA143906 (O.J.T.M.).

References

- 1. Berne, R.M., Levy, M.N.: Cardiovascular Physiology. Mosby Year Book Inc, St. Louis (1992)
- Wang, Y.X.: Do measures of vescular compliance correlate with endothelial function? Curr. Diab. Rep. 7, 265–268 (2007)
- 3. Ganoug W.: Review of Medical Physiology, vol. 22. The McGraw-Hill, NY (2005)
- 4. Sherwood, L.: Human Physiology. Brooks/Cole, Belmont (2004)

مستشار

- Nichols, W.W., Edwards, D.G.: Arterial elastance and wave reflection augmentation of systolic blood pressure: Deleterious effects and implications for therapy. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther. 6, 5–21 (2001)
- 6. Vlachopoulos, C., Aznaouridis, K., Stefanadis, C.: Clinical appraisal of arterial stiffness: the Argonauts in front of the Golden Fleece, Heart, **92**, 1544–1550 (2006)
- Michell, G.F.: Effects of central arterial aging on the structure and function of the peripheral vasculature: implications for end-organ damage. Physiol. Aging Vasculature 105, 1652–1660 (2008)
- Chemla, D., Hebert, J.L., Coirault, C., Zamani, K., Suard, I., Colin, P., Lecarpentier, Y.: Total arterial compliance estimated by stroke volume-to-aortic pulse pressure ratio in humans. AJP 274, H500–H505 (1998)
- 9. Safar M.E., Levy, B., Struijker-Boudier, H.: Current perspectives on arterial stiffness and pulse pressure in hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. Cirulation **107**, 2864–2869 (2003)
- Mitchell, J.G.F., Conlin, P.R., Dunlap, M.E., Lacourcière, Y., Arnold, J.M.O., gilvie, R.I.O., Neutel, J., Izzo, J.L.: Aortic diameter, wall stiffness, and wave reflection in systolic hypertension. Hypertension 51, 105 (2008)
- 11. Nichols, W.W., O'Rourke, M.F.: McDonlald's Blood Flow in Arteries. Oxford University Press Inc, New York (2005)
- O'Rourke, M.: Arterial stiffness, systolic blood pressusre and logical treatment of hypertension. Hypertension 15, 339–347 (1990)
- Glasser, S.P., Arnett, D.K., McVeigh, G.E., Finkelstein, S.M., Bank, A.J., Morgan, D.J., Cohn, J.N.: Vascular compliance and cardiovascular disease. AJH 10, 1175–1189 (1997)
- 14. Greenwald, S.E.: Ageing of the conduit arteries. J. Pathol. 211, 157-172 (2007)
- 15. Safar, M.E.: Peripheral pulse pressure, large arteries, and microvessels. Hypertension 44, 121–122 (2004)
- Safar, M., Levy, B.I., Struijkeer-Boudier, H.: Current perspectives on arterial stiffness and pulse pressure in hypertnesion and cardiovascular diseases. Circulation 107, 2864–2869 (2003)
- 17. Ku, D.N.: Blood flow in arteries. Ann. Rev. Fluid Mech. 29 (1997)
- 18. Streeter, V.L., Keitzer, W.F., Bohr, D.F.: Pulsatile pressure and flow through distensible vessels. Circ. Res. 13, 3–20 (1963)
- Capell, B.C., Collins, F.S.: Human laminopathies: nuclei gone genetically awry. Nat. Rev. Genet. 7, 940–952 (2006)
- Makous, N., Friedman, S., Yakovac, V., Maris, E.P.: Cardiovascular manifestations in progeria. Report of clinical and pathologic findings in a patient with severe arterisclerotic heart disease and aortic stenosis. Am. Heart J. 64, 334–346 (1962)
- Baker, P.B., Baba, N., Boesel, C.P.: Cardiovascular abnormalities in progeria. Case report and review of the literature. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 105, 384–386 (1981)
- Zhang, Y., Dunn, M.L., Drexler, E.S., McCowan, C.N., Slifka, A.J., Ivy, D.D., Shandas, R.: A microsctructal hyperelastic model of pulmonary arteries under normo- and hypertensive conditions. Ann. Biomed. Eng. 33, 1042–1052 (2005)
- Lammers, K.P., Qi, J., Hunter, K., Lanning, C., Albietz, J., Hofmeister, S., Mecham, R., Stenmark, K., Shandas, R.: Changes in the structure-function relationship of elastin and its impact on the proximal pulmonary arterial mechanics of hypertensive calves. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 295, 1451–1459 (2008)
- 24. Fung, Y.C.: Biomechanics Circulation. Springer, New York (1997)
- O'Rourke, M.F., Safar, M.E.: Relationship between aortic stiffening and microvascular disease in brain and kidney: cause and logic of therapy. Hypertension 46, 200–204 (2005)
- Feihl, L.L., Waeber, B.: The macrocirculation and microciculation of hypertension. Current Hypertension Reports 11, 182–189 (2009)
- 27. Safer, M.E., Struijker-Boudier, H.A.: Cross-talk between macro- and microcirculation. Acta Physiol. **198**, 417–430 (2010)
- Intengan, S.E., Schiffrin, H.D.: Structure and mechanical properties of resistance arteries in hypertension: role of adhesion molecules and extracellular matrix determinants. Hypertension 36, 312–318 (2000)

i الم للاستشارات

- 29. Murphy, L.M.: Mayo Clinic Cardiology, 3rd edn. Mayo Clinic Scientific Press, Rochester (2007)
- Stenmark, K.R., McMurtry, I.F.: Vascular remodeling versus vasoconstriction in chronic hypoxic pulmonary hypertension a time for reappraisal. Circ. Res. 97, 95–98 (2005)
- Aaronson, P., Robertson, T.P., Knock, G.A., Becker, S., Lewis, T.H., Snetkov, V., Ward, J.P.T.: Hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction: mechanisms and controversies. J. Physiol. 270, 53–58 (2006)
- 32. Sweeney, M., Yuan, J.X.J.: Hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction: role of voltage-gated potassium channels. Respir. Res. 1, 40–48 (2000)
- 33. Morrell, A.S., Archer, S.L., Dupuis, J., Jones, P.L., MacLean, M.R., McMutry, I.F., Stenmark, K.R., Thistlethwaite, P.A., Weissmann, N., Yuan, J.X.J., Weir, E.K.: Cellular and molecuar basis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 54, S20–S31 (2009)
- 34. Sanchez, O., Marcos, E., Perros, F., Fadel, E., Tu, L., Humbert, M., Dartevelle, P., Simonneau, G., Adnot, S., Eddahibi, S.: Role of endothelium-derived CC Chemokine Ligand 2 in idioplathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. **176**, 1041– 1047 (2007)
- 35. Veyssier-Belot, C., Cacoub, P.: Role of the endothelial and smooth muscle cells in physiophathogy and treatment management of pulmonary hypertension. Cardio. Res., 44, 274–282 (1999)
- 36. Owens, G.K., Rabinovitch, P.S., Schwartz, S.M.: Smooth muscle cell hypertrophy versus hyperplasia in hypertnesion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. **78**, 7759–7763 (1981)
- Quinn, S.M.T.P., Soifer, S.J., Gutierrez, J.A.: Cyclic mechanical stretch induces VEGF and FGF-2 expression in pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cells. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 282, L897–L903 (2002)
- Lehoux, S., Tedgui, A.: Cellular mechanics and gene expression in blood vessels. J. Biomech. 36, 631–643 (2003)
- Reneman, R.S., Arts, T., Hoeks, A.P.G.: Wall shear stress- an important determinant of endothelial cell function and structure- in the arterial system in vivo. J. Vasc. Res. 43, 251– 269 (2006)
- Albuquerque, W.C.M.L.C., Savla, U., Schnaper, H.W., Flozak, A.S.: Shear stress enhances human endothelial cell wound closure in vitro. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 279, H293–H302 (2000)
- 41. Traub, O., Berk, B.C.: Laminar shear stress: mechanisms by which endothelial cells transduce an arthoprotective force. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. **18**, 667–685 (1998)
- Li, M., Stenmark, K.R., Shandas, R., Tan, W.: Effects of pathological flow on pulmonary artery endothelial production of vasoactive mediators and growth factors. J. Vasc. Res. 46, 561–571 (2009)
- O'Rourke, M.F., Hashimoto, J.: Mechanical factors in arterial aging: A clinical perspective. JACC 50, 1–13 (2007)
- Safar, M.E., Lacolley, P.: Disturbance of maro- and microcirculations : relations with pulse pressure and cardiac organ damage. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 293, H1–H7 (2007)
- 45. Pyke, K.E., Tschakovsky, M.E.: The relationship between shear stress and flow-mediated dilatation: implications for the assessment of endothelial function. J. Physiol. **568**(2), 357–369 (2005)
- 46. Budhiraja, R., Tuder, R.M., Hassoun, P.M.: Endothelial dysfunction in pulmonary hypertension. Circulation **109**, 159–165 (2004)
- 47. Vanhoutte, P.M., Feletou, M., Taddei, S.: Endothelium-dependent contractions in hypertension. Brithish J. Pharmacol **144**, 449–458 (2005)
- Giaid, A., Saleh, D.: Reduced expression of endothelial ntric oxide synthase in the lungs of patients with pulmonary hypertension. N. Engl. J. Med. 333, 214–221 (1995)
- Abranham, W., Raynolds, M.V., Gottschall, B., Badesch, D.B., Wynne, K.M., Groves, B.M., Lowes, B.D., Bristow, M.R., Perryman, B., Voelkel, N.F.: Importance of angiotensinconverting enzyme in pulmonary hypertension. Cardiology 86, 9–15 (1995)
- Du, L., Sullivan, D.C.: Signaling molecules in nonfamililial pulmonary hypertension. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 500–509 (2003)

المستشارات

- Humbert, M., Morrell, N.W., Archer, S.L., Stenmark, K.R., MacLean, M.R., Lang, I.M., Christman, B.W., Weir, E.K., Eickelberg, O., Voelkel, N.F., Rabinovitch, M.: Cellular and molecular pathobiology of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 43, S13–S24 (2004)
- 52. Barakat, A.I.: Responsiveness of vascular endothelium to shear stress: potential role of ion channels and cellular cytoskeleton (review). Int. J. Mol. Med. **4**, 323–332 (1999)
- Ingber, D.E.: Tensegrity: the architectural basis of cellular mechanotransduction. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 59, 575–599 (1997)
- 54. Helmke, B.P.: Molecular control of cytoskeletal mechanics by hemodynamic forces. Physiology (Bethesda) 20, 43–53 (2005)
- 55. Helmke, B.P., Davies, P.F.: The cytoskeleton under external fluid mechanical forces: hemodynamic forces acting on the endothelium. Ann. Biomed. Eng. **30**, 284–296 (2002)
- 56. Tzima, E., Del Pozo, M.A., Kiosses, W.B., Mohamed, S.A., Li, S., Chien, S., Schwartz, M.A.: Activation of Racl by shear stress in endothelial cells mediates both cytoskeletal reorganization and effects on gene expression. EMBO J. 21, 6791–6800 (2002)
- Vojciak-Stothard, B., Ridley, A.J.: Shear stress-induced endothelial cell polarization is mediated by Rho and Rac but not Cdc42 or PI 3-kinases. J. Cell Biol. 161, 429–439 (2003)
- del Alamo, J.C., Norwich, G.N., Li, Y.S., Lasheras, J.C., Chien, S.: Anisotropic rhelogy and directional mechanotransduction in vascular endothelial cells. Proc. Nat. Aca. 105, 15411–15416 (2008)
- Lee, J.S., Panorchan, P., Hale, C.M., Khatau, S.B., Kole, T.P., Tseng, Y., Wirtz, D.: Ballistic intracellular nanoreheology reveals ROCK-hard cytoplasmic stiffening response to fluid flow. J. Cell Sci. 119, 1760–1768 (2006)
- Davies, P.F., Robotewskyj, A., Griem, M.L.: Quantitative studies of endothelial cell adhesion. Directional remodeling of focal adhesion sites in response to flow forces. J. Clin. Invest. 93, 2031–2038 (1994)
- Uttayarat, P., Toworfe, G.K., Dietrich, F., Lelkes, P.I., Composto, R.J.: Topographic guidance of endothelial cells on silicone surfaces with micro- to nanogrooves: orientation of actin filaments and focal adhesions. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 75, 668–680 (2005)
- 62. Lehoux, S., Castier, Y., Tedgui, A.: Molecular mechanisms of the vascular responses to haemodynamic forces. J. Intern. Med. **259**, 381–392 (2006)
- 63. Langille, B.L.: Morphologic responses of endothelium to shear stress: reorganization of the adherens junction. Microcirculation **8**, 195–206 (2001)
- 64. Miao, H., Hu, Y.L., Shiu, Y.T., Yuan, S., Zhao, Y., Kaunas, R., Wang, Y., Jin, G., Usami, S., Chien, S.: Effects of flow patterns on the localization and expression of VE-cadherin at vascular endothelial cell junctions: in vivo and in vitro investigations. J. Vasc. Res. 42, 77–89 (2005)
- 65. Gray, D.S., Liu, W.F., Shen, C.J., Bhadriraju, K., Nelson, C.M., Chen, C.S.: Engineering amount of cell-cell contact demonstrates biphasic proliferative regulation through RhoA and the actin cytoskeleton. Exp. Cell Res. **314**, 2846–2854 (2008)
- Vartanian, K.B., Kirkpatrick, S.J., Hanson, S.R., Hinds, M.T.: Endothelial cell cytoskeletal alignment independent of fluid shear stress on micropatterned surfaces. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 371, 787–792 (2008)
- 67. Alenghat, F.J., Ingber, D.E.: Mechanotransduction: all signals point to cytoskeleton, matrix, and integrins. Sci. STKE **2002**, PE6 (2002)
- Hale, C.M., Shrestha, A.L., Khatau, S.B., Stewart-Hutchinson P.J., Hernandes, L., Stewart C.L., Hodzic D., Wirtz, D.: Dysfunctional connections between the nucleus and the actin and microtubule networks in laminopathic models. Biophys. J. 95(11), 5462–5475 (2008)
- Hennekam, R.C.: Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome: review of the phenotype. Am. J. Med. Genet. 23, 2603–2624 (2006)

المنسارات
Matrix Mechanics and Cell Contractility in Angiogenesis

Joseph P. Califano and Cynthia A. Reinhart-King

Abstract Angiogenesis is a complex process that relies on the interplay of chemical and mechanical signaling events that ultimately result in the formation of new blood vessels. While much work has uncovered the chemical signaling events that mediate angiogenesis, the role of the mechanical environment is less understood. In this chapter, we will discuss how the mechanical microenvironment regulates angiogenesis by examining how matrix stiffness and cellular contractility mediate endothelial cell behaviors that are necessary for the progression of angiogenesis. Specifically, we will describe the roles of matrix stiffness and cell contractility as regulators of endothelial cell adhesion and shape, migration, growth, cell-cell interactions, and cell-matrix remodeling. Collectively, these findings implicate endogenous cellular forces and matrix stiffness as critical components of the angiogenic microenvironment, and suggest that both are important parameters for tissue engineering applications and a greater understanding of angiogenesis during disease progression.

1 Introduction

Angiogenesis is controlled by numerous chemical and mechanical signaling events that result in the formation of new capillaries. It requires normally quiescent endothelial cells to undergo changes in shape, proliferation, migration, and extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling to form a new capillary network [1]. While

DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_7, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

J. P. Califano · C. A. Reinhart-King (🖂)

Department of Biomedical Engineering, Cornell University 302 Weill Hall, 526 Campus Road, Ithaca, NY 14853, USA e-mail: cak57@cornell.edu

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12,

significant attention has been paid to investigating the role of chemical events that initiate and affect angiogenesis, e.g. paracrine and autocrine growth factor signaling, the role of the mechanical environment in mediating angiogenesis is not as well described.

Endothelial cells (ECs) reside in a complex mechanical environment that consists of exogenous forces applied to cells, endogenous forces generated by cells, and the local stiffness of the extracellular matrix (ECM) [2]. Exogenous forces include the effects of hemodynamic forces due to blood flow (shear stress [3, 4], cyclic strain [5, 6] and pulsatile pressure [7]), and forces applied by other cell types (e.g. transmigrating leukocytes [8]) or tissues [9] as described in other chapters within this book. In addition to exogenous forces, the mechanical environment of angiogenesis also includes the endogenous forces generated by ECs against their ECM, more commonly referred to as cellular contractility and traction stresses.

In this chapter we will describe how the mechanical environment influences angiogenesis by exploring how matrix stiffness and cellular contractility mediates EC behaviors that enable the progression of angiogenesis. Specifically, we will discuss how matrix stiffness alters EC shape, contractility, proliferation, cell–cell interactions, and cell–matrix remodeling.

2 Endothelial Cell Shape, Contractility, and Growth

Cell-ECM interactions control EC behaviors such as adhesion, spreading, and growth that are crucial for the process of angiogenesis [10]. These responses are facilitated by actomyosin interactions that generate cellular contractility regulated in part by the Rho family of GTPases. In general, Rho-Kinase (ROCK) is activated by GTP-bound Rho and alters the activity of myosin light chain kinase, an effector of cell contractility. These interactions are sensitive to the stiffness of the extra-cellular environment and govern changes in EC spreading and growth.

2.1 Matrix Stiffness Alters Endothelial Cell Spreading and Contractility

Endothelial cell spreading and shape is directed by the mechanical microenvironment. Endothelial cell spread area increases with increasing substrate stiffness [11, 12]. On compliant substrates, ECs adopt a spindle shaped bipolar morphology, while EC shape on stiffer substrates is more multipolar and isotropic [13]. Changes in EC shape are accompanied by alterations in the density of focal adhesions, clusters of integrins and adaptor proteins that anchor actin stress fibers to the



Fig. 1 Changes in cell shape accompany alterations in focal adhesion formation and cell contractility. **a** Endothelial cells cultured on square micropatterned adhesive islands were used to determine the role of shape on focal adhesion formation (clockwise from top left, the square side lengths are 10, 40, 5, and 20 µm, respectively. **b** The number of vinculin- (a focal adhesion protein required for normal cell spreading [30]), and phosphotyrosine- (PTyr, a marker for tyrosine kinase signaling) positive focal adhesions increases with increasing spread size (from [15] with permission). **c** EC spreading and traction force generation increase with increasing substrate stiffness. Cells exhibit bipolar spreading on compliant (E = 1 kPa) matrices and increase spreading as stiffness is increased. The total magnitude of the traction stress *T* also increases with increasing substrate stiffness (from [13] with permission)

plasma membrane [14]. When ECs spread, there is an increase in focal adhesion density that increases with the degree of cell spreading [15] (Fig. 1a, b).

Focal adhesion assembly is also sensitive to cell contractility and cell–cell interactions [15, 16]. Increased endothelial cell–cell contact decreases cell spreading and the size and number of focal adhesions [17]. However, Nelson et al. showed that when cells are patterned to be in contact, but changes in spreading are prevented, focal adhesion formation increases. These changes result from VE-cadherin-mediated increases in cytoskeletal tension (increasing RhoA activity) that increases focal adhesion formation. Similar to integrin-mediated contractility, cadherins have been shown to transmit traction forces [18, 19] that increase with increasing substrate stiffness, and require actin cytoskeletal assembly and myosin activity [20]. Furthermore, changes in Rho-mediated contractility influence



cell-cell interactions. Increasing RhoA-mediated myosin-generated contraction (e.g. treatment with thrombin) disrupts cell-cell contacts and adherens junction assembly [21]. This response is sensitive to the stiffness of the mechanical microenvironment. Increased matrix stiffness promotes disrupted VE-cadherin mediated cell-cell junctions and results in an increase in EC monolayer permeability [22]. These data are indicative of crosstalk and feedback mechanisms that exist between integrins and cadherins [23] that mediate cellular force balance, and suggest that matrix stiffness alters endothelial cell-cell and cell-matrix connectivity.

In addition to mediating changes in cell spreading, matrix stiffness may directly impact traction force generation. As substrate stiffness is increased, there is an increase in endothelial cell traction force generation [13] (Fig. 1c). Measurements of force generation and cell area coupled with regression modeling indicate that both area and matrix stiffness are significant predictors of EC traction forces in single cells and cells in contact [13]. While the total magnitude of the force exerted by ECs is linearly related to cell area during spreading events, cells are capable of exerting significant traction forces in the absence of notable focal adhesions or stress fiber formation [12], typical attributes of well-spread cells. These results indicate that matrix stiffness alters EC traction force generation, and suggest that ECs may utilize small nascent focal complexes to exert traction forces, a mechanism first described in fibroblasts [24].

Changes in matrix stiffness-mediated EC contractility associated with spreading or focal adhesion organization may be due to cell shape changes that physically alter the localization and activity of contractile adaptor proteins. During cell spreading after plating, the actin-binding protein filamin binds the Rho GTPase activating protein (GAP) p190 (p190RhoGAP) thus preventing its accumulation in membrane lipid rafts and allowing high Rho activity [25]. When cells are spread the protease calpain cleaves filamin allowing the accumulation of p190RhoGAP in lipid rafts that inhibit Rho activity. These data indicate that cell spreading alters the localization and activity of mediators of cellular contractility. They suggest that matrix stiffness alters cell shape and contractility via changes in protein localization; however, more work is needed to understand the crosstalk of intracellular proteins that participate in these mechanisms.

Notably, p190RhoGAP has been shown to regulate capillary formation in vitro and retinal angiogenesis in vivo by altering the transcription factors TFII-I and GATA2, regulators of VEGFR2 expression [26]. Moreover, GATA2 and VEGFR2 expression levels increase with increasing substrate stiffness. Interestingly, VEGF stimulates stress fiber and focal adhesion organization [27] through Rho and ROCK signaling [28]. More recent work indicates that VEGF induces a two-fold contractile response mediated by VEGFR2 and ROCK [29]. These data suggest that angiogenesis is mediated by EC sensitivity to growth factor signaling that is intimately associated with matrix stiffness and the contractile machinery of the cell.

2.2 Endothelial Cell Shape and Cytoskeletal Tension Regulate Proliferation

Endothelial cell growth is critical to angiogenesis, and shape has emerged as an important regulator of proliferation. Early experiments with ECs determined that increases in spread area due to increasing density of substrate-bound fibronectin are accompanied by an increase in cell proliferation [31]. The investigation of cell shape on the control of cell cycle progression indicated that ECs must remain spread for most of G_1 to enter S phase [32]. As ECs spread during G_1 , increasing nuclear volume and DNA synthesis predict the proliferation response [33].

The use of micropatterned substrates that control cell spreading has identified cell shape as a switch between EC life and death [34, 35]. ECs grown on microadhesive islands less than 500 μ m² undergo apoptosis, but on substrates greater than 1,500 μ m² cells spread and grow [36]. When grown on small adhesive islands that prevent spreading, cells fail to progress from G₁ to S phase despite normal activation of the Erk1/2 MAPK pathway [37]. Failure to progress into S phase is attributed to an inability to increase cyclin D, reduce the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor $p27^{Kip1}$, and phosphorylate Rb in late G_1 (Fig. 2). Changes in EC shape and spreading that predict growth are tied to tension in the cytoskeleton, and cell cycle progression can be blocked by cytoskeletal disruption. Disruption of the actin filament network with cytochalasin D or microtubules with nocodazole leads to apoptosis similar to that seen in cells on small adhesive islands that restrict spreading [38]. Simultaneous disruption of actin and microtubules leads to increased rounding, dephosphorylation of the serine/threonine kinase Akt (also known as Protein Kinase B), decreased expression of Bcl-2, and increased caspase activity, hallmarks of apoptosis (Fig. 2).

Cytoskeletal tension and cell spreading have been identified as a late G_1 restriction point that acts independently of MAPK/Erk signaling to promote the G_1 -S transition during growth [39]. When actin polymerization is disrupted with cytochalasin D, cyclin D expression is decreased, ECs accumulate $p27^{Kip1}$, and cell cycle progression is arrested. Separate work determined that when EC spreading is inhibited by using substrates with reduced ligand density, cells also accumulate $p27^{Kip1}$ and arrest in mid G_1 [40]. This response is rescued with constitutively active Rho that increases Skp2 expression (required for degradation of $p27^{Kip1}$ and progression through G_1) and promotes G_1 progression by altering the balance of mDia1 and ROCK, effectors of Rho that mediate cell contractility and actin cytoskeletal organization (Fig. 2). These findings indicate that EC cytoskeletal tension and shape are important cell cycle checkpoints that mediate cell cycle progression.

Cell-cell interactions also contribute to EC growth decisions by modulating cytoskeletal tension. VE-cadherin-mediated cell-cell contacts decrease cell spreading and proliferation, but if spreading is prevented by growing cells on micropatterned substrates, proliferation increases via Rho signaling and cytoskeletal tension [41]. Use of dominant negative RhoA can block cell-cell contact-mediated



Fig. 2 Signaling diagram depicting the interplay of cell shape and cytoskeletal tension on EC proliferation. Mediators of cell contractility (classical Rho-mediated elements) are shown in *green*, mediators of cell-cycle progression are shown in *blue*, and cell-cycle decisions are shown in *red. Noco* nocodazole; *CytoD* cytochalasin D; *MT Org* microtubule organization; *CSK* cytoskeletal; *Rb-P*, phosphorylated-Rb. See text for citations

increases in actin stress fiber formation indicating that RhoA is required for contactmediated increases in proliferation [42]. Additionally, regions of EC proliferation have been shown to be correlated with high traction stresses [43]. Inhibiting actomyosin tension or cadherin-mediated cell–cell interactions can alter the pattern of proliferation. These data indicate that cell–cell interactions influence cytoskeletal interactions that mediate EC proliferation.

3 Endothelial Cell Mechanosensing

In addition to mediating changes in cell spreading and growth, phenotypic changes important for the progression of angiogenesis, the mechanical environment also influences the mechanical properties of ECs. Sensitivity to the external mechanical environment is made possible by cellular machinery that converts mechanical signals into changes in cell stiffness [44] or gene expression [22].

3.1 Integrins and the Actin Cytoskeleton Mediate EC Mechanosensitivity

Early experiments uncovered a mechanical linkage between the nucleus and cellsurface receptors, whereby exerting exogenous force on integrins reoriented cytoskeletal filaments, distorted the nucleus, and redistributed nucleoli within ECs [45]. This work suggested that integrin engagement was related to processes governed by the cellular nuclear machinery, and in fact integrin binding directly activates the expression of the immediate-early genes c-fos, c-myc, and c-jun that regulate cell growth [46]. In addition, integrins ligated by RGD-coated magnetic beads and twisted with a magnetic stimulator increase endothelin-1 (a vasoconstrictor) gene expression, a response blocked by disrupting the actin cytoskeleton [47]. These findings suggest that mechanical forces, as sensed by integrins, may play an active role in mediating EC transcription-regulated responses governing angiogenic processes.

Force transmission throughout the cell is largely facilitated by the actin cytoskeleton. Experiments disrupting cell-substrate adhesion and inducing cell retraction indicate that the cytoskeleton is prestressed, and that the actin cytoskeleton is the primary stress-bearing member in ECs [48]. Cell stiffness increases when cells are rapidly strained suggesting time-dependent mechanical properties. Indeed actin stress fibers behave as viscoelastic cables tensed by myosin motors where actin cytoskeletal prestress is largely determined by myosin light chain kinase [49] (Fig. 3a). Furthermore, a separate study using AFM nanoindentation characterized the mechanical properties of individual stress fibers in living cells. It was found that actomyosin contractility regulates the mechanical properties of stress fibers [50]. Stress fiber stiffness can be altered by pharmacological perturbation of contractility (e.g. blebbistatin decreased stiffness while calyculin A increased stiffness). While the baseline mechanical properties of stress fibers are approximately linear, they become heterogeneous with increasing cellular contractility. These data suggest that the mechanical microenvironment of ECs alters the mechanical properties of stress fibers within the cell via actomyosin contractility.

ECs exhibit viscoelastic mechanical properties that are sensitive to changes in cell spreading. When grown on substrates of increasing fibronectin ligand density, ECs exhibit increases in spreading, cytoskeletal stiffness, and apparent viscosity, [51]. Separate studies using magnetic pulling cytometry determined how cells adapt to changes in mechanical forces applied at integrins [52]. Cells exhibit a four-phase response: immediate viscoelastic; early strengthening response to short pulse forces (both prevented by inhibiting Rho); robust strengthening after prolonged force; large-scale repositioning after prolonged force application. These responses are prevented by inhibiting Rho, blocking mechanosensitive ion channels, or inhibiting Src tyrosine kinase. Separate work indicates that treatment of ECs with VEGF increase reduces the elasticity of the cytoplasm, a responses that is dependent on ROCK [53]. These findings indicate that ECs have robust



Fig. 3 The mechanical properties of endothelial cells are regulated largely by the actin cytoskeleton. **a** After laser ablation, actin stress fiber bundles undergo viscoelastic retraction (arrowhead represents laser position, scale bar is 10 μ m) (from [49] with permission). Cell stiffness is sensitive to the extent of cell–cell interaction. **b–d** Atomic force microscopy of single cells **b** to cells in a monolayer **c** indicated that peripheral forces are greater than cell body forces for all degrees of contact, and that the stiffness of a single cells is greater than that of cells in monolayer. Black arrows indicate cell body; white arrows indicate cell periphery; images **b–c** are 90 × 90 μ m (from [54] with permission)

mechanisms that alter their intrinsic mechanical properties in response to the external mechanical environment.

Similar to other EC responses (e.g. proliferation), the mechanical properties of ECs are affected by cell–cell interactions. ECs in groups (3–5 cells) are larger and stiffer than single isolated cells [54] (Fig. 3b–d). Treatments that weaken cell–cell junctions (cytochalasin B, VE-cadherin blocking antibody) result in an increase in cell-substrate adhesion (increased focal adhesion size and density) and stiffness of cells in monolayers that is similar to single cells. These results indicate that cell–cell interactions play an important role in mediating the mechanics of ECs.

Changes in the mechanical properties and force balance in ECs may ultimately be required for normal cell mechanosensing and function. Importantly, aberrant Rho sensitivity is implicated in tumor vessel formation, where tumor-derived ECs lose the ability to respond to physical cues and form abnormal vessels [55]. These cells exhibit an increase in baseline Rho and ROCK activity, exert increased traction forces, exhibit an enhanced ability to form capillary networks in vitro, and do not reorient their cytoskeleton under external cyclic strain. Interestingly, ROCK



inhibition recovers the sensitivity of cytoskeletal organization to strain application and normalizes capillary network formation. These data indicate that the mediators of cell contractility involved in mechanosensing are an important switch between normal and abnormal function during angiogenesis.

Taken together, these data indicate that changes in the external environment (matrix stiffness or exogenous forces) may ultimately alter the intrinsic mechanical properties of ECs, and suggest that these changes in turn affect mechanosensing and cell function. This is of fundamental importance in understanding the relationship between the mechanical environment and angiogenesis, in both the design of suitable scaffolds for vascular tissue engineering constructs, and in disease states with changing mechanical environments (e.g. tumor angiogenesis).

4 Endothelial Cell Network Assembly

An important event during angiogenesis is the spatial reorganization of ECs into a capillary morphology. In 1980, Dr. Judah Folkman published seminal work describing the intrinsic ability of ECs to reorganize into a capillary-like phenotype in vitro [56]. Since then, the mechanical properties of the ECM have emerged as a critical regulator of the development of such capillary-like morphologies [57].

4.1 Matrix Stiffness Regulates Endothelial Cell–Cell Assembly and Sprouting

In general, compliant ECMs support the formation of networks of ECs, a morphology reminiscent of the capillary beds seen in vivo [58] (Fig. 4a). Early experiments indicated that capillary tube formation occurs on compliant ECM or when cells retract and elevate above stiff culture dishes [59]. In 2D studies, EC network formation decreases as substrate stiffness is increased on fibrin gel [60] (Fig. 4b), collagen gel [58], or matrigel substrates [61, 62]. Similarly, capillary-like network formation in 3D decreases with increasing stiffness of fibrin [63] and collagen gels [64] (Fig. 4c). These studies indicate that ECs have a propensity to self-assembly in sufficiently compliant mechanical environments.

Work in our lab with variably compliant polyacrylamide gels has determined that compliant substrates (E < 1kPa) promote the spontaneous assembly of EC networks, and the propensity of endothelial cells to assemble into networks decreases with increasing matrix stiffness (E = 2.5-10 kPa) [11] (Fig. 4d). In contrast to previous work utilizing collagen or fibrin gels, experimental systems where gel stiffness is coupled to changes in protein concentration, the stiffness of polyacrylamide substrates is tuned independently of the protein ligand concentration available to adherent cells. This system allowed us to determine that



Fig. 4 Examples of EC network assembly. **a** ECs in culture are capable of forming networks that mimic the morphology of capillaries in vivo (sketch from [58] with permission). ECs form networks on compliant fibrin gels **b** (from [60] with permission), within collagen gels **c** (from [64] with permission), or on polyacrylamide substrates **d** (from [11] with permission). Note the typical ring-like morphologies of ECs despite substrate material. *Double-headed arrows* in **b** denote tubular structures, scale bar is 250 μ m; *arrow* in **c** points to a lumen-like region, scale bar is 25 μ m; *circles* in **d** outline sprouting cells that will make an additional cell–cell connections

network assembly is modulated by substrate stiffness alone [11], independent from changes in ligand density. Interestingly, EC network assembly is induced on stiff matrices by reducing the concentration of the surface-bound ligand [11]. These findings suggest that EC network formation results from a balance of cell–cell and cell-matrix interactions in order to optimize mechanical input to the cell [65]. On compliant substrates where cell-substrate resistivity is reduced, ECs may seek out additional mechanical input from interactions with adjacent cells that result in the formation of networks. In contrast, stiff substrates may provide adequate mechanical input to cells thus reducing a propensity to seek cell–cell interaction.

As networks form, ECs sprout to form additional cell-cell connections. This response is also sensitive to matrix stiffness. Vascular sprouting of ECs embedded in 3D fibrin gels decreases as matrix density increases, a response that can be recovered in stiffer matrices by the addition of mesenchymal stem cells that promote matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) upregulation [66]. VEGF-induced sprouting in 3D is further regulated by matrix density and stiffness according to a Goldilocks principle: intermediate matrix is ideal for sprouting while low density

promotes uncoordinated migration and high density promotes lack of sprout elongation [67]. In addition, EC protrusions (lamelipodia, filopodia, microspikes) extend preferentially from regions of greatest traction forces [68]. These data indicate that matrix stiffness mediates a sprouting phenotype and suggest that cytoskeletal tension contributes to sprouting decisions in ECs.

4.2 Supporting Cell Types Enable EC Network Assembly in Stiff Matrices

Angiogenesis in vivo is dependent on supporting cells [69], and co-culture models have begun to elucidate the mechanical role of support cells, such as fibroblasts or stem cells, in EC capillary formation.

ECs invade 3D fibrin gels but do not form capillaries unless they are co-cultured with mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) or fibroblasts [70]. Specifically, adipose-derived stem cells (ASC) promote angiogenesis via the plasmin axis of serine proteases, while bone marrow-derived stem cells utilize MMPs [70]. Promotion of EC angiogenesis by association with ASCs is similar to results found with fibroblasts that promote angiogenesis by exhibiting the angiogenic cytokines urokinase plasminogen activator, hepatocyte growth factor, and tumor necrosis factor alpha [71]. When ECs are cocultured with mesenchymal cells, the formation of impermeable vessels is greatly enhanced in vitro, [72]. Importantly, such prevascularized tissue constructs have been shown to accelerate anastomoses and promote tissue remodeling after implantation in vivo [73].

While these results suggest that EC angiogenesis in coculture is dependent on chemical signaling from supporting cells, evidence implicating the mechanical stiffness of the 3D construct as a mediator of angiogenesis is emerging. For example, when ECs are embedded in 3D fibrin gels with a monolayer of fibroblasts seeded on top of the gel, changes in ECM density alter matrix mechanics and EC traction force generation that influence capillary morphogenesis [74]. Increasing the density of fibrin gels inhibits capillary morphogenesis without the addition of such supporting cells [66]. This response is also established in vivo in SCID mice, where increasing fibrin matrix density inhibits vascular formation that can be partially recovered with the addition of MSCs [75]. While the role of the mechanical properties of 3D constructs on angiogenesis is still emerging, these findings suggest that the mechanical interplay between ECs and supporting cells is a critical regulator of angiogenesis in 3D.

4.3 Matrix Stiffness and Cell Contractility Alter EC Migration

Inherent to cell-cell interactions during angiogenesis is the ability of ECs and vascular cells to migrate. It is well established that endogenous traction forces



drive cell motility [76]. While early experiments implicated roles for ligand density, integrin expression level, and ligand binding affinity as mediators of cell migration [77], substrate stiffness [78, 79], and strains created in compliant substrates [80, 81] also guide motility. Cell migration in response to a stiffness gradient has been termed durotaxis and has been demonstrated in ECs as well as vascular smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, and stem cells [80, 82-84]. ECs are sensitive to strains created in compliant matrices by the traction stresses of neighboring cells, and this response is dependent on matrix stiffness [81]. On sufficiently compliant matrices, pairs of ECs exhibit hindered migration compared to single cells indicating that compliant matrices promote cell-cell interactions. On compliant substrates, the traction forces exerted by one cell may create a perceived stiffening in the substrate that allows cells to sense each other at a distance [81], and organize into multicellular networks [85]. Such network formation on compliant polyacrylamide substrates may be disrupted by growth factor (bFGF, VEGF)-induced motility [86]. These observations suggest that matrix stiffnessmediated EC network assembly results from tightly-regulated migratory behavior.

While more research is needed to fully understand the role of substrate mechanics in mediating EC migration during angiogenesis, the study of collective cell migration in epithelial cell sheets has uncovered some relationships that guide the interplay between cell contractility and global motility. Collective cell migration and traction force generation in Madin-Darby canine kidney cell (MDCK) epithelial sheets indicates that cell scatter correlates with adhesion strength and actomyosin-dependent contractility that transmits tension to the cell periphery [87]. Traction forces generated by MDCK monolayers are greatest at the edge of the monolayer and greater than forces measured in isolated cells [88], and may be generated in the bulk of the cell sheet away from the leading edge [89]. Furthermore, MDCK assembly is anisotropic along the stiffest substrate direction of anisotropic substrates and correlates with traction force and actin cytoskeletal orientation [90]. These data indicate that collective cell migration in epithelial cells is sensitive to matrix stiffness that alters cell contractility. Future work should identify the role of matrix stiffness in mediating collective cell migration in ECs.

5 Matrix Remodeling

During angiogenesis, new vessel formation is facilitated by the disruption of the basement membrane and the development of a provisional matrix containing proteins such as collagen and fibronectin [1]. While disruption of the basement membrane is usually attributed to the action of MMPs [91] (as discussed by Grainger and Putnam in this book), the contractile machinery of ECs is implicated in ECM remodeling [92].



5.1 Traction Forces Remodel Collagen and Fibronectin ECM

Early experiments indicate that ECs in confluent monolayers generate tension that elevates webs of ECM above the cell monolayer that support spontaneous capillary network formation [59]. Similarly, ECs and smooth muscle cells form networks only after the appearance of organized basement membrane matrix [93]. Specifically, ECs synthesize and organize collagen into cables that promote spindle-shaped morphologies and network formation, a response that requires traction forces [58]. These data suggest that matrix remodeling is requisite for network assembly.

The fibronectin ECM may be particularly important for mediating angiogenesis. In 3D fibrin matrices, EC tubulogenesis requires the fibrillogenesis of a fibronectin matrix that promotes cytoskeletal organization and tension [94]. Fibronectin assembly increases intracellular stiffness that helps ECs match the stiffness of the surrounding matrix during vessel formation. Separate studies indicate that ECs form capillary-like structures with a central lumen atop tendrils of fibronectin [36]. In 2D, fibronectin polymerization is requisite for the maintenance of stable cell-cell interactions during network assembly [11]. Interestingly, fibronectin is assembled into fibrils by cells [95] through endogenous Rho-mediated contractility, and fibronectin fiber orientation is subsequently guided by traction forces [96]. These interactions are sensitive to cell-cell interactions. Cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesions mediate cellular contractility that directs fibronectin fibril formation [97]. During Xenopus morphogenesis, cell-cell adhesions transfer tension to integrins that direct fibronectin fibril formation in the blastocoel roof. These data suggest that EC contractility, traction forces, and cell-cell interactions enable fibronectin ECM assembly that is requisite for network assembly during angiogenesis.

6 Conclusion

Matrix stiffness and cell contractility are important regulators of cell shape and growth, network assembly, EC mechanics, and ECM remodeling. While it is clear that the mechanical microenvironment mediates angiogenesis, much work remains to understand its ramifications. Future work should focus on 3D constructs that recapitulate the endothelial microenvironment. In addition to the role of matrix stiffness, the role of other mechanical cues (e.g. traction forces generated by supporting cells; exogenous forces such as shear stress) will better elucidate the complex interplay between the mechanical microenvironment and angiogenesis. The clarification of the role of the mechanical microenvironment on angiogenesis in vivo will better our understanding, and enable our control, of blood vessel formation.



References

- 1. Kalluri, R.: Basement membranes: structure, assembly and role in tumour angiogenesis. Nat. Rev. Cancer **3**(6), 422–433 (2003)
- Califano, J.P., Reinhart-King, C.A.: Exogenous and endogenous force regulation of endothelial cell behavior. J. Biomech. 43(1), 79–86 (2010)
- 3. Davies, P.F.: Hemodynamic shear stress and the endothelium in cardiovascular pathophysiology. Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med. 6(1), 16–26 (2009)
- 4. Davies, P.F.: Flow-mediated endothelial mechanotransduction. Physiol. Rev. **75**(3), 519–560 (1995)
- 5. Kakisis, J.D., Liapis, C.D., Sumpio, B.E.: Effects of cyclic strain on vascular cells. Endothelium **11**(1), 17–28 (2004)
- Cummins, P.M., von Offenberg Sweeney, N., Killeen, M.T., Birney, Y.A., Redmond, E.M., Cahill, P.A.: Cyclic strain-mediated matrix metalloproteinase regulation within the vascular endothelium: a force to be reckoned with. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circulatory Physiol. 292(1), H28–H42 (2007)
- Vouyouka, A.G., Powell, R.J., Ricotta, J., Chen, H., Dudrick, D.J., Sawmiller, C.J., Dudrick, S.J., Sumpio, B.E.: Ambient pulsatile pressure modulates endothelial cell proliferation. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 30(3), 609–615 (1998)
- 8. Rabodzey, A., Alcaide, P., Luscinskas, F.W., Ladoux, B.: Mechanical forces induced by the transendothelial migration of human neutrophils. Biophys. J. **95**(3), 1428–1438 (2008)
- Sheriff, D.: Point: the muscle pump raises muscle blood flow during locomotion. J. Appl. Physiol. 99(1), 371–382; discussion 374–385 (2005)
- Mahabeleshwar, G.H., Feng, W., Reddy, K., Plow, E.F., Byzova, T.V.: Mechanisms of integrin-vascular endothelial growth factor receptor cross-activation in angiogenesis. Circ. Res. 101(6), 570–580 (2007)
- 11. Califano, J.P., Reinhart-King, C.A.: A balance of substrate mechanics and matrix chemistry regulates endothelial cell network assembly. Cell. Mol. Bioeng. 1(2–3), 122–132 (2008)
- 12. Reinhart-King, C.A., Dembo, M., Hammer, D.A.: The dynamics and mechanics of endothelial cell spreading. Biophys. J. 89(1), 676–689 (2005)
- 13. Califano, J.P., Reinhart-King, C.A.: Substrate stiffness and cell area drive cellular traction stresses in single cells and cells in contact. Cell. Mol. Bioeng. **3**(1), 68–75 (2010)
- 14. Legate, K.R., Fassler, R.: Mechanisms that regulate adaptor binding to beta-integrin cytoplasmic tails. J. Cell Sci. **122**(Pt 2), 187–198 (2009)
- Chen, C.S., Alonso, J.L., Ostuni, E., Whitesides, G.M., Ingber, D.E.: Cell shape provides global control of focal adhesion assembly. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 307(2), 355–361 (2003)
- Bhadriraju, K., Yang, M., Alom Ruiz, S., Pirone, D., Tan, J., Chen, C.S.: Activation of Rock by RhoA is regulated by cell adhesion, shape, and cytoskeletal tension. Exp. Cell. Res. 313(16), 3616–3623 (2007)
- Nelson, C.M., Pirone, D.M., Tan, J.L., Chen, C.S.: Vascular endothelial-cadherin regulates cytoskeletal tension, cell spreading, and focal adhesions by stimulating RhoA. Mol. Biol. Cell 15(6), 2943–2953 (2004)
- Ko, K.S., Arora, P.D., McCulloch, C.A.: Cadherins mediate intercellular mechanical signaling in fibroblasts by activation of stretch-sensitive calcium-permeable channels. J. Biol. Chem. 276(38), 35967–35977 (2001)
- Ganz, A., Lambert, M., Saez, A., Silberzan, P., Buguin, A., Mege, R.M., Ladoux, B.: Traction forces exerted through N-cadherin contacts. Biol. Cell 98(12), 721–730 (2006)
- Ladoux, B., Anon, E., Lambert, M., Rabodzey, A., Hersen, P., Buguin, A., Silberzan, P., Mege, R.M.: Strength dependence of cadherin-mediated adhesions. Biophys. J. 98(4), 534–542 (2010)

المسلك للاستشارات

- Liu, Z., Tan, J.L., Cohen, D.M., Yang, M.T., Sniadecki, N.J., Ruiz, S.A., Nelson, C.M., Chen, C.S.: Mechanical tugging force regulates the size of cell-cell junctions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 107(22), 9944–9949 (2009)
- Huynh, J., Nishimura, N., Rana, K., Peloquin, J.M., Califano, J.P., Montague, C.R., King, M.R., Schaffer, C.B., Reinhart-King, C.A.: Age-Related Intimal Stiffening Enhances Endothelial Permeability and Leukocyte Transmigration. Sci. Transl. Med. 3(112), 112ra– 122ra (2011)
- Ogita, H., Takai, Y.: Cross-talk among integrin, cadherin, and growth factor receptor: roles of nectin and nectin-like molecule. Int. Rev. Cytol. 265, 1–54 (2008)
- Beningo, K.A., Dembo, M., Kaverina, I., Small, J.V., Wang, Y.L.: Nascent focal adhesions are responsible for the generation of strong propulsive forces in migrating fibroblasts. J. Cell Biol. 153(4), 881–888 (2001)
- Mammoto, A., Huang, S., Ingber, D.E.: Filamin links cell shape and cytoskeletal structure to Rho regulation by controlling accumulation of p190RhoGAP in lipid rafts. J. Cell Sci. 120(Pt 3), 456–467 (2007)
- Mammoto, A., Connor, K.M., Mammoto, T., Yung, C.W., Huh, D., Aderman, C.M., Mostoslavsky, G., Smith, L.E., Ingber, D.E.: A mechanosensitive transcriptional mechanism that controls angiogenesis. Nature 457(7233), 1103–1108 (2009)
- Huot, J., Houle, F., Rousseau, S., Deschesnes, R.G., Shah, G.M., Landry, J.: SAPK2/p38dependent F-actin reorganization regulates early membrane blebbing during stress-induced apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 143(5), 1361–1373 (1998)
- 28. van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P., Koolwijk, P., Versteilen, A., van Hinsbergh, V.W.: Involvement of RhoA/Rho kinase signaling in VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis in vitro. Arterioscler Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23(2), 211–217 (2003)
- 29. Yang, M.T., Reich, D.H., Chen, C.S.: Measurement and analysis of traction force dynamics in response to vasoactive agonists. Integr. Biol. (Camb) **3**(6), 663–674 (2011)
- Ezzell, R.M., Goldmann, W.H., Wang, N., Parashurama, N., Ingber, D.E.: Vinculin promotes cell spreading by mechanically coupling integrins to the cytoskeleton. Exp. Cell Res. 231(1), 14–26 (1997)
- Ingber, D.E.: Fibronectin controls capillary endothelial cell growth by modulating cell shape. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 87(9), 3579–3583 (1990)
- Ingber, D.E., Prusty, D., Sun, Z., Betensky, H., Wang, N.: Cell shape, cytoskeletal mechanics, and cell cycle control in angiogenesis. J. Biomech. 28(12), 1471–1484 (1995)
- Roca-Cusachs, P., Alcaraz, J., Sunyer, R., Samitier, J., Farre, R., Navajas, D.: Micropatterning of single endothelial cell shape reveals a tight coupling between nuclear volume in G1 and proliferation. Biophys. J. 94(12), 4984–4995 (2008)
- Chen, C.S., Mrksich, M., Huang, S., Whitesides, G.M., Ingber, D.E.: Geometric control of cell life and death. Science 276(5317), 1425–1428 (1997)
- Chen, C.S., Mrksich, M., Huang, S., Whitesides, G.M., Ingber, D.E.: Micropatterned surfaces for control of cell shape, position, and function. Biotechnol. Prog. 14(3), 356–363 (1998)
- Dike, L.E., Chen, C.S., Mrksich, M., Tien, J., Whitesides, G.M., Ingber, D.E.: Geometric control of switching between growth, apoptosis, and differentiation during angiogenesis using micropatterned substrates. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim. 35(8), 441–448 (1999)
- Huang, S., Chen, C.S., Ingber, D.E.: Control of cyclin D1, p27(Kip1), and cell cycle progression in human capillary endothelial cells by cell shape and cytoskeletal tension. Mol. Biol. Cell 9(11), 3179–3193 (1998)
- Flusberg, D.A., Numaguchi, Y., Ingber, D.E.: Cooperative control of Akt phosphorylation, bcl-2 expression, and apoptosis by cytoskeletal microfilaments and microtubules in capillary endothelial cells. Mol. Biol. Cell **12**(10), 3087–3094 (2001)
- Huang, S., Ingber, D.E.: A discrete cell cycle checkpoint in late G(1) that is cytoskeletondependent and MAP kinase (Erk)-independent. Exp. Cell Res. 275(2), 255–264 (2002)
- Mammoto, A., Huang, S., Moore, K., Oh, P., Ingber, D.E.: Role of RhoA, mDia, and ROCK in cell shape-dependent control of the Skp2-p27kip1 pathway and the G1/S transition. J. Biol. Chem. 279(25), 26323–26330 (2004)

الم للاستشارات

- Nelson, C.M., Chen, C.S.: VE-cadherin simultaneously stimulates and inhibits cell proliferation by altering cytoskeletal structure and tension. J. Cell Sci. 116(Pt 17), 3571– 3581 (2003)
- 42. Gray, D.S., Liu, W.F., Shen, C.J., Bhadriraju, K., Nelson, C.M., Chen, C.S.: Engineering amount of cell-cell contact demonstrates biphasic proliferative regulation through RhoA and the actin cytoskeleton. Exp. Cell Res. **314**(15), 2846–2854 (2008)
- Nelson, C.M., Jean, R.P., Tan, J.L., Liu, W.F., Sniadecki, N.J., Spector, A.A., Chen, C.S.: Emergent patterns of growth controlled by multicellular form and mechanics. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 102(33), 11594–11599 (2005)
- 44. Byfield, F.J., Reen, R.K., Shentu, T.P., Levitan, I., Gooch, K.J.: Endothelial actin and cell stiffness is modulated by substrate stiffness in 2D and 3D. J. Biomech. 42(8), 1114–1119 (2009)
- Maniotis, A.J., Chen, C.S., Ingber, D.E.: Demonstration of mechanical connections between integrins, cytoskeletal filaments, and nucleoplasm that stabilize nuclear structure. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 94(3), 849–854 (1997)
- Dike, L.E., Ingber, D.E.: Integrin-dependent induction of early growth response genes in capillary endothelial cells. J. Cell Sci. 109(Pt 12), 2855–2863 (1996)
- Chen, J., Fabry, B., Schiffrin, E.L., Wang, N.: Twisting integrin receptors increases endothelin-1 gene expression in endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 280(6), C1475–C1484 (2001)
- Pourati, J., Maniotis, A., Spiegel, D., Schaffer, J.L., Butler, J.P., Fredberg, J.J., Ingber, D.E., Stamenovic, D., Wang, N.: Is cytoskeletal tension a major determinant of cell deformability in adherent endothelial cells? Am. J. Physiol. 274(5 Pt 1), C1283–C1289 (1998)
- Kumar, S., Maxwell, I.Z., Heisterkamp, A., Polte, T.R., Lele, T.P., Salanga, M., Mazur, E., Ingber, D.E.: Viscoelastic retraction of single living stress fibers and its impact on cell shape, cytoskeletal organization, and extracellular matrix mechanics. Biophys. J. 90(10), 3762–3773 (2006)
- Lu, L., Oswald, S.J., Ngu, H., Yin, F.C.: Mechanical properties of actin stress fibers in living cells. Biophys. J. 95(12), 6060–6071 (2008)
- Wang, N., Ingber, D.E.: Control of cytoskeletal mechanics by extracellular matrix, cell shape, and mechanical tension. Biophys. J. 66(6), 2181–2189 (1994)
- Matthews, B.D., Overby, D.R., Mannix, R., Ingber, D.E.: Cellular adaptation to mechanical stress: role of integrins, Rho, cytoskeletal tension and mechanosensitive ion channels. J. Cell Sci. 119(Pt 3), 508–518 (2006)
- Panorchan, P., Lee, J.S., Kole, T.P., Tseng, Y., Wirtz, D.: Microrheology and ROCK signaling of human endothelial cells embedded in a 3D matrix. Biophys. J. 91(9), 3499–3507 (2006)
- 54. Stroka, K.M., Aranda-Espinoza, H.: Effects of morphology vs. cell-cell interactions on endothelial cell stiffness. Cell. Mol. Bioeng. **4**(1), 9–27 (2011)
- 55. Ghosh, K., Thodeti, C.K., Dudley, A.C., Mammoto, A., Klagsbrun, M., Ingber, D.E.: Tumorderived endothelial cells exhibit aberrant Rho-mediated mechanosensing and abnormal angiogenesis in vitro. PNAS 105(32), 11305–11310 (2008)
- 56. Folkman, J., Haudenschild, C.: Angiogenesis in vitro. Nature 288(5791), 551-556 (1980)
- Chicurel, M.E., Chen, C.S., Ingber, D.E.: Cellular control lies in the balance of forces. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 10(2), 232–239 (1998)
- Vernon, R.B., Lara, S.L., Drake, C.J., Iruela-Arispe, M.L., Angello, J.C., Little, C.D., Wight, T.N., Sage, E.H.: Organized type I collagen influences endothelial patterns during "spontaneous angiogenesis in vitro": planar cultures as models of vascular development. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim. 31(2), 120–131 (1995)
- Ingber, D.E., Folkman, J.: Mechanochemical switching between growth and differentiation during fibroblast growth factor-stimulated angiogenesis in vitro: role of extracellular matrix. J. Cell Biol. 109(1), 317–330 (1989)

المنارات

- 60. Vailhe, B., Ronot, X., Tracqui, P., Usson, Y., Tranqui, L. In: vitro angiogenesis is modulated by the mechanical properties of fibrin gels and is related to alpha(v)beta3 integrin localization. In: Vitro Cell. Dev Biol. Anim. **33**(10), 763–773 (1997)
- Deroanne, C.F., Lapiere, C.M., Nusgens, B.V.: In vitro tubulogenesis of endothelial cells by relaxation of the coupling extracellular matrix-cytoskeleton. Cardiovasc. Res. 49(3), 647–658 (2001)
- Kuzuya, M., Satake, S., Ai, S., Asai, T., Kanda, S., Ramos, M.A., Miura, H., Ueda, M., Iguchi, A.: Inhibition of angiogenesis on glycated collagen lattices. Diabetologia 41(5), 491– 499 (1998)
- Nehls, V., Herrmann, R.: The configuration of fibrin clots determines capillary morphogenesis and endothelial cell migration. Microvasc. Res. 51(3), 347–364 (1996)
- Sieminski, A.L., Hebbel, R.P., Gooch, K.J.: The relative magnitudes of endothelial force generation and matrix stiffness modulate capillary morphogenesis in vitro. Exp. Cell Res. 297(2), 574–584 (2004)
- 65. Guo, W.H., Frey, M.T., Burnham, N.A., Wang, Y.L.: Substrate rigidity regulates the formation and maintenance of tissues. Biophys. J. **90**(6), 2213–2220 (2006)
- 66. Ghajar, C.M., Blevins, K.S., Hughes, C.C., George, S.C., Putnam, A.J.: Mesenchymal stem cells enhance angiogenesis in mechanically viable prevascularized tissues via early matrix metalloproteinase upregulation. Tissue Eng. 12(10), 2875–2888 (2006)
- 67. Shamloo, A., Heilshorn, S.C.: Matrix density mediates polarization and lumen formation of endothelial sprouts in VEGF gradients. Lab. Chip. **10**(22), 3061–3068 (2010)
- Parker, K.K., Brock, A.L., Brangwynne, C., Mannix, R.J., Wang, N., Ostuni, E., Geisse, N.A., Adams, J.C., Whitesides, G.M., Ingber, D.E.: Directional control of lamellipodia extension by constraining cell shape and orienting cell tractional forces. FASEB J 16(10), 1195–1204 (2002)
- Fainaru, O., Almog, N., Yung, C.W., Nakai, K., Montoya-Zavala, M., Abdollahi, A., D'Amato, R., Ingber, D.E.: Tumor growth and angiogenesis are dependent on the presence of immature dendritic cells. FASEB J 24(5), 1411–1418 (2010)
- Ghajar, C.M., Kachgal, S., Kniazeva, E., Mori, H., Costes, S.V., George, S.C., Putnam, A.J.: Mesenchymal cells stimulate capillary morphogenesis via distinct proteolytic mechanisms. Exp. Cell Res. **316**(5), 813–825 (2010)
- Kachgal, S., Putnam, A.J.: Mesenchymal stem cells from adipose and bone marrow promote angiogenesis via distinct cytokine and protease expression mechanisms. Angiogenesis 14(1), 47–59 (2011)
- 72. Grainger, S.J., Putnam, A.J.: Assessing the permeability of engineered capillary networks in a 3D culture. PLoS ONE **6**(7), e22086 (2011)
- Chen, X., Aledia, A.S., Ghajar, C.M., Griffith, C.K., Putnam, A.J., Hughes, C.C., George, S.C.: Prevascularization of a fibrin-based tissue construct accelerates the formation of functional anastomosis with host vasculature. Tissue Eng. Part A 15(6), 1363–1371 (2009)
- Kniazeva, E., Putnam, A.J.: Endothelial cell traction and ECM density influence both capillary morphogenesis and maintenance in 3-D. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 297(1), C179–C187 (2009)
- Kniazeva, E., Kachgal, S., Putnam, A.J.: Effects of extracellular matrix density and mesenchymal stem cells on neovascularization in vivo. Tissue Eng. Part A 17(7–8), 905–914 (2011)
- Oliver, T., Dembo, M., Jacobson, K.: Separation of propulsive and adhesive traction stresses in locomoting keratocytes. J. Cell Biol. 145(3), 589–604 (1999)
- Palecek, S.P., Loftus, J.C., Ginsberg, M.H., Lauffenburger, D.A., Horwitz, A.F.: Integrinligand binding properties govern cell migration speed through cell-substratum adhesiveness. Nature 385(6616), 537–540 (1997)
- Peyton, S.R., Putnam, A.J.: Extracellular matrix rigidity governs smooth muscle cell motility in a biphasic fashion. J. Cell Physiol. 204(1), 198–209 (2005)
- 79. Jannat, R.A., Dembo, M., Hammer, D.A.: Neutrophil adhesion and chemotaxis depend on substrate mechanics. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 22(19), 194117 (2010)

21 للاستشارات

- Lo, C.M., Wang, H.B., Dembo, M., Wang, Y.L.: Cell movement is guided by the rigidity of the substrate. Biophys. J. 79(1), 144–152 (2000)
- Reinhart-King, C.A., Dembo, M., Hammer, D.A.: Cell-cell mechanical communication through compliant substrates. Biophys. J. 95(12), 6044–6051 (2008)
- Isenberg, B.C., Dimilla, P.A., Walker, M., Kim, S., Wong, J.Y.: Vascular smooth muscle cell durotaxis depends on substrate stiffness gradient strength. Biophys. J. 97(5), 1313–1322 (2009)
- Tse, J.R., Engler, A.J.: Stiffness gradients mimicking in vivo tissue variation regulate mesenchymal stem cell fate. PLoS ONE 6(1), e15978 (2011)
- 84. Gray, D.S., Tien, J., Chen, C.S.: Repositioning of cells by mechanotaxis on surfaces with micropatterned Young's modulus. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A **66**(3), 605–614 (2003)
- Davis, G.E., Senger, D.R.: Endothelial extracellular matrix: biosynthesis, remodeling, and functions during vascular morphogenesis and neovessel stabilization. Circ. Res. 97(11), 1093–1107 (2005)
- Saunders, R.L., Hammer, D.A.: Assembly of human umbilical vein endothelial cells on compliant hydrogels. Cell. Mol. Bioeng. 3(1), 60–67 (2010)
- de Rooij, J., Kerstens, A., Danuser, G., Schwartz, M.A., Waterman-Storer, C.M.: Integrindependent actomyosin contraction regulates epithelial cell scattering. J. Cell Biol. 171(1), 153–164 (2005)
- du Roure, O., Saez, A., Buguin, A., Austin, R.H., Chavrier, P., Silberzan, P., Ladoux, B.: Force mapping in epithelial cell migration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A **102**(7), 2390–2395 (2005)
- Trepat, X., Wasserman, M.R., Angelini, T.E., Millet, E., Weitz, D.A., Butler, J.P., Fredberg, J.J.: Physical forces during collective cell migration. Nat. Phys. 5(6), 426–430 (2009)
- Saez, A., Ghibaudo, M., Buguin, A., Silberzan, P., Ladoux, B.: Rigidity-driven growth and migration of epithelial cells on microstructured anisotropic substrates. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 104(20), 8281–8286 (2007)
- Krishnan, L., Hoying, J.B., Nguyen, H., Song, H., Weiss, J.A.: Interaction of angiogenic microvessels with the extracellular matrix. Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol. 293(6), H3650–H3658 (2007)
- Reinhart-King, C.A., Dembo, M., Hammer, D.A.: Endothelial cell traction forces on RGDderivatized polyacrylamide substrata. Langmuir 19(5), 1573–1579 (2003)
- Vernon, R.B., Angello, J.C., Iruela-Arispe, M.L., Lane, T.F., Sage, E.H.: Reorganization of basement membrane matrices by cellular traction promotes the formation of cellular networks in vitro. Lab. Invest. 66(5), 536–547 (1992)
- 94. Zhou, X., Rowe, R.G., Hiraoka, N., George, J.P., Wirtz, D., Mosher, D.F., Virtanen, I., Chernousov, M.A., Weiss, S.J.: Fibronectin fibrillogenesis regulates three-dimensional neovessel formation. Genes Dev. 22(9), 1231–1243 (2008)
- Magnusson, M.K., Mosher, D.F.: Fibronectin: structure, assembly, and cardiovascular implications. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 18(9), 1363–1370 (1998)
- Lemmon, C.A., Chen, C.S., Romer, L.H.: Cell traction forces direct fibronectin matrix assembly. Biophys. J. 96(2), 729–738 (2009)
- Dzamba, B.J., Jakab, K.R., Marsden, M., Schwartz, M.A., DeSimone, D.W.: Cadherin adhesion, tissue tension, and noncanonical wnt signaling regulate fibronectin matrix organization. Dev. Cell 16(3), 421–432 (2009)

المنسارات

Computational Modeling of Angiogenesis: Towards a Multi-Scale Understanding of Cell–Cell and Cell–Matrix Interactions

Sonja E. M. Boas, Margriet M. Palm, Pieter Koolwijk and Roeland M. H. Merks

Abstract Combined with in vitro and in vivo experiments, mathematical and computational modeling are key to unraveling how mechanical and chemical signaling by endothelial cells coordinates their organization into capillary-like tubes. While in vitro and in vivo experiments can unveil the effects of, for example, environmental changes or gene knockouts, computational models provide a way to formalize and understand the mechanisms underlying these observations. This chapter reviews recent computational approaches to model angiogenesis, and discusses the insights they provide into the mechanisms of angiogenesis. We introduce a new cell-based computational model of an in vitro assay of angiogenic sprouting from endothelial monolayers in fibrin matrices. Endothelial cells are modeled by the Cellular Potts Model, combined with continuum descriptions to model haptotaxis and proteolysis of the extracellular matrix. The computational model demonstrates how a variety of cellular structural

S. E. M. Boas e-mail: S.E.M.Boas@cwi.nl

M. M. Palm e-mail: M.M.Palm@cwi.nl

P. Koolwijk

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_8, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

S. E. M. Boas · M. M. Palm · R. M. H. Merks (⊠) Centrum Wiskunde and Informatica, 1098 XG, Amsterdam, The Netherlands e-mail: R.M.H.Merks@cwi.nl

S. E. M. Boas · M. M. Palm · R. M. H. Merks Netherlands Consortium for Systems Biology, Netherlands Institute for Systems Biology, 1098 XG, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

VU University Medical Center, Van der Boechorststraat 7, Amsterdam, The Netherlands e-mail: P.Koolwijk@vumc.nl

properties and behaviors determine the dynamics of tube formation. We aim to extend this model to a multi-scale model in the sense that cells, extracellular matrix and cell-regulation are described at different levels of detail and feedback on each other. Finally we discuss how computational modeling, combined with in vitro and in vivo modeling steers experiments, and how it generates new experimental hypotheses and insights on the mechanics of angiogenesis.

1 Introduction

Blood vessel growth is essential during embryogenesis, but is also a prominent aspect of diseases such as cancer, rheumatoid arthritis and retinopathy. Angiogenesis research can benefit from computational models in three ways. Firstly, computational models help to gain an overview in this complex system by testing which components and interactions are minimally required. These components and interactions can then be examined to understand their function and predict their effects. Computational models are therefore not only useful to gain mechanistic understanding of angiogenesis, but also to find new therapeutic targets. Secondly, computational models can discriminate between and select from alternative hypotheses. Often, more than one hypothesis explains a biological observation, such as network formation from dispersed endothelial cells. Computational models can test the sufficiency of each hypotheses to reproduce the biological observations. Predictions that result from these models can be validated experimentally to support or reject the tested hypotheses. Thirdly, computational models can connect and combine knowledge on single proteins and mechanisms to examine angiogenesis as a system. Experimental research is often limited to a specific step or protein in angiogenesis and does not grasp how this part is integrated in the whole. Ultimately, computational models include processes at multiple scales, like extracellular matrix, cells, and cell-regulation simultaneously. Such multi-scale models are the next step in computational modeling to make the transition to angiogenesis in the body.

In the first section, computational models of network formation and sprouting are reviewed. These models address questions that have been raised by experimental observations and thereby give new insights in angiogenesis. It concludes by discussing the current state of multi-scale modeling. The next section gives a practical example of how computational models can be used in angiogenesis research and shows how systems biology, a continuous cooperation between computational and experimental biologists, drives development of computational models. To do so, we introduce a new computational model of sprouting, based on an experimental model of capillary-like tube formation by Koolwijk et al. [1]. Finally we will discuss which steps should be taken in angiogenesis research to further evolve computational modeling.



2 Computational Models of Angiogenesis

The first models of angiogenesis were continuum models that describe angiogenesis in terms of the spatial density of cells [2–5]. The main advantage of these models is that they can often be solved analytically, but they are often too abstract to mimic angiogenesis realistically. More complex techniques allow for a more detailed description of angiogenesis, which yields more realistic models. Such techniques include discrete methods such as particle based modeling that describe cells as point-like particles [6, 7] and cell-based models [8–10] that also explicitly model the cell shape and membrane. These discrete methods are often combined with continuum models, creating a hybrid model [11–14] in order to utilize the strength of both methods.

This section reviews computational models of angiogenic network formation and sprouting. Network formation involves the collective behavior of cells and the interaction of cells with their environment. Models of sprouting angiogenesis are used to describe angiogenesis induced by cells in hypoxic tissues, e.g., a tumor.

2.1 Network Formation

During early vascular development endothelial cells join into a primitive vascular network. Vascular network formation can be mimicked in vitro by seeding endothelial cells on a suitable matrix containing nutrients and angiogenic factors; for example Fig. 1a shows endothelial cells seeded on Matrigel matrix forming a network-like pattern. The conditions in in vitro network formation experiments differ greatly from in vivo angiogenesis. Yet, specific cases of angiogenesis result in similar vascular networks such as angiogenesis in the yolk sac and retinal angiogenesis. In both cases the vasculature arises from a vascular plexus containing endothelial cells.

In vitro experiments showed that, after the network is formed, almost all matrix is located beneath the cells [15]. This led to the hypothesis that cells pull on the matrix, resulting in matrix accumulation below cell clusters. The pulling forces of the cells also cause the formation of tension lines, radiating from the clusters, in the surrounding matrix, along which cells migrate [3]. This model assumes that cells can exert traction on the matrix, which results in matrix deformation and heterogeneity of strain in the matrix. Cells preferentially move along the orientation of high stress. The model suggests that matrix remodeling suffices for network formation.

Namy and coworkers combine the effects of cell traction with haptotactic cell migration along matrix gradients [4] (Fig. 1b). They found an optimal cell density at which networks can be created, corresponding with experimental observations [16]. Similarly, a range of matrix stiffness, which is linked to the fibrin density of the experimental matrix, was tested. This model suggested that active cell migration may



Fig. 1 Overview of vascular network formation. **a** Shows a vasculature grown in vitro with HUVEC on Matrigel. **b** Illustrates the networks formed with the mechanical continuum model [4]. **c** Shows the outcome of the chemical continuum model [5]. **d** and **e** Show the networks formed with the chemical cell-based model, respectively with contact inhibition (**d**) [14] or cell elongation (**e**) [13]. **f** Illustrates the networks formed with the cell-based model with preferential attraction to elongated structures [9]. All images were reproduced with the publishers permission

be required for network formation which contradicts the observations by Manoussaki et al. [3].

Both previous models consider mechanical interactions between cells and the matrix to be the driving forces for network formation. Serini et al. [5, 17] proposed that chemotaxis is the driving force of network formation [5]. In the in vitro models cells move predominantly towards regions of high cell density suggesting that the cells are attracted by a chemoattractant secreted by the cells. Therefore, the computational model assumes that cells secrete a chemoattractant to which cells move preferentially. This model produces network-like patterns as shown in Fig. 1c. Two important predictions are made based on this model. First, the model predicts an optimal cell density for the formation of stable vascular networks and second, the size of the meshes in the network depend on the diffusivity and decay rate of the chemoattractant.

The mechanical and chemical hypotheses for vascular network formation have also been combined in one mechanochemical model [18]. This continuum model hypothesizes that network formation consists of two stages. First, cells move upwards chemical gradients. Second, at higher local cell density, the cells do not sense the gradient, but the high cell density signals them to start remodeling the matrix. This then attracts cells to the high density regions. The mechanochemical

model showed that the assumptions indeed lead to network formation and that chemotaxis drives the formation of networks while mechanical interaction stabilize the formed network. In this model matrix elasticity does not affect the properties of the networks. The mechanochemical model is not able to reproduce all observations from both chemical and mechanical angiogenesis models; a more detailed description of the matrix mechanics is required that also influences early cell migration.

Clearly, multiple hypotheses can be used to explain the experimentally observed network formation. Moreover, model observations and predictions for both the mechanical and the chemotaxis model could be reproduced in vitro [4, 5]. The mechanical models show that matrix thickness and stiffness may be determining factors in network formation, as has been show experimentally [15]. The chemical models reproduce the VEGF dependence that has been observed in vitro [5] as well as a characteristic length of the networks that depends on the diffusivity of the chemoattractant [19]. Both models only produce one similar prediction; there is an optimal cell density for network formation, below this density cells disconnect and above this density cells aggregate [16]. Therefore, it remains unclear whether the two mechanisms are involved in angiogenesis in different environments, or that the two mechanism act consecutive or simultaneously during angiogenesis.

Cell-based models The models discussed so far use a continuum description for both cells and mechanical or chemical fields, meaning that cells and fields are described as densities. This kind of description is appropriate for mechanical and chemical fields; for example, the concentration of a specific chemical can be measured at a specific position and can have any value. However, generalization of cells into cell densities ignores cell behavior, cell properties and cell–cell interactions, which are often key to morphogenic processes such as angiogenesis. Therefore, cells should be the basis of an angiogenesis model. Cell–based models incorporate detailed cell–cell interactions as well as cell properties such as cell shape and size, which can also be measured experimentally for quantification of the parameters and the predictions of the models [20]. Dynamic cell properties and behavior can be added by extending each cell with regulation networks, such as signaling or genetic pathways. Altogether, cell-based models are a solid basis for computational angiogenesis models that can be used to explain tissue effects at the cell level [21].

Different hypotheses have been implemented and compared using cell-based models. One of these models is a hybrid cell-based model, using the Cellular Potts Model (see also Sect. 3.1), which is based on the assumption that cells chemotact toward a chemoattractant that they themselves secrete [13, 14, 22, 23]. This assumption is similar to the assumption used for the continuum chemotaxis model [5]. In this cell-based model the cells' shape, size and membrane surface are described explicitly, and chemicals are described as continuous fields. One of the main advantages of this cell-based model is the more realistic chemotactic response of cells. This cell based model can be used to simulate network formation solely by defining cell behavior and properties. When only autocrine chemotaxis is

implemented, network formation only occurs for narrow parameter ranges: strongly adhering cells or steep chemical gradients [22, 23]. Therefore, Merks et al. proposed two hypotheses for which network formation occurred for a much wider range of parameters: contact inhibition [14] and cell elongation [13].

The contact inhibition hypothesis proposes that cells only respond to the autocrine chemoattractants where the cell membrane is not in contact with other cells. This exclusive sensing is thought to be mediated through the dual function of VE-cadherin; it acts as a homophilic trans-membrane cell-adhesion molecule and it plays an inhibitor role in the VEGF signaling pathway [24] which increases cell motility. Contact-inhibition locally reduces the cell motility. Therefore, cells within the cluster do not respond to the chemoattractant that all cells secrete. This process appears to contribute to both network formation (Fig. 1d) and sprouting angiogenesis. The reasons for this are best understood in the context of sprouting angiogenesis and will therefore be discussed in Sect 2.1.

The cell elongation hypothesis is based on the biological observation that cells elongate during network formation. In this model, the combination of elongated cells with autocrine chemotaxis results in network formation [13]. The final network, which can be observed in Fig. 1e, is similar to in vitro networks. When cell elongation is omitted, the cells aggregate instead of forming network, indicating that cell elongation drives network formation in this model. The evolution of network properties over time, such as the number of nodes and meshes, correspond with data from in vitro experiments with HUVECs on Matrigel. This suggests that cell elongation may play an important rule during network formation. In this model network formation occurs at two time-scales. First, cell elongation induces a persistent movement along the long axis of the cell. This causes the formation of thin branches of connected cells. Second, the network coarsens by fusion of branches and mesh collapse. This is driven by the chemotaxis that enables slow migration of cells along their short axis.

An alternative hypothesis was proposed by Szabó et al. [7, 9, 10]. Their experiments suggested that neither mechanical interactions nor chemotaxis are required for network formation [7] and that cells move preferential towards elongated cells. From these observation they propose that network formation is driven by the *preferential attraction to elongated structures*. This hypothesis has been used as a basis for both a particle based model [7] and a cell-based model [9, 10]. In the particle based model cells are represented by point particles that diffuse and adhere to their neighbors. While this model lacks some key cell properties, including cell shape, it suffices as a *proof-of-concept* model for preferential attraction to elongated structures. The models are used both to investigate network formation from dispersed cells [9] and sprouting from a blob of cells [10]. This model suggests that cells can indeed form network only due to cell-cell interactions, as is shown in Fig. 1f. Sprouts formed in these networks only become stable when they connect to other sprouts, suggesting that anastomosis stabilizes the formed network.

Because they all produce similar morphological patterns, none of the modeled hypotheses can be ruled out as a driving force for network formation. Cell-based

models [13, 14, 22, 23] suggest that autocrine chemotaxis, combined with cell properties such as contact inhibition of cell elongation, may drive angiogenesis. Other cell-based angiogenesis model [7, 9, 10] have suggested that autocrine chemotaxis may not be necessary at all. Moreover, mechanical interactions between cells and the matrix have not yet been modeled with a cell-based model. Adding this mechanical interaction to cell-based angiogenesis models will help to gain a true understanding of the mechanisms involved in angiogenesis

2.2 Sprouting

Sprouting angiogenesis is the formation of new vessels by creating a sprout in the wall of the existing vessel. This form of angiogenesis is often observed in the vicinity of hypoxic tissue that secretes angiogenic factors, e.g., a growing tumor, which activate and attract endothelial cells from the existing vessels [25].

By stimulating the formation of a new vasculature, a tumor is able to grow and proliferate. The mechanisms underlying the dynamics of sprouting angiogenesis are still poorly understood. What mechanisms guide the growing sprout? How do biochemical and biomechanical interactions of the ECM with cells effect sprouting? Is proliferation required and where is proliferation located in the sprout? How are tip cells selected in the vessel and what causes sprouts to branch? Computational models have contributed to a better understanding of these issues.

In corneal angiogenesis sprouting is restricted in absence of proliferation; sprouts will not reach a tumor when cells are not able to divide [26]. A continuum model [2] describes the change in cell density over time due to cell migration driven by cell diffusion, chemotaxis and haptotaxis. The initial configuration of the simulation consists of a blood vessel at one side and a tumor at the other side of the simulation domain. This tumor secretes a chemoattractant, resulting in a gradient of chemoattractant that attracts cells towards the tumor. Haptotaxis is induced by fibronectin that the cells secrete themselves. The highest levels of fibronectin are present where the cell density is maximum. Therefore, haptotaxis and chemotaxis work in opposite directions. The continuum model suggests that, in absence of proliferation, the sprouting is restricted. The authors propose that this is caused because haptotaxis outweighs chemotaxis and increasing the number of cells would increase the chemotactic response.

A problem with this model is that it describes cells as a density field, hence it cannot describe how the sprout breaks up due to lack of proliferation. Therefore, a discrete modeling approach has been introduced to study cell proliferation in the sprout [8]. As illustrated in Fig. 2a the model mimics a cornea with a lesion in the center from which VEGF is secreted. A sprout grows from the periphery and consist of multiple cell types; one leading tip and multiple following stalk cells. The tip cell migrates towards the center induced by the VEGF gradient. Tip cell migration is limited by the elasticity of the tip cell and the strength of the adhesion between stalk cells. Adding proliferation enables unlimited sprout extension.

This model suggests that basic cell properties can explain the need for proliferation in sprouting.

The model by Szabó et al. [10] describes cell shape, cell membrane and cell migration in much more detail. The model does not consider chemotaxis or cell-matrix interactions. The cell properties and behavior that are specific for this model are preferential attraction to elongated structures, cell polarity and self-propulsion (i.e. persistence of motion). The model also differentiates between tip and stalk cells. The tip cell is polarized, causing directed movement in the direction of the polarization vector. The results shown in Fig. 2c suggest that both preferential attraction and self-propulsion are necessary to reproduce realistic sprouting behavior. Cell polarization may be regulated by cell–cell contacts and VE-cadherin may be a key player for this. Moreover, the model suggest that differential behavior at the tip of the sprout may drive sprout formation. Therefore, this model suggests that proliferation may not be required, as long as the supply of cells from the main vessel is sufficient.

Cell-matrix interactions The previous two cell-based sprouting models have only considered cell properties and cell behavior, ignoring all ECM and stromal tissue. Anderson and coworkers [6] created a particle based, hybrid model describing sprouting angiogenesis. In this model cells are represented as point particles on a grid while the chemotactic and haptotactic fields are still described as continuum equations. This model was used to investigate how the balance of haptotaxis and chemotaxis influences branching and anastomosis. As shown in Fig. 2b branching and anastomosis occur in the model, but these behaviors only occur when cells are able to move perpendicular to the chemotactic field, which is enabled by haptotaxis. When the haptotactic forces are strong enough branches can split and reconnect in order to form a functional vasculature.

Anderson et al. model [6] suggests that haptotaxis is key to branching, but it did not show how cells interact with their heterogeneous environment. A more recent, cell-based model, represents the ECM as a static, heterogeneous configuration of matrix fiber bundles, interstitial fluid and immobile tissue-specific cells [11]. The endothelial cells in the model are motile and adhere stronger to matrix fibers than to the surrounding matrix. Immobile cells act as obstacles that hinder the migration of endothelial cells. The tip cell is influenced by a chemoattractant field and it degrades ECM components. Degradation of the extracellular matrix during sprouting enables cells to migrate and branch off the main sprout as shown in Fig. 2d. The model suggests that a heterogeneous composition of the matrix is necessary for the formation of branches; the inhomogeneities in the matrix enable cells to split from the main branch. Furthermore, the model suggests that the proliferation region determines sprouting dynamics but does not affect the final sprout morphology.

A follow-up model was used to investigate cell-ECM interaction in more detail [27]. In this model all cells respond to the chemoattractant and that the immobile tissue cells are removed, ie, only fibers cause matrix heterogeneity. The model suggests that sprouting only occurs in a specific range of matrix densities, which corresponds with experimental observations. Moreover, simulation results suggest



Fig. 2 Overview of the computational models of angiogenic sprouting. **a** Shows corneal angiogenesis as modeled in the discrete model based on tip cell elasticity and stalk cell adhesion [8]. **b** Shows the networks formed with the discrete model with chemotaxis and fibrinectin induced haptotaxis [6]. **c** Shows sprouting induced by preferential attraction to elongated structures in a cell-based model [10]. **d** Shows the outcome of the cell-based model of sprouting angiogenesis in a heterogeneous ECM [11]. **e** Illustrates how contact inhibition induces sprouting in the cell-based chemotaxis model [14]. **f** Shows how tip cells form sprouts in the agent-based tip cell selection and sprouting model [12]. All images were reproduced with the publishers permission

that low fiber density results in cell elongation. Similar changes were observed when the random fibers were replaced by a specific fiber pattern, for example long fibers cause cells to elongate in the same direction as the fibers. The authors propose that contact guidance, due to cell-matrix interactions, is key to role in vascular sprouting because it enables sprout branching in an inhomogeneous matrix.

Another model suggests branching can occur in the absence of matrix heterogeneity [14]. The model assumes cells are attracted towards an autocrine chemoattractant, using similar rules as in chemotaxis-based network model (Sect. 2.1). Contact inhibition mediated by VE-cadherin causes cells to be only sensitive to the chemoattractant at positions of the cell membrane adjacent to the ECM. Sprouting occurs in two ways. First, when cells are arranged in an aggregate, only the outer layer of cells sense the chemoattractant. These cells tend to migrate towards the center of the aggregate causing a buckling instability that induces sprouting. This effect enables cells, even those with a low motility, to move against the chemotactic gradient. Second, another mechanism may explain sprouting for

highly motile cells. To move away from the mother vessel and form a sprout, cells must migrate *against* a steep gradient of self-secreted chemoattractant. Once a small sprout is created by a motile cell, the gradient around this outgrowth is less steep than the rest of the gradient, so cells within the sprout have higher motility than elsewhere, causing an instability.

Although most of the previous models simplified angiogenesis by assuming endothelial cells all have identical properties, in fact differentiation between leading "tip" cells and following "stalk" cells is key to sprouting angiogenesis. Bentley et al. [12] investigate the molecular and biophysical mechanisms driving tip and stalk cell differentiation using an agent-based, computational model [12]. The model represents a row of cylindrical endothelial tip and stalk cells made up of multiple agents. Only the tip cells can extend filopodia outwards, representing an new sprout as shown in Fig. 2f. The model is used to study the interaction between Dll4-Notch1-signaling with VEGF-induces tip cell activation [28]. The robustness of tip cell selection is investigated by applying a VEGF gradient perpendicular to the vessel [29]; each cell senses the same level of VEGF, which combined with a Dll4-Notch1-based lateral inhibition mechanism produces a pattern of alternating tip and stalk cells. The tip cells grow long filopodia that may meet up to form a connected vessel; anastomosis. When the common surface area of the connecting tip cells has increased sufficiently, one of the two cells becomes a stalk cells and the vessel stabilizes. Thus, the model suggests that the common surface area is a determining factor for tip cells selection; if the common surface area is too small lateral inhibition does not work. A second application of the model involved cellular competition for the tip cell position. Time-lapse microscopy has shown how stalk cells migrate along the sprout, take up the role of tip cell, and inhibit the original tip cell become a stalk cell [30]. Cell variants with higher levels of VEGFR2-expression have a competitive advantage over the wildtypes: they end up more often at the tip of the sprout, but only if Notch1 can inhibit Dll4 expression. The advantage of the variants diminishes when all cells have low levels of Notch1. These observations suggest that Notch limits the levels of VEGFR2 in wild-type cells. Bentley tests this hypothesis in her agent-based angiogenesis model by applying a VEGF gradient along the sprout and by allowing cells to switch places. Switching is regulated the level of VEGFR2 and Notch expression; VEGFR2 promotes switches towards VEGF while Notch1 inhibits the same switches. With these assumptions the experimental observation could be reproduced, suggesting that this mechanism may explain tip cell shuffling.

2.3 The Future of Angiogenesis Modeling

The models discussed so far, all isolated specific aspects of angiogenesis to predict the outcome of proposed in vitro experiments. To study angiogenesis in vivo, we must incorporate the interaction with the rest of the body in a multi-scale model.

Angiogenesis is induced by hypoxic tissue which, for example, can be a tumor or an active muscle. The change in oxygen and nutrient supply due to the new vasculature changes the signals coming from the tissue, resulting in a dynamic feedback loop between angiogenesis and the needs of the tissue. Also blood flow may be key to this feedback. Disfunctional vessels are not able to support blood flow and do not contribute to the perfusion of the tissue. Endothelial cells change their behavior due to the shear stresses induced by blood flow [31]. The inclusion of these processes in a multi-scale angiogenesis model would be a great tool to study whether pathological processes either involve excessive or insufficient blood vessel growth. Such multi-scale models can not only be used to formalize and validate hypotheses, they can also be used to predict the effects of pro- or antiangiogenic therapies on the vasculature and the other tissues involved.

In order to build these multi-scale models, researchers often extend existing models. For example, the particle-based sprouting model by Anderson et al. [6] has been extended with blood flow [32]. This model suggested that most vessels are not perfused due to the lack of anastomosis, and thus drugs can not reach the target. More complex approaches have been used to combine more detailed angiogenesis models with blood flow and the kinetics of oxygen and VEGF [33–35]. This model has show to produce vascularization similar to experimental observation in a heterogeneous extracellular matrix [34] and in the skeletal muscle [36].

In the previous models the surroundings of the vasculature are static and are not being changed by the growing vessels and the increasing supply of oxygen and nutrients. This means that a part of the feedback is missing, for example a tumor can grow when the blood supply increases and a larger tumor needs a bigger supply of blood. Shirinifard et al. [37] combined cell-based Cellular Potts models (see Sect. 3.1) of blood vessel formation and tumor growth to investigate how tumor growth and vascular remodeling interact. This high level of detail gives insight in how specific cell properties influence tumor growth and angiogenesis.

Cell-based modeling would be a suitable approach to create predictive multiscale models. Cell behavior in such a model must be linked to biological or physical cell properties. The extracellular matrix as well as blood flow could be added to the model. Then, the cell properties could be linked to matrix interactions and local levels of oxygen, nutrients and other chemicals. A cell-based model could simulate emergent angiogenesis and blood vessel remodeling and could be used to predict the effects of therapeutic agents.

3 Cell-Based Model of In Vitro Sprouting

The previous section discussed how multi-level computational models aim to fuse models to incorporate different aspects of angiogenesis, such as cell behavior, matrix interactions and blood flow. Processes like chemotaxis and haptotaxis can be described with continuum models, while we argued that the representation of cells requires a cell-based approach. Cell-based models explicitly model cell





structures (e.g. cell membranes) and cell behaviors (e.g. cell-cell adhesion and pseudopod extensions). These models are intuitive and relate well with biological observations. To illustrate the approach, we created a computational cell-based model of an in vitro model of capillary-like tube formation, introduced by Koolwijk et al. [1].

A schematic representation of a cross-section of the experimental model is given in Fig. 3. A monolayer of isolated human microvascular endothelial cells (hMVEC) is seeded on a three-dimensional fibrin matrix. The composition of this matrix, consisting of only fibrin (Fig. 7), is completely controlled and reproducible. The endothelial cells grow into the matrix and form capillary-like tubular structures upon stimulation with an angiogenic factor, VEGF and/or bFGF (basic fibroblast growth factor), in combination with the inflammatory mediator TNF α (tumor-necrosis factor alpha). TNF α is suggested to induce receptor-bound u-PA (urokinase-type plasminogen activator) activity to enable the cells to degrade the fibrin matrix [38]. Although VEGF and bFGF are both growth factors, TNF α completely inhibited the growth factor-induced proliferation in this experimental model.

The computational model of sprouting is designed to be easy to relate to the experimental observations. The model can be used to explain and predict angiogenic patterning on tissue level, based on quantitative descriptions of cell behavior. The most important cell behaviors, such as cell shape, cell adhesion and haptotaxis are therefore included, and their effects and relative importance in sprouting can be examined. Endothelial cells have a wide range of interactions with the extracellular matrix, of which the function as well the effects are often still unclear. Endothelial cells for instance secrete proteolytic enzymes to degrade the matrix. The proteolytic activity is regulated by a complex system and the computational model can help to gain insight in the relative importance of the components in this system, in the regulation of the system and in the effect of this regulation on sprouting.

3.1 Computational Sprouting Model

To mimic the experimental set-up of Koolwijk et al., the computational model starts with a monolayer of cells, of which one is a tip cell and the rest are stalk cells, on a fibrin matrix and a basement membrane (BM) in between. The Cellular



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of the cellular potts model. The different colors depict the types defined in the sprouting model. The tip cell secretes MMP and u-PA (*large arrows*) to degrade the extracellular matrix and the small arrows on top represent a the small chemorepulsive pressure on the cells

Potts model [39, 40] describes the shape, behavior and movement of the cells. The tip cell will secrete proteolytic enzymes, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and u-PA, to degrade the BM and fibrin respectively. The endothelial cells are attracted to higher concentrations of fibrin, which is also modeled as a concentration field, and migrate into the created space to form a sprout. On top, a local chemorepulsive field exerts a small pressure on the endothelial cells in the monolayer to keep them flattened and well connected. A schematic overview of the model is given in Fig. 4.

The Cellular Potts model represents cells, BM and fibrin as patches of grid sites (Fig. 4), which are differentiated by types (τ) with specific properties and behaviors. Cells can migrate by the addition and removal of grid sites at their cell membranes, which can be seen as extensions or retractions of pseudopodia. A grid site (**x**) is added or removed by copying the contents of a neighboring grid site (**x**') (Fig. 5). Whether such a copy is allowed depends on an energy function, which summarizes the balance of forces resulting from cell behavior: $E = E_{contact} + E_{shape} + E_{connectivity}$. The change in this local energy (ΔE) for a certain copy is a measure for its favorability. Energy decreasing copies will always be accepted; while a copy that increases energy will be accepted according to a Boltzmann probability function: $P_{accept}(\Delta E) = e^{\frac{-\Delta E}{\mu}}$. The ability to accept copies that cost energy resembles active cell motility, with the parameter μ a cell motility parameter.

Adhesion or repulsion by cells is modeled by contact energy between types $(J_{\tau 1,\tau 2})$: lower energies resemble stronger adhesions between types. The model is surrounded by a border (Fig. 4) which has high contact energy with cells to prevent them from sticking to the edges. The overall contact energy sums the contact energies between cells and between cells and their surrounding:



Fig. 5 Graphical representation of a copy attempt. A random grid site (x) is chosen to copy the state of a neighboring grid site (x') to simulate pseudopod extensions and retractions

$$\mathbf{E}_{\text{contact}} = \sum_{(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}')} J_{\tau(\mathbf{x}), \tau(\mathbf{x}')},$$

with $(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}')$ a pair of adjacent grid sites at the cell membrane. Migrating cells have a typical shape, depending on cell size (area) and membrane surface (perimeter). Therefore, the energy increases with the deviation of a target value. λ_{area} and $\lambda_{perimeter}$ indicate the weights of the constraints.

$$\mathbf{E}_{\text{shape}} = \sum_{c \in \text{cells}} \lambda_{\text{area}}(\tau_c) \big(A(c) - A_{\text{target}}(\tau_c) \big)^2 + \lambda_{\text{perimeter}}(\tau_c) \big(P(c) - P_{\text{target}}(\tau_c) \big)^2$$

Biological cells do not break up, thus all pixels of one cell must be connected. Therefore, a large penalty energy ($E_{connectivity}$; see Table 1) is added to the energy function when a tip or stalk cell has lost its connectivity [41].

The tip and stalk cell are surrounded by extracellular matrix, that is fibrin or BM. Unlike the migrating cells, fibrin and BM are immobile types. Endothelial cells can preferentially migrate towards higher concentrations of adhesion sites in the extracellular matrix, this process is called haptotaxis. In order to model this, fibrin and BM are also modeled as static homogeneous concentration fields that attract tip and stalk cells. The tip cell secretes u-PA and MMP to locally degrade the concentration fields. The probability that the types 'fibrin' and 'BM' are degraded depends on their local field concentrations by a Hill equation: $P_{\text{degradation of X}} = \frac{[X]^n}{[k]^n + [X]^n}$. The concentrations of the proteolytic enzymes are described by the following partial differential equation: $\frac{\delta c}{\delta t} = D\nabla^2 c + kc + s_{\tau}$, where *D* refers to the diffusion constant, *k* to the decay constant and *s* to the secretion of the enzyme *c* by type τ . The local degradation of the haptotactic fields by the secreted proteolytic enzymes results in concentration gradients, a cell will preferentially extend up the gradient [42]. The effect of haptotaxis is calculated for every copy attempt, implemented as:

$$\Delta \mathbf{E} = \mathbf{E}_{\text{new}} - \mathbf{E}_{\text{old}} - \Delta \mathbf{E}_{\text{haptotaxis}} \quad \text{where } \Delta \mathbf{E}_{\text{haptotaxis}} = \lambda_{\text{haptotaxis}} \left(c(\mathbf{x}') - \mathbf{c}(\mathbf{x}) \right),$$

with *c* the concentration of the attracting component and $\lambda_{haptotaxis}$ describes the weight of the constraint.

Property	Value
Contact energy	$J_{\text{stalk,medium}} = 1, J_{\text{stalk,tip}} = 1, J_{\text{tip,BM}} = 100$
	$J_{\text{stalk,border}} = 10^7, J_{\text{stalk,pressure}} = 10^7, J_{\text{tip,border}} = 10^7, J_{\text{tip,pressure}} = 10^7$
Area	$A_{\text{target}}, (\text{tip}, \text{stalk}) = 50, \lambda(\text{tip}, \text{stalk}) = 70$
Perimeter	$P_{\text{target}}, (\text{tip, stalk}) = 30, \lambda(\text{tip}) = 25, \lambda(\text{stalk}) = 5$
Haptotaxis	$\lambda(\text{tip, stalk}) = 1000$
Chemotactic pressure	$\lambda(\text{tip, stalk}) = -0.1$
Pressure field	$D = 10^{-2}, k = 0.01, s = 1,000$
MMP and u-PA field	$D = 10^{-6}, k = 0.01, s = 500$
Fibrin degradation	Type: $n = 4$, $k = 1.9$, initial concentration = 2
	Field: $-10^{-7} \cdot [\text{u-PA}]$ [fibrin]
BM degradation	type: $n = 3$, $k = 1$, initial concentration = 2
	field: $-5 * 10^{-8} \cdot [MMP][BM]$

Table 1 Default parameters for the sprouting model

3.2 Integration of the Experimental and Computational Model

In Sect. 3.1, we showed how a conceptual model of tube formation translates to a computational model. Basic cell behaviors and properties are included in the computational and the default parameters can be found in Table 1. First, the model is used to test a hypothesis concerning the relation of proteolytic enzyme secretion and sprout morphology. Subsequently, the model will be extended, mainly focusing on matrix interactions, to differentiate between forces that drive migration. With these examples, we emphasize how computational and experimental biologists can benefit from each other's models in their quest to understand angiogenesis.

3.2.1 Matrix Degradation and Sprout Morphology

To induce sprouting experimentally, endothelial cells are stimulated with an angiogenic factor, VEGF and/or bFGF, in combination with the inflammatory mediator TNF α [1, 43]. Both the angiogenic factors as well as TNF α induce proteolytic enzyme activity. The growth factors are suggested to stimulate secretion of a soluble form of plasminogen activators, t-PA (tissue plasminogen activator), which becomes active upon contact with fibrin and degrades fibrin in a diffuse manner. TNF α is suggested to induce u-PA (urokinase-type plasminogen activator) production and thereby stimulate receptor-bound u-PA activity [24]. u-PA is inactive until it is bound to its membrane-bound receptor, which localizes proteolytic activity to the membranes of the receptor expressing cells. Besides u-PA, TNF α can also induce the plasminogen activator inhibitor, PAI-1, which inhibits u-PA and t-PA. Proteolytic activity during sprouting is closely regulated by endothelial cells and results from a balance between the proteolytic enzymes and their inhibitors. Endothelial cells secrete MMPs (matrix metalloproteinases) to

degrade the basement membrane. The production and activity of u-PA and MMPs is interlinked; u-PA activity is suggested to induce MMP activity indirectly and at least one membrane-bound MMP (MT1-MMP) is known to be capable of fibrin degradation as well [44].

Proteolytic activity can be manipulated by stimulation of the cells with angiogenic factors or inflammatory factors [43]. To induce sprout formation, low amounts of TNF α are added to the monolayer of endothelial cells in combination with a growth factor. Stimulation with angiogenic factors alone induces a uniform degradation of fibrin and the monolayer of endothelial cells does not sprout but as a result lowers as a whole. This uniform degradation of fibrin can result from a combination of diffuse proteolysis induced by the angiogenic factors and the absence of inflammatory factor induced inhibitors of proteolysis. Excessive plasminogen activation, in endothelial cells seeded in suspension into a three-dimensional fibrin matrix, results in the formation of round cyst-like structures [45]. Cystlike structures are also observed in the endothelial monolayer model [1] after stimulation with a higher dose of TNF α in combination with angiogenic growth factors by Koolwijk et al. (data not shown).

We aim to find the conditions that suffice to explain the experimental observations on sprout morphology. This hypothesis will then be tested with the computational model. We hypothesize that the intensity of proteolytic enzyme secretion (u-PA and MMP) as well as the distribution of secretion over different cell types is responsible for the observed phenotypes in angiogenesis. After low stimulation with TNF α , tip cells might already secrete proteolytic enzymes at maximal rate and are therefore insensitive to stimulation. In contrast, stalk cells normally do not secrete many proteolytic enzymes and are therefore more sensitive for stimulation than tip cells. Indeed, the tip cell was seen to have the most u-PA receptors during sprouting, which facilitate proteolysis to degrade fibrin [46]. When both tip and stalk cells secrete high levels of proteolytic enzymes, the fibrin will be degraded uniformly.

To test this hypothesis in the computational model, we assumed that both tip and stalk cells can secrete u-PA and MMP. As discussed above, proteolysis is a complex system that involves membrane-bound and soluble proteolytic enzymes as well as inhibitors. For simplicity, only membrane associated proteolytic activity and no inhibitors are considered in this first attempt. Since inhibitors are not modeled explicitly, proteolytic activity and secretion of proteolytic enzymes are directly coupled. The presence of inhibitor is modeled by lower secretion rates of the proteolytic enzyme. To model proteolytic activity at the membrane, the diffusion constants for the proteolytic enzymes are set to a very low value (Table 1). Secretion of the proteolytic enzymes could also be thought of as expression of the receptors that facilitate the activity of the enzymes at the membrane. Soluble proteolytic enzymes are not modeled, although high secretion of proteolytic enzymes does result in proteolytic activity at a larger distance. MMPs are assumed to exclusively degrade the basement membrane, while u-PA degrades the fibrin matrix. Mitosis of stalk cells is also included in the model to supply the monolayer with new cells, simply by dividing a cell over its short axis when it has increased

by an arbitrary factor of 1.28. The secretion of the proteolytic enzymes by the tip cell is kept constant at a maximal rate.

We study how u-PA and MMP secretion by stalk cells affects sprout morphology. Figure 6 gives an overview of the simulation results as a function of the secretion rates of u-PA and MMP. Because the simulations are stochastic, variation is seen between simulations with the same parameter settings; representative simulations were selected for the morphospace in Fig. 6. Sprout morphology can be grouped in four categories: sprouts, solid round cysts, hollow cysts and monolayers. Sprouts have a cord-like orientation of cells, while cysts are more round and multi-cellular. A high secretion of both u-PA and MMP (Fig. 6d) by stalk cells results in lowering of the monolayer. Sprouts are formed for low secretion of u-PA (Fig. 6a), while solid cyst-like structures are formed for medium levels of u-PA secretion (Fig. 6b) for all MMP secretion levels by stalk cells. High secretion of u-PA and low secretion of MMP (Fig. 6c) results in hollow-cyst like structures. Occasionally (6 out of 128 simulations), no sprouting occurs for low levels of MMP secretion by stalk cells because stalk cells position themselves between the tip cell and the BM and thereby prevent degradation of the basement membrane. An interesting transition is seen between a hollow cyst-like structure and monolayer lowering for a secretion of MMP between 8 and 12 %. The hollow cyst-like structures can be formed since the BM remains intact for attachment of endothelial cells before this transition. These structures are likely to collapse if gravity was included in the model. Experimentally, tubular structures can also disappear due to excessive fibrinolysis [43].

u-PA can activate MMP, thus the activity of both enzymes are likely to increase simultaneously. The sprout morphologies that are seen along diagonals of the morphospace in Fig. 6 are therefore biologically most probable. Along the diagonal, we see sprout formation for low secretion of both enzymes by stalk cells, cyst formation for medium secretion and monolayer lowering for high secretion. This is consistent with the experimental results by Collen et al. [43] and our own hypothesis as discussed above. The intensity and the distribution of proteolytic enzyme secretion over different cell types (tip and stalk cells) thus seems to be a sufficient explanation for the tissue behavior observed in the laboratory.

The computational model is oversimplified, because it only describes proteolytic activity at the membrane and no diffuse matrix degradation or inhibitors. The notion that TNF α induces secretion of proteolytic enzymes as well as their inhibitors implicates a more complex regulation of matrix degradation during sprouting. Lowering of the endothelial monolayer, when exclusively stimulated with angiogenic factors, is likely to depend on soluble rather than membranebound proteolytic enzymes. Inhibitors and soluble proteolytic enzymes should be included to understand the basic principles of angiogenesis.

Beside proteolytic degradation of the extracellular matrix, it is likely that the structure of the matrix influences tube formation. Matrix structure for example effects the sensitivity of fibrin matrices to proteolytic degradation [43]. The composition of fibrin matrices can be controlled experimentally [47]. High molecular weight (HMW) and low molecular weight (LMW) fibrinogen can be



Fig. 6 Morphospace of proteolytic enzyme secretion by stalk cells. Tip and stalk cells secrete u-PA and MMP to degrade fibrin and the basement membrane respectively. The secretion of u-PA and MMP by stalk cells is expressed in percentage of the maximal secretion rate as secreted by the tip cell. This results in different sprout morphologies: sprouts (**a**), solid cyst-like structures (**b**), hollow cyst-like structures (**c**) and monolayers (**d**)

isolated from unfractionated fibrin and used to create different densities of the matrix. A matrix composed of only LMW fibrinogen has thinner fibers and has a denser structure than a matrix made from only HMW fibrinogen (Fig. 7). Small differences in fibrin matrix lead to different gene expression patterns in endothelial cells [44] and influence tube formation [47]. Tube formation was more extensive in HMW than in LMW matrices. We plan to use the computational model to examine how these differences in matrix structure influence sprouting.

3.3 Modeling Perspectives

Koolwijk et al. developed an in vitro model to examine tube formation in angiogenesis [1]. To gain knowledge in the mechanism and key players involved, we created a computational model that resembles the experimental in vitro model. The computational model is used to validate conceptual models for basic mechanisms of sprouting and to predict how alterations in cell behavior will affect sprouting. The model explains experimental observations concerning the effects of proteolytic enzyme activity on sprout morphology by supporting the hypothesis that not only the level, but also the distribution of proteolytic enzyme secretion over tip and stalk cells is responsible for different sprout morphologies. Several experimental observations and techniques can help to validate conclusions drawn from the model. Contradictions between experimental data and the computational


Fig. 7 Fibrin matrices. Scanning electron microscopic analysis of fibrin networks. High molecular weight (*HMW*) fibrinogen is thicker and forms more open network structures (*left figure*) than low molecular weight (*LMW*) fibrinogen (*right figure*). Bars represent 1 μ m

predictions point out gaps in our understanding. A clear focus point for improvement is the structure of the extracellular matrix and the interactions of cells with the matrix.

We could model the extracellular matrix in detail. Endothelial cells strongly interact with the matrix, mechanically as well as chemically. Cells can adhere to the fibers in the matrix and rearrange the fibers. By modeling the actual fibers and their alignment, physical obstruction of the matrix, haptotaxis and directional guidance of migration can be considered. Endothelial cells can also degrade the matrix with a sensitive and complicated system of proteolytic enzymes. Proteolysis of the matrix locally releases chemotactic components that stimulate sprouting. Each of these mechanical, haptotactical and chemotactical forces resulting from the surrounding tissue influence angiogenesis and are therefore important to understand.

Besides modeling the extracellular matrix more intensively, the interactions within the cell should be focused on. Endothelial cells adhere to the extracellular matrix with integrins, which are also linked to the cytoskeleton of the cell. By modeling cytoskeleton remodeling and integrin-mediated binding at a molecular level, we can study mechanical matrix interaction. Additionally, tip cell selection is an interesting molecular interaction within and between cells to include in the model. Tip cell selection depends on Delta-Notch signaling [28] and is required for experimentally observed branching of tubes.

In conclusion, we aim to create a multi-level model of angiogenesis that includes the molecular, cellular and tissue level. Each level should be modeled simple and intuitively and the interaction between the levels must be taken in close consideration. To understand which components should be modeled and how they interact, a continuous feedback between experimental and computational modelers is needed.

المستشارات

4 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have reviewed how computational models shed new light on questions involving network formation and sprouting. Firstly, we discussed how computational models are used to test alternative hypotheses on the mechanisms that drive network formation. Cellular and environmental factors in these models are studied to predict their effects on angiogenesis. A comparison of experimental results and these computational predictions can show which mechanisms are most likely the driving forces of network formation. Secondly, we focused on computational models that provide new insights in the mechanisms of sprouting. These models address questions about the regulation of sprouting, such as the necessity and location of proliferation, dynamics of tip cell selection, and the influence of angiogenic factors and the extracellular matrix. The discussed models use different techniques to model cells: continuum models describe cells as densities, while discrete models represent them as particles. The functioning of endothelial cells depends on thousands of interacting proteins and genes. Cell-based models are discrete models that represent the results of these gene and protein interactions by a set of cell properties (e.g. cell and membrane size) and behaviors (e.g. adhesion and chemotaxis), suggesting that a few cell behaviors sometimes suffice to explain complex collective cell behaviors like angiogenesis [21].

To illustrate this approach in more detail, we discuss a cell-based model to study angiogenic sprouting. This computational model is based on an in vitro model of sprouting in a fibrin matrix by Koolwijk et al. [1]. The model is used to formalize the mechanisms that are minimally required for sprouting and it predicts the effects on the dynamics of tube formation of varying cell properties, such as matrix degradation. Predictions from the model can lead to new insights and drive experimental research. The observations and results from the experimental research are crucial for the validation and further development of the computational model. A focus point for further study is the interaction of endothelial cells with the extracellular matrix. Various interactions with the matrix strongly influences sprouting, but it is difficult to separately study them experimentally. We plan to model the extracellular matrix itself and its interactions with endothelial cells in more detail and extend our model to a multi-scale model, including molecular, cellular and tissue levels, to gain insight in these interactions. In a close cooperation between experimental and computational biologists, we can reach a thorough understanding of how the interactions between multiple levels of organization lead to counterintuitive effects, which experiments alone would not unveil.

Multi-scale modeling is thought to be the next step in computational modeling. If different scales and their interactions are modeled simultaneously, we can identify the global and local (side) effects of a therapeutic drug. Some multi-scale models of angiogenesis have already been developed [32–37], as discussed in Sect. 2. So far, many of these models are based on phenomenological rules and the results are direct results of the implemented rules. In order to make the step to explanatory rather than descriptive multi-scale models, a thorough understanding of the mechanisms at the

separate levels is needed. A few international projects recognize this need for explanatory multi-scale models, like the Physiome Project and the Virtual Physiological Human Project [36]. We argue that cells and their behavior should still have a central role in these models, since cell behaviors and properties can also be observed and measured experimentally, which allows validation and quantification of the computational model. A constant feedback loop between computational and experimental models is thus needed to reach a functional and multi-level understanding of angiogenesis, a strategy called systems biology.

Acknowledgments We thank Indiana University and the Biocomplexity Institute for providing the CC3D modeling environment. This work was cofinanced by the Netherlands Consortium for Systems Biology (NCSB) which is part of the Netherlands Genomics Initiative/Netherlands organization for Scientific Research and by the Netherlands Institute of Regenerative Medicine. The investigations were (in part) supported by the Division for Earth and Life Sciences (ALW) with financial aid from the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO).

References

- Koolwijk, P., van Erck, M., de Vree, W., Vermeer, M., Weich, H., Hanemaaijer, R., van Hinsbergh, V.: Cooperative effect of TNFalpha bFGF and VEGF on the formation of tubular structures of human microvascular endothelial cells in a fibrin matrix. Role of urokinase activity. J. Cell Biol. 132(6), 1177–1188 (1996)
- 2. Anderson, A., Chaplain, M.: A mathematical model for capillary network formation in the absence of endothelial cell proliferation. Appl. Math. Lett. **11**(3), 109–114 (1998)
- 3. Manoussaki, D., Lubkin, S., Vemon, R., Murray, J.: A mechanical model for the formation of vascular networks in vitro. Acta Biotheor. 44(3), 271–282 (1996)
- Namy, P., Ohayon, J., Tracqui, P.: Critical conditions for pattern formation and in vitro tubulogenesis driven by cellular traction fields. J. Theor. Biol. 227, 103–120 (2004)
- Serini, G., Ambrosi, D., Giraudo, E., Gamba, A., Preziosi, L., Bussolino, F.: Modeling the early stages of vascular network assembly. EMBO J. 22, 1771–1779 (2003)
- Anderson, A., Chaplain, M.: Continuous and discrete mathematical models of tumor-induced angiogenesis. Bull. Math. Biol. 60(5), 857–899 (1998). doi:10.1006/bulm.1998.0042
- Szabó, A., Perryn, E., Czirok, A.: Network formation of tissue cells via preferential attraction to elongated structures. Phys. Rev. Lett. 98(3), 038102 (2007)
- Jackson, T., Zheng, X.: A Cell-based Model of Endothelial Cell Migration Proliferation and Maturation During Corneal Angiogenesis. Bull. Math. Biol. (2010). doi:10.1007/s11538-009-9471-1
- Szabó, A., Mehes, E., Kosa, E., Czirók, A.: Multicellular sprouting in vitro. Biophys. J. 95(6), 2702–2710 (2008). doi:10.1529/biophysj.108.129668
- Szabó, A., Czirók, A.: The role of cell-cell adhesion in the formation of multicellular sprouts. Math. Model. Nat. Phenom. 5 (1) (2010). doi:10.1051/mmnp/20105105
- Bauer, A., Jackson, T., Jiang, Y.: A cell-based model exhibiting branching and anastomosis during tumor-induced angiogenesis. Biophys. J. 92(9), 3105–3121 (2007)
- Bentley, K., Gerhardt, H., Bates, P.: Agent-based simulation of notch-mediated tip cell selection in angiogenic sprout initialisation. J. Theor. Biol. 250(1), 25–36 (2008). doi:10.1016/j.jtbi.2007.09.015
- Merks, R., Brodsky, S., Goligorksy, M., Newman, S., Glazier, J.: Cell elongation is key to in silico replication of in vitro vasculogenesis and subsequent remodeling. Dev. Biol. 289, 44–54 (2006)

_____i الألم للاستشارات

- 14. Merks, R., Perryn, E., Shirinifard, A., Glazier, J.: Contact-inhibited chemotaxis in de novo and sprouting blood-vessel growth. PLoS Comput. Biol. 4(9), e1000163 (2008)
- Vernon, R., Angello, J., Iruela-Arispe, M., Lane, T., Sage, E.: Reorganization of basement membrane matrices by cellular traction promotes the formation of cellular networks in vitro. Lab. Invest. 66(5), 536 (1992)
- 16. Vailhé, B., Ronot, X., Tracqui, P., Usson, Y., Tranqui, L.: in vitro angiogenesis is modulated by the mechanical properties of fibrin gels and is related to alpha(v)beta3 integrin localization. in vitro Cell. Dev. An. 33(10), 763–73 (1997). http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/9466681
- Gamba, A., Ambrosi, D., Coniglio, A., de Candia, A., di Talia, S., Giraudo, E., Serini, G., Preziosi, L., Bussolino, F.: Percolation morphogenesis and Burgers dynamics in blood vessels formation. Phys. Rev. Lett. **90**(11), 118101 (2003)
- Tosin, A., Ambrosi, D., Preziosi, L.: Mechanics and chemotaxis in the morphogenesis of vascular networks. Bull. Math. Biol. 68(7), 1819–1836 (2006). doi:10.1007/s11538-006-9071-2
- Ambrosi, D., Gamba, A., Serini, G.: Cell directional persistence and chemotaxis in vascular morphogenesis. Bull. Math. Biol. 66(6), 1851–1873 (2004). doi:10.1016/j.bulm.2004.04.004
- Merks, R., Koolwijk, P.: Modeling morphogenesis in silico and in vitro: towards quantitative predictive cell-based modeling. Math. Model. Nat. Phenom. 4(4), 149–171 (2009). doi:10.1051/mmnp/20094406
- Merks, R., Glazier, J.: A cell-centered approach to developmental biology. Phys. A 352(1), 113–130 (2005)
- Merks, R., Newman, S., Glazier, J.: Cell-oriented modeling of in vitro capillary development. In: Sloot, P., Chopard, B., Hoekstra, A. (eds.) Cellular Automata Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pp. 425–434. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg (2004)
- Merks, R., Glazier, J.: Dynamic mechanisms of blood vessel growth. Nonlinearity 19(1), C1– C10 (2006)
- Dejana, E.: Endothelial cell-cell junctions: happy together. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5, 261–270 (2004)
- Hillen, F., Griffioen, A.: Tumour vascularization: sprouting angiogenesis and beyond. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 26(3–4), 489–502 (2007). doi:10.1007/s10555-007-9094-7
- Sholley, M., Ferguson, G., Seibel, H., Montour, J., Wilson, J.: Mechanisms of neovascularization. Vascular sprouting can occur without proliferation of endothelial cells. Lab. Invest. 51(6), 624 (1984)
- Bauer, A., Jackson, T., Jiang, Y.: Topography of extracellular matrix mediates vascular morphogenesis and migration speeds in angiogenesis. PLoS Comput. Biol. 5(7), e1000, 445 (2009). doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000445
- Hellström, M., Phng, L., Hofmann, J., Wallgard, E., Coultas, L., Lindblom, P., Alva, J., Nilsson, A., Karlsson, L., Gaiano, N., Yoon, K., Rossant, J., Iruela-Arispe, M., Kalé n, M., Gerhardt, H., Betsholtz, C.: Dll4 signalling through Notch1 regulates formation of tip cells during angiogenesis. Nature 445(7129), 776–80 (2007). doi:10.1038/nature05571
- Bentley, K., Mariggi, G., Gerhardt, H., Bates, P.: Tipping the balance: robustness of tip cell selection migration and fusion in angiogenesis. PLoS Comput. Biol. 5(10), e1000549 (2009). doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000549
- Jakobsson, L., Franco, C., Bentley, K., Collins, R., Ponsioen, B., Aspalter, I., Rosewell, I., Busse, M., Thurston, G., Medvinsky, A., Schulte-Merker, S., Gerhardt, H.: Endothelial cells dynamically compete for the tip cell position during angiogenic sprouting. Nat. Cell Biol. 12(10), 943–953 (2010). doi:10.1038/ncb2103
- Fisher, A., Chien, S., Barakat, A.: Endothelial cellular response to altered shear stress. Am. J. Physiol. Lung. C. 281(3), L529–L533 (2001). http://ajplung.physiology.org/content/281/3/ L529.short
- McDougall, S., Anderson, A., Chaplain, M.: Mathematical modelling of dynamic adaptive tumour-induced angiogenesis: clinical implications and therapeutic targeting strategies. J. Theor. Biol. 241(3), 564–589 (2006). doi:10.1016/j.jtbi.2005.12.022

المستشارات

- Qutub, A., Mac Gabhann, F., Karagiannis, E., Vempati, P., Popel, A.: Multiscale models of angiogenesis. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. 28(2), 14–31 (2009)
- 34. Qutub, A., Popel, A.: Elongation proliferation & migration differentiate endothelial cell phenotypes and determine capillary sprouting. BMC Syst. Biol. **3**(1), 13 (2009)
- 35. Qutub, A., Liu, G., Vempati, P., Popel, A.: Integration of angiogenesis modules at multiple scales: from molecular to tissue. In: Pacific Symposium on Biocomputing. Pacific Symposium on Biocomputing, p. 316. NIH Public Access (2009)
- 36. Liu, G., Qutub, A., Vempati, P., Mac Gabhann, F., Popel, A.: Module-based multiscale simulation of angiogenesis in skeletal muscle. Theor. Biol. Med. Modell. 8(1), 6 (2011). doi:10.1186/1742-4682-8-6
- 37. Shirinifard, A., Gens, J., Zaitlen, B., Popawski, N., Swat, M., Glazier, J.: 3D multi-cell simulation of tumor growth and angiogenesis. PLoS one 4 (10) (2009). doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0007190
- 38. van Hinsbergh, V., Koolwijk, P.: Endothelial sprouting and angiogenesis: matrix metalloproteinases in the lead. Cardiovasc. Res. **78**(2), 203 (2008)
- Glazier, J., Graner, F.: Simulation of the differential adhesion driven rearrangement of biological cells. Phys. Rev. E: Stat. Phys. Plasmas Fluids Relat. Interdiscip. Top. 47(3), 2128–2154 (1993)
- 40. Graner, F., Glazier, J.: Simulation of biological cell sorting using a two-dimensional extended Potts model. Phys. Rev. Lett. **69**(13), 2013–2016 (1992)
- 41. Swat, M., Hester, S., Heiland, R., Zaitlen, B., Glazier, J., Shirinifard, A.: CompuCell3D manual and tutorial version 3.6.0 (2011)
- Savill, N.: Modelling morphogenesis: from single cells to crawling slugs. J. Theor. Biol. 184((3), 229–235 (1996). doi:10.1006/jtbi.1996.0237
- Collen, A., Koolwijk, P., Kroon, M., van Hinsbergh, V.: Influence of fibrin structure on the formation and maintenance of capillary-like tubules by human microvascular endothelial cells. Angiogenesis 2(2), 153–166 (1998)
- 44. Weijers, E., van Wijhe, M., Joosten, L., Horrevoets, A., de Maat, M., van Hinsbergh, V., Koolwijk, P.: Molecular weight fibrinogen variants alter gene expression and functional characteristics of human endothelial cells. J. Thromb. Haemostasis 8(12), 2800–2809 (2010)
- 45. Montesano, R., Pepper, M., Möhle-Steinlein, U., Risau, W., Wagner, E., Orci, L.: Increased proteolytic activity is responsible for the aberrant morphogenetic behavior of endothelial cells expressing the middle T oncogene. Cell 62(3), 435–445 (1990)
- 46. Kroon, M., Koolwijk, P., van Goor, H., Weidle, U., Collen, A., VanDer Pluijm, G., van Hinsbergh, V.: Role and localization of urokinase receptor in the formation of new microvascular structures in fibrin matrices. Am. J. Pathol. **154**(6), 1731 (1999)
- Kaijzel, E., Koolwijk, P., van Erck, M., van Hinsbergh, V., de Maat, M.: Molecular weight fibrinogen variants determine angiogenesis rate in a fibrin matrix in vitro and in vivo. J. Thromb. Haemostasis 4(9), 1975–1981 (2006)

ECM Remodeling in Angiogenesis

Stephanie J. Grainger and Andrew J. Putnam

Abstract Remodeling of the extracellular matrix (ECM) is an essential component of the complex vascular biology that drives each step within the angiogenic cascade. The process of angiogenesis involves a series of events that depend heavily on proteinases and their ability to remodel the ECM, originating with degradation of the basement membrane to allow for endothelial cell (EC) breakthrough, migration, and proliferation. This is followed by organization into nascent blood vessel sprouts, vessel maturation and stabilization, deposition of basement membrane around the new vessels, and finally pruning or remodeling of the new vasculature for physiological needs. There is evidence that ECs cooperate with supporting stromal cells to orchestrate these remodeling events and ultimately to create pericyte-stabilized functional networks of vessels. During angiogenesis, proteinases not only directly breakdown the ECM to create a physical path for new EC sprouts, they also indirectly expose cryptic sites hidden within the ECM to alter the adhesive microenvironment for pericytes and endothelial cells during sprouting. Physiological control of angiogenesis is achieved in part by the angiogenic switch, in which a balance of pro- and anti-angiogenic factors serves to maintain vessel homeostasis under normal conditions. Proteinases, and certain matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in particular, function on both sides of the angiogenic switch. They degrade the basement membrane and nearby ECM surrounding established blood vessels at the onset of angiogenesis, and release pro-angiogenic growth factors that would remain otherwise bound to the ECM. However, they also negatively control angiogenesis, as some proteolytic fragments of the ECM possess anti-angiogenic properties. In addition to the chemical specificity of proteinases, emerging evidence suggests that their ability to proteolytically remodel the ECM during angiogenesis

185

S. J. Grainger · A. J. Putnam (🖂)

Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Michigan,

¹¹⁰¹ Beal Ave, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA

e-mail: putnam@umich.edu

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_9, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

may also depend on the physical properties of the ECM. In this chapter, we will discuss the important factors that govern ECM remodeling during angiogenesis, focusing on the links between proteinases, stromal cells, and matrix physical properties. The impact of these possible links on therapeutic and pathologic angiogenesis will also be discussed.

1 Introduction

During angiogenesis, the ECM dynamically evolves, changing and adapting to cellular processes that are taking place within its structure. As ECs differentiate into tubular structures containing lumens and associated pericytes, significant matrix remodeling occurs. Proteinases carve out areas to allow for invasion of the nascent tubular structures into the surrounding stroma, creating new vasculature in response to hypoxia. A new basement membrane is laid down, and supporting interstitial matrix is layered beneath the newly formed structures. This chapter will discuss angiogenesis as it relates to the surrounding ECM, the various proteinases that are able to modulate key steps of this process, and finally, the link between ECM mechanical properties and cellular remodeling during angiogenesis.

Vasculogenesis and angiogenesis are two distinctly different processes by which blood vessels form (Fig. 1). In embryonic development, angioblastic cells assemble into a primary capillary plexus to create nascent vasculature de novo via vasculogenesis. By contrast, angiogenesis refers to the formation of capillaries via branching from existing vasculature after initial embryonic development. This requires a complex series of events starting with basement membrane degradation of the existing vasculature, followed by endothelial cell activation, migration, and proliferation, organization into immature vessel sprouts with leading tip cells, maturation and vessel stabilization via mural cell association, and finally, basement membrane deposition and pruning of the new vessels in response to the physiologic demands of the tissue [1]. Each step in this process requires interaction between cells and their surrounding ECM.

A balance between pro- and anti-angiogenic proteins, known as the 'angiogenic switch', is crucial to the control of angiogenesis, with soluble factors and insoluble factors actin regulating this switch. When the scale is tipped in favor of molecules that inhibit angiogenesis, the switch is 'off' until the levels of activating (pro-angiogenic) molecules are increased and able to overcome the inhibiting molecules. In healthy adults, the switch is typically maintained in the 'off' position, unless a pathological state which requires the formation of new vasculature occurs, such as cancer, wound healing, or ischemic disease. (In cancer, tumor growth beyond a threshold is achieved in part by recruiting host vasculature; however, because a detailed discussion of tumor angiogenesis is beyond the scope of this chapter, readers should refer to other reviews on the topic instead [2].) Many signals can tip the switch in favor of angiogenesis, such as hypoxia, low





environmental pH, mechanical stresses, tumor growth, or the presence of immune or inflammatory cells. Soluble growth factors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF), and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), are potent pro-angiogenic factors. Stabilizing immature vessels requires molecules such as angiopoietins-1 and -2, TGF- β , and sphyngosine-1 phosphate (S1-P), which are also considered pro-angiogenic. On the other side of the balance, suppressive signals from angiogenesis inhibitors include α -interferon, platelet factor-4, and thrombospondin-1, as well as other cryptic protein fragments [3, 4]. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and their endogenous inhibitors can also be considered in the context of the angiogenic switch, as they function as both pro- and anti-angiogenic molecules and are essential in each step of capillary formation and remodeling [5].

2 Changes in the ECM Accompany Each Stage of Angiogenesis

During the initial stages of angiogenesis, contact between ECs and the ECM is a key controller of angiogenic signaling. ECs must adhere to the ECM in order to properly migrate, a necessary requirement for initiating angiogenic sprouting [6]. The ECM immobilizes angiogenic cytokines, and thus coordinates signals transduced to ECs via both growth factor receptors and integrin cell adhesion

receptors [6–8]. Integrins, in turn, can regulate EC proliferation, survival, and the formation of functional vessel lumens [8–11]. If the ECs fail to adhere to the ECM, proliferation ceases and angiogenesis thus also stops [7, 12–15].

At the earliest stages of angiogenesis, the basement membrane, consisting primarily of laminin-1 and type IV collagen, gets degraded to expose the ECs to the surrounding interstitial matrix [16]. In a quiescent state, the basement membrane helps insulate the ECs from this interstitial matrix and inhibits EC invasion and migration [7]. Following its degradation, a gradient of ECM components and the cytokines attached to them provide a set of cues to direct EC motility. In wound healing, for example, the interstitial matrix consists primarily of fibrin and type I collagen, and supports subsequent EC migration and sprouting [17]. VEGF plays a particularly critical role at this stage, as it is known to induce $\alpha_1\beta_1$ and $\alpha_2\beta_1$ integrin expression, both of which bind type I collagen. Type I collagen also helps to transform the leading ECs into a tip cell phenotype [18]. One mechanism known to disrupt angiogenesis for therapeutic or alternative purposes is to disrupt the formation of the collagen triple helix via alteration of the prolines. This results in a cessation of collagen recognition and binding by the ECs, effectively halting angiogenic invasion and tubule formation [19].

Once a nascent tubule escapes the basement membrane and begins to invade the interstitial matrix, extension of the capillary sprout begins. Type I collagen induces nascent cord formation and a migratory EC phenotype in part by suppressing cyclic AMP, which causes increased actin polymerization and stress fiber formation within the EC cytoskeleton [7]. This enables the ECs to generate substantial contractile forces and apply tension to the matrix over relatively large distances, which in turn supports capillary cord formation along the matrix fibers. Other cell types do not migrate and produce cords when implanted in fibrin or collagen gels in the same way [20]. Disruption of vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-cadherin) intercellular junctions via signaling mechanisms induced by collagen I binding also help to induce initial sprouting of ECs from a base vessel [16]. Disrupted of their quiescent cell–cell contacts, ECs begin to migrate and develop into nascent cords [19, 21].

The next steps in the angiogenic process include the formation of hollow lumens, followed by maturation of the nascent vessels. As mentioned previously mentioned, integrin-mediated interactions between ECs and collagen, fibrin, and fibronectin provide key instructive signals [22–24]. $\alpha_2\beta_1$ and $\alpha_1\beta_1$ are known collagen receptors, while $\alpha_V\beta_3$ and $\alpha_5\beta_1$ are known fibronectin receptors that also permit EC interactions with fibrin. Lumen formation is dependent on the formation of these integrin-dependent intracellular vacuoles that are initially formed by the process of pinocytosis, or in which small vesicles formation form to create pockets within the cell. These vacuoles fuse together by exocytosis between adjacent ECs and start to direct an apical-basal organization and polarization [25, 26]. This polarization requires membrane type-MMP (MT-MMP) to interact with the ECM at the exterior of the newly formed lumens. The roles of these MT-MMPs will be discussed in greater detail later in this chapter.

The final step in the angiogenic process, tube stabilization, coincides with the production of laminin to form a new basement membrane along the basal surface of the nascent tubules. Integrins $\alpha_6\beta_1$ and $\alpha_3\beta_1$, which bind ECs to specific laminin isoforms, are known indicators of capillary maturation [27, 28]. The expression of these integrins suppresses several signaling pathways, and trigger EC quiescence [29, 30]. The laminin-rich basement membrane also provides an interface with which both ECs and stabilizing pericytes can interact [7].

3 Proteinases Involved in Angiogenesis

The ECM must be broken down and reformed for many processes throughout life, including embryonic development, various morphogenic processes, cellular reproduction, and tissue remodeling. The matrix itself serves as a platform for cell growth and support, but is also capable of controlling cellular attachment, proliferation, migration, and differentiation of cells via cell-ECM interactions. Many cytokines and growth factors can also be sequestered in the matrix and stored for later use. Several different types of angiogenic proteinases modulate the ECM in varying ways to influence angiogenesis. Some proteases indirectly promote EC proliferation, while others degrade the ECM to allow for tunneling ECs to invade and form tubules. Others control growth factor release from the matrix, altering cues that can direct or inhibit the angiogenic process. A final group of proteinases also controls cell adhesion to the matrix, inducing polarity within the blood vessels. These adhesions may direct cells to migrate, proliferate, or remain quiescent, based on the levels of varying integrins expressed, and the contents of the matrix to which they bind. MMPs are the main degradative enzymes responsible for modulating the ECM in a tissue. They are always contributing to the evolving matrix as it changes in different ways to support and encourage various cellular processes. In addition to both membrane-bound and soluble MMPs, ADAMs are another important group of proteins that influence ECM remodeling. A final grouping of players is the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), which can control angiogenesis and subsequent matrix remodeling by maintaining vascular quiescence and halting angiogenic cues to maintain the angiogenic switch in the "off" position.

A. Soluble Matrix Metalloproteinases

Secreted matrix metalloproteinases are a family of zinc-containing endopeptidases that are able to degrade various ECM components. They are produced as pro-enzymes that are proteolytically processed to become activated. A sulfhydryl group in the pro-domain of all MMPs, known as a "cysteine switch," is able to work in sync with the zinc ion of the catalytic site to maintain cell quiescence [31]. By disrupting this cysteine-zinc binding, the MMP takes the first step toward activation [32].

In general, the naming scheme follows a simple numerical order, starting with the first to be discovered, MMP-1, which acts on collagens. It was originally

discovered when collagen gels were degraded by tadpole fin explants. The rest of the MMPs are divided into subgroups based on domain structure and substrate specificities: matrilysins (MMP-7 and MMP-26), collagenases (MMP-1, MMP-8, MMP-13, and MMP-18), stromelysins (MMP-3, MMP-10, and MMP-11), gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9), enamelysins (MMP-20) and epilysins (MMP-28), and others that don't fit into one of these subgroups (MMP-19, MMP-21, MMP-22, MMP-23, and MMP-27) [33–35]. MMPs can also be classified based on the basic domain groups that are included in their structures. All MMPs have three common structural domains: the "pre" or signal sequence, the pro-peptide domain, and the catalytically active domain (Fig. 2). MMPs-7 and -26 contain only these 3 domains, have a broad range of substrate specificity, and are able to degrade many ECM proteins [36-38]. Addition of a hemopexin domain connected to the core region via a proline-rich hinge region at the catalytic domain allows for enhanced substrate specificity over those containing only the three basic regions. This hinge region is also responsible for binding the family of specific MMP inhibitors (TIMPs). Some examples of hemopexin-domain containing MMPs are collagenases, which degrade the native helix of fibrillar collagens such as types I, II, and III, as well as stromelysin-1 and -2, enamelysin, metalloelastase, and MMPs-19, -22, and -27, which again don't fit into a specific structural class of MMPs [33]. These stromelysins, with their hemopexin domains, still have a rather broad substrate specificity, degrading several groups of ECM proteins, including proteoglycans, fibronectin, and laminin [32]. Another similar grouping is the gelatinases (MMPs-2 and -9) containing three head-to-tail cysteine-rich fibronectin type IIlike repeats within the catalytic domain [36, 39]. These MMPs also degrade types IV, V, VII, and X native collagens, as well as denatured collagen (gelatin), fibronectin, and laminin [39]. When the cysteine-rich repeats are instead furinsusceptible sites, stromelysin-3 and epilysin are classified as a grouping. Finally, there are two outlying MMPs, including MMP-21, which does not have a hinge region at all, and instead contains a vitronectin-like region within the propeptide region, and MMP-23, which also lacks the hemopexin domain, containing a cysteine and proline-rich region followed by an immunoglobulin-imitating region [40].

Soluble MMPs can have both pro- and anti-angiogenic roles. Their proangiogenic capacity is perhaps more obvious, given their ability to degrade ECM components and jumpstart the path toward angiogenesis. Many growth factors and cytokines are known to upregulate EC basement membrane degradation, as well as EC proliferation, migration, and differentiation into a pro-angiogenic phenotype. Examples of these molecules are VEGF, bFGF, and several interleukins, which increase the amounts of inactive [41] and active[42] MMP-2 and MMP-9 [43]. However, because certain ECM cleavage products have anti-angiogenic properties, MMPs may also be considered anti-angiogenic as well [44].

1. Pro-angiogenic roles of soluble MMPs

During basement membrane degradation, a subgroup of ECs, known as "tip cells", initiate sprouting. These cells possess high proteolytic activity, enabling them to successfully break down the matrix and tunnel through the interstitial



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the structures of MMPs and ADAMs. Both protease families contained conserved features, a "pre" or signal sequence, a propeptide domain (pro) (with either a cysteine switch or a furin-susceptible site), and a catalytic, Zn-binding domain. Additional sequences in some MMPs include a hinge region (H) and hemopexin domain, and other features not shown here. ADAMs contain a disintegrin domain, a cysteine-rich motif, an EGF repeat, a transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic tail

ECM and hypoxic tissue [45]. Upon signaling to initiate sprouting, the tip cells must first proteolyze the capillary basement membrane, which is primarily comprised of laminin, collagen IV, heparin-sulfate proteoglycans, and entactin [46]. Multiple MMPs can degrade these ECM components: MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-7, MMP-9, MMP-10, MMP-12, and MT1-MMP [33]. As mentioned previously, two important growth factors in the initiation of the angiogenic cascade, VEGF and bFGF, produce vesicles containing pro-MMP-2 and pro-MMP-9, as well as MT1-MMP. Upregulation of these MMPs is thus associated with increased basement membrane invasion abilities of ECs [47].

After the basement membrane has been broken down, ECs induce MMP expression from interstitial cells by secreting extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer (EMMPRIN) [48]. The majority of MMP production may be from these surrounding interstitial and inflammatory cells present in the matrix, rather than the ECs forming the actual new capillary sprouts. Interstitial flow from the vasculature to the lymphatics, which is enhanced following degradation of the basement membrane barrier, combined with this increased MMP production, creates chemotactic gradients that further encourage EC invasion into the ECM. This is perhaps achieved by the interaction of various ECM breakdown products

with the surface of the ECs [49]. Despite significant differences in pathologic and physiologic microenvironments, only small changes in soluble MMP expression are observed [50]. For example, switching from a physiologic ECM containing mostly collagen I to a provisional ECM comprised of fibrin, fibronectin, and vitronectin typically found during wound healing or prolonged ischemic diseases, results in slight modulation of the MMP expression profile [51].

Recent work suggests that there may be no single proteolytic mechanism utilized by ECs to degrade the ECM. Instead several MMPs are likely used in complement, and the specific combination and ratio of MMPs expressed and utilized depends on the identity of the matrix as well as the identity of stromal cell types that interact with the ECs. For example, when adipose-derived stem cells or a generic fibroblast source were included as interstitial cells to induce capillary sprouting in a fibrin matrix, the plasminogen activator-plasmin axis was the preferred proteolytic mechanism utilized for capillary invasion into the matrix and tubule lengthening, while MMPs appeared to play a distinct role regulating capillary diameter and stabilization only. In contrast, when mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow were used in place of the adipose-derived cells, MT-MMPs were the sole proteases for ECM invasion and sprouting [52].

Further work illustrating knockdown of either of the gelatinases, MMP-2 and MMP-9, suggests that these two proteinases may work in concert to remodel the ECM during angiogenic processes. When one of the two is targeted for gene knockdown, sprouting is still able to occur. MMP-9 is unable to degrade type I collagen alone, so thus it does not serve to encourage tunneling and sprouting of ECs during angiogenesis via matrix proteolysis directly. Instead, its pro-angiogenic capacity may lie in its ability to release bound VEGF (secreted by stromal cells) from the matrix to induce sprouting. It is also capable of activating TGF- β , resulting in promotion of tissue remodeling [53, 54]. During in vivo wound healing and hind limb ischemia studies, the peak activity levels of these MMPs coincide with granulation tissue formation, fibroblast migration into the tissue, and vascularization of the wound [55, 56]. Several research groups have now fabricated synthetic hydrogels with linkages sensitive to MMP-2 and MMP-9 so that cellular invasion can occur in much the same way as in hydrogels of natural composition (e.g., collagen or fibrin). In vitro studies using RGD-functionalized version of these MMP-sensitive gels have demonstrated EC adhesion and capillary sprouting by mimicking key elements found in natural matrix proteins [57, 58]. Furthermore, tethering growth factors such as VEGF to the matrix via proteolytically sensitive linkages recapitulates the growth factor sequestration capacity of physiologic ECMs [59]. 3. Anti-angiogenic roles of soluble MMPs

As mentioned previously, MMPs can be considered to be both pro- and antiangiogenic. MMP expression and activity can impede blood vessel formation via one of two possible mechanisms. First, overactive MMPs can compromise ECM stability, which may result in vascular regression. Second, MMP activity can generate matrix fragments with anti-angiogenic capabilities.

With respect to the first possibility, the process of angiogenesis typically culminates with vascular pruning. During this process, vessels that have not been



stabilized regress as some of the interstitial collagen is broken down. Specifically, plasmin-mediated activation of MMPs-1, -10, and -13 has been shown to induce vascular regression as each of these MMPs (although predominantly MMP-1) can digest interstitial collagens [60]. This subset of MMPs, in conjunction with MMPs-2, -9, and MT1-MMP, may act together to digest multiple different ECM components based on these enzymes' specificities for different substrates [60, 61]. The first subset breaks down native type I collagen, while the gelatinases more efficiently degrade denatured collagens. A direct correlation between the levels of active MMPs in maturing capillary beds and the levels of vascular regression has been reported [62, 63].

With respect to the second possibility, the proteolytic degradation products of MMPs are anti-angiogenic. Proteolytic degradation of collagen IV, one of the primary components of basement membrane, generates anti-angiogenic fragments that include arrestin, canstatin, tumstatin, and metastatin [34]. MMP-9 predominantly produces free tumstatin, as well as smaller amounts of arresten and canstatin. Other MMPs, including MMP-2, -3, and -13, are also able to liberate tumstatin, although not as efficiently as MMP-9 [64]. Tumstatin targets the $\alpha_V \beta_3$ integrin, which is not expressed at measurable levels in physiologic angiogenesis, but is seen at much higher levels in tumor angiogenesis. Studies have explored the possibility of using tumstatin to reduce pathologic angiogenesis [64]. Arrestin, another collagen IV breakdown fragment, binds the $\alpha_1\beta_1$ integrin receptor for collagen I, and inhibits EC proliferation, as well as migration and further tube formation in vitro. Similarly, collagen XVIII is a component of the interstitial matrix beneath the basement membrane of the vasculature. Collagen XVIII breakdown products are endostatin and neostatins, which are small, varying molecular weight molecules that are the further breakdown products of endostatin. MMPs-3, -7, -9, and -13, as well as MT1-MMP, act on collagen XVIII to produce these fragments. Endostatin affects VEGF signaling, EC proliferation and migration as well, in part by acting on the $\alpha_5\beta_1$ integrin [65–68]. Another unique function of endostatin is its ability to inhibit MT1-MMP and MMP-2 activities [69]. **B.** Membrane-Type Matrix Metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs)

The membrane-type MMPs (MT-MMPs) represent another grouping of MMPs, so named because they are bound to the cell's plasma membrane via either a C-terminal transmembrane domain or a glycophosphatidyl inositol (GPI) anchor [39, 70]. Both classifications include a "pre" region, a propeptide region with a furin-susceptible site, a catalytic domain, a hinge region, and a hemopexin domain. After furin activation intracellularly, the proteinase gets processed and sent to the cell membrane, where the catalytic, hinge, and hemopexin domains lie extracellularly. These external regions are held at the cell surface by a transmembrane region attached to a short amino acid tail residing in the cell cytoplasm, or a GPI domain that is fixed in the cell membrane. These MT-MMPs provide spatial control of matrix breakdown directly at the cell membrane surface [33]. MT-MMPs degrade gelatin, fibronectin, and aggrecan, as well as several other ECM substrates [37, 38].



Fig. 3 Three-dimensional co-cultures of ECs and stromal cells generate stable, pericyte-invested capillary networks in vitro. In these experiments, bone marrow-dereived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) MSCs were distributed throughout a fibrin-based 3-D ECM in the presence of microcarrier beads coated with ECs. **a** After 7 days, cultures were fixed and IF stained at day 7 for F-actin (*green*) and collagen IV (red) to visualize basement membrane deposition (white arrows). Scale = 50 μ m. **b** MSCs expressing GFP were interspersed with mCherry-transduced ECs. Physical association of the ECs and MSCs were observed (white arrows). Scale = 25 μ m. **c** Cultures containing mCherry-transduced ECs and MSCs were fixed and IF stained for pericyte markers α SMA (aqua) and NG2 (white). DAPI-stained nuclei are visible in the blue channel. Scale = 50 μ m. (Figure reproduced from [74] with permission from Elsevier.)

Once nascent capillaries have formed, a basement membrane, a hallmark of a more mature vessel network, is deposited. Pericytes play a key role in this process. These cells are recruited from the host stroma in part via the secretion of PDGF- β by ECs. PDGF receptor- β signaling then initiates a cascade of events that control pericyte-EC binding, migration to the site, and proliferation. Interestingly, all of these processes are in some manner controlled by MT1-MMP [71–73]. Co-cultures of ECs and stromal cells of various origins in 3-D gels yield stable, pericyte-invested networks of capillaries characterized by the presence of basement membrane subjacent to the ECs along with the periendothelial location of the stromal cells (Fig. 3) [74]. In the absence of stromal cells, ECs express MT1-MMP, with very little basement membrane production, even at later time points. If stromal cells are included with ECs in culture, MT1-MMP expression is undetectable in the capillary stalks. The ECs in the stalk instead produce basement membrane proteins, and the expression of MT1-MMP is restricted to the tip cells. Similar expression profiles have also been see in vivo [45].

Further examination of the newly deposited basement membrane production yields some other interesting observations. The EC TIE-2 receptor is preferentially expressed in the stalk portion of a maturing capillary sprout, but are notably absent in the tip ECs. This expression is thought to be controlled by the pericytes, which produce Ang-1 to signal to the ECs via the TIE-2 receptor [45, 75]. This Ang-1/TIE-2 interaction is one mechanism by which pericytes and SMCs can regulate MMP activity of ECs. An alternative, and much more direct, means to achieve this control is via TIMP-1 secretion. TIMP-1 inhibits soluble MMPs, but also appears to stabilize vessels by inducing basement membrane protein production [76]. Other TIMPs also work in conjunction with both cell types to inhibit angiogenic sprouting and stabilize nascent vessels. TIMP-3 is secreted by perivascular cells,



Fig. 4 Schematic diagram illustrating the contribution of TIMP-2 and -3 to pericyte-induced vascular tube stabilization, as proposed in [77]. TIMP-2 is derived from ECs, whereas TIMP-3 is produced by pericytes. Together, they contribute to vascular stabilization by inhibiting a variety of MMPs, ADAMs, and VEGFR-2. The initiation of tube stabilization requires the blockade of both EC tube formation and EC tube regression, which further leads to the cessation of EC activation and the development of EC quiescence. Pericytes are required for ECs to assemble basement membrane matrices, which may locally capture and present TIMP-3 to ECs through heparan sulfate proteoglycans. (Figure reproduced from [77] with permission from The Rockefeller University Press.)

and is then presented to the ECs via heparin sulfate proteoglycans in the basement membrane, which suppress MT1-MMP activity and encourage sprouting of the ECs (Fig. 4) [77, 78]. Furthermore, all EC interactions with associating pericytes via Ang-1 or PDGF serve to inactivate and inhibit MT1-MMP after the basement membrane has been reproduced and to ensure vascular quiescence.

C. A Disintegrin and metalloproteinase (ADAM)

ADAMs are a family of secreted and transmembrane proteins that control cell adhesion, as well as proteolytic processing of the ectodomains of cell surface receptors and signaling molecules [79]. Like previously described MMPs, ADAMs have both pre- and propeptide domains, with the pro- domain acting as an intramolecular chaperone that controls protein folding [80] and enzyme latency via a cysteine-switch mechanism [81, 82]. At this point, the structures differ, with ADAMs having a disintegrin-like domain with a loop that is able to interact with neighboring cell integrins [83]. Following this region, a cysteine-rich domain, then an EGF-like domain, followed by a membrane-spanning region and a cytoplasmic tail. The cytoplasmic domain is able to interact with proteins of intracellular

signaling importance, as well as to control trafficking of proteins (Fig. 2). ADAMs are named such due to their original structural homology to the small proteins of hemorrhagic snake venoms that were able to bind platelet integrin $\alpha_{2b}\beta_{3a}$ to block platelet aggregation [84].

Because ADAMs are an active family of metalloproteinases, they are able to cleave ECM proteins and cause degradation of the bulk ECM in a locale. One example of this is ADAM-9, which is able to cleave laminin and promote invasion [85]. Several studies have shown a connection between ADAM-10 and cleavage of adhesion molecules such as VE-cadherin, where the ADAM is able to disassemble the junctional contacts that control permeability and assist with encouragement of EC migration and tubule sprouting [7, 86]. Other ADAMs that are known to control ECM degradation and release activators of ECs to a migratory phenotype that will start the angiogenic cascade, are ADAMS-15 and -17 [7]. ADAMs are also able to induce shedding of adhesion molecules such as PECAM-1, or their activity may mobilize growth factors, chemokines, or other soluble factors that can influence angiogenic processes [87].

D. Inhibitors of Matrix Metalloproteinases

Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) are the main enodogenous inhibitors of MMPs. There are four mammalian TIMPs that have been identified and characterized within the literature. They are all known to regulate MMP activity during periods of tissue remodeling, with molecular weights between 20 and 29 kDa [88]. All TIMPs inhibit MMP substrates in a 1:1 stoichiometric ratio [89], with each TIMP binding the active site cleft in the catalytic domain of an MMP, in the same manner as an ECM substrate would bind the MMP [40]. Each TIMP has disulfide bonds of a three loop N-terminal domain, which is where interaction with the catalytic domains of MMPs occurs, and a complementary three loop C-subdomain [90].

All TIMPs are secreted proteins, but TIMPs-2, -3, and -4 can all be found near the surface of a cell, in association with different MMPs [91]. All four TIMPs are known to inhibit active forms of all MMPs; however, their inhibition abilities vary widely. The main exception to this rule is that TIMP-1 is a poor inhibitor of MMP-19, MT1-MMP, and MT3-MMP [92]. TIMP-3 easily inhibits many of the ADAMs [93]. Examples of preferential binding are the ability of TIMP-1 to preferentially bind with pro-MMP-9, and TIMP-2 preferentially binding with pro-MMP-2 to inhibit conversion to active forms of these MMPs [94, 95].

TIMP-2 has a special functional role in controlling the activation of pro-MMP-2, with MT1-MMP also acting as a modulator. This activation step takes place on the cell surface, thus the need for inclusion of MT1-MMP for activation [96]. According to Strongin et al., the increased activation of MMP-2 in the presence of TIMP-2 is the result of the N-terminal inhibitory domain of TIMP-2 binding to the active site of MT1-MMP, and the C-terminal domain of TIMP-2 interacting with the C-terminal hemopexin domain of pro-MMP-2 [97]. An additional unique feature of TIMP-2 is its ability to suppress angiogenesis by reducing EC proliferation cues from bFGF via its C-terminal region [98].

TIMP-3, as briefly mentioned earlier, can inhibit both MMPs and the ADAM family of proteinases [40]. TIMP-3 is also known to block VEGF to VEGFR-2 binding, which further contributes to the anti-angiogenic capabilities of TIMP-3 [99]. A third unique property of TIMP-3 is its restricted diffusion caused by its tight binding to heparin sulfate proteoglycans in the surrounding ECM. Because it does not readily diffuse, it is thought that TIMP-3 instead functions to regulate angiogenesis after the angiogenic switch has been flipped into an "on" position. As MMP degradation of the ECM liberates the matrix-bound TIMP-3, it can then inhibit any subsequent MMP activation at the cell-ECM level [100]. Normally, TIMP-3 functions to form complexes via its C-domain with MMPs-2 and -9, thus effectively slowing pro-angiogenic signaling [90].

TIMP-4 is found mainly in the human heart, with low levels of the inhibitor found in the kidney, colon, placenta, and testes [101]. Levels are dysregulated in various cardiovascular diseases. This TIMP functions mainly to reduce EC motility, as well as proliferation, and induce apoptosis as well. In in vivo models, addition of TIMP-2 results in suppression of angiogenesis, while addition of TIMP-4 is not able to have this same effect [102]. TIMP-4 deficient mice instead showed reduced cardiac function with aging, due to increased apoptosis of cells [103].

An additional inhibitor of MMPs, while not in the TIMP family, is the GPIanchored glycoprotein, reversion-inducing cysteine-rich protein with kazal motifs (RECK). It is known to inhibit the release of pro-MMP-9 from the EC surface. It also effectively inhibits MT1-MMP, which will result in inhibition of MMP-2, as previously discussed [104, 105]. In RECK knockout mice, blood vessels cannot reach a mature stage, and mice die in utero. Overexpression of RECK in tumor models results in a reduction of new blood vessel sprouting to sufficiently nourish the tumor [88]. An additional proteinase inhibitor, α_2 -macroglobulin, is the primary MMP inhibitor found in blood plasma [106]. Finally, thrombospondin-1, a known inhibitor of angiogenesis, is also known to inhibit pro-MMP-2 and pro-MMP-9 from becoming activated. Thrombospondin-2 is also known to complex with MMP-2 to increase clearance via receptor-mediated endocytosis [106].

A schematic summarizing many of the effects of soluble and membrane-bound MMPs, as well as the TIMPs, is shown in Fig. 5.

4 Effects of Stromal Cells on the ECM

A. Stromal cells influence ECM synthesis and degradation

It has been widely established in the literature that the presence of pericytes covering EC tubules results in stabilization of the vessels, a decrease in vascular pruning, and decreased permeability of the nascent vessels [107]. Pericytes are a source of angiopoietin-1, which acts on EC TIE-2 to stabilize these heterogeneous cell–cell junctions [108]. Recent findings have shown that EC-pericyte interactions occur after ECs carve out "vascular guidance tunnels" within the ECM, which



Fig. 5 A simplified schematic of the current concepts depicting the roles and regulation of MMPs as they pertain to matrix remodeling. Figure reproduced from [140] with permission from The American Physiological Society.)

provide physical space for the EC-pericyte interactions to take place. Stratman et al. showed that the pericytes are recruited to the ablumenal surface and are able to move along the EC tubules through these pre-formed spaces to regulate tubule maturation and vascular basement membrane assembly [109, 110]. Basement membrane is deposited between ECs and pericytes within these tunnel voids. Further work by this group showed that PDGF-BB and HB-EGF are necessary for pericytes to accumulate within these tunnels and along EC tubules, and also for proper basement membrane deposition. Without these growth factors directing the behavior of the pericyte-EC interactions, their data suggest that no basement membrane will be laid down [111]. This growth factor-pericyte interplay is known to be regulated by MT1-MMP. Active MT1-MMP directly controls the binding to PDGF receptor-B of pericytes after PDGF- β secretion by ECs. This cascade of events then controls pericyte migration to sites of need along the vasculature, as well as proliferation to induce greater vasculature stabilization and angiogenic quiescence [71, 73]. VEGF, an important initial cue for increased vessel permeability followed by basement membrane degradation and EC sprouting, also affects pericyte coverage. Treatment with VEGF antagonists results in increased pericyte coverage and improved microcirculatory function with lower permeability [112, 113].

The TIE-2 receptor of ECs on the stalks of sprouting capillaries is a signaling receptor that results in collagen IV expression throughout the stalk but not in the tip cells of capillary sprouts. It is thought to be regulated by Ang-1 in the presence of vascular smooth muscle cells (vSMCs) [45]. When vSMCs are absent, the distinction between stalk and tip cells is eliminated, and MT1-MMP is expressed throughout the structure [45]. Pericytes in co-cultures with ECs also express

TIMP-1, which inhibits the activity of soluble MMPs and promotes basement membrane deposition by ECs [76].

As mentioned earlier, pericyte contact with EC tubules reportedly plays a role in basement membrane deposition. Basement membrane proteins such as laminins and collagen IV are produced with the assistance of pericytes. In quiescent vessels, these basement membrane proteins inhibit tube morphogenesis by blocking access to the interstitial collagens that encourage EC migration and invasion. When pericytes are not present to encourage laminin deposition, ECs remain migratory, and vessel stabilization does not occur. Further work has also shown that EC-pericyte interactions induce production of fibronectin, nidogen-1, nidogen-2, and perlecan, as well as the laminins and collagen IV on the ablumenal surfaces of nascent EC tubules, all of which are constituents of basement membrane [109]. Additional work in this area showed that ECs produced the elevated levels of fibronectin found during these EC-pericyte interactions, while nidogen-1 was produced by the pericytes. These two proteins are both known to be binding molecules for the basement membrane specifically [7, 114]. Furthermore, fibronectin binds collagen IV and perlecan, and nidogen-1 binds collagen IV and laminin. Thus, fibronectin and nidogen-1 appear to be essential for assembly of the full basement membrane [114]. Collagen IV is mainly responsible for basement membrane structural support, and binds predominantly fibronectin and nidogen-1, and self-assembly of fibronectin that is induced by pericytes has a direct effect on collagen IV assembly as well [109].

Most mature capillary networks within the body have approximately 20–25 % of their area covered by pericytes [115]. Despite the fact that pericytes cover only about one fourth of the total EC tubule area, they appear to control basement membrane production and maintenance along the full length of each tubule (see Fig. 4). This may be due to their ability to move along the tube surface [115]. Collectively, these results suggest that heterotypic cell–cell contacts between ECs and pericytes, along with the constant pericyte motility along nascent tubules, are required events for basement membrane deposition and ultimate vessel stabilization.

While conventional wisdom suggests that stromal cells that differentiate into pericytes promote vessel stabilization, basement membrane production, and maturation of the interstitial ECM, there are several cases where stromal cells influence ECM protein degradation and subsequent remodeling. The recruitment of mural cells to the stalks of nascent EC tubules anatomically distinguishes tip cells from stalk cells, and leads to the further production of MMPs by the tip cells to facilitate their ability to break down and invade the matrix ahead of them. In aging adults, pericyte coverage can decrease, causing ultimate ECM breakdown and angiogenic activity increases [116]. Similar activities take place in various ischemic diseases and pathologies such as diabetes.

B. Pericytes modulate integrin-mediated EC-to-ECM attachment

Integrins mediate EC attachment to the ECM, and cross-talk with several growth factor receptors, and thus are of critical importance in the process of angiogenesis. ECs express a wide range of integrins depending on the location and

200

state of activation of the cells. The repertoire of integrins expressed by quiescent ECs enables adhesion to components of an intact basement membrane. On the other hand, angiogenic ECs upregulate the expression of a small subset of integrins, most notably the $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ heterodimer, which has been reported to be required for angiogenesis [117]. It has been proposed that this integrin is upregulated in angiogenic ECs to permit the binding to a wide range of provisional matrix components, including fibrinogen, vitronectin, von Willebrand factor, and fibronectin. Consistent with a requirement for this integrin in angiogenesis, a landmark study showed that $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrin antagonists promote tumor regression by inducing apoptosis of angiogenic blood vessels [118]. There is some evidence that integrin $\alpha_5\beta_1$ expression is also upregulated at the initiation of angiogenesis, perhaps because it allows the newly migrating ECs that are sprouting from a preexisting vessel to bind the aforementioned components of the provisional matrix [119, 120]. A complete discussion of integrins and their roles in both normal and pathologic angiogenesis is beyond the scope of this chapter. (For an excellent review, the reader is referred to a paper by Stupack and Cheresh [121].)

However, two facts regarding integrin expression are particularly relevant in the context of this chapter on ECM remodeling. The first is that the integrin expression profiles of ECs undergoing angiogenesis are different than those of quiescent ECs, as noted in the preceding paragraph. This is due to the fact that angiogenic ECs are exposed to an interstitial matrix whose composition is significantly different than a basement membrane, as noted in the preceding paragraph. The second is that pericytes appear to also be involved in the regulation of EC integrin expression patterns. ECs that are in contact with pericytes express $\alpha_5\beta_1$ to attach to the basement membrane. When pericytes are not present, expression of this integrin is down-regulated, and the nascent vessels remain in an unstable immature state (perhaps more appropriately called an angiogenic state versus a quiescent state). Other integrin subunits with high affinities for basement membrane components (i.e. nidogens, laminins, and collagen IV), including the α_3 , α_6 , and α_1 subunits, are also not expressed by the ECs in appreciable amounts when pericytes are absent. In contrast, α_2 integrin, which recognizes collagen I (a component of the interstitial ECM, but not the basement membrane), is expressed at high levels in ECs cultured alone in 3-D collagen matrices, but is down-regulated in EC-pericyte co-cultures after pericytes have been recruited to initiate vessel maturation [109]. This study by Stratman et al. also showed that a strong induction of α_3 , α_5 , and α_6 integrin mRNAs in ECs, combined with a dramatic increase in pericyte α_1 , α_3 , and α_6 integrin mRNAs only when ECs and pericytes were cultured together and coincident with the deposition of basement membrane matrices [109]. Thus, there appears to be a complex and dynamic crosstalk between the ECs and pericytes that governs the integrin expression profiles of both cell types. These dynamic changes in integrin expression profiles permit EC adhesion to the interstitial matrix during the initial sprouting phases of angiogenesis, followed by the subsequent adhesion of both cell types to the EC-deposited basement membrane as the capillaries stabilize and mature.



5 Linking ECM Mechanical Properties and Remodeling

The ECM's ability to regulate angiogenesis is complex and multivariate. Not only does it impact capillary morphogenesis via biochemical regulatory mechanisms, including through growth factor sequestration, integrin-mediated adhesion, and protease susceptibility, it also acts as an instructive structural framework to support sprouting and nascent capillary functionality. An additional feature of the ECM that has been proposed as a regulator of angiogenesis is its mechanical resistance to cell-generated tractional forces [122]. Evidence from several studies corroborates the idea that mechanical cues directly impact tubulogenesis [123–130]. Vailhe et al. demonstrated that human umbilical vein ECs seeded on top of 2-D fibrin gels varying in concentration from 0.5 to 8 mg/ml only formed capillary-like structures on the softest of the gels. The authors concluded that the ECs do not form capillary-like structures on the more rigid gels because the cells are unable to generate the necessary contractile forces to remodel the more rigid substrate [125]. Another study conducted by Deroanne et al. showed that ECs seeded on collagen-functionalized polyacrylamide gels of different stiffness change morphologies from a monolayer to a tube-like phenotype as substrate rigidity decreases [123]. In 3-D culture, Urech et al. investigated angiogenic process extension in 3-D fibrin gels and manipulated their mechanical properties by adding exogenous factor XIII to form additional cross-links [127]. Sieminski et al. also studied the 3-D formation of capillary-like structures by two different types of ECs in freely-floating versus. mechanically-constrained (attached) collagen gels, and concluded that changing the collagen concentration modulates the formation of these structures by regulating the amount of traction force exerted by the cells [124]. Further evidence links EC-generated traction forces with branching [128], the formation of capillary-like structures [123, 124, 131], and the transcriptional control of soluble pro-angiogenic molecules [129]. A more detailed discussion of the role of ECM mechanics and EC-generated tractional forces is found elsewhere in this book.

In the scope of this chapter, it is important to recognize that the mechanical properties of the ECM are highly dynamic due to active remodeling induced both by the ECs and stromal cells. A study by Lee et al. used second harmonic generation and two-photon excited fluorescence to show that ECs induce quantifiable alterations in local collagen matrix density via a process that involved cell-generated forces [132]. Another study by Krishnan et al. tracked changes to the ECM during the process of angiogenesis using a 3-D culture model [133]. The authors reported an overall softening of the ECM as MMP activity increased during the initial sprouting phase, and then a slow stiffening as the MMP activity held steady and sprouts increased in length during tubulogenesis. Other studies have suggested that matrix stiffness may also indirectly modulate MMP activity in ECs [134–136]; however, the underlying mechanisms linking ECM mechanical properties and protease expression and/or activity remain to be elucidated.

In addition to EC-generated forces regulating angiogenesis, a recent study by Kilarski et al. reported that external forces generated by myofibroblasts pulling on the ECM during wound contraction mediated the formation of vascular loops by pulling on preexisting vascular beds [137]. This process, known as intussusceptive microvascular growth [138], demonstrates that stromal cells influence the process of angiogenesis in multiple ways. Not only do they secrete pro- and anti-angiogenic soluble factors, some of which influence the expression and activity of certain MMPs, and act as pericytes to stabilize the nascent vasculature, they also generate local forces that dynamically remodel the ECM and preexisting tissue structures. Understanding the complex interplay between ECs, stromal cells, and the ECM remains an ongoing challenge for the field.

6 Conclusions

The ECM continuously remodels in response to multiple instructive cues during the complex process of capillary morphogenesis. From early development of the capillary plexus in vasculogenesis, to the angiogenic sprouting of new vasculature in ischemic tissue in adults, many different proteinases work in concert with ECs and stromal cells to drive matrix breakdown, capillary sprouting, and subsequent maturation. Various soluble MMPs, membrane-bound MMPs, ADAMs, and inhibitors of each of these active players, play important roles to maintain the balance between pro- and anti-angiogenic cues in quiescent vessels, and to tip the scales to induce capillary morphogenesis and blood vessel development when needed. An increasing body of literature strongly suggests that pericytes are not only essential in promoting the stabilization and long-term functionality of capillary networks, but they can also exert their influence on vessel formation in a multitude of ways. As discussed here, pericytes also dynamically communicate with ECs to influence matrix proteolysis, synthesis, integrin expression profiles, and the mechanical properties of the interstitial matrix, all of which can influence angiogenesis. Further work is needed to dissect the exact roles of these various players on matrix remodeling and angiogenesis.

Acknowledgments The authors gratefully acknowledge funding from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (R01-HL-085339) and a CAREER award from the National Science Foundation (CBET-0968216). S.J.G. was supported by a predoctoral fellowship from NIH Cellular Biotechnology Training Grant (T32-GM-008353).

References

- 1. Jain, R.: Molecular regulation of vessel maturation. Nat. Med. 9, 685-693 (2003)
- 2. Carmeliet, P., Jain, R.: Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. Nature **407**, 249–257 (2000)



- Adams, R., Alitalo, K.: Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 464–478 (2007)
- Page-McCaw, A., Ewalk, A., Werb, Z.: Matrix metalloproteinases and the regulation of tissue remodeling. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 8, 221–233 (2007)
- Ghajar, C., George, S., Putnam, A.: Matrix metalloproteinase control of capillary morphogenesis. Crit. Rev. Eukaryot. Gene. Expr. 18(3), 251–278 (2008)
- Ausprunk, D., Folkman, J.: Migration and proliferation of endothelial cells in preformed and newly formed blood vessels during tumor angiogenesis. Microvasc. Res. 14, 53–65 (1977)
- Davis, G., Senger, D.: Endothelial extracellular matrix: biosynthesis, remodeling, and functions during vascular morphogenesis and neovessel stabilization. Circ. Res. 97, 1093–1107 (2005)
- Roovers, K., Assoian, R.: Integrating the MAP kinase signal into the G1 phase cell cycle machinery. Bioessays 22, 818–826 (2000)
- 9. Seger, R., Krebs, E.: The MAPK signaling cascade. FASEB J. 9, 726-735 (1995)
- Vinals, F., Pouyssegur, J.: Confluence of vascular endothelial cells induces cell cycle exit by inhibiting p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinase activity. Mol. Cell. Biol. 19, 2763–2772 (1999)
- Assoian, R., Schwartz, M.: Coordinate signaling by integrins and receptor tyrosine kinases in the regulation of G1 phase cell-cycle progression. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 11, 48–53 (2001)
- Akiyama, S., Yamada, S., Chen, W., Yamada, K.: Analysis of fibronectin receptor function with monoclonal antibodies: roles in cell adhesion, migration, matrix assembly, and cytoskeletal organization. J. Cell Biol. **109**, 863–875 (1989)
- Meredith, J., Schwartz, M.: Integrins, adhesion and apoptosis. Trends Cell Biol. 7, 146–150 (1997)
- 14. Giancotti, F., Ruoslahti, R.: Integrin signaling. Science 285, 1028–1032 (1999)
- Wary, K., Mainiero, F., Isakoff, S., Marcantonion, E., Giancotti, F.: The adaptor protein Shc couples a class of integrins to the control of cell cycle progression. Cell 87, 733–743 (1996)
- Liu, Y., Senger, D.: Matrix-specific activation of Src and Rho initiates capillary morphogenesis of endothelial cells. FASEB J. 18, 457–468 (2004)
- 17. Davis, G., Bayless, K., Mavila, A.: Molecular basis of endothelial cell morphogenesis in three-dimensional extracellular matrices. Anat. Rec. **268**, 252–275 (2002)
- Vernon, R., Sage, H.: A novel, quantitative model for study of endothelial cell migration and sprout formation within three-dimensional collagen matrices. Microvasc. Res. 57(2), 118–133 (1999)
- Ingber, D., Folkman, J.: Inhibition of angiogenesis through modulation of collagen metabolism. Lab Invest. 59, 44–51 (1988)
- Whelan, M., Senger, D.: Collagen I initiates endothelial cell morphogenesis by inducing actin polymerization through suppression of cyclic AMP and protein kinase A. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 327–334 (2003)
- Montesano, R., Orci, L., Vassalli, P.: In vitro rapid organization of endothelial cells into capillary-like networks is promotoed by collagen matrices. J. Cell Biol. 97, 1648–1652 (1983)
- Senger, D., Perruzzi, C., Streit, M., Koteliansky, V., Fougerolles, A.d., Detmar, M.: The alpha1beta1 and alpha2beta1 integrins provide critical support for vascular endothelial growth factor signaling, endothelial cell migration, and tumor angiogenesis. Am. J. Pathhol. 160, 195–204 (2002)
- 23. Davis, G., Camarillo, C.: An alpha2beta1 integrin-dependent pinocytic mechanism involving intracellular vacuole formation and coalescence regulates capillary lumen and tube formation in three-dimensional collagen matrix. Exp. Cell Res. 224, 39–51 (1996)
- 24. Senger, D., Claffey, K., Benes, J., Perruzzi, C., Sergiou, A., Detmar, M.: Angiogenesis promoted by vascular endothelial growth factor: regulation through alpha1beta1 and alpha2beta1 integrins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94, 13612–13617 (1997)

1 الألم للاستشارات

- 25. Bayless, J., Davis, G.: The Cdc42 and Rac1 GTPases are required for capillary lumen formation in three-dimensional extracellular matrices. J. Cell Sci. 115, 1123–1136 (2002)
- Davis, G., Bayless, K.: An integrin and Rho GTPase-dependent pinocytic vacuole mechanism controls capillary lumen formation in collagen and fibrin matrices. Microcirculation 10, 27–44 (2003)
- 27. Yurchenco, P., Amenta, P., Patton, B.: Basement membrane assembly, stability and activities observed through a developmental lens. Matrix Biol. **276**, 521–538 (2004)
- Fujiwara, H., Kikkawa, Y., Sanzen, N., Sekiguchi, K.: Purification and characterization of human laminin-8. Laminin-8 stimulates cell adhesion and migration through alpha3beta1 and alpha6beta1 integrins. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 17550–17558 (2001)
- Mettouchi, A., Klein, S., Guo, W., Lopez-Lago, M., Lemichez, E., Westwick, J., Giancotti, F.: Integrin-specific activation of Rac controls progression through the G(1) phase of the cell cycle. Mol. Cell. 8, 115–127
- Klein, S., de Fougerolles, A.R., Blaikie, P., Khan, L., Pepe, A., Green, C., Koteliansky, V., Giancotti, F.: Alpha5 beta1 integrin activates an NF-kappa B-dependent program of gene expression important for angiogenesis and inflammation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22, 5912–5922 (2002)
- 31. Nagase, H., Woessner, J.: Matrix metalloproteinases. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 21491-21494 (1999)
- Stamenkovic, I.: Extracellular matrix remodeling: the role of matrix metalloproteinases. J. Pathol. 200, 448–464 (2003)
- Sternlicht, M., Werb, Z.: How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior. Ann. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 17, 463–516 (2001)
- 34. van Hinsbergh, V., Englese, M., Quax, P.: Pericellular proteases in angiogenesis and vasculogenesis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 26, 716–728 (2006)
- Bode, W., Fernandez-Catalan, C., Tschesche, H., Grams, F., Nagase, H., Maskos, K.: Structural properties of matrix metalloproteinases. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 55, 639–652 (1999)
- Kleiner, D., Stetler-Stevenson, W.: Structural biochemistry and activation of matrix metalloproteinases. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 5, 891–897 (1993)
- 37. McCawley, L., Matrisian, L.: Matrix metalloproteinases: they're not just for matrix anymore! Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 13, 534–540 (2001)
- Lynch, C., Matrisian, L.: Matrix metalloproteinases in tumor-hose cell communication. Differentiation 70, 561–573 (2002)
- Lee, M.-H., Murphy, G.: Matrix metalloproteinases at a glance. J. Cell Sci. 117, 4015–4016 (2004)
- Visse, R., Nagase, H.: Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors or metalloproteinases. Circ. Res. 92, 827–839 (2003)
- Taraboletti, G., D'Ascenzo, S., Borsotti, P., Giavazzi, R., Pavan, A., Dolo, V.: Shedding of the matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2, MMP-9, and MT1-MMP as membrane vesicleassociated components by endothelial cells. Am. J. Pathol. 160(2), 673–680 (2002)
- Li, A., Dubey, S., Varney, M., Dave, B., Singh, R.: IL-8 directly enhanced endothelial cell survival, proliferation, and matrix metalloproteinase production and regulated angiogenesis. J. Immunol. **170**, 3369–3376 (2003)
- Nguyen, M., Arkell, J., Jackson, C.: Human endothelial gelatinases and angiogenesis. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 33, 960–970 (2001)
- 44. Nyberg, P., Xie, L., Kalluri, R.: Endogenous inhibitors of angiogenesis. Cancer Cell 3, 589–601 (2005)
- 45. Yana, I., Sagara, H., Takaki, S., Takatsu, K., Nakamura, K., Nakao, K., Katsuki, M., Taniguchi, S., Aoki, T., Sato, H., Weiss, S., Seiki, M.: Crosstalk between neovessels and mural cells directs the site-specific expression of MT1-MMP to endothelial tip cells. J. Cell Sci. **120**, 1607–1614 (2007)
- Kalluri, R.: Basement membranes: structure, assembly and role in tumor angiogenesis. Nat. Rev. Cancer 3, 422–433 (2003)

الم الم للاستشارات

- Jeong, J., Cha, H., Yu, D., Seiki, M., Kim, K.: Induction of membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 stimulates angiogenic activities of bovine aortic endothelial cells. Angiogenesis 3, 167–174 (1999)
- Tang, Y., Kesavan, P., Nakada, M., Yan, L.: Tumor-stroma interaction: positive feedback regulation of extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer (EMMPRIN) expression and matrix metalloproteinase-dependent generation of soluble EMMPRIN. Mol. Cancer Res. 2, 73–80 (2004)
- Helm, C., Fleury, M., Zisch, A., Boschetti, F., Swartz, M.: Synergy between interstitial flow and VEGF directs capillary morphogenesis in vitro through a gradient amplification mechanism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 15779–15784 (2005)
- 50. Carlson, M., Longaker, M.: The fibroblast-populated collagen matrix as a model of wound healing: a review of the evidence. Wound Repear Regen **12**, 134–147 (2004)
- 51. Burbridge, M., Coge, F., Galizzi, J., Boutin, J., West, D., Tucker, G.: The role of the matrix metalloproteinases during in vitro vessel formation. Angiogenesis **5**, 215–226 (2002)
- 52. Kachgal, S., Putnam, A.: Mesenchymal stem cells from adipose and bone marrow promote angiogenesis via distinct cytokine and protease expression mechanisms. Angiogenesis 14(1), 47–59 (2011)
- Lee, S., Jilani, S., Nikolova, G., Carpizo, D., Iruela-Arispe, M.: Processing of VEGF-A by matrix metalloproteinases regulates bioavailability and vascular patterning in tumors. J. Cell Biol. 169, 681–691 (2005)
- Bergers, G., Brekken, R., McMahon, G., Vu, T., Itoh, T., Tamaki, K., Tanzawa, K., Thorpe, P., Itohara, S., Werb, Z., Hanahan, D.: Matrix metalloproteinase-9 triggers the angiogenic switch during carcinogenesis. Nat. Cell Biol. 2(10), 737–744 (2000)
- 55. Moses, M., Marikovsky, M., Harper, J., Vogt, P., Eriksson, E., Klagsbrun, M., Langer, R.: Temporal study of the activity of matrix metalloproteinases and their endogenous inhibitors during wound healing. J. Cell. Biochem. **60**(3), 379–386 (1996)
- 56. Muhs, B., Plitas, G., Delgado, Y., Ianus, I., Shaw, J., Adelman, M., Lamparello, P., Shamamian, P., Gagne, P.: Temporal expression and activation of matrix metalloproteinases-2, -9, and membrane type 1-matrix metalloproteinase following acute hindlimb ischemia. J. Surg. Res. **111**, 8–15 (2003)
- 57. Patterson, J., Hubbell, J.: Enhanced proteolytic degradation of molecularly engineered PEG hydrogels in response to MMP-1 and MMP-2. Biomaterials **31**, 7836–7845 (2010)
- Moon, J., Saik, J., Poche, R., Leslie-Barbick, J., Lee, S., Smith, A., Dickinson, M., West, J.: Biomimetic hydrogels with pro-angiogenic properties. Biomaterials 31, 3840–3847 (2010)
- 59. Zisch, A., Lutolf, M., Ehrbar, M., Raeber, G., Rizzi, S., Davies, N., Schmokel, H., Bezuidenhout, D., Djonov, V., Zilla, P., Hubbell, J.: Cell-demanded release of VEGF from synthetic, biointeractive cell ingrowth matrices for vascularized tissue growth. FASEB J. 17(15), 2260–2262 (2003)
- Davis, G., Allen, K., Salazar, R., Maxwell, S.: Matrix metalloproteinase-1 and -9 activation by plasmin regulates a novel endothelial cell-mediated mechanism of collagen gel contraction and capillary tube regression in three-dimensional collagen matrices. J. Cell Sci. 114, 917–930 (2001)
- Zhu, W., Guo, X., Villaschi, S., Nicosia, R.: Regulation of vascular growth and regression by matrix metalloproteinases in the rat aorta model of angiogenesis. Lab. Invest. 80, 545–555 (2000)
- Saunders, W., Bayless, J., Davis, G.: MMP-1 activation by serine proteases and MMP-10 induces human capillary tubular network collapse and regression in 3D collagen matrices. J. Cell Sci. 118, 2325–2340 (2005)
- Davis, G., Saunders, W.: Molecular balance of capillary tube formation versus regression in wound repair: Role of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors. J. Investig. Dermatol. Symp. Proc. 11, 44–56 (2006)
- 64. Hamano, Y., Zeisberg, M., Sugimoto, H., Lively, J., Maeshima, Y., Yang, C., Hynes, R., Werb, Z., Sudhakar, A., Kalluri, R.: Physiological levels of tumstatin, a fragment of

المستشارات

collagen IV alpha3 chain, are generated by MMP-9 proteolysis and suppress angiogenesis via alphaV beta3 integrin. Cancer Cell **3**(6), 589–601 (2003)

- 65. Hangai, M., Kitaya, N., Xu, J., Chan, C., Kim, J., Werb, Z., Ryan, S., Brooks, P.: Matrix metalloproteinase-9-dependent exposure of a cryptic migratory control site in collagen is required before retinal angiogenesis. Am. J. Path. 161(4), 1429–1437 (2002)
- Chang, J., Javier, J., Chang, G., Oliveira, H., Azar, D.: Functional characterization of neostatins, the MMP-derived, enzymatic cleavage products of type XVIII collagen. FEBS Lett. 579, 3601–3606 (2005)
- Heljasvaara, R., Nyberg, P., Luostarinen, J., Parikka, M., Heikkila, P., Rehn, M., Sorsa, T., Salo, T., Pihlajaniemi, T.: Generation of biologically active endostatin fragments from human collagen XVIII by distinct matrix metalloproteases. Exp. Cell Res. **307**(2), 292–304 (2005)
- O'Reilly, M., Boehm, T., Shing, Y., Fukai, N., Vasios, G., Lane, W., Flynn, E., Birkhead, J., Olsen, B., Folkman, J.: Endostatin: an endogenous inhibitor of angiogenesis and tumor growth. Cell 88, 277–285 (1997)
- 69. Kim, Y., Jang, J., Lee, O., Yeon, J., Choi, E., Kim, K., Lee, S., Kwon, Y.: Endostatin inhibits endothelial and tumor cellular invasion by blocking the activation and catalytic activity of matrix metalloproteinase 2. Cancer Res. 60, 5410–5413 (2000)
- Vihinen, P., Kahari, V.-M.: Matrix metalloproteinases in cancer: Prognostic markers and therapeutic targets. Int. J. Cancer 99, 157–166 (2002)
- Hellstrom, M., Gerhardt, H., Kalen, M., Li, X., Eriksson, U., Wolburg, H., Betsholtz, C.: Lack of pericytes leads to endothelial hyperplasia and abnormal vascular morphogenesis. J. Cell Biol. 153(3), 543–554 (2001)
- Gerhardt, H., Betsholtz, C.: Endothelial-pericyte interactions in angiogenesis. Cell Tissue Res. 314(1), 15–23 (2003)
- Lehti, K., Birkedal-Hansen, E.A.H., Holmbeck, K., Miyake, Y., Chun, T., Weiss, S.: An MT1-MMP-PDGF receptor-beta axis regulates mural cell investment of the microvasculature. Genes Dev. 19, 979–991 (2005)
- 74. Ghajar, C.M., Kachgal, S., Kniazeva, E., Mori, H., Costes, S.V., George, S.C., Putnam, A.J.: Mesenchymal cells stimulate capillary morphogenesis via distinct proteolytic mechanisms. Exp. Cell Res. **316**(5), 813–825 (2010)
- Suri, C., Jones, P., Patan, S., Bartunkova, S., Mainsonpierre, P., Davis, S., Sato, T., Yancopoulos, G.: Requisite role of angiopoietin-1, a ligand for the TIE2 receptor, during embryonic angiogenesis. Cell 87, 1171–1180 (1996)
- Kraling, B., Wiederschain, D., Boehm, T., Rehn, M., Mulliken, J., Moses, M.: The role of matrix metalloproteinase activity in the maturation of human capillary endothelial cells in vitro. J. Cell Sci. 112(Pt 10), 1599–1609 (1999)
- Saunders, W., Bohnsack, B., Faske, J., Anthis, N., Bayless, K., Hirschi, K., Davis, G.: Coregulation of vascular tube stabilization by endothelial cell TIMP-2 and pericyte TIMP-3. J. Cell Biol. 175(1), 179–191 (2006)
- Lafleur, M., Forsyth, P., Atkinson, S., Murphy, G., Edwards, D.: Perivascular cells regulate endothelial membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase activity. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 282, 463–473 (2001)
- Edwards, D., Handsley, M., Pennington, C.: The ADAM metalloproteinases. Mol. Aspects Med. 29(5), 258–289 (2008)
- Roghani, M., Becherer, J., Moss, M., Atherton, R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Arribas, J., Blackburn, R., Weskamp, G., Tempst, P., Blobel, C.: Metalloproteinase-disintegrin MDC9: intracellular maturation and catalytic activity. J. Biol. Chem. 6, 3531–3540 (1999)
- Howard, L., Maciewicz, R., Blobel, C.: Cloning and characterization of ADAM28: evidence for autocatalytic pro-domain removal and for cell surface localization of mature ADAM28. Biochem. J. 348(Pt 1), 21–27 (2000)
- Schlomann, U., Wildeboer, D., Webster, A., Antropova, O., Zeuschner, D., Knight, C., Docherty, A., Lambert, M., Skelton, L., Jockusch, H., Bartsch, J.: The metalloprotease

أ الم للاستشارات

disintegrin ADAM8. Processing by autocatalysis is required for proteolytic activity and cell adhesion. J. Biol. Chem. **50**, 48210–48219 (2002)

- White, J.: ADAMs: modulators of cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 15(5), 598–606 (2003)
- Niewiarowski, S., McLane, M., Kloczewiak, M., Stewart, G.: Disintegrins and other naturally occurring antagonists of platelet fibrinogen receptors. Semin. Hematol. 31(4), 289–300 (1994)
- Mazzocca, A., Coppari, R., Franco, R.D., Cho, J., Libermann, T., Pinzani, M., Toker, A.: A secreted form of ADAM9 promotes carcinoma invasion through tumor-stromal interactions. Cancer Res. 65(11), 4728–4738 (2005)
- Schulz, B., Pruessmeyer, J., Maretzky, T., Ludwig, A., Blobel, C., Saftig, P., Reiss, K.: ADAM10 regulates endothelial permeability and T-cell transmigration by proteolysis of vascular endothelial cadherin. Circ. Res. **102**(10), 1192–1201 (2008)
- Kenny, P., Bissell, M.: Targeting TACE-dependent EGFR ligand shedding in breast cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 117(2), 337–345 (2007)
- Baker, A., Edwards, D., Murphy, G.: Metalloproteinase inhibitors: biological actions and therapeutic opportunities. J. Cell Sci. 115, 3719–3727 (2002)
- Chrico, R., Liu, X., Jung, K., Kim, H.: Novel functions of TIMPs in cell signaling. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 25, 99–113 (2006)
- 90. Brew, K., Dinakarpandian, D., Nagase, H.: Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: evolution, structure and function. Biochem. Biophys. Acta **1477**, 267–283 (2000)
- Yu, W., Yu, S., Meng, Q., Brew, K., Woessner, J.: TIMP-3 binds to sulphated glycosaminoglycans of the extracellular matrix. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 31226–31232 (2000)
- Will, H., Atkinson, S., Butler, G., Smith, B., Murphy, G.: The soluble catalytic domain of membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase cleaves the propeptide of progelatinase A and initiates autoproteolytic activation. Regulation by TIMP-2 and TIMP-3. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 17119–17123 (1996)
- Amour, A., Knight, C., Webster, A., Slocombe, P., Stephens, P., Knauper, V., Docherty, A., Murphy, G.: The in vitro activity of ADAM-10 is inhibited by TIMP-1 and TIMP-3. FEBS Lett. 473, 275–279 (2000)
- 94. Goldberg, G., Marmer, B., Grant, G., Eisen, A., Wilhelm, S., He, C.: Human 72-kilodalton type IV collagenase forms a complex with a tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases designated TIMP-2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86, 8207–8211 (1989)
- Wilhelm, S., Collier, I., Marmer, B., Eisen, A., Grant, G., Goldberg, G.: SV40-transformed human lung fibroblasts secrete a 92-kDa type IV collagenase which is identical to that secreted by normal human macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 264(29), 17213–17221 (1989)
- Sato, H., Takino, T., Okada, Y., Cao, J., Shinagawa, A., Yamamoto, E., Seiki, M.: A matrix metalloproteinase expressed on the surface of invasive tumor cells. Nature **370**, 61–65 (1994)
- Strongin, A., Collier, I., Bannikov, G., Marmer, B., Grant, G.: Mechanism of cell surface activation of 72-kDa type IV collagenase. Isolation of the activated form of the membrane metalloprotease. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 5331–5338 (1995)
- Fernandez, C., Butterfield, C., Jackson, G., Moses, M.: Structural and functional uncoupling of the enzymatic and angiogenic inhibitory activities of tissue inhibitor metalloproteinase-2 (TIMP-2): loop 6 is a novel angiogenesis inhibitor. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 40989–40995 (2003)
- 99. Qi, J., Ebrahem, Q., Moore, N., Murphy, G., Claesson-Welsh, L., Bond, M., Baker, A., Anand-Apte, B.: A novel function for tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 (TIMP3): inhibition of angiogenesis by blockage of VEGF binding to VEGF receptor-2. Nat. Med. 9, 407–415 (2003)
- 100. Yu, W., Yu, S., Meng, Q., Brew, K., Woessner, J.: TIMP-3 binds to sulfated glycosaminoglycans of the extracellular matrix. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 31226–31232 (2000)
- 101. Greene, J., Wang, M., Liu, Y., Raymond, L., Rosen, C., Shi, Y.: Molecular cloning and characterization of human tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 4. J. Biol. Chem. 271(48), 30375–30380 (1996)

, للاستشار ات

- Fernandez, C., Moses, M.: Modulation of angiogenesis by tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-4. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 345, 523–529 (2006)
- 103. Koskivirta, I., Kassiri, Z., Rahkonen, O., Kiviranta, R., Oudir, G., McKee, T., Kyto, V., Saraste, A., Jokinen, E., Liu, P., Vuorio, E., Khokha, R.: Mice with tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 4 (Timp4) delection succumb to induced myocardial infarction but not to cardiac pressure overload. J. Biol. Chem. 285(32), 24487–24493 (2010)
- 104. Takahashi, C., Sheng, Z., Horan, T., Kitayama, H., Maki, M., Hitomi, K., Kitaura, Y., Takai, S., Sasahara, R., Horimoto, A., Ikawa, Y., Ratzkin, B., Arakawa, T., Noda, M.: Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and inhibition of tumor invasion by the membrane-anchored glycoprotein RECK. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **95**(22), 13221–13226 (1998)
- 105. Oh, J., Takahashi, R., Kondo, S., Mizoguchi, A., Adachi, E., Sasahara, R., Nishimura, S., Imamura, Y., Kitayama, H., Alexander, D., Ide, C., Horan, T., Arakawa, T., Yoshida, H., Nishikawa, S., Itoh, Y., Seiki, M., Itohara, S., Takahashi, C., Noda, M.: The membraneanchored MMP inhibitor RECK is a key regulator of extracellular matrix integrity and angiogenesis. Cell **107**(6), 789–800 (2001)
- 106. Egeblad, M., Werb, Z.: New functions for the matrix metalloproteinases in cancer progression. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2, 161–174 (2002)
- 107. Thurston, G.: Complementary actions of VEGF and Angiopoietin-1 on blood vessel growth and leakage. J. Anat. **200**(6), 575–580 (2002)
- 108. Thomas, M., Augustin, H.: The role of the angiopoietins in vascular morphogenesis. Angiogenesis **12**, 125–137 (2009)
- Stratman, A., Malotte, K., Mahan, R., Davis, M., Davis, G.: Pericyte recruitment during vasculogenic tube assembly stimulates endothelial basement membrane matrix formation. Blood 114, 5091–5101 (2009)
- Stratman, A., Saunders, W., Sacharidou, A., Koh, W., Fisher, K., Zawieja, D., Davis, M., Davis, G.: Endothelial cell lumen and vascular guidance tunnel formation requires MT1-MMP-dependent proteolysis in 3-dimensional collagen matrices. Blood **114**, 237–247 (2009)
- 111. Stratman, A., Schwindt, A., Malotte, K., Davis, G.: Endothelial-derived PDGF-BB and HB-EGF coordinately regulate pericyte recruitment during vasculogenic tube assembly and stabilization. Blood **116**, 4720–4730 (2010)
- 112. Greenberg, J., Shields, D., Barillas, S., Acevedo, L., Murphy, E., Huang, J., Scheppke, L., Stockmann, C., Johnson, R., Angle, N., Charesh, D.: A role for VEGF as a negative regulator of pericyte function and vessel maturation. Nature **456**(7223), 809–813 (2008)
- 113. Jain, R.: Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. Science **307**, 58–62 (2005)
- Miner, J., Yurchenco, P.: Laminin functions in tissue morphogenesis. Ann. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 255–284 (2004)
- 115. Davis, G., Stratman, A., Sacharidou, A., Koh, W.: Molecular basis for endothelial lumen formation and tubulogenesis during vasculogenesis and angiogenic sprouting. Int. Rev. Cell Mol. Biol. 288, 101–165 (2011)
- 116. Quaegebeur, A., Segura, I., Carmeliet, P.: Pericytes: blood-brain barrier safeguards against neurodegeneration? Neuron **68**(3), 321–323 (2010)
- 117. Brooks, P.C., Clark, R.A., Cheresh, D.A.: Requirement of vascular integrin alpha v beta 3 for angiogenesis. Science **264**(5158), 569–571 (1994)
- 118. Brooks, P.C., Montgomery, A.M., Rosenfeld, M., Reisfeld, R.A., Hu, T., Klier, G., Cheresh, D.A.: Integrin alpha v beta 3 antagonists promote tumor regression by inducing apoptosis of angiogenic blood vessels. Cell **79**(7), 1157–1164 (1994)
- Kim, S., Bell, K., Mousa, S., Varner, J.: Regulation of angiogenesis in vivo by ligation of integrin alpha5-beta1 with the central cell-binding domain of fibronectin. Am. J. Pathol. 156, 1345–1362 (2000)
- 120. Ponce, M., Nomizu, M., Kleinman, H.: An angiogenic laminin site and its antagonist bind through the alphav-beta3 and alpha5-beta1 integrins. FASEB J. 15, 1389–1397 (2001)

, للاستشارات

- 121. Stupack, D.G., Cheresh, D.A.: Integrins and angiogenesis. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 64, 207–238 (2004)
- Ingber, D., Folkman, J.: How does extracellular matrix control capillary morphogenesis? Cell 58, 803–805 (1989)
- Deroanne, C.F., Lapiere, C.M., Nusgens, B.V.: In vitro tubulogenesis of endothelial cells by relaxation of the coupling extracellular matrix-cytoskeleton. Cardiovasc. Res. 49(3), 647–658 (2001)
- 124. Sieminski, A.L., Hebbel, R.P., Gooch, K.J.: The relative magnitudes of endothelial force generation and matrix stiffness modulate capillary morphogenesis in vitro. Exp. Cell Res. 297(2), 574–584 (2004)
- Vailhe, B., Lecomte, M., Wiernsperger, N., Tranqui, L.: The formation of tubular structures by endothelial cells is under the control of fibrinolysis and mechanical factors. Angiogenesis 2(4), 331–344 (1998)
- 126. Kniazeva, E., Putnam, A.J.: Endothelial cell traction and ECM density influence both capillary morphogenesis and maintenance in 3-D. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 297(1), C179–C187 (2009)
- 127. Urech, L., Bittermann, A.G., Hubbell, J.A., Hall, H.: Mechanical properties, proteolytic degradability and biological modifications affect angiogenic process extension into native and modified fibrin matrices in vitro. Biomaterials **26**(12), 1369–1379 (2005)
- 128. Fischer, R.S., Gardel, M., Ma, X., Adelstein, R.S., Waterman, C.M.: Local cortical tension by myosin II guides 3D endothelial cell branching. Current Biol.: CB 19(3), 260–265 (2009)
- 129. Mammoto, A., Connor, K.M., Mammoto, T., Yung, C.W., Huh, D., Aderman, C.M., Mostoslavsky, G., Smith, L.E.H., Ingber, D.E.: A mechanosensitive transcriptional mechanism that controls angiogenesis. Nature 457, 1103–1108 (2009)
- Califano, J.P., Reinhart-King, C.A.: The effects of substrate elasticity on endothelial cell network formation and traction force generation. Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. 2009, 3343–3345 (2009)
- 131. Kniazeva, E., Putnam, A.: Endothelial cell traction and ECM density influence both capillary morphogenesis and maintenance in 3-D. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. **297**(1), C179–C187 (2009)
- Lee, P.F., Yeh, A.T., Bayless, K.J.: Nonlinear optical microscopy reveals invading endothelial cells anisotropically alter three-dimensional collagen matrices. Exp. Cell Res. 315(3), 396–410 (2009)
- Krishnan, L., Boying, J., Nguyen, H., Song, H., Weiss, J.: Interaction of angiogenic microvessels with the extracellular matrix. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 293, H3650– H3658 (2007)
- 134. Vailhe, B., Ronot, X., Tracqui, P., Usson, Y., Tranqui, L.: In vitro angiogenesis is modulated by the mechanical properties of fibrin gels and is related to alpha(v)beta3 integrin localization. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim. **33**, 763–773 (1997)
- Vernon, R., Sage, E.: Contraction of fibrillar type I collagen by endothelial cells: a study in vitro. J. Cell. Biochem. 60, 185–197 (1996)
- 136. Ghajar, C.M., Blevins, K.S., Hughes, C.C., George, S.C., Putnam, A.J.: Mesenchymal stem cells enhance angiogenesis in mechanically viable prevascularized tissues via early matrix metalloproteinase upregulation. Tissue Eng. **12**(10), 2875–2888 (2006)
- 137. Kilarski, W.W., Samolov, B., Petersson, L., Kvanta, A., Gerwins, P.: Biomechanical regulation of blood vessel growth during tissue vascularization. Nat. Med. 15(6), 657–664 (2009)
- 138. Benest, A.V., Augustin, H.G.: Tension in the vasculature. Nat. Med. 15(6), 608-610 (2009)
- Gerwins, P., Skoldenberg, E., Claesson-Welsh, L.: Function of fibroblast growth factors and vascular endothelial growth factors and their receptors in angiogenesis. Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 34(3), 185–194 (2000)
- 140. Spinale, F.G.: Myocardial matrix remodeling and the matrix metalloproteinases: influence on cardiac form and function. Physiol. Rev. **87**(4), 1285–1342 (2007)

المستشارات

Barrier Maintenance in Neovessels

Geerten P. van Nieuw Amerongen

Abstract A hallmark of many pathologies is vascular leak. The extent and severity of vascular leakage is broadly mediated by the integrity of the endothelial cell (EC) monolayer, which is in turn governed by three major interactions: cell-cell and cell-substrate contacts, soluble mediators, and biomechanical forces. Despite its tremendous medical importance, no specific therapies are available directly targeting the endothelium to prevent or reduce vascular permeability. Endothelial cells constantly equilibrate contractile and adhesive forces to maintain vascular barrier integrity. Intracellular signalling, and in particular the involvement of small Rho GTPases in endothelial hyperpermeability responses to many inflammatory stimuli through actin/myosin-mediated cellular contractility, is well-understood. Surprisingly less is known about maintenance of the basal endothelial barrier integrity. Recent live cell imaging studies revealed that highly confluent endothelial monolayers actively maintain barrier integrity by a continuous remodeling of their cell-cell contacts, accompanied by a rapid opening and closure of small interendothelial gaps. Moreover, evidence is accumulating that mechanical cues determined by the local microenvironment of ECs are of eminent importance to the integrity of the endothelial monolayer. Here we will review chemical and mechanical signaling involved in maintenance of the integrity of the endothelial barrier.

G. P. van Nieuw Amerongen

Department of Physiology, Institute for Cardiovascular Research, VU University Medical Center, van der Boechorstraat 7, 1081BT, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

G. P. van Nieuw Amerongen (🖂)

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_10, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 211

GPvNA was supported by a grant from the Dutch Heart Foundation (2011T072)

Faculty of Medicine, Laboratory of Physiology, VU University Medical Center, Room C-181, Van der Boechorstraat 7, 1081BT, Amsterdam, The Netherlands e-mail: nieuwamerongen@vumc.nl

1 Introduction

The endothelium—the inner lining of all blood vessels—is the main barrier that actively regulates the exchange of water and solutes from the blood to the surrounding tissues and vice versa. All tissues require a continuing supply of nutrients and a means of clearing waste products. The vascular system is very well equipped to this task. Capillaries are the most important sites for physiological exchange of solutes and waste products, as they are sufficiently "open" (i.e., "permeable") to allow the ready exchange of small molecule nutrients and waste products between the blood and tissues [1], whereas pathological exchange (e.g under inflammatory conditions) mainly occurs at the level of the post-capillary venules. Important parameters that govern capillary permeability are: (1) vascular surface area available for molecular exchange; (2) thickness of the vessel wall; (3) hydraulic conductivity, a measure of capillary permeability to water; (4) reflection coefficient, a measure of solvent drag in relation to that of water; (5) diffusion; and (6) trans-vascular pressure gradients [1].

It is important to distinguish between the basal permeability levels of normal tissues and the greatly increased levels of plasma protein extravasation that occur in pathology [2]. These hyperpermeable states may be acute or chronic and differ from each other and from basal levels of permeability with respect to the vessels that leak, the composition of the extravasate, and the anatomic pathways that solutes follow in crossing vascular endothelium [1]. The contractility of the venular endothelium has long been recognized and this endothelial activity represents an important pharmacological target [2–4].

Breach of vascular integrity results in the accumulation of plasma, proteins and cells in the interstitial space, and is one of the cardinal signs of the inflammatory response [2]. Tight regulation of the vascular permeability barrier is required to hold both acute and chronic inflammatory disease in check, and failure to restore barrier function in a timely manner can result in a catastrophic loss of vascular volume, as in septic shock, or contribute to the development of chronic inflammatory diseases such as atherosclerosis [5].

Vascular permeability is regulated by the coordinated opening and closing of endothelial cell–cell junctions and relies on a complex interplay of junctional adhesion components, cytoskeletal rearrangements, and cellular adhesive and counter-adhesive forces [4].

The endothelium is exposed to a variety of chemical and mechanical factors. Mechanical forces are exerted by blood flow and blood pressure. Blood flow creates a frictional force on the endothelial surface known as shear stress, whereas blood pressure creates (cyclic) stretching forces on the vessel wall, known as wall stress. On top of these fluid forces, the vessel wall is locally subjected to stretch forces induced by rhythmic distension of organs, such as a beating myocardium or a breathing lung. In addition to these applied forces, other mechanical factors determined by the cellular microenvironment are perceived by the endothelium as well, such as geometry and rigidity of the extracellular matrix. Through mechanotransduction

_____i الم للاستشارات

systems, cells translate these mechanical stimuli into biochemical signals that control multiple aspects of cell behaviour, including proliferation, differentiation and cellular adhesion [6]. For many years, it has been recognized that changes in the magnitude and direction of shear stress have profound effects on the adhesion of endothelial cells to their sub-endothelial matrix as well as on the organization of inter-endothelial cell-cell interactions, as reviewed elsewhere [7]. Similarly, stretch also affects endothelial monolayer integrity, as is well-established based on the vascular leak-inducing effects of the ventilator, which contributes to severe lung injury in intensive care treatment, as reviewed elsewhere [8]. However, limited information is available on whether changes in rigidity of the extracellular matrix (ECM) might affect the integrity of the endothelial barrier. Knowledge about the relationship between ECM stiffness and barrier function is of importance as blood vessels progressively stiffen with aging [1, 2]. This stiffening is exacerbated by risk factors associated with common disorders such as diabetes, hypertension, cancer, atherosclerosis and renal disease [3-7, 9, 10]. All these disorders are associated to endothelial dysfunction and many of them with increased vascular permeability in particular, suggesting that stiffening of the vascular wall might destabilize the endothelial barrier.

Here we review recent findings that shed light on the relationship between chemical and mechanical factors that regulate the maintenance of the endothelial barrier. For information on the genetic interactions implicated in the maintenance of vessel integrity the reader is referred to a list of the genes involved [11]. Detailed information on regulation of barrier dysfunction [2], the signal transduction pathways involved [4] and its clinical implications [5, 12] exist to which the interested reader is referred.

2 Cell–Cell Junction Formation

VE-cadherin-based adherens junctions (AJs) and claudin-based tight junctions (TJs) form a semipermeable endothelial barrier between the vessel lumen and stroma. In contrast to blood-brain endothelial cells, in which the TJs form a sealing belt, TJs in most other endothelia have a mosaic structure leaving space for the passage of macromolecules. The AJs contribute largely to the barrier properties of these latter endothelia through their interaction with the actin cytoskeleton.

VE-cadherin, a calcium-dependent adhesion protein mediating transhomophilic interactions, localizes at cell–cell contacts, regulating the formation of adherens junctions, and linking the site of the junction to the actin cytoskeleton.

The procedure by which endothelial cells establish their adherens junctions has remained unclear for a long time. Recently, the dynamics of cell–cell junction formation and the corresponding architecture of the underlying cytoskeleton were nicely visualized by terrific imaging in cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells [4]. It was shown that the initial interaction between cells is mediated by protruding lamellipodia. On their retraction, cells maintained contact through thin

bridges formed by filopodia-like protrusions connected by VE-cadherin–rich junctions. Subsequently, bridge bundles recruited nonmuscle myosin II and mature into stress fibers. Myosin II activity was important for bridge formation and accumulation of VE-cadherin in nascent adherens junctions. Thus, a novel lamellipodia-to-filopodia transition seems to be a mechanism of cell–cell junction formation in endothelial cells, where lamellipodia act as the initial protrusive contact, subsequently transforming into filopodia-like bridges connected through adherens junctions. The lamellipodia not only play a role in initial formation of endothelial junctions, but are also important in the maintenance of cell–cell interactions.

3 Endothelial Barrier Maintenance

Many studies have indicated the important contribution of the actin cytoskeleton to determining junctional integrity [4, 8, 13–15]. A cortical actin belt is thought to be important for the maintenance of stable junctions. In contrast, actin stress fibers are thought to generate centripetal tension within endothelial cells that weakens junctions. Many of these concepts have been based on studies in which endothelial cells are treated with inflammatory mediators known to increase endothelial permeability, and then fixing the cells and labeling F-actin for microscopic observation. These studies have missed essential information on the dynamic nature of the endothelial barrier under resting conditions. Recent live-cell imaging allows incorporation of the dynamic nature of the endothelial barrier into the studies of the mechanisms determining endothelial barrier integrity [13, 16]. Time-lapse images of fluorescently-labeled proteins in monolayers of confluent endothelial cells indicate that there exists time-dependent changes in endothelial barrier integrity.

These studies not only provide important information on processes involved both in endothelial barrier disruption and restoration under inflammatory conditions, but also highlight the dynamic nature of the maintenance of endothelial barrier integrity [13]. A remarkable feature of a quiescent endothelial monolayer is the rapid opening and closure of interendothelial gaps (see Fig. 1). Local lamellipodia all along the edges of endothelial cells are forming and regressing all the time in both nonconfluent and confluent cell monolayers.

In the quiescent endothelium, VE-cadherin-based junctions are subjected to continuous reorganization, which renders endothelial junctions highly dynamic and sensitive to extracellular stimuli. In fact, during the process of new vessel formation, endothelial cells undergo dynamic rearrangement upon angiogenic stimuli while continuously and simultaneously reorganizing cell–cell junctions and maintaining barrier function. This coordination is largely regulated by adhesion molecules at intercellular junctions and is particularly important for tube stabilization and maintenance or even restoration of the full barrier function. These subtle changes of the morphology at the cellular periphery are known as micromotion.



Fig. 1 Spontaneous closure of inter-endothelial gaps. Differential interference contrast (DIC) time-lapse imaging shows the transient nature of spontaneous gaps in post-confluent endothelial cells. For identification, outlines of individual endothelial cells are shown in the images at the *right*

Micromotion can be detected by electrical cell impedance sensing or ECIS technology, and is reflected by the 'biological' noise or fluctuations in the impedance signal [17, 18]. As can be seen in Fig. 2, micromotion of resting endothelial monolayers (the noise) is largely dependent on activity of Rho kinase, a downstream target of RhoA signalling.

Thus, junction proteins play a critical role in controlling vascular integrity both in developing and existing vessels. Among these, VE-cadherin is crucial for this regulation for its capability to remodel the F-actin cytoskeleton via modifying the function of small GTPases of the Rho family (see below) [11].

3.1 Regulation by Rho GTPases

Initial attention for Rho GTPases was drawn to RhoA activation and its role in cell contraction and endothelial hyperpermeability [9, 10, 19] Afterwards, the focus has moved to the role of Rac and Cdc42 in the assembly and stability of interendothelial junctions [14, 20]. More recently, we identified a role for RhoA and its effector Rho kinase in barrier maintenance [21].



Fig. 2 Endothelial micromotion is Rho kinase-dependent. Impedance analysis of confluent endothelial monolayers upon addition the Rho kinase inhibitor Y-27632 (10 μ M). Cells were inoculated into electrode-containing wells and allowed to develop into confluent layers for 72 h. At the time indicated by the *arrow*, the Y-27632 was added, and the resultant changes in impedance were followed. Data were collected every second. Note that both the micromotion (biological 'noise') decreases upon addition Y-27632

Much attention has been given to the regulation of AJs and their pivotal protein VE-cadherin, a membrane spanning protein that forms homotypic interactions between adjacent endothelial cells. The intracellular part of VE-cadherin is connected to the F-actin cytoskeleton via both α -and β -catenin. In addition, a third catenin, p120catenin (p120ctn), binds to VE-cadherin. P120ctn binding to VE-cadherin is an important step in the regulation of AJ stabilisation as well as in Rho GTPase regulation. Rac1 and Cdc42 are activated at sites where junctional complexes are formed, while RhoA activity is downregulated when the monolayer reaches confluence. Furthermore, many GTPase regulator activities are directly initiated by cadherin engagement [22, 23]. Thus, a precise spatial and temporal fine-tuning of the activity of Rho family GTPases is critically important in the establishment and maintenance of junctions.
Concerning basal endothelial barrier regulation, much attention has been given to the relationship between VE-cadherin, the catenins and Rho GTPases. After cadherin engagement p120ctn binding activates Vav2, a GEF for Cdc42 and Rac1. This GEF positively regulates Cdc42 and Rac1 activity. Both GTPases bind IQGAP (IQ motif containing GTPase-activating protein 1) [24, 25]. Unlike the name suggests IQGAP1 does not have GAP activity, meaning that it does not enhance the GTP hydrolytic activity of the GTPases. Instead its binding to Cdc42 and Rac1 inhibits their intrinsic GTPase activity, thus keeping them in their active, GTP-bound state. By recruiting IQGAP1, Rac1 and Cdc42 inhibit the interaction of IQGAP1 with β -catenin thereby initiating the binding of α - and β -catenin. This cross-links the complex with the actin cytoskeleton and stabilises the AJ [25]. In contrast, inactivation of Rac1 and Cdc42 causes dissociation from IQGAP1 that then binds to β -catenin at the AJ complex. As a result α - and β -catenin dissociate, leading to weaker adhesion and inter-endothelial gap formation [26].

Another AJ protein is the endothelial-specific HEG (heart of glass) transmembrane receptor, which interacts with a currently unknown extracellular ligand to activate a coordinated signalling response through inhibiting the activity of RhoA. This response requires the cerebral cavernous malformations proteins CCM1 (or KRIT1), CCM2 and CCM3 and leads to a cellular response that may include induction of endothelial vacuolisation and homotypic endothelial cell-tocell junction formation. These cellular events are required for normal vascular development and maintenance of vascular integrity. Defects in these steps result in enhanced activation of RhoA and may lead to the pathological changes associated with hereditary cerebral cavernous malformations in humans [27, 28].

In conclusion, the maintenance of the endothelial barrier depends on RhoA, Cdc42 and Rac1 activation. RhoA activity decreases upon gap closure due to VE-cadherin and p120ctn engagement. The binding of the AJs to the actin cyto-skeleton involves Cdc42, which is kept in its active state by binding to IQGAP1. Activation of Epac and RapGEF2 stimulate Rap1, which via Vav2 activates Rac1. Rac1 activation results in the inhibition of p115RhoGEF and thus a suppression of RhoA. Vav2 activity is further enhanced by p120ctn binding to the junctional complexes. The latter also directly activates p190RhoGAP thereby further inhibiting RhoA activity [26].

3.2 Regulation by Caveolae

A close interrelationship between paracellular and transcellular pathways has been surmised for a long time, but was not well understood. A coupling between caveolae-mediated endocytosis to increased junctional permeability was indicated by the finding that loss of caveolin-1 results in not only the disappearance of caveolar structures but also destabilization of inter-endothelial junctions and formation of inter-endothelial gaps [29]. Recently more direct evidence has been obtained [30, 31]. Paracellular permeability of the endothelium is finely regulated by

constitutive caveolin-1-dependent inhibition of eNOS activity. Deficiency in caveolin-1 or activation of eNOS results in nitration of p190RhoGAP and the concomitant activation of RhoA, which induces adherens junction destabilization and increased endothelial permeability. Because of the causal relationship of eNOSspecific signaling to the impairment of p190RhoGAP activity, this mechanism induces RhoA activation in endothelial cells [30].

Taken together, these data indicate that caveolin-1 mediated signaling is critical in mediating the increased permeability of the vascular junctional endothelial barrier secondary to AJ disassembly; i.e., there is signaling cross-talk between caveolae-mediated endocytosis and junctional permeability.

3.3 Regulation by Soluble Mediators

Many vaso-active agents are known to cause plasma leakage by increasing vascular permeability, but only a few soluble mediators are known to possess the opposite characteristics. Currently known endogenous barrier improving molecules include sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P), adrenomedullin, Angiopoietin-1 (Ang1), Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF), nitric oxide and adenosine [32]. Therapeutic efforts to enhance their function hold promise for the future because those compounds will likely be exploited in their ability to induce recovery of disturbed barrier functions and to act as prophylactic in stabilizing vascular barriers. The most prominent soluble mediators of endothelial barrier maintenance are discussed below.

3.3.1 Angiopoietins

The angiopoietin-Tie2 signaling system plays a crucial role in regulating endothelial barrier maintenance [33–35]. Ang-1 is a ligand of the endothelial cell receptor Tie2, and activation of Tie2 signaling enhances endothelial cell barrier integrity and endothelial-pericyte interaction, thereby promoting vascular stabilization. While expression of Tie2 is largely specific to the endothelium, Ang-1 production by mural and perivascular cells facilitates basal Tie2 signaling in quiescent endothelial cells that, in turn, is required for endothelial homeostasis. In contrast, Ang-2, produced and stored in Weibel-Palade bodies in endothelial cells, normally functions as an Ang-1 antagonist. Ang-2 destabilizes the quiescent vasculature and activates endothelial cells to respond to angiogenic stimuli [33]. Overexpression of Ang-2 in the mouse endothelium attenuates physiological Tie2 signaling and thus increases vascular permeability, suggesting that Ang-2 inhibits Tie2 signaling and counteracts the action of Ang-1 [34]. Consistent with these experimental data, circulating Ang-2 is related to vascular permeability and pulmonary dysfunction in critically ill patients [34].

3.3.2 Fibroblast Growth Factor

FGF signaling is directly required for maintenance of inter-endothelial adhesion. Suppression of FGF signalling leds to the dissociation of junctional adhesions in both arterial and venous vascular beds [36]. Murakami et al. [37] found that stimulation of endothelial monolayers with FGF1 increased p120- catenin-VE-cadherin interaction, whereas inhibition of FGF signaling induced uncoupling of p120-catenin from VE-cadherin, leading to VE-cadherin internalization [37]. The association of p120-catenin at the VE-cadherin juxtamembrane domain is known to inhibit VE-cadherin internalization by interfering with its binding to adaptor proteins of the clathrin-mediated endocytic pathway [38]. Therefore, the loss of endothelial barrier integrity in the absence of FGF signalling could be explained by destabilization of VE-cadherin homophilic adhesion and subsequent dissociation of AJs.

3.3.3 Sphingosine-1-Phosphate (S1P)

S1P, a sphingolipid metabolite found in high concentrations in platelets and blood, is a lipid mediator that interacts with GPCRs (S1P1–S1P5) to induce a variety of biological responses [39]. It is also able to enhance endothelial barrier integrity through S1P1 receptor (Edg1) signaling by promoting Rac1 activation and adherens junction assembly [40]. In confluent human umbilical vein endothelial cells, S1P significantly increases the abundance of VE-cadherin and ß-catenin at the cell–cell contact regions and enhances AJ assembly [41]. Administration of the S1P receptor agonist FTY720 in vivo potently blocks VEGF-induced vascular permeability, suggesting that S1P receptor on endothelial cells is able to regulate vascular permeability [42]. Furthermore, the S1P1 receptor is essential for normal vascular function since systemic antagonism of S1P1 receptor under basal physiological conditions causes S1P1 receptor internalization and degradation through receptor phosphorylation, leading to enhanced pulmonary vascular leakage.

3.4 Regulation by the Local Microenvironment

There is growing recognition that—in addition to chemical factors such as vasoactive agents and adhesion molecules residing in the extracellular matrix (ECM) mechanical factors, such as applied forces or the rigidity of the ECM, are able to crucially direct the form and function of cells in general and of vascular cells in particular [43, 44]. Consequently these mechanical factors modulate blood vessel morphology and function. Whereas the effects of shear and stretch forces have been studied in detail, remarkably less is known about the role of ECM rigidity in regulation of vascular barrier integrity. This is even more surprising, as the profound effects of stiffening of the vascular wall as a major cause of cardiovascular



Fig. 3 Blood vessels stiffen as a consequence of aging, diabetes, atherosclerosis, and ischemic heart diseases. A variety of mechanisms accounts for stiffening of the vessel wall, including cross-linking of matrix components, collagen deposition, increased pericyte coverage and atherosclerotic plaque formation. In addition, increased interstitial pressure as well as (periodically) stretching the vessel wall will result in an increased effective stiffness as sensed by the endothelial cells (*green outlining*)

degeneration have been appreciated for a long time [45]. Blood vessels stiffen as a consequence of aging, diabetes, atherosclerosis, and ischemic heart diseases. A variety of mechanisms accounts for stiffening of the vessel wall, including cross-linking of matrix components [46], collagen deposition, increased pericyte coverage [47] and atherosclerotic plaque formation (Fig. 3) [45]. In addition, increased interstitial pressure as well as (periodically) stretching the vessel wall will result in an increased effective stiffness as sensed by the endothelial cells. Recent data suggest a strong interaction between vascular wall stiffness and vascular permeability [3, 48]. The implications of vascular wall stiffness for other vascular functions such as angiogenesis as will be covered in detail by Califano and Reinhart-King elsewhere in this book.

In response to substrate stiffening, endothelial cells in culture modify their migration, morphology, spreading, and growth [49]. By virtue of these well known effects, substrate stiffness is recognized as a powerful determinant of endothelial form and function [44]. A key event in rigidity sensing is the modulation of cellular contractility. Cells on soft materials exert lower forces than cells on stiff materials, decreasing tension on force-bearing elements (Fig. 4) [44]. Through an as yet partially elucidated mechanism, stiffening results in elevated activity levels of the small GTPase RhoA, mediating enhanced contractile forces [3]. These responses are mediated by load-bearing subcellular structures, such as the celladhesion complexes and the cytoskeleton. Recent work has demonstrated that these structures are dynamic, undergoing assembly, disassembly [43]. Several studies have shown that cell-cell contacts bear considerable forces [50, 51] and, undergo dynamic, myosin-dependent elongation [52]. Applied forces [50] and stiffer substrata [53] enhance cell-cell contact assembly, indicating that these adhesions also undergo force-dependent adhesion strengthening. There is also evidence for actin flow along cell-cell contacts [54]. Vinculin is recruited to the junctions in a myosin-dependent manner, thereby contributing to adhesion strengthening [55]. Finally, a direct relationship between the total cellular traction



Fig. 4 Stiffening of the extracellular matrix induces an increased tension in endothelial intercellular junctions. In endothelial monolayers forces are exerted at cell-matrix (traction forces, indicated in *red*) and at cell-cell interactions (cell-cell forces indicated in *blue*). The intercellular forces account for nearly one-half of the overall forces in the monolayer. These forces are enhanced substantially with substrate stiffening. Through an as yet partially elucidated mechanism[3, 48, 51], stiffening results in elevated activity levels of the small GTPase RhoA, mediating enhanced contractile forces. The nature of the guanine exchange factors (*GEFs*) and GTPase activating proteins (*GAPs*) remains to be identified

force on the ECM and the endogenous cell–cell force exists, such that the cell–cell tension is a constant fraction of the cell-ECM traction [3, 51].

Recent data indicate that stiffening of the endothelial microenvironment has a profound role in regulation of endothelial monolayer integrity. Stiffening of the extracellular matrix makes the endothelium more susceptible to hyperpermeability responses (Fig. 5). In response to thrombin on a compliant matrix, endothelial cells comprising the monolayer contract collectively, intercellular gaps do not form, and the monolayer stays intact. In response to thrombin on stiffer matrices, cells comprising the monolayer contract individually, large gaps arise between adjacent cells, and the monolayer becomes severely disrupted. These disruptive effects on stiffer substrates are promoted by larger physical force magnitudes [3]. Moreover, stiffening of extracellular matrix within the intima promotes endothelial monolayer permeability [48]. Similarly, the transendothelial transmigration of leukocytes also increased with increasing ECM stiffness suggesting similar underlying mechanisms [56]. A finding of particular interest is that these substrate stiffness-dependent effects are mediated by basal force differences in the endothelial monolayer.

In line with these findings, Ohayon et al. [57] demonstrated that, in addition to low endothelial shear stress and cyclic stretch, enhanced arterial wall stiffness may be a precondition for the initiation and development of atherosclerosis. These authors investigated the contribution of a contracting myocardium to local rigidity of the coronary arteries. It is well-known that elasticity of the coronary arterial wall is highly nonlinear, since a small variation in stretch induces a large increase in stress and wall stiffness. In this study very heterogeneous arterial wall stiffness was observed, with specific regions of distinct rigidity, originating from the axial distortion of the arterial wall caused by a contracting myocardium. Of particular



Fig. 5 Stiffening of the extracellular matrix makes the endothelium more susceptible to hyperpermeability responses. In response to thrombin on a compliant matrix, endothelial cells comprising the monolayer contract collectively, intercellular gaps do not form, and the monolayer stays intact. In response to thrombin on stiffer matrices, cells comprising the monolayer contract individually, large gaps arise between adjacent cells, and the monolayer becomes severely disrupted. These disruptive effects on stiffer substrates are promoted by larger physical force magnitudes [3]

interest, these sites of high rigidity coincided with clinically identified atherosclerotic plaques. It is tempting to speculate that increased endothelial permeability induced by vascular wall stiffening at high-risk zones would play a central role in atherosclerotic lesion and plaque development, since leaky junctions within the endothelial monolayer contribute to LDL accumulation in the vessel wall [58].

Whether similar effects are applicable in diseases that involve progressive stiffening of the endothelial extracellular matrix, including acute lung injury, hypertension, and cancer, remains to be studied.

4 Conclusions and Perspectives

Originally thought to be a cellophane-like passive barrier lining all blood vessels, currently the endothelium is well-appreciated to act as an active barrier. A continuous remodelling of the junctions is ongoing, providing the endothelium with an enormous plasticity.

It has also become apparent that the maintenance of an existing barrier requires active cellular signaling which shares common features with signaling mechanisms involved in the barrier maturation process of new vessel formation [59]. The maintenance of the endothelial barrier depends on RhoA, Cdc42 and Rac1 activation. RhoA activity decreases upon gap closure due to VE-cadherin and p120ctn engagement. The binding of the AJs to the actin cytoskeleton involves Cdc42,

which is kept in its active state by binding to IQGAP1. In addition, cadherin engagement induces the activation of RapGEF2. This stimulates Rap1, which via Vav2 activates Rac1. Rac1 activation results in the inhibition of p115RhoGEF and thus a suppression of RhoA. Vav2 activity is further enhanced by p120ctn binding to the junctional complexes. The latter also directly activates p190RhoGAP thereby further inhibiting RhoA activity [26]. This signalling is controlled by circulating barrier promoting factors such as FGF, S1P and Ang1.

Recent data indicate that stiffening of the vascular wall might destabilize the endothelial barrier. Modulation of ECM properties bare impact on cell-ECM traction forces, consequently altering cell–cell tension. This relationship between ECM stiffness and endothelial permeability suggests that differences in local tissue compliance might contribute to differences in permeability observed in different parts of the vascular bed, such as seen in the lung (and brain) of which the tissue is soft, and where the barrier is tighter than at other places.

Moreover, it remains to be tested whether destiffening strategies would provide an effective means to combat diseases where vascular stiffening and vascular leak go hand in hand. Pharmacological treatment of stiffness of the vascular wall appears impossible. Attempts have been made with various drugs, including advanced glycation end-product crosslinking breakers, aimed to restore elasticity to the disorganized elastic fibers of the thoracic aorta [45, 46]. However, there is presently little evidence that these agents actually break pre-existing cross-links in vivo. Conversely, drugs currently used to treat arterial stiffness have effects on muscular arteries, and these dilate by >20 % with relatively small doses, but do not affect elastic arteries such as the proximal aorta and carotid artery. As therapies aimed at vasodilation do not directly target the structural composition of the vasculature, it is to be expected that they will have limited value in improving the integrity of the vascular barrier. Preventing the endothelial cells from responding to the stiffening through lowering of basal traction forces, and thus lowering of junctional tension, might provide a more promising approach to stabilize the vascular barrier in a stiffening microenvironment.

References

- 1. Nagy, J.A., Dvorak, A.M., Dvorak, H.F.: Vascular hyperpermeability, angiogenesis, and stroma generation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2(2), a006544 (2012)
- van Hinsbergh, V.W, van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P.: Intracellular signalling involved in modulating human endothelial barrier function. J. Anat. 200(6), 549–560 (2002)
- Krishnan, R., Klumpers, D.D., Park, C.Y., Rajendran, K., Trepat, X., van Bezu, J., van Hinsbergh, V.W., Carman, C.V., Brain, J.D., Fredberg J.J., Butler, J.P., van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P.: Substrate stiffening promotes endothelial monolayer disruption through enhanced physical forces. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 300(1), C146–C154 (2011)
- Mehta, D., Malik, A.B.: Signaling mechanisms regulating endothelial permeability. Physiol. Rev. 86(1), 279–367 (2006)
- 5. Goldenberg, N.M., Steinberg, B.E., Slutsky, A.S., Lee WL.: Broken barriers: a new take on sepsis pathogenesis. Sci. Transl. Med. 3(88):88ps25 (2011)



- Gomez, G.A., McLachlan, R.W., Yap, A.S.: Productive tension: force-sensing and homeostasis of cell-cell junctions. Trends Cell Biol. 21(9), 499–505 (2011)
- 7. Tarbell, J.M.: Shear stress and the endothelial transport barrier. Cardiovasc. Res. 87(2), 320-330 (2010)
- Birukov, K.G.: Small GTPases in mechanosensitive regulation of endothelial barrier. Microvasc. Res. 77(1), 46–52 (2009)
- Essler, M., Amano, M., Kruse, H.J., Kaibuchi, K., Weber, P.C., Aepfelbacher, M.: Thrombin inactivates myosin light chain phosphatase via Rho and its target Rho kinase in human endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 273(34), 21867–21874 (1998)
- van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P., Draijer, R., Vermeer, M.A., van Hinsbergh, V.W.: Transient and prolonged increase in endothelial permeability induced by histamine and thrombin: role of protein kinases, calcium, and RhoA. Circ. Res. 83(11), 1115–1123 (1998)
- 11. Murakami, M., Simons, M.: Regulation of vascular integrity. J. Mol. Med. (Berl). **87**(6), 571–582 (2009)
- Weis, S.M., Cheresh, D.A.: Pathophysiological consequences of VEGF-induced vascular permeability. Nature 437(7058), 497–504 (2005)
- 13. Doggett, T.M., Breslin, J.W.: Study of the actin cytoskeleton in live endothelial cells expressing GFP-actin. J. Vis. Exp. (57), e3187 (2011)
- Spindler, V., Schlegel, N., Waschke, J.: Role of GTPases in control of microvascular permeability. Cardiovasc. Res. 87(2), 243–253 (2010)
- 15. Wojciak-Stothard, B., Ridley, A.J.: Rho GTPases and the regulation of endothelial permeability. Vascul. Pharmacol. **39**(4–5), 187–199 (2002)
- Hu, Y.L., Chien, S.: Dynamic motion of paxillin on actin filaments in living endothelial cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 357(4), 871–876 (2007)
- Opp, D., Wafula, B., Lim, J., Huang, E., Lo, J.C., Lo, C.M.: Use of electric cell-substrate impedance sensing to assess in vitro cytotoxicity. Biosens. Bioelectron. 24(8), 2625–2629 (2009)
- Lo, C.M., Keese, C.R., Giaever, I.: Monitoring motion of confluent cells in tissue culture. Exp. Cell Res. 204(1), 102–109 (1993)
- van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P., van Delft, S., Vermeer, M.A., Collard, J.G., van Hinsbergh, V.W.: Activation of RhoA by thrombin in endothelial hyperpermeability: role of Rho kinase and protein tyrosine kinases. Circ. Res. 87(4), 335–340 (2000)
- Kouklis, P., Konstantoulaki, M., Vogel, S., Broman, M., Malik, A.B.: Cdc42 regulates the restoration of endothelial barrier function. Circ. Res. 94(2), 159–166 (2004)
- van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P., Beckers, C.M., Achekar, I.D., Zeeman, S., Musters, R.J., van Hinsbergh, V.W.: Involvement of Rho kinase in endothelial barrier maintenance. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27(11), 2332–2339 (2007)
- 22. van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P., van Hinsbergh, V.W.: Endogenous RhoA inhibitor protects endothelial barrier. Circ. Res. **101**(1), 7–9 (2007)
- Wildenberg, G.A., Dohn, M.R., Carnahan, R.H., Davis, M.A., Lobdell, N.A., Settleman, J., Reynolds, A.B.: p120-catenin and p190RhoGAP regulate cell-cell adhesion by coordinating antagonism between Rac and Rho. Cell 127(5), 1027–1039 (2006)
- David, S., Ghosh, C.C., Mukherjee, A., Parikh, S.M.: Angiopoietin-1 requires IQ domain GTPase-activating protein 1 to activate Rac1 and promote endothelial barrier defense. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. **31**(11), 2643–2652 (2011)
- Nakagawa, M., Fukata, M., Yamaga, M., Itoh, N., Kaibuchi, K.: Recruitment and activation of Rac1 by the formation of E-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion sites. J. Cell Sci. 114(Pt 10), 1829–1838 (2001)
- Beckers, C.M., van Hinsbergh, V.W., van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P.: Driving Rho GTPase activity in endothelial cells regulates barrier integrity. Thromb. Haemost. 103(1), 40–55 (2010)
- 27. Kleaveland, B., Zheng, X., Liu, J.J., Blum, Y., Tung, J.J., Zou, Z., Sweeney, S.M., Chen, M., Guo, L., Lu, M.M., Zhou, D., Kitajewski, J., Affolter, M., Ginsberg, M.H., Kahn, M.L.: Regulation of cardiovascular development and integrity by the heart of glass-cerebral cavernous malformation protein pathway. Nat. Med. 15(2), 169–176 (2009)

21 للاستشارات

- Whitehead, K.J., Chan, A.C., Navankasattusas, S., Koh, W., London, N.R., Ling, J., Mayo, A.H., Drakos, S.G., Jones, C.A., Zhu, W., Marchuk, D.A., Davis, G.E., Li, D.Y.: The cerebral cavernous malformation signaling pathway promotes vascular integrity via Rho GTPases. Nat. Med. 15(2), 177–184 (2009)
- Schubert, W., Frank, P.G., Woodman, S.E., Hyogo, H., Cohen, D.E., Chow, C.W., Lisanti, M.P.: Microvascular hyperpermeability in caveolin-1 (-/-) knock-out mice. Treatment with a specific nitric-oxide synthase inhibitor, L-NAME, restores normal microvascular permeability in Cav-1 null mice. J. Biol. Chem. 277(42), 40091–40098 (2002)
- Siddiqui, M.R., Komarova, Y.A., Vogel, S.M., Gao, X., Bonini, M.G., Rajasingh, J., Zhao, Y.Y., Brovkovych, V., Malik, A.B.: Caveolin-1-eNOS signaling promotes p190RhoGAP-A nitration and endothelial permeability. J. Cell Biol. **193**(5), 841–850 (2011)
- Thibeault, S., Rautureau, Y., Oubaha, M., Faubert, D., Wilkes, B.C., Delisle, C., Gratton, J.P.: Snitrosylation of beta-catenin by eNOS-derived NO promotes VEGF-induced endothelial cell permeability. Mol. Cell 39(3), 468–476 (2010)
- van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P., van Hinsbergh, V.W.: Targets for pharmacological intervention of endothelial hyperpermeability and barrier function. Vascul. Pharmacol. 39(4–5), 257–272 (2002)
- Augustin, H.G., Koh, G.Y., Thurston, G., Alitalo, K.: Control of vascular morphogenesis and homeostasis through the angiopoietin-Tie system. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10(3), 165–177 (2009)
- 34. van der Heijden, M., van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P., van Bezu, J., Paul, M.A., Groeneveld, A.B., van Hinsbergh, V.W.: Opposing effects of the angiopoietins on the thrombin-induced permeability of human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells. PLoS One 6(8), e23448 (2011)
- 35. van der Heijden, M., van Nieuw Amerongen, G.P., Chedamni, S., van Hinsbergh, V., Groeneveld, A.B.: The angiopoietin-Tie2 system as a therapeutic target in sepsis and acute lung injury. Expert. Opin. Ther. Targets. 13(1), 39–53 (2009)
- Komarova, Y., Malik, A.B.: FGF signaling preserves the integrity of endothelial adherens junctions. Dev. Cell 15(3), 335–336 (2008)
- Murakami, M., Nguyen, L.T., Zhuang, Z.W., Moodie, K.L., Carmeliet, P., Stan, R.V., Simons, M.: The FGF system has a key role in regulating vascular integrity. J. Clin. Invest. 118(10), 3355–3366 (2008)
- Miyashita, Y., Ozawa, M.: Increased internalization of p120-uncoupled E-cadherin and a requirement for a dileucine motif in the cytoplasmic domain for endocytosis of the protein. J. Biol. Chem. 282(15), 11540–11548 (2007)
- Wang, L., Dudek, S.M.: Regulation of vascular permeability by sphingosine 1-phosphate. Microvasc. Res. 77(1), 39–45 (2009)
- McVerry, B.J., Garcia, J.G.: Endothelial cell barrier regulation by sphingosine 1-phosphate. J. Cell Biochem. 92(6), 1075–1085 (2004)
- Lee, M.J., Thangada, S., Claffey, K.P., Ancellin, N., Liu, C.H., Kluk, M., Volpi, M., Sha'afi, R.I., Hla, T.: Vascular endothelial cell adherens junction assembly and morphogenesis induced by sphingosine-1-phosphate. Cell 99(3), 301–312 (1999)
- Sanchez, T., Estrada-Hernandez, T., Paik, J.H., Wu, M.T., Venkataraman, K., Brinkmann, V., Claffey, K., Hla, T.: Phosphorylation and action of the immunomodulator FTY720 inhibits vascular endothelial cell growth factor-induced vascular permeability. J. Biol. Chem. 278(47), 47281–47290 (2003)
- Hoffman, B.D., Grashoff, C., Schwartz, M.A.: Dynamic molecular processes mediate cellular mechanotransduction. Nature 475(7356), 316–323 (2011)
- Eyckmans, J., Boudou, T., Yu, X., Chen, C.S.: A Hitchhiker's guide to mechanobiology. Dev. Cell 21(1), 35–47 (2011)
- Adji, A., O'Rourke, M.F., Namasivayam, M.: Arterial stiffness, its assessment, prognostic value, and implications for treatment. Am. J. Hypertens. 24(1), 5–17 (2011)
- 46. Sell, D.R., Monnier, V.M.: Molecular basis of arterial stiffening role of glycation. Gerontology (2012) January 4

الم للاستشارات

- 47. Lee, S., Zeiger, A., Maloney, J.M., Kotecki, M., Van Vliet, K.J., Herman, I.M.: Pericyte actomyosin-mediated contraction at the cell-material interface can modulate the microvascular niche. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter **22**(19), 194115 (2010)
- Huynh, J., Nishimura, N., Rana, K., Peloquin, J.M., Califano, J.P., Montague, C.R., King, M.R., Schaffer, C.B., Reinhart-King, C.A.: Age-related intimal stiffening enhances endothelial permeability and leukocyte transmigration. Sci. Transl. Med. 3(112):112ra122 (2011)
- Califano, J.P., Reinhart-King, C.A.: Substrate stiffness and cell area predict cellular traction stresses in single cells and cells in contact. Cell. Mol. Bioeng. 3(1), 68–75 (2010)
- Liu, Z., Tan, J.L., Cohen, D.M., Yang, M.T., Sniadecki, N.J., Ruiz, S.A., Nelson, C.M., Chen, C.S.: Mechanical tugging force regulates the size of cell–cell junctions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 107(22), 9944–9949 (2010)
- Maruthamuthu, V., Sabass, B., Schwarz, U.S., Gardel, M.L.: Cell-ECM traction force modulates endogenous tension at cell-cell contacts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 108(12), 4708–4713 (2011)
- Mege, R.M., Gavard, J., Lambert, M.: Regulation of cell-cell junctions by the cytoskeleton. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 18(5), 541–548 (2006)
- Ladoux, B., Anon, E., Lambert, M., Rabodzey, A., Hersen, P., Buguin, A., Silberzan, P., Mege, R.M.: Strength dependence of cadherin-mediated adhesions. Biophys. J. 98(4), 534–542 (2010)
- Kametani, Y., Takeichi, M.: Basal-to-apical cadherin flow at cell junctions. Nat. Cell Biol. 9(1), 92–98 (2007)
- 55. le Duc, Q., Shi, Q., Blonk, I., Sonnenberg, A., Wang, N., Leckband, D., de Rooij, J.: Vinculin potentiates E-cadherin mechanosensing and is recruited to actin-anchored sites within adherens junctions in a myosin II-dependent manner. J. Cell Biol. 189(7), 1107–1115 (2010)
- 56. Stroka, K.M.: randa-Espinoza H. Endothelial cell substrate stiffness influences neutrophil transmigration via myosin light chain kinase-dependent cell contraction. Blood 118(6), 1632–1640 (2011)
- 57. Ohayon, J., Gharib, A.M., Garcia, A., Heroux, J., Yazdani, S.K., Malve, M., Tracqui, P., Martinez, M.A., Doblare, M., Finet, G., Pettigrew, R.I.: Is arterial wall-strain stiffening an additional process responsible for atherosclerosis in coronary bifurcations?: an in vivo study based on dynamic CT and MRI. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. **301**(3), H1097–H1106 (2011)
- Cancel, L.M., Tarbell, J.M.: The role of mitosis in LDL transport through cultured endothelial cell monolayers. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 300(3), H769–H776 (2011)
- 59. Murakami, M.: Signaling required for blood vessel maintenance: molecular basis and pathological manifestations. Int. J. Vasc. Med. **2012**, 293641 (2012)

المنسارات

Computational Models of Vascularization and Therapy in Tumor Growth

Benjamin Ribba, Floriane Lignet and Luigi Preziosi

Abstract Computational and mathematical models are powerful tools to study the complexity in biological systems. The models, when validated with experimental evidence, can then be used to better understand the behavior of a complex system subjected to perturbations. In particular, a computational model can be used to test new hypotheses and, in the case of therapies for instance, to predict and optimize treatment outcomes in patients. Most models in biology rely on the description, using continuous or discrete mathematical tools, of the time-course of one or several biological entities. Its aim is to 'capture' the dynamics of a process, which by definition evolve in time. Almost all biological processes are characterized by a particular dynamic. Computational modeling relies on the premise that integrating the dynamics of a process can provide benefits in its understanding compared to a classical static analysis.

1 General Concepts

Computational and mathematical models are powerful tools to study the complexity in biological systems. The models, when validated with experimental evidence, can then be used to better understand the behavior of a complex system subjected to perturbations. In particular, a computational model can be used to test

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_11, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 227

B. Ribba $(\boxtimes) \cdot F$. Lignet

INRIA Grenoble—Rhône-Alpes, Innovalée, 655 avenue de l'Europe, Montbonnot 38334, Saint Ismier Cedex, France e-mail: benjamin.ribba@inria.fr

L. Preziosi Department of Mathematics, Politecnico di Torino, Corso Duca degli Abruzzi 24, 10129 Turin, Italy

new hypotheses and, in the case of therapies for instance, to predict and optimize treatment outcomes in patients.

Most models in biology rely on the description, using continuous or discrete mathematical tools, of the time-course of one or several biological entities. Their aim is to 'capture' the dynamics of a process, which by definition evolve in time. Almost all biological processes are characterized by particular dynamics. Computational modeling relies on the premise that integrating the dynamics of a process can provide benefits in its understanding in comparison to classical static analysis.

An illustrative example is the successful use of changes in hematological variables on a continuous scale for assessing anticancer drug toxicity in early phase clinical trials. To appreciate the amplitude of myelosuppression following the administration of chemotherapy, clinicians used to consider the nadir (minimum) value of neutrophils or leukocytes. But in doing so, relevant information regarding the time course of hematological variables and duration of neutrophil was wasted. A predictive model of the time-course of leukocyte and neutrophil counts was developed and can be used for optimizing the design of clinical trials in oncology [1].

Often, however, the modeler faces some difficulties accessing data since experimentalists may sometimes omit the time factor when studying a biological process. As already stated, in the example of myelosuppression, the minimal value of neutrophil counts assessed at a given time was considered to evaluate the toxicity induced by the drug. To give a parallel example, the efficacy of anticancer drugs is still nowadays appreciated in early phase clinical trials by measuring the change in tumor size before and at a given time point after treatment. This is the base of the Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) [2, 3]. In preclinical experiments also, biologists often analyze the change of a biological marker at a given time point and not in a dynamic way. These limitations can be however, explained by the cost and time required for repeated measurements (using repeated MRI for instance to assess tumor size evolution during treatment).

More generally, in the drug development process, the development of computational models can facilitate the continuous integration of available information related to a drug or disease in order to describe and predict the behavior of studied systems and to address questions researchers, regulators and public health care bodies face when bringing drugs to patients.

The aim of the present chapter is to provide a partial and short overview of modeling efforts in the study of the process of angiogenesis and tumor growth. Models range from simple formalisms describing the time-course of a morphological variable, such as the tumor volume, to the description of molecular signaling pathways relevant to the process of angiogenesis.

2 Simple Computational Modeling in Oncology

The modeling of tumor growth started in 1964 when tumor cells in vitro were shown to grow following Gompertzian kinetics [4].





Fig. 1 Illustration of the modified-Gompertz model that was used to describe untreated and treated xenograft tumors in animal models. Cycling cells become damaged as a function of the chemotherapy concentration. Damaged cells finally die with a time delay represented by a transit compartment. Adapted from [10]

The proposed Gompertz model was written as follows:

$$w(t) = w_0 e^{\frac{A}{\alpha}(1 - e^{-\alpha t})}$$

where *w* denotes the number of tumor cells, w_0 the initial number of tumor cells also called baseline tumor size, and *A* and α two positive constants.

In 1970, the Gompertz model was successfully used to describe tumor growth in animal models [5]. The Gompertz model was successively applied to clinical data in 1972 with IgG multiple myeloma patients [6], and in 1976, Norton and Simon generalized the use of the Gompertz law for several ranges of solid tumors [7, 8]. The proposed model was at the basis of the so-called Norton-Simon hypothesis according to which increasing the dose intensity might lead to the optimization of treatment effects by reducing tumor regrowth between chemotherapy cycles. In 2003, this hypothesis reached validation in clinical trials [9].

In 2004, a model was proposed to integrate, with high accuracy, the effect of chemotherapy into the Gompertz modeling framework and to analyze the timecourse of untreated and treated tumors in mice models [10]. In this study, a modification of the Gompertz model is proposed to remove the final plateau phase of the Gompertz equation. The equation for the so-called modified-Gompertz model:

$$\frac{dw(t)}{dt} = \frac{\lambda_0 w(t)}{\left[1 + \left(\frac{\lambda_0}{\lambda_1} w(t)\right)^{\psi}\right]^{\frac{1}{\psi}}}$$

where w(t) denotes the tumor mass, and λ_0 and λ_1 are two positive constants regulating the growth in the initial exponential growth and in the linear phase respectively. ψ is a constant parameter fixed to a high value (typically $\psi = 20$). In doing so, when w is small, the model reproduces an exponential law, i.e. $\frac{dw}{dt} \approx \lambda_0 w$, while the growth tends to be linear, i.e. $\frac{dw}{dt} \approx \lambda_1$, while the tumor mass gets larger than the ratio $\frac{\lambda_1}{2\alpha}$.

The previous tumor growth model was successfully integrated into a PK/PD framework based on transit effect compartments to reproduce both untreated and treated tumors with several therapeutic agents such as Irinotecan, 5FU and paclitaxel. Figure 1 shows an illustration of the model integrating the transit effect compartments.

Translation of those modeling attempts into clinical oncology have been limited so far mainly due to the lack of longitudinal data associated with clinical trials of new drugs in oncology. In particular, it is often not possible, due to ethical reasons, to find data for untreated patients. Nevertheless, very recently, models have been proposed to analyze tumor size dynamics in patients.

The analysis of longitudinal tumor size in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) led to the development of a simple model combining linear growth and exponential decay as a function of drug concentration [11]. The model was successfully applied to four randomized clinical trials for NSCLC treatments that were submitted for registration: bevacizumab, docetaxel, elotinib and pemetrexed. One of the main results of this study was that the change in tumor size observed 7 weeks after treatment initiation was a better parameter to predict survival than the classical RECIST criteria. This study clearly demonstrates the interest of using a dynamic approach for evaluating the efficacy of anticancer drugs; and the potential benefit for forthcoming clinical trials is relatively similar to the results obtained with the model for myelosuppression [1]. To illustrate however, the issue of data availability previously mentioned, the analysis in [11] was carried out on more than 2,000 patients and still, to model tumor growth, a linear model (one parameter) was used. Other similar examples have been published. The reader can refer in particular to [12] and [13]. The last reference deals with tumor dynamic analysis in colorectal cancer patients.

Finally, it is worthwhile to mention a similar work where the objective was to analyze tumor growth kinetics in patients with metastatic renal cancer (mRCC) and gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST) treated by the anti-angiogenic compound Sunitinib [14].

So far, we have discussed models based on ordinary differential equations where the only considered variable of the system is time. It is worthwhile to mention here that several models have been proposed to integrate time together with space in the description of brain tumor growth and treatment. The proposed models describe the spatio-temporal evolution of tumor cells in the brain as "traveling waves" driven by two processes: uncontrolled proliferation and tissue invasion [15]. This proliferation-invasion description led to the suggestion that tumor diameter grows linearly over time with a velocity given by a combination of the two model parameters [16]. Swanson and colleagues showed the relevance of such a model for prediction of untreated glioma growth kinetics, specifically estimating net rates of proliferation and invasion for individual patients in vivo [17, 18]. These parameters were shown to be significant prognostic factors of therapy efficacy [19] and durations of survival [20, 21]. Mandonnet and colleagues studied the reliability of this model in determining low-grade gliomas dynamics [22-25] and showed it to be in agreement with the linear evolution of the mean tumor diameter observed in these tumors before transformation towards a higher grade of malignancy. The same model has been recently extended to integrate the process of angiogenesis for high grade gliomas [26].

In the following years, more and more models will continue to be developed addressing different cancer indications and different treatments such as targeted

therapy or radiotherapy. With the integration of more informative data (such as information for functional imaging in addition to morphological data), the newly developed models will also become more complex, integrating in processes that are important to tumor dynamics such as cell cycle regulation and angiogenesis.

3 Models of Tumor Growth and Angiogenesis

An extension of the Gompertz model that includes the process of angiogenesis was proposed in 1999 [27]. In this paper, the authors expanded the Gompertz model to incorporate the process of angiogenesis using a new variable, called "carrying capacity" to account for tumor vascularization. The proposed model is as follows:

$$\frac{dw}{dt} = -\lambda_1 w \log\left(\frac{w}{k}\right)$$
$$\frac{dk}{dt} = -\lambda_2 k + bS(w,k) - dI(w,k) - ekg$$

where *w* denotes the tumor volume and *k* denotes the carrying capacity. The first equation describes the Gompertz growth of the tumor volume. The growth saturates when *w* reaches *k*. The evolution of *k* depends on the process of angiogenesis. It is regulated by a positive 'pro-angiogenic' term denoted *S*, and a negative 'anti-angiogenic' term denoted by *I*. Two additional terms account for natural decay (at rate λ_2) and eventual degradation due to the effect of anti-angiogenic drugs, where exposure is denoted g(t).

The authors showed that the model successfully predicts tumor growth inhibition by several anti-angiogenic compounds in mice models. Interestingly, this model has been subjected to mathematical analysis to study its main properties that highlighting the best strategies to optimize the delivery of anti-angiogenic drugs [28–32].

In 2011, a more complex model of tumor growth was proposed accounting for different types of tumor tissue, with a specific focus on hypoxic tissue that is known to play a crucial role in tumor angiogenesis [33]. The main innovation of this model is the integration, together with tumor size, of classical histological biomarkers such as those commonly retrieved in preclinical studies. This model integrates three types of tissue (proliferative non-hypoxic, hypoxic, necrotic) and is based on the following hypothesis: as the tumor grows, oxygen tends to lack within the spheroid and drives the formation of hypoxic tissue. Hypoxic tissues become in turn necrotic with a constant transfer rate. Depending on the whole tumor size, the carrying capacity increases as a result of the process of angiogenesis.

The model shows correct predictions of tumor size progression as well as the percentages of necrotic and hypoxic tissue in 30 mice that were xenografted with either HT29 or HCT116 colorectal cancer cell lines [34]. The diagram of the model is presented Fig. 2.



The model is written as follows:

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = \lambda_P P (1 - s^{\alpha}) - k_{PH} P s^{\alpha}$$
$$\frac{dH}{dt} = k_{PH} P s^{\alpha} + \lambda_H H (1 - s^{\alpha}) - k_{HN} H$$
$$\frac{dN}{dt} = k_{HN} H$$
$$\frac{dK}{dt} = b P^* \text{ where } P^* = P + H + N \text{ and } s = \frac{P^*}{K}$$

 P^* denotes the tumor mean diameter as measured in mice and *s* the hypoxic stress regulating the logistic growth of the non-hypoxic (*P*) and hypoxic tissue (*H*) and modulating the transfer between these two types of tissue. N denotes the necrotic tissue. The exponent α was fixed to a low value (<1) for which the logistic proliferation term tends to the Gompertz equation as used to model tumor growth in animal models [10, 27]. *K* stands for the carrying capacity as in [27] and is here described by a simple growing function, as a function of the tumor size.

4 Multiscale Approach for Modeling Vascular Tumor Growth

To treat with model complexity, researchers have also put efforts on the development of 'multiscale' models. The aim of multiscale modeling is to account, in a single computational model, for several biological processes occurring at different space and time scales. Conceptually, this is a very promising approach but practically, many issues must be addressed. In particular, no real methodology has been proposed to assess validation and qualification aspects of those models. Nevertheless, it is believed that the development of multiscale models can provide the basis for an integrative holistic approach to predict drug response and effect [35].

Most of the mathematical multiscale models developed so far are theoretical attempts and none of them showed yet benefit for drug development. The reader



Fig. 3 Illustration of the multiscale tumor growth and angiogenesis model integrating tumor regulation box and VEGF signaling-endothelial cells compartment. Adapted from [38]

can for instance refer to [36, 37]. These models incorporate a large number of parameters that do not have a biological meaning or are hardly measured experimentally, making model calibration a challenging issue. Finally, the models we are going to discuss in this paragraph are continuous model as they describe the evolution of continuous variable such as tumor size and density of blood vessels or endothelial cells. Many multiscale models are developed using discrete formalisms focusing on individual cell behaviors and integrating a population of cells to constitute a whole vascularized virtual tumor. Those aspects were previously discussed in the chapter by Boas et al.

We will shortly describe a model based on a set of partial differential equations that describe the behavior of endothelial cells, which constitute blood vessel walls, tumor cells, as well as of some major proangiogenic substances, such as the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). This model can be viewed as an assembly of two major pieces that occur at different spatial scales. The first one is similar to the model presented in Fig. 2: it describes the regulation of tumor tissue as proliferative, quiescent and necrotic tissue. Hypoxic tumor cells are assumed to secrete VEGF, which in turns will bind the VEGFR2 receptors of endothelial cells constituting the vessels. The second one is the dynamics of the vascular network where the endothelial cell behavior, namely proliferation, migration and survival, is driven by intracellular signaling of VEGFR2 receptor. The proposed model consists of 11 equations and 45



parameters. Note that only a part of the parameters were found in the literature, the others were fixed arbitrarily. A schematic view of the model is shown Fig. 3.

Another example we would like to mention is the series of paper published by Agur and coworkers. The author proposed a complex model to describe the process of angiogenesis [39]. In this model, a particular attention is given to the modeling hypothesis based on experimental evidences provided by Suri and Maisonpierre, in particular, regarding the role of angiopoietin 1 and 2 [40, 41]. The authors have performed a validation study in comparing model predictions to observations in animal experiments [42]. Another validation study was performed in clinical data for mesenchymal patients [43].

The concept of multiscale modeling is indeed very appealing as it promises a framework to integrate models develop at different scales. However, the main problem relies in the excessive number of parameters they integrate for which it is not possible to perform one unique experiment. As an example, one cannot expect to measure molecular reaction rates and tissue dynamics in the same experimental setup. So, the only possibility to cope with this problem is to couple pieces of models, carefully validated, together a modular structure. However, this modular framework does not go without important methodological problems and limitations that must be addressed. For instance, how to correctly balance a priori information (coming from literature for a priori information? This may require the development of sharing and re-use resources among the community. How to assess the validation of such piece-make models? And how to correctly 'jump' from one scale to another?

5 Specific Models for Intracellular and Intercellular Aspects of Angiogenesis

a. Computational model of the dynamic of VEGFR2 signaling pathway

Another important aspects for the development of relevant multiscale model of angiogenesis is the integration of intracellular mechanisms. The aim of this paragraph is to provide an example on a model targeting this level of description.

The Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) is a key molecule in angiogenesis, since it stimulates the migration, proliferation and survival of endothelial cells [44, 45]. The signaling pathways downstream its main receptor, the VEGFR-2 is well described in the literature [46, 47], and we can find mathematical models of the binding of VEGF to its receptor. For example, Alarcòn and coworkers have developed a stochastic model of the receptor dimerization and activation [48]. However, none of those models goes further than the binding of VEGF to its receptor.

A global view and comprehension of the intracellular pathways of VEGFR2 can be achieved based on information available in recent literature and specialized databases. Tools such as PubMed and Kyoto Encyclopedia for Genes and Genomes (KEGG1) are important to achieve this goal. Figure 4 shows a diagram of the VEGFR2 intracellular signaling pathways built based on the available information.



Fig. 4 Diagram presenting a synthesis of knowledge and information extracted from recent literature (PubMed) and adequate databases (KEGG) on the VEGFR2 signaling pathway. *Dash lines* represent Michaelis–Menten reactions in which the catalyzer (e.g. RasGTP) is not consumed in the process. *Solid lines* represent mass-action kinetics

In this process, it is important to pay special attention to molecules for which the implication in the process of angiogenesis has been experimentally proven [45, 49] but also for which kinetic parameters of their reaction are already documented. Keeping the integrality of molecules that are known to interact on the pathway would lead to a system with an excessive complexity that might be of no help in the understanding of the overall pathway dynamic. Minimizing the number of components to fit with sparse data while keeping a good description of the molecular dynamics experimentally observed is however a challenging issue addressed in [50]. As far as the VEGFR2 signaling pathway is concerned, it seems reasonable, as a first attempt to restrict our description to pathways triggering proliferation, migration and survival of the endothelial cells; whereas VEGF is also known to drive variations of the vascular permeability, which is believed to have serious consequences on treatment efficacy in vascular tumors. As a first attempt, we can assume that permeability variation depends on modifications of the cells' shape and adhesion properties [46, 47].

We provide below a textual description of the main reactions occurring and illustrated in Fig. 4. VEGF binds to the VEGF receptor (VEGFR2) located at the surface of endothelial cells, which leads to the formation of homodimers of receptors and the autophosphorylation of their intracellular kinase domains [46] that then activates molecules at the top of signaling cascades. We can distinguish three main pathways:

- The phosphorylation of PLCγ leads to the activation of PKC and then the Raf/ MEK/ERK pathway [49] which stimulates cell proliferation [47].
- The MAPKAPK/hsp27 pathway is activated through the phophorylation of p38. This molecular network triggers actin reorganization and cell migration [51].
- The phosphorylation of PI3K permits the transformation of PIP2 into PIP3 which can bind to Akt and permit its bi-phosphorylation. Akt- PI-PP will then phosphorylate Casp9. Casp9 P is then unable to play its role in cellular apoptosis, which leads to an improvement of the cell survival [52, 53].

It is then possible to translate the molecular system into a system of ODEs. It is important to note, however, that this step implies the following hypothesis: the molecular concentrations are continuous, reactions happen in a homogeneous medium of a volume large enough, and reactions are deterministic.

The dynamics of reactions can then be modeled using mass action kinetics, which describes reactions rates as proportional to the concentrations. For example in the reaction $A + B \leftrightarrow AB$, where compounds A and B bind to each other to form a stable complex AB at the rate k_1 and the product AB dissociates itself into A and B at the rate k_{-1} . The speed of the reaction is then given by:

$$v = k_1[A][B] - k_{-1}[AB]$$

For some complex multi-step reactions, like phosphorylations, the Michaelis– Menten approximation can be used to reduce the complexity of the mathematical model and conserves the dynamic properties of the reaction. For instance, $A_P + B \rightarrow A_P B \rightarrow A_P + B_P$ where A_P is a catalyzer of the activation of *B* into B_P , can be simplified to $A_P + B \rightarrow B_P$ with the corresponding rate equation: $v = \frac{V[A_P][B]}{K[B]}$. When a unique catalyzer triggers several reactions, writing the rate equations is more complicated (the reader may refer to [50, 54] for further details).

In doing so, a differential equation can be associated with each reaction as follows:

$$\frac{dc_i}{dt} = \sum v_{pro,c_i} - \sum v_{con,c_i},$$

where v_{pro,c_i} and v_{con,c_i} are respectively the velocities of the reaction producing and consuming the concentration *c* of the molecule *i*.

Writing all equations for the reaction depicted in Fig. 4 leads to a huge system composed by 39 equations with 78 parameters (reaction rates and Michaelis–Menten constants). Simulation of the model in principle reproduces the time evolution of the different elements composing the network following stimulation

by VEGF binding VEGFR2. It can be also used to theoretically investigate the effect of different therapeutic compounds acting at different level on the pathway. As a perspective, this model can be integrated into a multiscale framework describing tumor growth and angiogenesis such as in [38]. Indeed, in [38], three main processes govern the evolution of endothelial cell: proliferation, migration, and survival. In consequence, the model of VEGF intra-signaling, which also links to those three main behaviors, can be "plugged" into the endothelial cell equation. For this, and in order to homogenize the timescales between the two models, we could assume that at a given VEGF signal, we run the intracellular signaling model to the steady state and use those values as inputs for the endothelial cell equations. Alternatively, we could use the maximum values of concentrations downstream the VEGF signaling as they may better represent the force and amplitude of the signals towards proliferation, migration and survival. This approach was already used in a multiscale model for non-small cell lung cancer integrating the EGFR signaling pathway [55].

Scianna and coworkers have studied the link with the activation of calcium channels [56], a process also called non-store-operated calcium entry (NSOCE), because it is known that the absorption of calcium from the extracellular environment influences cell polarization, motility, and adhesion, all processes that are fundamental in vascular network formation. In fact, it has been recently demonstrated that mitogen-induced intracellular calcium signals and the relative pathways play a critical role in vascular progression both in vitro and in vivo (see for instance [57-61]). In this light they could also be in principle potential targets for anticancer drugs. In particular, different lines of evidence have shown that VEGF, after binding specific tyrosine kinase receptors with high affinity, triggers their dimerization and the auto-phosphorylation of critical cytoplasmic tyrosine residues, resulting in the indirect recruitment of PLA2 and eNOS enzymes. PLA2, in a single-step reaction, catalyzes the hydrolysis of esterified phospholipids (stored within the cell membrane), producing free arachidonic acid (AA), while eNOS releases its endothelium-derived nitric oxide (NO) [58, 61]. The complex interplay between these second messengers modulates the activity of probably more than one type of plasma-membrane calcium channels [62, 63]. The subsequent increase in intracellular calcium levels mediates cell motility, adhesion and cytoskeletal reorganization [57, 59, 60, 64], all cellular behaviors involved in tumor-derived blood vessel formation. A schematic view of the model is proposed Fig. 5. The model proposed by Scianna and coworkers [56, 65] introduces such subcellular mechanisms in a cellular Potts model, a discrete lattice Monte Carlo generalization of the Ising's model, based on an energy minimization principle. Typically, the CPM represents a collection of biological cells on a numerical grid, associating an integer index to each site to identify the space occupied at any instant by a cell or in a more detailed description by a subcellular compartment. Domains, i.e., collection of lattice sites with the same index, represent then subcellular compartments such as nucleus, cytosol, membrane which then form the considered individual cells and allow a better reproduction of cell motion and shape changes. The mathematical model is then a hybrid, because of the need to take care of the



diffusion of VEGF in the extracellular domain, the reception of signals via VEGF receptors located in the membrane subcompartment of the cell and their internalization and recycling, the activation of mechanotransduction pathways via the formation of cadherin-cadherin junctions, and the activation of the related signaling cascades within the cytosol. The expressions of specific molecules then feedback on the value of the modeling parameters of the cellular Potts model determining motility, adhesion and polarization. A schematic view of the multiscale structure of the model is proposed Fig. 6.

b. Computational models of cell and vascular network organization.

Another aspect that should be included in attempting a multiscale description of angiogenesis is the modeling of vascular network organization and structure.

It is known that in the embryo, the primitive vascular plexus forms through the process of vasculogenesis. In this process mesoderm-derived precursors of endothelial cells assemble by directed cell migration and cohesion. The resulting organization is a network characterized by a polygonal structure having a precise size that is found to be functional for oxygen transport into the tissues. In spite of the subsequent remodeling processes, this characteristic is maintained in the adult body where the capillary network embedded in the tissues and stemmed by the vascular tree has the same geometric shape of the minimal unit participating in the formation of the embryonic vascular network and is optimal for metabolic exchange.

The ability to form networking capillary tubes is a cell autonomous property of endothelial cells. At the site of vessel formation, soluble stimuli released by neighbouring cells modify the genetic program of endothelial cells allowing them to be responsive to permissive cues coming from the extracellular environment [66]. Several in vitro models support this concept. In particular, it is well known that culturing endothelial cells on a gel-scaffold markedly accelerates their morphological differentiation in to geometric tubular networks, which are almost

Fig. 5 Schematic view of

the model downstream the VEGFR receptor leading to

channel. Adapted from [56]



Fig. 6 Schematic view of the multiscale model as proposed in [56]

identical to vascular beds formed in vivo by vasculogenesis. This phenomenon has been called in vitro angiogenesis or in vitro vasculogenesis [67].

In the experiments we discuss here, a Petri dish is coated with an amount of Matrigel, a natural basal membrane matrix which favours cell motility and has biochemical characteristics similar to living tissues. Human endothelial cells from large veins or adrenal cortex capillaries (HUVEC), or other similar types of cells, sediment onto the Matrigel surface from the physiological solution above. Cells then move on the horizontal surface, giving rise to a process of aggregation and pattern formation. The evolution of the process is the following: In the first 3–6 h endothelial cells migrate independently, keeping a round shape till they collide with closest neighbors. The cells eventually form a continuous multicellular network and adhere more strongly on the Matrigel multiplying the number of adhesion sites. Because of the increased number of activated adhesion sites, the network then slowly moves as a whole, undergoing a slow thinning process, while still leaving the network structure mainly unaltered. Finally, at the end of the process after nearly 20 h, individual cells fold up to form the lumen of the capillary, so that one has the formation of a capillary-like network along the lines of the previously formed two-dimensional structure.

Focusing on the trajectories of single cells, in most cases the direction of motion is well established and kept till the cells encounter other cells. Of course, a random component is present but is usually not predominant. The trajectories of individual cells then show what is usually called a degree of persistence in the direction of cell motion, i.e., a tendency to maintain its own direction of motion. In addition, in most cases the motion is apparently directed toward zones of higher concentration of cells, which suggests the presence of a mechanism of cross-talk among cells mediated by a protein secreted by the endothelial cells themselves.

A good candidate as soluble chemotactic mediator is VEGF-A, which as described in the previous section, is known to induce growth, survival, and motility in endothelial cells. Conversely, the addition of an anti-VEGF-A neutralizing antibody inhibits capillary network formation. In order to test the importance of chemotactic signaling mechanisms Serini and coworkers performed some experiments aimed at extinguishing VEGF-A165 gradients. Direct inhibition of VEGF-A caused an apoptotic effect [68]. To overcome this problem, they extinguished VEGF-A gradients spreading from individual endothelial cells plated of Matrigel by adding a saturating amount of exogenous VEGF-A165. Indeed, saturation of VEGF-A gradients resulted in strong inhibition of network formation. This observation is also confirmed in a set of experiments performed in Boyden chamber and evaluated by checkerboard analysis to study the chemotactic and chemokinetic activity of VEGF-A165.

It is found that in saturating conditions, cells maintain a certain degree of directional persistence, while the movement is completely decorrelated from the direction of simulated VEGF gradients.

On the basis of the phenomenological observations above and on the related experiments, Gamba and Serini proposed a mathematical model focusing on the early development of vascular network formation [68, 69]. Their basic assumption is that persistence and chemotaxis are the key features determining the size of the structure. Their mathematical model is a system of partial differential equations composed of:

- An equation describing the conservation of the number of endothelial cells, because no mitosis and no or very little apoptosis occur during the process;
- An equation describing how cells move that includes cell persistence and all the factors that influence a change in direction of cell motion, such as chemotaxis, drag-like dissipative interaction with the substrate, and response to compression to avoid overcrowding when the cells cluster. The chemotactic term may present a saturating term as suggested by Tosin and coworkers [70];
- An equation describing the diffusion of VEGF released by the endothelial cells and its degradation.

As shown in Fig. 7, the model proposed was able to successfully describe the early migration-dominated stages of network formation, yielding similar morphologies. It was also found that the size of the capillary structure is governed by the diffusion coefficient *D* and the chemoattractant half-life *T*. In fact, the predicted average size of formed network structures is $L \sim DT^{1/2}$, in good agreement with phenomenological observations in vivo and measurements in vitro, confirming the fact that persistence and endogenous chemotaxis are essential for proper network formation.

There was another phenomenon that was also described by the same model, not previously foreseen. While it is thought that the chord length is nearly independent from the density of seeded cells in a certain range, it has been observed that outside this range one does not have a proper development of vascular networks, as observed in vivo by Fong and coworkers [71]. To enlighten this phenomenon,



Fig. 7 Results of the in vitro vasculogenesis experiment (*left*) and simulation (*right*) with 200 cells/mm³

Serini and coworkers performed some experiments varying the density of seeded cells demonstrating the presence of a percolative-like transition at low densities and a smooth transition to a "Swiss-cheese" configuration at high density [68].

In fact, below a critical value around 100 cells/mm² the single connected network breaks down in groups of disconnected structures. On the other hand at higher cell densities, say above 200 cells/mm², the mean chord thickness grows to accommodate an increasing number of cells. For very high values of cell density (e.g., above 500 cells/mm²), the network takes the configuration of a continuous carpet with holes named lacunae in the literature. In this case cells do not even differentiate to form the lumen in the chords.

Surprisingly, the model by Gamba and Serini was also able to catch all the features just described, reproducing at one extreme the percolative transition occurring about $n_c \sim 100$ cell/mm², which discriminates the situation in which a functional network is formed and another in which it is not properly connected and therefore can not carry any blood, and the Swiss-cheese transition, which describes another non functional configuration containing cell carpets and lacunae.

In reality as already mentioned, as soon as the early migration stage ends, the cells adhere more strongly on the substratum and start to pull on the substratum, an aspect that is completely neglected in the model described above. In this second phase the cell–cell and cell-substrate mechanical interactions may become important, so that the stiffness of the substrate and the adhesive properties of the cell can influence the formation of the network. In order to take into account of such effects, several works proposed elasto-mechanical models (see, for instance [70, 72]). The main aim of such papers was to describe the phenomenon of pattern formation starting from monolayer initial conditions that can be re-proposed to study this second phase.

The paper by Murray and coworkers [72] was mainly devoted to mesenchymal morphogenesis on the basis of some experiments done by Harris, Stopak, and Wild



[73] on the interaction between ECM and fibroblasts, a cell well known for its strong pulling force. The essential features of the models developed in this paper and in the following ones [74, 75] are the following:

- Cells exert traction forces onto the extra-cellular matrix, which is a viscoelastic material;
- The Petri dish exerts a drag force on the matrix;
- Cells may move because of haptotaxis or chemotaxis (without any further specification on the chemoattractant).

The model does not include any specific signaling process, but takes into account mechanical issues. For this reason, it cannot describe phenomena which depend on cell signaling, but it can describe the dependence on the formation of the structure from the type of substratum.

It can be argued that a complete, realistic description of the diverse phases of in vitro vasculogenesis should connect the migration regime described by the model based on persistence and chemotaxis and the successive viscoelastic regime described by the mechanical model or by some modification of it. This aim was pursued by Tosin and coworkers [70]. They describe the system as made of two layers, the gel and the ensemble of cells, obeying force balance equations including a fundamental interaction term, which couples the motion of the cells and the substratum. Their final conjecture is that migration and traction are two different programs influenced by the local cell density, which lead toward a behavior that is more ameboid-like or mesenchymal-like according to the environmental conditions. In this view, persistence, chemotaxis, and mechanical traction are complementary effects. The former two are essential in the early migration-dominated phase of vasculogenesis, dictating the morphology of the network and in particular the typical size of the polygons. The latter activates in a later phase and after cell-to-cell contact and functions to stabilize the structure.

6 Concluding Remarks

In this chapter, we have briefly described different mathematical models related to tumor growth and angiogenesis. Starting from the historical and first attempt to describe tumor growth in vitro by using the Gompertz equation [4–7], we have followed the development of those models that are now about to impact the evaluation of oncological treatment efficacy in clinical trials [11–13, 25, 35]. Nowadays, attempts to complexify those models in order to take into account key biological process such as angiogenesis is under development. This will require the development of multiscale models integrating molecular signaling pathways together with tissue regulation and morphological information on tumor growth and regression when treated. Important methodological issues will have to be addressed such as the multi-integration of data coming from different sources (a priori knowledge from literature and data-driven knowledge from ad-hoc



experiments) since it does not seem feasible to setup a unique experiment to estimate the numerous parameters of those models. Hopefully, the development of new methodologies together with the better accessibility of relevant biological data will allow the development of an integrative platform to support research progresses in this area and the development of therapeutics.

References

- Friberg, L.E., Henningsson, A., Maas, H., Nguyen, L., Karlsson, M.O.: Model of chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression with parameter consistency across drugs. J. Clin. Oncol. 20(24), 4713–4721 (2002)
- Miller, A.B., Hoogstraten, B., Staquet, M., Winkler, A.: Reporting results of cancer treatment. Cancer 47, 207–214 (1981)
- Therasse, P., Arbuck, S.G., Eisenhauer, E.A., Wanders, J., Kaplan, R.S., et al.: New guidelines to evaluate the response to treatment in solid tumors. european organization for research and treatment of cancer, national cancer institute of the united states, national cancer institute of canada. J. Natl. Cancer. Inst. 92(3), 205–216 (2000)
- 4. Laird, A.K.: Dynamics of tumor growth. Br. J. Cancer 13, 490–502 (1964)
- Simpson-Herren, L., Lloyd, H.H.: Kinetic parameters and growth curves for experimental tumor systems. Cancer Chemothe. Rep. 54(3), 143–174 (1970)
- Sullivan, P.W., Salmon, S.E.: Kinetics of tumor growth and regression in IgG multiple myeloma. J. Clin. Investig. 51(7), 1697–1708 (1972)
- Norton, L., Simon, R., Brereton, H.D., Bogden, A.E.: Predicting the course of gompertzian growth. Nature 264(5586), 542–545 (1976)
- 8. Norton, L.: A gompertzian model of human breast cancer growth. Cancer Res. 48, 7067–7071 (1988)
- Citron, M.L., Berry, D.A., Cirrincione, C., Hudis, C., Winer, E.P., et al.: Randomized trial of dose-dense versus conventionally scheduled and sequential versus concurrent combination chemotherapy as postoperative adjuvant treatment of node-positive primary breast cancer: first report of Intergroup trial C9741/cancer and leukemia group B Trial 9741. J. Clin. Oncol. 21, 1431–1439 (2003)
- Simeoni, M., Magni, P., Cammia, C., De Nicolao, G., Croci, V., et al.: Predictive pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modeling of tumor growth kinetics in xenograft models after administration of anticancer agents. Cancer Res. 64(3), 1094–1101 (2004)
- Wang, Y., Sung, C., Dartois, C., Ramchandani, R., Booth, B.P., et al.: Elucidation of relationship between tumor size and survival in non-small-cell lung cancer patients can aid early decision making in clinical drug development. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 86(2), 167–174 (2009)
- 12. Tham, L.S., Wang, L., Soo, R.A., Lee, S.C., Lee, H.S., et al.: A pharmacodynamic model for the time course of tumor shrinkage by gemcitabine + carboplatin in non-small cell lung cancer patients. Clin. Cancer Res. **14**(13), 4213–4218 (2008)
- Claret, L., Girard, P., Hoff, P.M., Van Cutsem, E., Zuideveld, K.P., et al.: Model-based prediction of phase III overall survival in colorectal cancer on the basis of phase II tumor dynamics. J. Clin. Oncol. 27(25), 4103–4108 (2009)
- Houk, B.E., Bello, C.L., Poland, B., Rosen, L.S., Demetri, G.D., et al.: Relationship between exposure to sunitinib and efficacy and tolerability endpoints in patients with cancer: results of a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic meta-analysis. Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol. 66(2), 357–371 (2010)
- Tracqui, P., Cruywagen, G.C., Woodward, D.E., Bartoo, G.T., Murray, J.D., et al.: A mathematical model of glioma growth: the effect of chemotherapy on spatio-temporal growth. Cell Prolif. 28(1), 17–31 (1995)

🏹 للاستشارات

- 16. Murray, J.D.: Mathematical Biology. Springer, New York (2002)
- Swanson, K.R., Alvord Jr, E.C., Murray, J.D.: Virtual brain tumours (gliomas) enhance the reality of medical imaging and highlight inadequacies of current therapy. Br. J. Cancer 86, 14–18 (2002)
- Swanson, K.R., Bridge, C., Murray, J.D., Alvord Jr, E.C.: Virtual and real brain tumors: using mathematical modeling to quantify glioma growth and invasion. J. Neurol. Sci. 216, 1–10 (2003)
- Rockne, R., Rockhill, J.K., Mrugala, M., Spence, A.M., Kalet, I., et al.: Predicting the efficacy of radiotherapy in individual glioblastoma patients in vivo: a mathematical modeling approach. Phys. Med. Biol. 55, 3271–3285 (2010)
- Harpold, H.L., Alvord Jr, E.C., Swanson, K.R.: The evolution of mathematical modeling of glioma proliferation and invasion. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 66, 1–9 (2007)
- Wang, C.H., Rockhill, J.K., Mrugala, M., Peacock, D.L., Lai, A., et al.: Prognostic significance of growth kinetics in newly diagnosed glioblastomas revealed by combining serial imaging with a novel biomathematical model. Cancer Res. 69, 9133–9140 (2009)
- 22. Mandonnet, E., Capelle, L., Duffau, H.: Extension of paralimbic low grade gliomas: toward an anatomical classification based on white matter invasion patterns. J. Neurooncol. **78**, 179–185 (2006)
- Mandonnet, E., Delattre, J.Y., Tanguy, M.L., Swanson, K.R., Carpentier, A.F., et al.: Continuous growth of mean tumor diameter in a subset of grade II gliomas. Ann. Neurol. 53, 524–528 (2003)
- Mandonnet, E., Jbabdi, S., Taillandier, L., Galanaud, D., Benali, H., et al.: Preoperative estimation of residual volume for WHO grade II glioma resected with intraoperative functional mapping. Neuro. Oncol. 9, 63–69 (2007)
- Mandonnet, E., Pallud, J., Clatz, O., Taillandier, L., Konukoglu, E., et al.: Computational modeling of the WHO grade II glioma dynamics: principles and applications to management paradigm. Neurosurg. Rev. 31, 263–269 (2008)
- Swanson, K.R., Rockne, R.C., Claridge, J., Chaplain, M.A., Alvord, E.C., Jr., et al. (2011) Quantifying the role of angiogenesis in malignant progression of gliomas: In silico modeling integrates imaging and histology. Cancer Res. **71**(24), 7366–7375
- Hahnfeldt, P., Panigrahy, D., Folkman, J., Hlatky, L.: Tumor development under angiogenic signaling: a dynamical theory of tumor growth, treatment response, and postvascular dormancy. Cancer Res. 59, 4770–4775 (1999)
- d'Onofrio, A., Gandolfi, A.: Chemotherapy of vascularised tumours: role of vessel density and the effect of vascular "pruning". J. Theor. Biol. 264, 253–265 (2010)
- d'Onofrio, A., Ledzewicz, U., Maurer, H., Schattler, H.: On optimal delivery of combination therapy for tumors. Math. Biosci. 222, 13–26 (2009)
- d'Onofrio, A., Gandolfi, A., Rocca, A.: The dynamics of tumour-vasculature interaction suggests low-dose, time-dense anti-angiogenic schedulings. Cell Prolif. 42, 317–329 (2009)
- D'Onofrio, A., Gandolfi, A.: A family of models of angiogenesis and anti-angiogenesis anticancer therapy. Math. Med. Biol: J IMA 26, 63–95 (2009)
- 32. d'Onofrio, A., Gandolfi, A.: Tumour eradication by antiangiogenic therapy: analysis and extensions of the model by Hahnfeldt et al. (1999). Math. Biosci. **191**, 159–184 (2004)
- 33. Pouyssegur, J., Dayan, F., Mazure, N.M.: Hypoxia signalling in cancer and approaches to enforce tumour regression. Nature **441**, 437–443 (2006)
- 34. Ribba, B., Watkin, E., Tod, M., Girard, P., Grenier, E., et al.: A model of vascular tumour growth in mice combining longitudinal tumour size data with histological biomarkers. Eur. J. Cancer 47, 479–490 (2011)
- Bonatem, P.L.: Pharmacokinetics in drug development: advances and applications, Vol. 3; Howard PLBaDR, ed. Springer, New York (2011)
- Anderson, A.R., Chaplain, M.A.: Continuous and discrete mathematical models of tumorinduced angiogenesis. Bull. Math. Biol. 60, 857–899 (1998)
- Komarova, N.L., Mironov, V.: On the role of endothelial progenitor cells in tumor neovascularization. J. Theor. Biol. 235, 338–349 (2005)



- Billy, F., Ribba, B., Saut, O., Morre-Trouilhet, H., Colin, T., et al.: A pharmacologically based multiscale mathematical model of angiogenesis and its use in investigating the efficacy of a new cancer treatment strategy. J. Theor. Biol. 260, 545–562 (2009)
- 39. Arakelyan, L., Vainstein, V., Agur, Z.: A computer algorithm describing the process of vessel formation and maturation, and its use for predicting the effects of anti-angiogenic and anti-maturation therapy on vascular tumor growth. Angiogenesis 5, 203–214 (2002)
- Suri, C., McClain, J., Thurston, G., McDonald, D.M., Zhou, H., et al.: Increased vascularization in mice overexpressing angiopoietin-1. Science 282, 468–471 (1998)
- Maisonpierre, P.C., Suri, C., Jones, P.F., Bartunkova, S., Wiegand, S.J., et al.: Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis. Science 277, 55–60 (1997)
- Arakelyan, L., Merbl, Y., Agur, Z.: Vessel maturation effects on tumour growth: validation of a computer model in implanted human ovarian carcinoma spheroids. Eur. J. Cancer 41, 159–167 (2005)
- 43. Gorelik, B., Ziv, I., Shohat, R., Wick, M., Hankins, W.D., et al.: Efficacy of weekly docetaxel and bevacizumab in mesenchymal chondrosarcoma: a new theranostic method combining xenografted biopsies with a mathematical model. Cancer Res. **68**, 9033–9040 (2008)
- 44. Ferrara, N.: VEGF and the quest for tumour angiogenesis factors. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2, 795–803 (2002)
- Cebe-Suarez, S., Zehnder-Fjallman, A., Ballmer-Hofer, K.: The role of VEGF receptors in angiogenesis; complex partnerships. CMLS 63, 601–615 (2006)
- Olsson, A.K., Dimberg, A., Kreuger, J., Claesson-Welsh, L.: VEGF receptor signalling-in control of vascular function. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7, 359–371 (2006)
- Cross, M.J., Dixelius, J., Matsumoto, T., Claesson-Welsh, L.: VEGF-receptor signal transduction. Trends Biochem. Sci. 28, 488–494 (2003)
- Alarcon, T., Page, K.M.: Mathematical models of the VEGF receptor and its role in cancer therapy. J. Royal Soc. Interface/Royal Soc. 4, 283–304 (2007)
- 49. Shibuya, M.: Differential roles of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 and receptor-2 in angiogenesis. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. **39**, 469–478 (2006)
- Aldridge, B.B., Burke, J.M., Lauffenburger, D.A., Sorger, P.K.: Physicochemical modelling of cell signalling pathways. Nat. Cell Biol. 8, 1195–1203 (2006)
- Lamalice, L., Le Boeuf, F., Huot, J.: Endothelial cell migration during angiogenesis. Circ. Res. 100, 782–794 (2007)
- Gerber, H.P., Dixit, V., Ferrara, N.: Vascular endothelial growth factor induces expression of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and A1 in vascular endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 13313–13316 (1998)
- 53. Vivanco, I., Sawyers, C.L.: The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2, 489–501 (2002)
- 54. Hatakeyama, M., Kimura, S., Naka, T., Kawasaki, T., Yumoto, N., et al.: A computational model on the modulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and Akt pathways in heregulin-induced ErbB signalling. Biochem. J. 373, 451–463 (2003)
- 55. Wang, Z., Zhang, L., Sagotsky, J., Deisboeck, T.S.: Simulating non-small cell lung cancer with a multiscale agent-based model. Theor. Biol. Med. Model. **4**, 50 (2007)
- 56. Scianna, M., Munaron, L., Preziosi, L.: A multiscale hybrid approach for vasculogenesis and related potential blocking therapies. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. **106**, 450–462 (2011)
- 57. Munaron, L.: Calcium signalling and control of cell proliferation by tyrosine kinase receptors (review). Int. J. Mol. Med. **10**, 671–676 (2002)
- Munaron, L.: Intracellular calcium, endothelial cells and angiogenesis. Recent Pat. Anti-Cancer Drug Discovery 1, 105–119 (2006)
- Munaron, L., Antoniotti, S., Lovisolo, D.: Intracellular calcium signals and control of cell proliferation: how many mechanisms? J. Cell Mol. Med. 8, 161–168 (2004)
- Munaron, L., Fiorio Pla, A.: Calcium influx induced by activation of tyrosine kinase receptors in cultured bovine aortic endothelial cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 185, 454–463 (2000)
- 61. Kimura, H., Esumi, H.: Reciprocal regulation between nitric oxide and vascular endothelial growth factor in angiogenesis. Acta Biochim. Pol. **50**, 49–59 (2003)



- 62. Fiorio Pla, A., Grange, C., Antoniotti, S., Tomatis, C., Merlino, A., et al.: Arachidonic acidinduced Ca^{2+} entry is involved in early steps of tumor angiogenesis. MCR 6, 535–545 (2008)
- 63. Mottola, A., Antoniotti, S., Lovisolo, D., Munaron, L.: Regulation of noncapacitative calcium entry by arachidonic acid and nitric oxide in endothelial cells. FASEB J. 19, 2075-2077 (2005)
- 64. Berridge, M.J., Bootman, M.D., Roderick, H.L.: Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4, 517-529 (2003)
- 65. Scianna, M.: A multiscale hybrid model for pro-angiogenic calcium signals in a vascular endothelial cell. Bull. Math. Biol. (2011)
- 66. Carmeliet, P.: Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. Nat. Med. 6, 389-395 (2000)
- 67. Folkman, J., Haudenschild, C.: Angiogenesis in vitro. Nature 288, 551-556 (1980)
- 68. Serini, G., Ambrosi, D., Giraudo, E., Gamba, A., Preziosi, L., et al.: Modeling the early stages of vascular network assembly. EMBO J. 22, 1771-1779 (2003)
- 69. Gamba, A., Ambrosi, D., Coniglio, A., de Candia, A., Di Talia, S., et al.: Percolation, morphogenesis, and burgers dynamics in blood vessels formation. Phys. Rev. Lett. 90, 118101 (2003)
- 70. Tosin, A., Ambrosi, D., Preziosi, L.: Mechanics and chemotaxis in the morphogenesis of vascular networks. Bull. Math. Biol. 68, 1819-1836 (2006)
- 71. Fong, G.H., Zhang, L., Bryce, D.M., Peng, J.: Increased hemangioblast commitment, not vascular disorganization, is the primary defect in flt-1 knock-out mice. Development 126, 3015-3025 (1999)
- 72. Murray, J.D., Oster, G.F., Harris, A.K.: A mechanical model for mesenchymal morphogenesis. J. Math. Biol. 17, 125–129 (1983)
- 73. Harris, A.K., Stopak, D., Wild, P.: Fibroblast traction as a mechanism for collagen morphogenesis. Nature 290, 249-251 (1981)
- 74. Oster, G.F., Murray, J.D., Harris, A.K.: Mechanical aspects of mesenchymal morphogenesis. J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol. 78, 83-125 (1983)
- 75. Murray, J.D., Oster, G.F.: Cell traction models for generating pattern and form in morphogenesis. J. Math. Biol. 19, 265-279 (1984)

المنسلة للاستشارات

246

Biomaterials for Cell-Based Therapeutic Angiogenesis

Max H. Rich and Hyunjoon Kong

Abstract Stem cells and endothelial progenitor cells are increasingly studied for use in therapeutic angiogenesis to treat ischemic tissues and critical-sized tissue defects because of their potential to sustainably express multiple angiogenic factors and also differentiate to endothelial cells. These cells are often incorporated into a variety of biomaterials which can function as a provisional matrix to localize or deploy cells and also to regulate cellular phenotypic activities at a transplantation site. This chapter will summarize previous and current efforts to design cellladen biomaterials in order to improve therapeutic efficacy of transplanted cells to stimulate revascularization. Finally, it will discuss future strategies of biomaterial design that can further elevate the quality of the cell-based revascularization therapy.

M. H. Rich e-mail: maxrich@illinois.edu

H. Kong Institute for Genomic Biology, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL 61801, USA

H. Kong Micro and Nanotechnology Laboratory, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL 61801, USA

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_12, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

M. H. Rich · H. Kong (⊠) Department of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL 61801, USA e-mail: hjkong06@illinois.edu

1 Introduction

Ischemia, characterized by the restriction of blood supply to various vital tissues and organs, is the leading cause of tissue morbidity, and ultimately death across the globe. There are a variety of causes of ischemia including acute injury, atherosclerosis, hypertension, and embolism, among others. Early diagnosis and subsequent surgical methods such as angioplasty or bypass grafting can prevent ischemia [1]. These methods are useful in preventing ischemia or treating patients in the early stages of ischemia. However, it is a challenging task to treat patients who are in the advanced stages of ischemia, necessitating the development of a method to treat such patients.

Efforts are separately being made to treat critical-sized wounds and tissue defects, as a result of acute and chronic injuries and surgery, via tissue regeneration. It is well agreed that success in these tissue regenerative therapies relies on the ability to facilitate the transportation of oxygen and nutrients to cells that are either transplanted in or migrate into the tissue defects [2]. It is also important to remove cellular metabolites and wastes from the tissue defects.

One promising approach that has emerged to treat ischemia and improve wound healing and tissue regeneration is to regenerate micro-sized blood vessels by stimulating angiogenesis in a controlled manner. Angiogenesis is characterized by the sprouting of capillaries from pre-existing blood vessels (Fig. 1). This branching process is active during development, self-healing, and tumorigenesis. Angiogenesis is activated by the binding of various angiogenic cytokines and growth factors with endothelial progenitor and precursor cells [3]. These soluble angiogenic factors include vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), fibroblast-like growth factors (FGFs), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), and endothelin. The binding of angiogenic factors stimulates cells to proliferate, migrate, and form endothelial lumen, in concert with enzymatic degradation of interstitium driven by cell secreted matrix metalloproteinases [3]. Subsequently, smooth muscle cells and pericytes are mobilized to form mature blood vessels stabilized by smooth muscle layers and pericyte layers. The soluble factors involved with the maturation include PDGF, angiopoietin-1 (Ang1), and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β [3].

Supported by in-depth understanding of the role of individual angiogenic cytokines and growth factors, these signaling factors have been tested in many preclinical and clinical trials for revascularization [4]. Specifically, significant advances in the recombinant techniques are expediting the use of these signaling proteins with minimal concerns of host inflammation and pathogenic infection. Single, dual, and multiple soluble factors are systemically or locally administered to target tissue and stimulate revascularization. In addition, these soluble factors are often encapsulated in nano-or micro-sized particles to extend their bioactivity in physiological conditions [3]. Alternatively, these factors are loaded into a micro porous scaffold or hydrogel typically used as a tissue engineering scaffold so that the factors sustainably stimulate host and transplanted cells towards blood vessel formation [5].



Fig. 1 Schematic description of blood vessel formation through angiogenesis. Following vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulation, immature new blood vessels sprout from existing vasculature lacking pericytes or smooth muscle cells. Stimulation via angiopoeitin 1 (Ang 1) and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) promotes association of the neovessel with pericytes and smooth muscle cells. The result is a new stable and mature blood vessel [30]

However, these molecular therapies are often plagued by limited outcomes. For example, recreation of mature and functional blood vessels requires sequential activation of multiple signaling factors; however, it is still a challenging task to optimize the dose and duration of multiple drug molecules for revascularization [3]. In addition, the frequent and high dosage of angiogenic factors presents the potential risks of promoting inflammation and also producing leaky and dysfunctional neovessels [5].

To overcome these challenges encountered with molecular therapies for revascularization, cells which can endogenously express multiple angiogenic factors and also release them in response to external stimuli (e.g. hypoxia or inflammatory factors) are increasingly studied as an alternative vascular medicine. These cells include mesenchymal stem cells, endothelial progenitor cells, and fibroblasts [1]. Alternatively, cells transfected with non-viral or viral genes encoding angiogenic factors can produce exogenous angiogenic factors in a sustained manner [5]. These cells are also advantageous to delivering multiple angiogenic factors in a sustained manner.

In the beginning of cell therapies, it was common to locally transplant the cells via intramuscular injection [6]. However, transplanted cells without any physical barriers present the potential problem of initiating an immune response. Furthermore, cells injected into a patient may lose their bioactivity and also scatter due to extracellular chemical and mechanical factors at the transplantation sites. In order to enhance bioactivity and viability of cells, and further regulate their function to produce angiogenic factors, efforts are increasingly made to load cells into biomaterials with varied forms including microporous scaffolds, fibrous scaffolds and hydrogels.

Therefore, this chapter will discuss strategies for the biomaterial design of cellbased revascularization therapies, including control of material properties and microstructure and processes for loading cells into the materials. We will specifically focus on describing the design of porous polymer scaffolds, fibrous scaffolds, and hydrogels. In parallel, the influence of these biomaterial properties on improving cell viability, angiogenic function, and subsequent revascularization, both in vitro and in vivo, will be reviewed.

2 Biomaterial Design

2.1 Porous Scaffold

Cell-laden porous scaffolds are increasingly used to enhance vascularization throughout implants because of their potential to facilitate the migration of blood vessel-forming cells into the scaffold and further stimulate endothelial lumen formation within the micro-sized pores. It is common to first assemble the scaffold with interconnected micropores and subsequently plate cells. The cells used in these scaffolds include cells that secrete angiogenesis factors to neighboring tissues, those that possess a potential to differentiate to endothelial cells, or both cells types.

These porous scaffolds are commonly prepared with biodegradable polymers, such as poly(lactide-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), $poly(\varepsilon$ -caprolactone), polyanhydrides, cross-linked collagen and glycosaminoglycan, and their derivatives [7]. Mechanical properties and degradation rates of these polymeric matrices are controlled by the fraction of hydrolyzable units, molecular weights, and hydrophilicity of the polymer. These polymers are co-polymerized with other polymeric units, such as poly(ethylene glycol) and polysaccharides, to further control material properties and interactions with host immune systems [7]. Alternatively, these polymers are physically mixed or chemically conjugated with cell adhesion peptides or proteins in order to control cellular adhesion to polymeric matrices.

It is common to incorporate the interconnected micropores into the polymeric matrices via porogen leaching, gas foaming, freeze drying, and phase separation (Fig. 2) [7]. Recently, diameters of micropores are controlled in a more sophisticated manner by incorporating microparticles with uniform diameters into the polymeric matrices and leaching them out using solvents (Fig. 2) [7]. Therefore, the biocompatibility of the porous matrices tends to significantly depend on types of porogen and microparticles used because they determine the solvents that should be used to create the interconnected pores [8]. In this regard, the gas foaming or freeze drying process may exhibit advantages with minimal concerns of cytoxic residues in the porous matrix, but these methods still present limited controllability of pore size [9].





Fig. 2 Schematic of particle leaching fabrication method. The polymer solution is placed in a mold with some sort of porogen (i.e. salt) and then a scaffold is formed. The porogen is then washed out of the scaffold, leaving a network of interconnected pores [31] (*left*). SEM images of porous ceramic scaffold fabricated through particle leaching method through dissolution of the porogen [32] (*right*)

Earlier studies discovered that pore diameter and biodegradability of the scaffold significantly influence the cellular efficacy to construct vascular networks within the scaffold and also bridge new blood vessels with pre-existing ones [10]. For example, human embryonic endothelial cells or human umbilical cord vein cells (HUVEC's) were incorporated into a myoblast-laden biodegradable PLGA scaffold, in order to crate vascularized muscle [11]. Micropores were incorporated into the scaffold using the salt leaching method [12]. The resulting scaffold pore diameters range from 225 to 500 μ m with a porosity of 93 %. Endothelial cells secreted VEGF and PDGF within the pores and organized into tubular structures in vitro. Furthermore, in vivo studies, where the scaffold was implanted subcutaneously, showed that the prevasculature within the scaffolds integrated with host vasculature in SCID mice [11].

Alternatively, porous PLGA scaffolds were prepared using the gas foaming/ particle leaching method. The copolymer, mixed with 100 mg of NaCl, was compressed into a disk form, and the disk was placed in a pressure chamber filled with carbon dioxide. After the gas was partially dissolved into the polymer disk, the chamber was depressurized to convert the carbon dioxide smeared into the matrix into a gaseous form and subsequently generate the pores in the polymer disks. Further leaching of NaCl in aqueous solution created the microporous scaffold porosity of 95 % with an average pore size of 190 μ m. The human micro vascular endothelial cells (HMVECs) were incorporated into scaffolds by dropping cells in suspension into the pores. These scaffolds were capable of developing mature blood vessels via vasculogeneis within the scaffold (Fig. 3), as demonstrated with the scaffold subcutaneously implanted into SCID mice [13].

In addition, mesenchymal stem cells transfected with genes encoding VEGF and bFGF were used by loading them in a porous biodegradable collagen and glycosaminoglycan scaffold with the commercial name of the Integra[®] matrix. The matrix is composed of cross linked bovine collagen and glycosaminoglycans [14]. The resulting matrix has a porosity of 98 % and pore sizes ranging from 30 to 120 μ m. Cells seeded in the matrix actively secreted exogenous VEGF and bFGF. The cell seeded scaffold was tested in vivo using a skin defect model where a



Fig. 3 Schematic illustration of blood vessel formation mediated by seeding endothelial cells into a porous scaffold (a). Transplanted endothelial cells develop new blood vessels within the scaffold that grow towards host vasculature (b). Ultimately, host vasculature connects with new vasculature in order to form mature and functional blood vessels capable of carrying blood (c) [33]

15 mm hole was created on the back of athymic mice and the scaffold was placed over the wound. Wound healing was significantly improved by incorporating the drug-releasing cells into the scaffold, as seen with increased neovascular regeneration, when compared to the scaffold alone. In vitro studies indicated that the stable values of VEGF secreted into the media ranged from 1.5 to 2.1 ng/mL while bFGF stabilized at 0.2 ng/mL [14]. While this result is impressive, it is technically challenging to tune the cellular production of VEGF or FGF in terms of amount and sustainability.

2.2 Microfiber Scaffolds

Microfibrous scaffolds are also used in cell-based revascularization therapies, because of their structural similarity to natural ECM. The fibrous structure of ECM is known to facilitate cell adhesion and also mass transport through a three dimensional matrix [15]. In native ECM, these fibers are typically formed from self-assembly between collagen and fibrin fibrils [15]. To mimic these structures, nano or microfibrous scaffolds are fabricated by electrospinning various biode-gradable polymers including poly(L-lactic acid) and their copolymers to a substrate (Figs. 4 and 5) [15]. The diameter of resulting fiber ranges from 3 nm to 6 μ m, depending on chemical structure of polymers and processing condition [16]. In addition, the resulting fibrous scaffolds exhibit the mechanical rigidity and fracture resistance superior to natural ECM [16].

Early studies have demonstrated that collagen-based microfiber scaffolds can be used to develop small diamater (<6 mm) blood vessels consisting of an endothelial lining and a smooth muscle layer. In this study, smooth muscle cells were plated onto a fibrous scaffold composed of collagen fibers and poly(lactic acid) (PLA) fibers. The scaffold was fabricated by placing collagen fibers on a stainless steel mandrel and then electrospinning PLA fibers on top of the collagen fibers. The collagen fibers were used to emulate the stress environment found in arteries. The PLA fiber mesh is designed to provide initial structure and as a place to seed the smooth muscle cells. Following 10 days of culture in vitro, smooth muscle cells adhered to the fibrous scaffold displayed a spindle shape and also alligned along the collagen fibers [17].




Fig. 4 Schematic of electrospinning apparatus setup. (*Left image*) The polymer solution is pushed out through a syringe pump and then jetted out by an applied voltage. It is then collected on a grounded plate. (*Right image*) SEM image of endothelial cells adhered onto P(LLA-CL) nanofiber scaffold after 3 days of culture [18]

Fig. 5 Fluorescent image of endothelial cells adhered onto aligned P(LLA-CL) scaffold. The endothelial cells were cultured for 3 days and stained for platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1) (*green*) and the nucleus (*red*) [19]



Subsequent studies used fibrous scaffolds to guide the growth direction of engineered blood vessels. In one study, the endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells were seeded onto an electrospun poly(L-lactic acid)-co-poly(ε -caprolactone) nanofiber scaffold. The scaffold facilitated the adhesion of endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells, and further supported their natural phenotypes in vitro. The smooth muscle cells displayed the classic spindle shape and the endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells migrated through the pores of the scaffold [18].

These microfiber surfaces were further coated with collagen in order to emulate the microstructure of artery walls more closely. Endothelial cells grew along the aligned nanofibers and also stimulated the smooth muscle cells to exhibit a spindle phenotype in vitro [19]. However, despite these impressive cell alignments on the

nanofiber mesh characterized in vitro, there has not been success in developing mature and functional blood vessels aligned along the fiber orientation in vivo.

2.3 Hydrogel

Hydrogels are commonly formed from chemical and physical cross-linking reactions between water soluble polymers [20]. These hydrogels have been increasingly used for cell encapsulation and transplantation because of several advantageous features including structural similarity to natural ECM and hydrated environments. Recently, efforts are being extensively made to regulate phenotypic activities of encapsulated cells with chemical and mechanical properties of hydrogels in concert with soluble factors. In addition, cell-encapsulated hydrogels can be injected into target sites, allowing for minimally invasive cell transplantation. Furthermore, coupled with various microfabrication techniques, cellencapsulated hydrogels can be built into three dimensional constructs consisting of multiple layers with pre-defined spatial organization [21]. These merits of hydrogels have led to increasing exploration of the use of hydrogels in cell-based vascularization therapies.

One popular approach is to encapsulate cells which can endogenously produce multiple angiogenic factors. These cells were encapsulated into the hydrogel via mild in situ cross-linking reactions. Cell-secreted angiogenic factors are released from the hydrogel by diffusion. One example of such a system involves the encapsulation of fibroblasts in alginate gel beads. The cells encapsulated in the gel beads remained viable over the course of the study, as demonstrated by constant metabolic activity. After 17 days of in vitro culture, VEGF secreted into the media peaked at approximately 25 ng/mL. The cell-secreted VEGF was released from the gel beads via diffusion. Endothelial cells cultured with media conditioned from the alginate beads exhibited an increase in proliferation [22].

Recently, efforts are increasingly being made to control cellular production of angiogenic factors by tuning chemical and mechanical properties of the hydrogels. For example, using pendent polymer chains inserted between cross-linking junctions, the mechanical stiffness of poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA) hydrogels was tailored without significantly altering gel permeability. Fibroblasts encapsulated in the hydrogels with varying stiffness displayed that the growth factor productions, specifically VEGF, become maximal when the elastic modulus of the hydrogel was comparable to the elastic of fibrous tissue (i.e. 10–12 kPa) (Fig. 6) [23]. Additionally, incorporating photo cross-linkable alginate methacrylates into the PEGDA hydrogels resulted in an increase in both rigidity and permeability of the hydrogel, so that the various cell types could remain viable and active to produce angiogenic factors in the 3D gel matrix [24, 25]. These important hydrogels with various microfabrication techniques including stereolithographic assembly processes (Figs. 7 and 8) [21].



Fig. 6 VEGF expression in encapsulated fibroblasts related to elastic modulus (E) of the PEGDA-PEGMA hydrogel and PEGDA hydrogel (*left*) Schematic of PEGDA-PEGMA hydrogels with varying weight percentages PEGMA (*right*) [23]



Fig. 7 Schematic of assembling of cell-encapsulated hydrogels in a *top-down* manner using the SLA Apparatus. This process consists of a platform immersed just *below* the surface of a large tank of pre-polymer solution. After the layer is photopolymerized, the platform is lowered a specified distance to recoat the part with a new layer (*left*). Spatial 3D layer-by-layer cell patterning of viable cells at distinct layers. **a** CAD rendering of crosshatch pattern used for layer-by-layer spatial patterning. Each layer set was 1 mm thick (10 total layers, 100 µm each). **b** fluorescence image of NIH-3T3 cells encapsulated on different layer sets stained with either cell tracker[®] CMFDA (*green*) dye or CTMR (*orange*) dye. **c** cross-sectional view of a block pattern consisting of alternating layer sets (five total layers, 100 µm each). **d** quantitative analysis of (**c**) showing layer sets comparable to the desired 500 µm thickness. All values are mean \pm standard deviation of n = 4. The scale bars are 1 mm [21]

Alternatively, hydrogels are encapsulated with endothelial progenitor or precursor cells which are capable of developing endothelial lumen. Fibrin gels have already been extensively used to examine endothelial sprouting in a three dimensional environment because of their fibril structure and enzymatic susceptibility which enables the fibrin gels to facilitate cellular reorganization to form endothelial lumen [26]. However, fibrin gels are too soft to be used as an implant for revascularization therapies. Therefore, there are several efforts to control the properties of fibrin gels or harness the structure of fibrin gels with gel-forming synthetic polymers. For example, fibrinogens are modified with methacrylic groups so that they can chemically cross-link with synthetic polymers such as





Fig. 8 *Left* Schematic of therapeutic application of a hydrogel designed to deploy transplanted cells at an implantation site. *Right* Laser Doppler perfusion images of the recovery of blood flow in a mouse's *right* hindlimb damaged by ligation of femoral artery. The implantation of cell-deploying hydrogel consisting of porous alginate gel, VEGF₁₆₅, EPC and OEC significantly enhanced the recovery of blood perfusion [29]

PEGDA [27]. Alternatively, the PEG-based hydrogel is formed by cross-linking PEGDA with oligopeptides cleaved by cell-secreting proteinases such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Co-encapsulation of endothelial cells and mesenchymal progenitor cells in the MMP-sensitive synthetic hydrogel resulted in the formation of tubule-like structures. The mesenchymal progenitor cells acted as a source of MMPs to facilitate endothelial lumen formation.

These cell-encapsulating gels were further modified by encapsulating VEGF or VEGF-encapsulating microparticles to stimulate endothelial differentiation of encapsulated cells. In addition, these angiogenic factors may be essential to connect the new blood vessels formed within the hydrogel with host blood vessels neighboring the implanted gels. Implantation of these hydrogels encapsulated with cells and VEGF into mouse corneas sans cells resulted in a vascular network that penetrated the hydrogel implants within 7 days [28].

Conversely, hydrogels were used to dispatch cocktails of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) and outgrowth endothelial cells (OECs) into target tissues following implantation. EPCs and OECs produce multiple angiogenic growth factors and build new endothelial lumen, respectively. The alginate hydrogels encapsulated with $VEGF_{165}$ were lyophilized to introduce interconnected micropores and the cells were incorporated into the hydrogel during the rehydration process. Alginates modified with cells adhesion oligopeptides containing the Arg-Gly-Asp sequence were used to ensure cell adhesion to the gel matrix. The sustained release of $VEGF_{165}$ from the hydrogel stimulated the migration of EPCs and OECs from the hydrogel into

neighboring tissues at the implantation site. Further implantation of these celldispatching hydrogels into a mouse's ischemic hindlimb greatly improved the recovery of blood perfusion as a result of significant increases in the number of blood vessels [29].

3 Conclusion and Future Directions

Cell-laden polymeric biomaterials in forms of porous scaffold, fibrous scaffold, and hydrogels are increasingly being studied to enhance efficacy of cell-based revascularization therapies. These biomaterials are designed to release cellsecreted angiogenic factors, render the cells to form endothelial lumen in the matrix, or deploy the cells to the target tissue following implantation. In the past, the design of biomaterials used in this application focused on localizing transplanted cells in a target site and also retaining cell viability in order to sustain cellular production of angiogenic factors and also endothelial differentiation. These biomaterials are being further evolved as a device to regulate the cellular phenotypic activities essential to revascularization with chemical and mechanical properties of the matrix in concert with other supplemental soluble factors. In addition, biomaterials, specifically fibrous scaffold, were also assembled to control growth direction and spacing of new blood vessels at micrometer scale, but there have not been a significant success in recreating functional vascular network in vivo using the biomaterial. We expect that current efforts to integrate biomaterial design with various microfabrication technologies would resolve these challenges and further elevate the quality of revascularization therapies.

References

- 1. Sieveking, D.P., Ng, M.K.: Cell therapies for therapeutic angiogenesis: back to the bench. Vasc. Med. 14(2), 153–166 (2009)
- Kim, S., Recum, H.V.: Endothelial stem cells and precursors for tissue engineering: cell source, differentiation, selection, adn application. Tissue Eng. Part B 14(1), 133–147 (2008)
- Laschke, M.W., Harder, Y., Amon, M., Martin, I., Farhadi, J., Ring, A., et al.: Angiogenesis in tissue engineering: breathing life into constructed tissue substitutes. Tissue Eng. 12(8), 2093–2104 (2006)
- Yancopoulos, G.D., Davis, S., Gale, N.W., Rudge, J.S., Wiegand, S.J., Holash, J.: Vascularspecific growth factors and blood vessel formation. Nature 407(6801), 242–248 (2000)
- Schmidt, J.J., Rowley, J., Kong, H.: Hydrogels used for cell-based drug delivery. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 87A(4), 1113–1122 (2008)
- Fadini, G.P., Agostini, C., Avogaro, A.: Autologous stem cell therapy for peripheral arterial disease: meta-analysis and systemic review of the literature. Atherosclerosis 209(1), 10–17 (2010)
- Coutu, D.L., Yousefi, A.-M., Galipeau, J.: Three-dimensional porous scaffolds at the crossroads of tissue engineering and cell-based genetherapy. J. Cell. Biochem. 108(3), 537–546 (2009)

1 الم للاستشارات

- 8. Ma, P.X., Choi, J.W.: Biodegradable polymer scaffolds with well-defined interconnected spherical pore network. Tissue Eng. **7**(1), 23–33 (2001)
- 9. Hollister, S.J.: Porous scaffold design for tissue engineering. Nat. Mater. 4(7), 518-524 (2005)
- Yang, S., Leong, K.-F., Du, Z., Chua, C.K.: The design of scaffolds for use in tissue engineering. part I. traditional factors. Tissue Eng. 7(6), 679–689 (2001)
- Levenberg, S., Rouwkema, J., Macdonald, M., Garfein, E.S., Kohane, D.S., Darland, D.C., et al.: Engineering vascularized skeletal muscle tissue. Nat. Biotechnol. 23(7), 879–884 (2005)
- Levenberg, S., Huang, N.F., Lavik, E., Rogers, A.B., Itskovitz-Eldor, J., Langer, R.: Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells on three-dimensional polymer scaffolds. PNAS 100(22), 12741–12746 (2003)
- Peters, M.C., Polverini, P.J., Mooney, D.J.: Engineering vascular networks in porous polymer matrices. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 60(4), 668–678 (2002)
- Egana, J.T., Fierro, F.A., Krueger, S., Bornhaeuser, M., Huss, R., Lavandero, S., et al.: Use of human mesenchymal cells to improve vascularization in a mouse model for scaffold-based dermal regeneration. Tissue Eng. Part A 15(5), 1191–1200 (2009)
- Venugopal, J., Low, S., Choon, A.T., Ramakrishna, S.: Interaction of cells and nanofiber scaffolds for tissue engineering. J. Biomed. Mater. Res.Part B Appl. Biomater. 84(1), 34–48 (2007)
- Vasita, R., Katti, D.S.: Nanofibers and their applications in tissue engineering. Int. J. Nanomed. 1(1), 15–30 (2006)
- Stitzel, J.D., Pawlowski, K.J., Wnek, G.E., Simpson, D.G., Bowlin, G.L.: Arterial smooth muscle cell proliferation on a novel biomimicking, biodegradable vascular graft scaffold. J. Biomater. Appl. 16(1), 22–33 (2001)
- Xu, C., Inai, R., Kotaki, M., Ramakrishna, S.: Electrospun nanofiber fabrication as synthetic extracellular matrix and its potential for vascular tissue engineering. Tissue Eng. 10(7/8), 1160–1168 (2004)
- He, W., Yong, T., Ma, Z.W., Inai, R., Teo, W.E., Ramakrishna, S.: Biodegradable polymer nanofiber mesh to maintain functions of endothelial cells. Tissue Eng. 12(9), 2457–2466 (2006)
- Drury, J.L., Mooney, D.J.: Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variable and applications. Synth. Biomimetic Polym. 24(24), 4337–4351 (2003)
- Chan, V., Zorlutuna, P., Jeong, J.H., Kong, H., Bashir, R.: Three-dimensional photopatterning of hydrogels using stereolithography for long-term cell encapsulation. Lab. Chip. 10(16), 2062–2070 (2010)
- Keshaw, H., Forbes, A., Day, R.M.: Release of angiogenic growth factors from cells encapsulated in alginate beads with bioactive glass. Biomaterials 26(19), 4171–4179 (2005)
- 23. Cha, C., Jeong, J.H., Shim, J., Kong, H.: Tuning the dependency between stiffness and permeability of a cell encapsulating hydrogel with hydrophilic pendant chains. Acta. Biomater. 7(10), 3719–3728 (2011)
- Cha, C., Kim, S.Y., Cao, L., Kong, H.: Decoupled control of stiffness and permeability with a cell-encapsulating poly (ethylene glycol) dimethacrylate hydrogel. Biomaterials **31**(18), 4864–4871 (2010)
- Jeong, J.H., Chan, V., Cha, C., Zorlutuna, P., Dyck, C., Hsia, K., et al.: 'Living' microvascular stamp for patterning of functional neovessels; orchestrated control of matrix property and geometry. Adv. Mater. 24(1), 58–63 (2012)
- Breen, A., O'Brien, T., Pandit, A.: Fibrin as a delivery system for therapeutic drugs and biomolecules. Tissue Eng. Part B Rev. 15(2), 201–214 (2009)
- Kim, P.D., Peyton, S.R., Van Strien, A.J., Putnam, A.J.: The influence of ascorbic acid, TGFbeta1, and cell-mediated remodeling on the bulk mechanical properties of 3-D PEGfibrinogen constructs. Biomaterials **30**(23–24), 3854–3864 (2009)
- Moon, J.J., Saik, J.E., Poche, R.A., Leslie-Barbick, J.E., Lee, S.-H., Smith, A.A., et al.: Biomimetic hydrogels with pro-angiogenic properties. Biomaterials 31(14), 3840–3847 (2010)
- Silva, E.A., Kim, E.-S., Kong, H., Mooney, D.J.: Material-based deployment enhances efficacy of endothelial progenitor cells. PNAS 105(38), 14347–14352 (2008)



- Hsiong, S.X., Mooney, D.J.: Regeneration of vascularized bone. Periodontology 2000(41), 109–122 (2006)
- Mao, H.-Q.: Biomaterials for Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine. Biomaterials II. Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore (2010)
- 32. Chevalier, E., Chulia, D., Pouget, C., Viana, M.: Fabrication of porous substrates: a review of processes using pore forming agents in the biomaterial field. J. Pharm. Sci. **97**(3), 1135–1154 (2008)
- 33. Lee, K.Y., Mooney, D.J.: Hydrogels for tissue engineering. Chem. Rev. **101**(7), 1869–1879 (2001)

Translation of Pro-Angiogenic and Anti-Angiogenic Therapies into Clinical Use

Sujata K. Bhatia

Abstract Angiogenesis is a central physiological process that establishes blood supply and oxygen supply to tissues, thereby enabling the growth and maintenance of nascent bodily structures. Angiogenic signals function throughout the lifecycle to ensure perfusion, proliferation, and preservation of cells, tissues, and organs. During embryonic development, angiogenesis is absolutely critical; the generation of blood vessels is crucial to the formation of every organ. In adulthood, angiogenesis is necessary for wound healing, as well as recovery from ischemic insults; in such cases, it is beneficial to promote angiogenesis. However, angiogenesis is undesirable and pathological in the context of cancerous tumors, as well as diabetic retinopathy; in these cases, it is preferable to halt angiogenesis. Thus, pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic signals must operate in balance to assure physiological health. This chapter reviews current knowledge regarding biochemical regulators of angiogenesis, and highlights molecular targets of pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic therapies. The chapter additionally discusses current progress in translating both pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic therapeutics into clinical usage, and identifies potential barriers to the clinical introduction of such therapeutics. Finally, the chapter suggests future basic research and clinical research priorities for tailoring angiogenesis to address patient needs.

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12,

DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_13, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

S. K. Bhatia (🖂) School of Engineering and Applied Sciences, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA e-mail: sbhatia@seas.harvard.edu

1 Introduction

Angiogenesis plays a pivotal role in human health and human disease. Elucidated by the legendary biomedical scientist Judah Folkman [1], angiogenesis is the process of vascular generation which enables blood supply to tissues. Sufficient vascular supply is essential throughout life for the growth and maintenance of bodily structures. Angiogenesis not only establishes a vascular network during embryonic development, angiogenesis also operates following injuries to re-establish a vascular network. Deficient angiogenesis can lead to abnormalities in would healing, as well as insufficient recovery after an ischemic insult. Yet excessive angiogenesis can also be pathological; such is the case in retinopathies, malignancies, and inflammatory diseases [2]. Angiogenesis must therefore be tightly regulated to achieve an appropriate balance: either too much or too little angiogenesis results in disease (Fig. 1).

Indeed, imbalanced angiogenesis is a factor in several of the leading killers worldwide [3], including coronary artery disease, stroke, emphysema, cancer, and diabetes (Table 1). For instance, the clinical manifestations of diabetes mellitus demonstrate the centrality and complexity of angiogenesis: the diabetic patient simultaneously suffers inadequate angiogenesis in some tissues, along with excess angiogenesis in other tissues. The result is that such patients concomitantly experience impaired wound healing and ulcer formation due to insufficient angiogenesis, with retinopathy and nephropathy due to excess angiogenesis [4]. The ubiquity of angiogenesis makes this process a prime target for novel therapeutics. Based on the World Health Organization's report of the Global Burden of Disease [5], effective treatments that modulate angiogenesis could eliminate up to 31 % of all deaths globally, saving 18.3 million lives each year. Control of the angiogenic process, through pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic therapies, therefore represents a breakthrough treatment paradigm which could address many of the world's chronic diseases.

This chapter will provide an overview of the molecular biology and physiology of angiogenesis, and delineate the major molecular targets of pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic treatments. The chapter will then discuss the specific cases of proangiogenic therapy for coronary artery disease, and anti-angiogenic therapy for cancerous tumors; these cases are exemplary of the strategies and challenges of angiogenesis-targeting agents. The chapter will describe current progress in translating pro-angiogenic therapies and anti-angiogenic therapies into clinical usage for these specific diseases; the discussion will include pre-clinical trials, initial clinical trials, and large randomized trials. Finally, the chapter will identify shortcomings of contemporary approaches, and suggest future basic research and clinical research efforts for tuning angiogenesis to address clinical needs.



Fig. 1 Implications of insufficient angiogenesis and excess angiogenesis for human disease

		-	
Cause of death	Annual deaths worldwide, in millions	% of all deaths	Role of angiogenesis in therapy
Coronary heart disease	7.20	12.2	Improved angiogenesis may speed recovery of cardiac muscle
Stroke and other cerebrovascular disease	5.71	9.7	Improved angiogenesis in the brain may speed functional recovery
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	3.02	5.1	Improved angiogenesis of lung microvessels may allow alveolar regeneration
Trachea, bronchus, lung cancers	1.32	2.3	Blocking angiogenesis will halt growth of malignant tumors
Diabetes mellitus	1.10	1.9	Improved angiogenesis will enable wound healing; blocking angiogenesis will prevent retinopathy
TOTAL	18.35	31.2	

Table 1 The role of angiogenesis in the global burden of disease

2 Angiogenic and Angiostatic Regulators

Angiogenesis is finely controlled, both spatially and temporally, via an intricate system of molecular inducers and inhibitors. At least 50 different endogenous molecules are known to regulate angiogenesis [6]. The most important proangiogenic molecule is vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [7], which serves as a master regulator of physiological and pathological angiogenesis [8]. VEGF is produced and secreted by cells in response to hypoxia; under conditions of low oxygen, a transcription factor known as hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)



promotes the transcription of genes encoding VEGF [9]. Upon translation and secretion, VEGF binds to receptor tyrosine kinases (VEGF receptors, also called VEGFR) located on the surfaces of neighboring endothelial cells [10]. Several isoforms of VEGF exist that bind to a family of different VEGF receptors (Fig. 2). The binding of VEGF to its receptors activates blood vessel formation, increases vascular permeability, and contributes to endothelial cell survival in blood vessels [11]. VEGF signaling is absolutely required for embryonic development [12]. In addition, upregulation of VEGF mRNA has been shown to occur during exercise in humans [13]. At the same time, VEGF is the most significant and potent survival factor in malignant tumor growth and metastasis [14].

Another important family of pro-angiogenic mediators is the fibroblast growth factors (FGF) [15]; the fibroblast growth factor family comprises 22 polypeptides that promote angiogenesis [16]. As with VEGF, the production and secretion of FGF are stimulated by HIF during hypoxic conditions. Once secreted, FGF binds to FGF receptors on endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and myoblasts. In ischemic tissue, FGF4 induces endothelial cell proliferation, as well as the secretion of metalloproteinases to carve out paths for new blood vessels [17]. FGF4 also stimulates secretion of VEGF, which subsequently stimulates angiogenesis. Moreover, it has recently been demonstrated that FGF9 orchestrates the wrapping of smooth muscle cells around nascent blood vessels during angiogenesis, to produce durable vasoresponsive blood vessels [18]. Other endogenous pro-angiogenic molecules include platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (GCSF), placental growth factor (PIGF), angiopoietin, and angiogenin [19, 20].

The actions of pro-angiogenic molecules are countered by anti-angiogenic, also known as angiostatic, regulatory molecules. Endogenous anti-angiogenic molecules include angiostatin and endostatin [21]. Angiostatin interferes with ATP production,



Fig. 3 Endogenous pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors

thereby inhibiting endothelial cell growth, migration, and proliferation. Endostatin inhibits capillary endothelial cell proliferation. Both angiostatin and endostatin are potent suppressors of tumor growth and metastasis [22, 23]. For instance, angiostatin blocks angiogenesis induced by Kaposi's sarcoma cells; Kaposi's sarcoma is a highly angiogenic and inflammation-associated tumor [24]. Retinoids are another important class of molecules which oppose angiogenesis. Retinoids decrease VEGF expression in skin keratinocytes, and inhibit cell proliferation and differentiation [25]; retinoids are well-known teratogens due to their anti-angiogenic activity. Natural corticosteroids such as tetrahydrocortisol are also powerful inhibitors of angiogenesis [26].

Ultimately, the cocktail of pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors in a given tissue site determines whether blood vessel formation will take place (Fig. 3). Pro-angiogenic mediators such as VEGF and FGF, as well as anti-angiogenic mediators such as angiostatin and endostatin, are all potential targets for angiogenesis-modulating therapies. Both pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic pathways may be exploited to either encourage angiogenesis to treat injured and ischemic tissues, or discourage angiogenesis to treat cancerous tumors and inflammatory diseases. The next section will describe a prototypical pro-angiogenic approach: therapeutic angiogenesis for healing the heart.

3 Therapeutic Angiogenesis for Coronary Artery Disease

Coronary artery disease is the leading killer of men and women worldwide; it has been projected that deaths due to cardiovascular diseases will rise to 23.3 million per year by 2030 [27]. Congestive heart failure, the end stage of many heart diseases,

carries a 1 year mortality rate as high as 40 % and a 5 year mortality between 26 and 75 %; the prognosis for patients with congestive heart failure is worse than for those with most malignancies or AIDS [28]. Coronary artery disease results from occlusion of the coronary arteries supplying blood to the heart; complete occlusion leads to a myocardial infarction (heart attack). Acute myocardial infarction compromises the blood supply to the cardiac muscle, deprives the heart of oxygen and nutrients, and wreaks substantial cardiac tissue destruction. Coronary artery occlusion damages the large vessels of the heart, and also destroys endothelial cells of the microvasculature [29]. Further, a large number of cardiomyocytes (cardiac muscle cells), more than 10^9 cells, can be lost following a myocardial infarction [30]. For these reasons, pro-angiogenic therapies are being developed to restore cardiac structure and function in patients with coronary artery disease.

The current standard of care for coronary artery disease is a combination of pharmacologic therapy and surgical intervention. Pharmacologic therapy includes angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and beta-blockers; both ACE inhibitors and beta-blockers improve long-term survival in coronary artery disease, but do not restore cardiac function [31]. The longtime surgical treatment for occluded coronary arteries has been coronary artery bypass surgery, in which a vein is harvested from another part of the body, and grafted onto the affected artery to bypass the blockage. However, bypass surgery is highly invasive, requiring the chest wall to be cracked open to expose the heart. Attendant complications include graft infection, chest wall dehiscence, and chest wound infection. Moreover, coronary artery bypass is technically difficult and costly, which limits patient access to the procedure. The contemporary interventional treatment for coronary artery disease is percutaneous angioplasty of occluded coronary arteries, using minimally invasive stents. Yet, even early reperfusion cannot completely reverse the effects of coronary artery occlusion, and the maximal benefit of early reperfusion has reached a level close to practical limits [32]. Therapeutic angiogenesis may be the next advance for overcoming coronary artery disease, enabling restoration of damaged heart tissues. Angiogenic therapy may also serve as a "biologic bypass" [33], providing a new treatment avenue for patients who are not candidates for mechanical revascularization or open bypass surgery.

3.1 VEGF Cytokines for Therapeutic Angiogenesis

VEGF cytokines have been intensely pursued for therapeutic angiogenesis of ischemic heart tissues. In porcine models of chronic myocardial ischemia, VEGF infusion has been shown to improve collateral blood supply and decrease the ischemic zone. VEGF treatment induced natural bypass vessels in this pre-clinical model, and improved global and regional cardiac functioning: the cardiac ejection fraction increased (indicating stronger pumping function of the heart) and the regional cardiac wall thickened (indicating rebuilt cardiac muscle) [34]. In porcine

models subjected to left circumflex arterial constriction, VEGF treatment improved coronary flow and preserved regional hemodynamics [35]. Intracoronary treatment with VEGF, either by single intracoronary bolus or local delivery, stimulated significant angiogenesis in pigs [36]. In canine models subjected to left circumflex arterial occlusion, intracoronary VEGF infusion at the occlusion site was associated with a 40 % increase in collateral blood flow [37].

The safety of intracoronary infusion of recombinant human VEGF was assessed in a phase I clinical trial; the trial included 7 patients with coronary artery disease whose coronary anatomy was suboptimal for percutaneous or surgical revascularization [38]. Coronary infusion of VEGF was tolerated up to a maximal dose of 0.050 mg/kg/min; beyond this dose, patients experienced hypotension. VEGF gene transfer has also been attempted in phase I clinical trials. In one study of 5 patients who had failed conventional therapy for myocardial ischemia, naked plasmid DNA was injected directly into ischemic myocardium. The technique was safe, and there was objective evidence of reduced ischemia in all patients [39]. Direct myocardial injection of naked plasmid DNA encoding VEGF was subsequently shown to be safe in additional phase I trials [40, 41]. Further, the direct myocardial injection of an adenoviral vector expressing VEGF cDNA has demonstrated safety, in a phase I clinical trial of 21 patients with severe coronary artery disease [42].

Unfortunately, the successes of therapeutic angiogenesis with VEGF in pre-clinical and phase I clinical trials have not been reproduced in large phase II trials. In the VIVA (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor in Ischemia for Vascular Angiogenesis) trial, a total of 178 patients with myocardial ischemia who were unsuitable for mechanical revascularization were randomized to receive placebo, low dose recombinant human VEGF, or high dose recombinant human VEGF [43]. Patients received an initial dose via intracoronary infusion on day 0, followed by peripheral infusions on days 3, 6, and 9. While the VEGF therapy was safe, the trial failed to meet its primary endpoint: VEGF offered no improvement beyond placebo in exercise treadmill time (the primary endpoint) at day 60. Direct myocardial injection of VEGF-encoding plasmid DNA has also been attempted in a randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled phase II study. In the Euroinject One trial, 80 "no-option" patients with severe stable coronary artery disease were randomized to receive either placebo or VEGF gene transfer [44]. This trial also failed to meet its primary endpoint: after 3 months, VEGF gene transfer did not significantly improve myocardial perfusion defects, though VEGF treatment was associated with improvements in local wall motion. Finally, the Kuopio Angiogenesis Trial assessed the efficacy of VEGF gene transfer during angioplasty and stenting [45]. This randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled phase II study involved 103 patients with coronary artery disease who were undergoing angioplasty. Patients were randomized to receive placebo, VEGF adenovirus, or VEGF plasmid liposome. Again, this trial did not meet its primary endpoint: after 6 months, there were no significant differences between study groups in clinical restenosis rates or minimal lumen diameter, though patients receiving VEGF adenovirus did demonstrate a significant increase in myocardial perfusion.

3.2 FGF Cytokines for Therapeutic Angiogenesis

The pro-angiogenic FGF cytokines have also been investigated for therapeutic angiogenesis of myocardial ischemia. In canine models of acute myocardial infarction, the intrapericardial injection of basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF2) induced angiogenesis in the infarcted area [46]. The result of FGF2 treatment was improved cardiac systolic function and reduced infarct size. Therapies based on FGF have subsequently been evaluated in clinical trials, with limited success. The AGENT (Angiogenic Gene Therapy) trial evaluated the safety of intracoronary delivery of an adenovirus encoding FGF4 [47]. Seventy-nine patients with coronary artery disease were randomized to receive a placebo or FGF4 adenovirus; the treatment was demonstrated to be safe. A phase II trial, the AGENT-2 study, then examined whether the FGF4 adenovirus treatment could improve myocardial perfusion [48]. In this randomized controlled double-blind trial, 52 patients with coronary artery disease were randomized to receive a placebo or FGF4 gene therapy. After 8 weeks, patients who received intracoronary injections of FGF4 gene therapy showed a significant reduction in ischemic defect size.

Two subsequent clinical trials, the AGENT-3 and AGENT-4 trials, were initiated as phase III studies of the FGF4 adenovirus for myocardial ischemia [49]. The two trials enrolled a total of 532 patients with coronary artery disease who were unsuitable for mechanical revascularization; both trials were randomized, double-blinded, and placebo-controlled. Patients were randomized to receive placebo, a low dose of FGF4 gene therapy, or a high dose of FGF4 gene therapy. The trials were intended to last 12 weeks. However, both trials were halted early, when an interim analysis revealed that the trials would fail to meet the primary endpoint: there would be no statistical significance between treatment groups in exercise treadmill time at 12 weeks.

There are several possible explanations for the failure of therapeutic angiogenesis utilizing VEGF or FGF in large-scale clinical trials. In terms of pharmacokinetics, VEGF and other growth factors have a relatively short half-life in the blood [50]; this may limit the ability of cytokines to act on target tissues. In terms of clinical trial design, the dosing concentrations and dosing schedules may have been suboptimal, and the routes of administration may have been ineffective [51]. In terms of cytokine biology, each cytokine has multiple physiological effects. Moreover, physiological angiogenesis involves the coordinated effort of multiple pro-angiogenic molecules. A single pro-angiogenic factor may be insufficient for lasting induction of angiogenesis. Therapeutic regimens that utilize combinations of cytokines may be required to achieve a clinically meaningful effect. Finally in terms of disease pathology, patients with coronary artery disease are likely to exhibit endothelial dysfunction, particularly in the context of severe atherosclerotic disease. This cellular dysfunction could limit the efficacy of therapeutic angiogenesis [52].

Novel biomaterials for therapeutic delivery could improve the clinical efficacy of pro-angiogenic therapies. Drug delivery vehicles may be useful for targeting cytokines to diseased tissue, thereby increasing the effective concentration of

pro-angiogenic cytokines at ischemic sites, and limiting the side effects of angiogenic growth factors (such as hypotension) outside the heart. For instance, the adhesion molecule P-selectin is upregulated on endothelial cells in myocardium, and may be targeted for delivery of angiogenic therapy. Anti-P-selectin coated liposomes have been designed as delivery vehicles for VEGF [53]. In a rat model of myocardial infarction, the VEGF-encapsulated immunoliposomes were injected systemically, and successfully concentrated VEGF in the ischemic heart. Treatment with VEGF-loaded immunoliposomes improved systolic function in rats, while systemic injection of non-targeted VEGF had no therapeutic effect. Targeted drug delivery is a promising approach for therapeutic angiogenesis, deserving of further investigation. In addition, the spatial and temporal presentation of VEGF has recently been demonstrated to influence angiogenesis [54]. Polymeric materials that control and regulate the spatial and temporal presentation of pro-angiogenic factors may be critical for optimizing therapeutic angiogenesis.

4 Suppression of Angiogenesis for Cancerous Tumors

Cancer is a disease of uncontrolled cellular proliferation and unchecked tissue growth. Tumor growth may lead to compression and disruption of local anatomical structures, as well as invasion of adjacent tissue, and infiltration beyond the primary tumor during metastasis. Cancerous tumors are caused by the accumulation of genetic alterations over time. Such alterations may be the result of inheritance or environmental exposures to carcinogens. As genetic alterations accumulate, cells transform from a normal phenotype into a malignant phenotype. Infiltration of malignant cells into the underlying stromal tissue signals the first sign of invasive cancer. The process of carcinogenesis may take 10-20 years to evolve [55]. Because of Judah Folkman's pioneering work [56], it is now wellknown that a sustained level of tumor growth requires an adequate vascular supply. Tumors must have an ongoing blood supply to grow beyond a minimum size of 2-3 mm³. Neovascularization of tumors is also a necessary prerequisite for escape and metastasis of cells; once metastatic cells arrive at a distant site, angiogenesis is again required to establish a new tumor [57]. For these reasons, the tumor vascular supply is a widely recognized target for anti-angiogenic treatments.

The chief objective of pharmacologic anti-angiogenic agents is to target disease-driven angiogenesis within cancerous tumors, while sparing healthy tissues from damage. Efforts toward anti-angiogenic therapies for cancer have yielded notable clinical successes; several anti-angiogenic agents are already part of standard treatment regimens for cancer. Yet these efforts have also been marked by clinical disappointment, as tumors tend to develop resistance to anti-angiogenic agents over time. The ultimate result is that patients experience a transitory improvement in cancer, followed by tumor recurrence and cancer progression. This phenomenon has been revealed during the development and clinical adoption of VEGF-targeting agents in cancer treatment.

4.1 Bevacizumab: the First Clinical Anti-Angiogenic Therapy

As the key regulator of angiogenesis, VEGF has been the prime focus of antiangiogenic drug development for cancer. One of the first biologic VEGF-targeting agents was a mouse anti-VEGF antibody [58]. A recombinant humanized anti-VEGF antibody was then developed by Genentech. This antibody, named bevacizumab, targets all isoforms of human VEGF-A [59]. A phase III clinical trial was conducted in 813 patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer; patients were randomized to receive either combination chemotherapy plus bevacizumab, or combination chemotherapy alone [60]. The addition of bevacizumab to combination chemotherapy resulted in clinically significant improvements in progression-free survival and overall survival; bevacizumab boosted overall survival by a median time of 4.5 months when added to combination chemotherapy. In 2004, bevacizumab (Avastin[®]) gained Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval as a first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer, becoming the first FDA-approved anti-angiogenic treatment for cancer [61].

Bevacizumab has been evaluated for treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma. A multi-center, randomized, double-blind phase III trial was conducted in 649 patients with previously untreated renal cell carcinoma; patients were randomized to receive either interferon alfa plus bevacizumab, or interferon alfa alone [62]. Again, the results were clinically significant. The addition of bevacizumab to interferon alfa boosted progression-free survival by a median time of 4.8 months. Bevacizumab raised overall survival by a median time of 2 months when added to interferon alfa [63]. The combination of bevacizumab and interferon alfa is now FDA-approved as first-line treatment for metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Bevacizumab has also shown promise for treating a brain cancer, glioblastoma multiforme. A phase II clinical trial of bevacizumab plus irinotecan was conducted in 35 patients with recurrent glioblastome multiforme [64]. The prognosis for these patients has historically been very poor, but twenty of 35 patients in the bevacizumab trial had at least a partial response. Bevacizumab now carries FDA approval for recurrent glioblastoma multiforme.

The anti-VEGF antibody has demonstrated similar success for non-small-cell lung cancer. A randomized phase III clinical trial was conducted, to investigate whether the addition of bevacizumab to first-line chemotherapy with paclitaxel and carboplatin improves survival in patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer [65]. The trial enrolled 878 patients with recurrent or advanced non-small-cell lung cancer; patients were randomized to receive either bevacizumab plus paclitaxel and carboplatin, or paclitaxel and carboplatin alone. The results were significant and clinically meaningful. Adding bevacizumab to first-line chemotherapy improved response rate and progression-free survival. Bevacizumab increased overall survival time by a median time of 2 months when added to first-line chemotherapy. The anti-VEGF antibody, in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel, is FDA-approved for treatment of advanced non-squamous, non-small-cell lung cancer.

4.2 Limitations of Bevacizumab for Anti-Angiogenic Therapy

The limitations of bevacizumab became evident in clinical trials for metastatic breast cancer. An open-label, randomized phase III clinical trial was conducted to determine whether the addition of bevacizumab to paclitaxel is beneficial for metastatic breast cancer therapy [66]. A total of 722 patients were enrolled in the trial, and were randomized to receive either bevacizumab plus paclitaxel, or paclitaxel alone. Initial therapy of metastatic breast cancer with bevacizumab plus paclitaxel alone. However, bevacizumab imparted no benefits for overall survival in metastatic breast cancer.

Bevacizumab also failed to demonstrate efficacy for pancreatic cancer. A randomized, double-blinded phase III clinical trial was conducted in 301 patients with metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma [67]. Patients were randomly assigned to receive either bevacizumab plus gemcitabine-erlotinib, or gemcitabine-erlotinib alone. The addition of bevacizumab to gemcitabine-erlotinib did prolong progression-free survival, but there was no improvement in overall survival. A subsequent phase III clinical trial was conducted in 602 patients with advanced pancreatic cancer; patients were randomly assigned to receive bevacizumab plus gemcitabine, or gemcitabine alone [68]. Again, there was no survival benefit associated with the addition of bevacizumab to gemcitabine.

4.3 Tumor Resistance to VEGF-Blocking Agents

VEGF-blocking agents not only bear limitations with regard to efficacy, they can also induce undesirable long-term effects. Notably, tumors can cultivate complete resistance to anti-angiogenic VEGF-targeting agents over time, leading to tumor resurgence. One mechanism for tumor resistance is the existence of alternative angiogenic signaling pathways. Even when VEGF-mediated signaling is entirely blocked, tumors can utilize other pro-angiogenic factors as substitutes for VEGF [69]. As a case in point, inhibition of VEGF signaling in late-stage pancreatic islet tumors leads to upregulation of other pro-angiogenic mediators, including molecules of the FGF family [70]. Inhibition of VEGF-mediated pathways can even lead to up-regulation of VEGF itself in glioblastoma multiforme [71]. Paradoxically, VEGF-blocking therapeutic agents increase tumor hypoxia, which leads to the activation of pro-angiogenic pathways. When malignant tumors are treated with VEGF-blocking agents, the tumors initially respond to treatment and stop growing; after this initial period of growth suppression, malignant tumors rebound aggressively as they re-vascularize and relapse via multiple signaling pathways.

For patients fighting cancer, the clinical result is that anti-angiogenic therapies have short-lived efficacy at best. Patients experience a transient clinical benefit, followed by tumor re-growth at a greatly accelerated pace. Therapies such as bevacizumab may effect a 3–6 month increase in progression-free survival, but

Fig. 4 Chemical structures of receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. a Sunitinib. b Sorafenib



cannot provide lasting clinical responses. In fact, anti-angiogenic therapy can lead to heightened invasiveness and increased metastasis of tumors [72]. Indeed, a subset of glioblastoma patients experienced recurrence with more infiltrative tumors following treatment with bevacizumab [73].

4.4 Next-Generation Anti-Angiogenic Agents

A second-generation of anti-angiogenic therapies, the receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor class, is currently under development (Fig. 4). Unlike bevacizumab, these drugs are small molecules that inhibit multiple targets; the newer agents can thus be used as monotherapy for cancer. For example, sunitinib is a receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor that blocks signaling through VEGF receptors and PDGF receptors; sunitib also targets other tyrosine kinases including, KIT, FLT3, colonystimulating factor 1 (CSF-1), and RET, which are involved in several different malignancies [74]. Sunitinib has been shown to prolong progression-free survival for renal cell cancer. A multi-center randomized phase III clinical trial was conducted in 750 patients with previously untreated metastatic renal cell carcinoma; patients were randomized to receive either sunitinib or interferon alfa [75]. Sunitinib increased progression-free survival by a median time of 6 months as compared to interferon alfa. Sunitinib also demonstrates efficacy for gastrointestinal stromal tumors. A clinical trial was performed in 312 patients with unresectable gastrointestinal stromal tumors after failure of imatinib therapy; patients were randomized to receive either sunitinib or placebo [76]. Sunitinib significantly increased the time to tumor progression by more than 20 weeks. The first drug to simultaneously receive FDA approval for two different cancers, sunitinib is now FDA-approved for metastatic renal cell carcinoma and imatinibresistant gastrointestinal stromal tumor [77].

Sorafenib is another second-generation anti-angiogenic agent; this receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor blocks signaling through VEGF receptors, PDGF receptors,



and Raf [78]. Sorafenib has been shown to increase progression-free survival in renal cancer. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III clinical trial was conducted in 903 patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma that was resistant to standard therapy; patients were randomly assigned to receive either sorafenib or placebo [79]. Sorafenib was associated with an increase of 2.7 months in progression-free survival; however, sorafenib therapy was also associated with increased toxic effects, including hypertension and cardiac ischemia. Sorafenib has demonstrated definite efficacy for hepatocellular carcinoma, prolonging overall survival. A multi-center randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III clinical trial was conducted in 602 patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma who had not received previous systemic treatment; patients were randomized to receive either sorafenib or placebo [80]. Sorafenib therapy increased overall survival by a median time of nearly 3 months. Sorafenib is now FDA-approved for treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma and advanced hepatocellular carcinoma.

Next-generation anti-angiogenic agents such as sunitinib and sorafenib do exhibit better efficacy than bevacizumab against certain forms of cancer, and these newer agents do target multiple angiogenic pathways. Yet, the newer drugs still have serious limitations; the receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors have not proven to reduce tumor size or lengthen overall survival time in many types of cancer [81]. As with bevacizumab therapy, treatment with receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors is characterized by an initial increase in progression-free survival, but there are few significant advantages for overall survival rate compared to patients not receiving the drug [82]. Indeed, the receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor sunitinib has been shown to accelerate metastatic tumor growth and decrease overall survival in experimental metastasis models [83], as tumor cells metastasize to distant sites in search of oxygen and nutrients [84].

The tumor microenvironment, as well as the heterogeneity of endothelial cells and tumor cells, may contribute to tumor resistance to anti-angiogenic drugs [85]. Increased molecular and cellular characterization of tumor pathology may enable more efficacious anti-angiogenic therapies. In addition, feedback pathways and compensatory pathways influence tumor responses to therapy. The metabolic and signaling pathways that regulate tumor growth must therefore be elucidated. Finally, the pharmacokinetics of anti-angiogenic agents must be optimized. Maximal anti-angiogenic therapy requires prolonged exposures of tumor cells to anti-angiogenic drugs; it is more important to achieve a sustained optimal biological dose, rather than a maximal tolerated dose [86]. Novel drug delivery systems, which allow controlled release of anti-angiogenic therapeutics over extended time periods, could potentially boost clinical responses.

5 Conclusion and Future Research Directions

Because all living structures require an adequate oxygen supply to maintain viability, angiogenesis is a central process that determines the survival of cells, tissues, organs, and ultimately human beings. The modulation of angiogenesis is an emerging approach for attacking myriad chronic diseases. Pro-angiogenic

therapies hold promise for rebuilding tissues to treat wounds, ulcers, coronary artery disease, stroke, emphysema, and ischemic conditions in general. Antiangiogenic therapies hold promise for treating cancer and inflammation. However, pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic approaches have not yet realized their potential in the clinic. As exemplified by therapeutic angiogenesis for coronary artery disease, the promotion of angiogenesis in human tissues is challenging, and successes in pre-clinical studies have not translated to large-scale clinical trials. As exemplified by angiogenesis inhibitors for cancer therapy, tissues often develop resistance to angiogenesis-blocking agents, and anti-angiogenic agents often lose their efficacy over time. Clearly, the administration of a single cytokine or a single cytokine-blocking agent is insufficient for achieving long-term pro-angiogenic or anti-angiogenic effects.

Future research must focus on refining the characterization of angiogenesis at the molecular, cellular, tissue, and organ levels. A detailed understanding of multiple cell signaling pathways will be necessary to the development of effective therapeutics, and may suggest novel avenues for therapy. Further, the properties of various cellular populations must be delineated, both in healthy and diseased tissues. For example, endothelial cells exhibit specific dysfunctions in both coronary artery disease and cancer; such abnormalities will most certainly influence cellular responses to therapy. The roles of cellular migration and cellular mechanics must be investigated, along with the interactions of cells with the extracellular matrix.

In regard to drug development, new methods for drug delivery which enable cell and tissue targeting, as well as controlled release, will improve therapeutic efficacy. The spatial and temporal delivery of pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic agents must be optimized. Finally, it is likely that a combination of agents will be required to achieve a lasting therapeutic effect. An urgent clinical need remains for novel pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic approaches. With continued research advances in angiogenesis, therapeutic strategies for angiogenesis will continually improve, and progressively alleviate the global burden of disease.

Acknowledgments The author thanks the faculty and students of the Harvard University School of Engineering and Applied Sciences for providing inspiration and support of innovative work in biomedical engineering.

References

- 1. Folkman, J.: Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. N. Engl. J. Med. **285**(21), 1182–1186 (1971)
- 2. Carmeliet, P.: Angiogenesis in health and disease. Nat. Med. 9(6), 653-660 (2003)
- Bhadada, S.V., Goyal, B.R., Patel, M.M.: Angiogenic targets for potential disorders. Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol. 25(1), 29–47 (2010)
- Simons, M.: Angiogenesis, arteriogenesis, and diabetes: paradigm reassessed? J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 46(5), 835–837 (2005)

ا 🎽 للاستشارات _i

- 5. World Health Organization: The Global Burden of Disease: 2004 Update. WHO Press, Geneva (2008)
- 6. Holaday, J.W., Berkowitz, B.A.: Antiangiogenic drugs: insights into drug development from endostatin, avastin and thalidomide. Mol. Interventions **9**(4), 157–166 (2009)
- 7. Senger, D.R., et al.: Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. Science **219**(4587), 983–985 (1983)
- Baeriswyl, V., Christofori, G.: The angiogenic switch in carcinogenesis. Semin. Cancer Biol. 19(5), 329–337 (2009)
- 9. Pugh, C.W., Ratcliffe, P.J.: Regulation of angiogenesis by hypoxia: role of the HIF system. Nat. Med. **9**(6), 677–684 (2003)
- 10. Mitchell, D.C., Bryan, B.A.: Anti-angiogenic therapy: adapting strategies to overcome resistant tumors. J. Cell. Biochem. **111**(3), 543–553 (2010)
- 11. Abdelrahim, M., et al.: Angiogenesis: an update and potential drug approaches. Int. J. Oncol. 36(1), 5–18 (2010)
- Carmeliet, P., et al.: Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. Nature **380**(6573), 435–439 (1996)
- Prior, B.M., Yang, H.T., Terjung, R.L.: What makes vessels grow with exercise training? J. Appl. Physiol. 97(3), 1119–1128 (2004)
- 14. Ferrara, N., Gerber, H.P., LeCouter, J.: The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat. Med. **9**(6), 669–676 (2003)
- Friesel, R.E., Maciag, T.: Molecular mechanisms of angiogenesis: fibroblast growth factor signal transduction. FASEB J 9(10), 919–925 (1995)
- Beohar, N., et al.: Rebuilding the damaged heart: the potential of cytokines and growth factors in the treatment of ischemic heart disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 56(16), 1287–1297 (2010)
- Kapur, N.K., Rade, J.J.: Fibroblast growth factor 4 gene therapy for chronic ischemic heart disease. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 18(4), 133–141 (2008)
- Frontini, M., et al.: Fibroblast growth factor 9 delivery during angiogenesis produces durable, vasoresponsive microvessels wrapped by smooth muscle cells. Nat. Biotechnol. 29(5), 421–427 (2011)
- Liekens, S., De Clercq, E., Neyts, J.: Angiogenesis: regulators and clinical applications. Biochem. Pharmacol. 61(3), 253–270 (2001)
- 20. Gupta, K., Zhang, J.: Angiogenesis: a curse or cure? Postgrad. Med. J. 81(954), 236–242 (2005)
- 21. Klagsbrun, M., Moses, M.A.: Molecular angiogenesis. Chem. Biol. 6(8), R217-R224 (1999)
- 22. O'Reilly, M.S., et al.: Angiostatin: a novel angiogenesis inhibitor that mediates the suppression of metastases by a Lewis lung carcinoma. Cell **79**(2), 315–328 (1994)
- O'Reilly, M.S., et al.: Endostatin: an endogenous inhibitor of angiogenesis and tumor growth. Cell 88(2), 277–285 (1997)
- 24. Albini, A., et al.: Angiostatin anti-angiogenesis requires IL-12: the innate immune system as a key target. J. Transl. Med. 7, 5 (2009)
- Lachgar, S., et al.: Inhibitory effects of retinoids on vascular endothelial growth factor production by cultured human skin keratinocytes. Dermatology 199(Suppl 1), 25–27 (1999)
- Folkman, J., Ingber, D.E.: Angiostatic steroids: method of discovery and mechanism of action. Ann. Surg. 206(3), 374–383 (1987)
- Mathers, C.D., Loncar, D.: Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. PLoS Med 3(11), e442 (2006)
- McMurray, J.J., Stewart, S.: Heart failure: epidemiology, aetiology, and prognosis of heart failure. Heart 83(5), 596–602 (2000)
- van der Laan, A.M.: Targeting angiogenesis to restore the microcirculation after reperfused MI. Nat. Rev. Cardiol. 6(8), 515–523 (2009)
- Christoforou, N., Gearhart, J.D.: Stem cells and their potential in cell-based cardiac therapies. Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis. 49(6), 396–413 (2007)

المستشارات

- Segers, V.F.M., Lee, R.T.: Protein therapeutics for cardiac regeneration after myocardial infarction. J. Cardiovasc. Transl. Res. 3(5), 469–477 (2010)
- 32. White, H.D., Chew, D.P.: Acute myocardial infarction. Lancet 372(9638), 570–584 (2008)
- Syed, I.S., Sanborn, T.A., Rosengart, T.K.: Therapeutic angiogenesis: a biologic bypass. Cardiology 101(1-3), 131–143 (2004)
- 34. Pearlman, J.D., et al.: Magnetic resonance mapping demonstrates benefits of VEGF-induced myocardial angiogenesis. Nat. Med. **1**(10), 1085–1089 (1995)
- Harada, K., et al.: Vascular endothelial growth factor administration in chronic myocardial ischemia. Am. J. Physiol. 270(5 Pt 2), H1791–H1802 (1996)
- Lopez, J.J., et al.: VEGF administration in chronic myocardial ischemia in pigs. Cardiovasc. Res. 40(2), 272–281 (1998)
- Banai, S., et al.: Angiogenic-induced enhancement of collateral blood flow to ischemic myocardium by vascular endothelial growth factor in dogs. Circulation 89(5), 2183–2189 (1994)
- Henry, T.D., et al.: Intracoronary administration of recombinant human vascular endothelial growth factor to patients with coronary artery disease. Am. Heart J. 142(5), 872–880 (2001)
- Losordo, D.W., et al.: Gene therapy for myocardial angiogenesis: initial clinical results with direct myocardial injection of phVEGF165 as sole therapy for myocardial ischemia. Circulation 98(25), 2800–2804 (1998)
- 40. Symes, J.F., et al.: Gene therapy with vascular endothelial growth factor for inoperable coronary artery disease. Ann. Thorac. Surg. **68**(3), 830–836 (1999)
- Vale, P.R., et al.: Left ventricular electromechanical mapping to assess efficacy of phVEGF(165) gene transfer for therapeutic angiogenesis in chronic myocardial ischemia. Circulation 102(9), 965–974 (2000)
- 42. Rosengart, T.K., et al.: Angiogenesis gene therapy: phase I assessment of direct intramyocardial administration of an adenovirus vector expressing VEGF121 cDNA to individuals with clinically significant severe coronary artery disease. Circulation 100(5), 468–474 (1999)
- Henry, T.D., et al.: The VIVA trial: vascular endothelial growth factor in ischemia for vascular angiogenesis. Circulation 107(10), 1359–1365 (2003)
- 44. Kastrup, J., et al.: Direct intramyocardial plasmid vascular endothelial growth factor-A165 gene therapy in patients with stable severe angina pectoris: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study: the Euroinject one trial. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. **45**(7), 982–988 (2005)
- 45. Hedman, M., et al.: Safety and feasibility of catheter-based local intracoronary vascular endothelial growth factor gene transfer in the prevention of postangioplasty and in-stent restenosis and in the treatment of chronic myocardial ischemia: phase II results of the kuopio angiogenesis trial (KAT). Circulation 107(21), 2677–2683 (2003)
- 46. Yanagisawa-Miwa, A., et al.: Salvage of infarcted myocardium by angiogenic action of basic fibroblast growth factor. Science 257(5075), 1401–1403 (1992)
- 47. Grines, C.L., et al.: Angiogenic gene therapy (AGENT) trial in patients with stable angina pectoris. Circulation **105**(11), 1291–1297 (2002)
- Grines, C.L., et al.: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of Ad5FGF-4 gene therapy and its effect on myocardial perfusion in patients with stable angina. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 42(8), 1339–1347 (2003)
- 49. Henry, T.D., et al.: Effects of Ad5FGF-4 in patients with angina: An analysis of pooled data from the AGENT-3 and AGENT-4 trials. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. **50**(11), 1036–1046 (2007)
- Zachary, I., Morgan, R.D.: Therapeutic angiogenesis for cardiovascular disease: biological context, challenges, prospects. Heart 97(3), 181–189 (2011)
- Annex, B.H., Simons, M.: Growth factor-induced therapeutic angiogenesis in the heart: protein therapy. Cardiovasc. Res. 65(3), 649–655 (2005)
- 52. Rosinberg, A., et al.: Therapeutic angiogenesis for myocardial ischemia. Expert Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther. **2**(2), 271–283 (2004)

المل الم للاستشارات

- Scott, R.C., et al.: Targeting VEGF-encapsulated immunoliposomes to MI heart improves vascularity and cardiac function. FASEB J 23(10), 3361–3367 (2009)
- 54. Silva, E.A., Mooney, D.J.: Effects of VEGF spatial and temporal presentation on angiogenesis. Biomaterials **31**(6), 1235–1241 (2010)
- 55. Kufe, D.W., et al.: Cancer Medicine. BC Decker, Hamilton (2003)
- 56. Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R.A.: Judah Folkman (1933–2008). Science 319(5866), 1055 (2008)
- 57. Eichhorn, M.E., et al.: Angiogenesis in cancer: molecular mechanisms, clinical impact. Langenbecks Arch. Surg. **392**(3), 371–379 (2007)
- Kim, K.J., et al.: Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor induced angiogenesis suppresses tumor growth in vivo. Nature 362(6423), 841–844 (1993)
- 59. Ferrara, N., et al.: Discovery and development of bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF antibody for treating cancer. Nat. Rev. Drug. Discovery **3**(5), 391–400 (2004)
- 60. Hurwitz, H., et al.: Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. **350**(23), 2335–2342 (2004)
- Ferrara, N., Hillan, K.J., Novotny, W.: Bevacizumab (avastin), a humanized anti-VEGF monoclonal antibody for cancer therapy. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 333(2), 328–335 (2005)
- Escudier, B., et al.: Bevacizumab plus interferon alfa-2a for treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a randomised, double-blind phase III trial. Lancet 370(9605), 2103–2111 (2007)
- Escudier, B., et al.: Phase III trial of bevacizumab plus interferon alfa-2a in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (AVOREN): final analysis of overall survival. J. Clin. Oncol. 28(13), 2144–2150 (2010)
- Vredenburgh, J.J., et al.: Bevacizumab plus irinotecan in recurrent glioblastoma multiforme. J. Clin. Oncol. 25(30), 4722–4729 (2007)
- Sandler, A., et al.: Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 355(24), 2542–2550 (2006)
- Miller, K., et al.: Paclitaxel plus bevacizumab versus paclitaxel alone for metastatic breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 357(26), 2666–2676 (2007)
- 67. Van Cutsem, E., et al.: Phase III trial of bevacizumab in combination with gemcitabine and erlotinib in patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. **27**(13), 2231–2237 (2009)
- Kindler, H.L., et al.: Gemcitabine plus bevacizumab compared with gemcitabine plus placebo in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: phase III trial of the cancer and leukemia group B (CALGB 80303). J. Clin. Oncol. 28(22), 3617–3622 (2010)
- 69. Ferrara, N.: Pathways mediating VEGF-independent tumor angiogenesis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. **21**(1), 21–26 (2010)
- Casanovas, O., et al.: Drug resistance by evasion of antiangiogenic targeting of VEGF signaling in late-stage pancreatic islet tumors. Cancer Cell 8(4), 299–309 (2005)
- 71. Fisher, T., et al.: Mechanisms operative in the anti-tumor activity of temozolomide in glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer J. **13**(5), 335–344 (2007)
- 72. Paez-Ribas, M., et al.: Antiangiogenic therapy elicits malignant progression of tumors to increased local invasion and distant metastasis. Cancer Cell **15**(3), 220–231 (2009)
- Norden, A.D., et al.: Bevacizumab for recurrent malignant gliomas: efficacy, toxicity, and patterns of recurrence. Neurology **70**(10), 779–787 (2008)
- Chow, L.Q., Eckhardt, S.G.: Sunitinib: from rational design to clinical efficacy. J. Clin. Oncol. 25(7), 884–896 (2007)
- Motzer, R.J., et al.: Sunitinib versus interferon alfa in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. N. Engl. J. Med. 356(2), 115–124 (2007)
- 76. Demetri, G.D., et al.: Efficacy and safety of sunitinib in patients with advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumour after failure of imatinib: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 368(9544), 1329–1338 (2006)
- Goodman, V.L., et al.: Approval summary: sunitinib for the treatment of imatinib refractory or intolerant gastrointestinal stromal tumors and advanced renal cell carcinoma. Clin. Cancer Res. 13(5), 1367–1373 (2007)

المستشارات

- Wilhelm, S.M., et al.: Preclinical overview of sorafenib, a multikinase inhibitor that targets both Raf and VEGF and PDGF receptor tyrosine kinase signaling. Mol. Cancer Ther. 7(10), 3129–3140 (2008)
- Escudier, B., et al.: Sorafenib in advanced clear-cell renal-cell carcinoma. N. Engl. J. Med. 356(2), 125–134 (2007)
- Llovet, J.M., et al.: Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. N. Engl. J. Med. 359(4), 378–390 (2008)
- Kesisis, G., Broxterman, H., Giaccone, G.: Angiogenesis inhibitors. Drug selectivity and target specificity. Curr. Pharm. Des. 13(27), 2795–2809 (2007)
- Shaked, Y., Kerbel, R.S.: Antiangiogenic strategies on defense: on the possibility of blocking rebounds by the tumor vasculature after chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 67(15), 7055–7058 (2007)
- Ebos, J.M.L., et al.: Accelerated metastasis after short-term treatment with a potent inhibitor of tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Cell 15(3), 232–239 (2009)
- 84. Wells, W.A.: Metastasizing in search of oxygen. J. Cell Biol. 161(4), 669 (2003)
- Miller, K.D., Sweeney, C.J., Sledge, G.W.: The snark is a boojum: the continuing problem of drug resistance in the antiangiogenic era. Ann. Oncol. 14(1), 20–28 (2003)
- Slaton, J.W., et al.: Interferon-alpha-mediated down-regulation of angiogenesis-related genes and therapy of bladder cancer are dependent on optimization of biological dose and schedule. Clin. Cancer Res. 5(10), 2726–2734 (1999)

المنسلة للاستشارات

Erratum to: Reactive Oxygen Species in Physiologic and Pathologic Angiogenesis

Krishna Arjunan and Alisa Morss Clyne

Erratum to: Chapter "Reactive Oxygen Species in Physiologic and Pathologic Angiogenesis" in: C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_4

The author name "Krishna Arjunan" and his affiliation details "School of Biomedical Engineering, Science and Health Systems, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, USA" should be added in the print version. The order of the author list should read as: Krishna Arjunan and Alisa Morss Clyne.

The online version of the original chapter can be found under 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_4.

K. Arjunan

School of Biomedical Engineering, Science and Health Systems, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

A. M. Clyne (⊠) Mechanical Engineering and Mechanics, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA e-mail: asm67@drexel.edu

C. A. Reinhart-King (ed.), *Mechanical and Chemical Signaling in Angiogenesis*, Studies in Mechanobiology, Tissue Engineering and Biomaterials 12, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-30856-7_14, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 E1

Author Index

A

Alisa Morss Clyne, 71 Andrew J. Putnam, 185

B

Benjamin Ribba, 227 Bi-Sen Ding, 19

С

Choong Kim, 93 Clemence Larroche, 19 Cynthia A. Reinhart-King, 143

D

Devon Scott, 121

F

Floriane Lignet, 227

G Geerten P. van Nieuw Amerongen, 211

H Hyunjoon Kong, 247

J Jerry S. H. Lee, 121 Joseph P. Califano, 143

L Luigi Preziosi, 227

М

Margriet M. Palm, 161 Max H. Rich, 247 Monica T. Hinds, 121

0

Owen J. T. McCarty, 121

P

Patrick Benitez, 47 Pieter Koolwijk, 161

R

Roeland M. H. Merks, 161 Roger D. Kamm, 93

S

Sarah Heilshorn, 47 Shahin Rafii, 19 Sina Y. Rabbany, 19 Sonja E. M. Boas, 161 Stephanie J. Grainger, 185 Sujata K. Bhatia, 261 T Thomas N. Sato, 1

V Vernella Vickerman, 93

W Wei Tan, 121

المتسارات المستشارات